# VEGETARIAN DIETARY PATTERNS IN THE PREVENTION AND TREATMENT OF DISEASE

EDITED BY: Hana Kahleova, and David L. Katz PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Nutrition



۵

10





#### Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88963-929-8 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88963-929-8

### **About Frontiers**

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

### **Frontiers Journal Series**

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

### **Dedication to Quality**

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

### What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

# VEGETARIAN DIETARY PATTERNS IN THE PREVENTION AND TREATMENT OF DISEASE

**Topic Editors:** 

Hana Kahleova, Physicians Committee for Responsible Medicine, United States David L. Katz, Yale Griffin Prevention Research Center, United States

**Citation:** Kahleova, H., Katz, D. L., eds. (2020). Vegetarian Dietary Patterns in the Prevention and Treatment of Disease. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88963-929-8

# Table of Contents

04 Editorial: Vegetarian Dietary Patterns in the Prevention and Treatment of Disease

Hana Kahleova and David L. Katz

- *Vegetables: New Zealand Children are Not Eating Enough* Elaine Rush, Fa'asisila Savila, Shabnam Jalili-Moghaddam and Isaac Amoah
- 12 Plant-Based Diets are Associated With Lower Adiposity Levels Among Hispanic/Latino Adults in the Adventist Multi-Ethnic Nutrition (AMEN) Study Pramil N. Singh, Karen Jaceldo-Siegl, Wendy Shih, Nancy Collado, Lap T. Le, Krystal Silguero, Dennys Estevez, Michael Jordan, Hector Flores, David E. Hayes-Bautista and William J. McCarthy
- 18 Corrigendum: Plant-Based Diets are Associated With Lower Adiposity Levels Among Hispanic/Latino Adults in the Adventist Multi-Ethnic Nutrition (AMEN) Study

Pramil N. Singh, Karen Jaceldo-Siegl, Wendy Shih, Nancy Collado, Lap T. Le, Krystal Silguero, Dennys Estevez, Michael Jordan, Hector Flores, David E. Hayes-Bautista and William J. McCarthy

- 20 The Effects of Vegetarian and Vegan Diets on Gut Microbiota Aleksandra Tomova, Igor Bukovsky, Emilie Rembert, Willy Yonas, Jihad Alwarith, Neal D. Barnard and Hana Kahleova
- 30 Impact of Whole, Fresh Fruit Consumption on Energy Intake and Adiposity: A Systematic Review Stephan J. Guyenet
- An Intensive Lifestyle Intervention to Treat Type 2 Diabetes in the Republic of the Marshall Islands: Protocol for a Randomized Controlled Trial
   Brenda C. Davis, Humaira Jamshed, Courtney M. Peterson, Joan Sabaté, Ralph D. Harris, Rohit Koratkar, Jamie W. Spence and John H. Kelly Jr.
- 62 Heart Failure and a Plant-Based Diet. A Case-Report and Literature Review Kathleen E. Allen, Divya Gumber and Robert J. Ostfeld
- 69 Relation of Vegetarian Dietary Patterns With Major Cardiovascular Outcomes: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Prospective Cohort Studies

Andrea J. Glenn, Effie Viguiliouk, Maxine Seider, Beatrice A. Boucher, Tauseef A. Khan, Sonia Blanco Mejia, David J. A. Jenkins, Hana Kahleová, Dario Rahelić, Jordi Salas-Salvadó, Cyril W. C. Kendall and John L. Sievenpiper

81 Beyond Meat: A Comparison of the Dietary Intakes of Vegetarian and Non-vegetarian Adolescents

Gina Segovia-Siapco, Nasira Burkholder-Cooley, Sara Haddad Tabrizi and Joan Sabaté

92 Nutrition Interventions in Rheumatoid Arthritis: The Potential Use of Plant-Based Diets. A Review

Jihad Alwarith, Hana Kahleova, Emilie Rembert, Willy Yonas, Sara Dort, Manuel Calcagno, Nora Burgess, Lee Crosby and Neal D. Barnard





# **Editorial: Vegetarian Dietary Patterns** in the Prevention and Treatment of Disease

### Hana Kahleova<sup>1\*†</sup> and David L. Katz<sup>2,3†</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Physicians Committee for Responsible Medicine, Washington, DC, United States, <sup>2</sup> True Health Initiative, Derby, CT, United States, <sup>3</sup> Prevention Research Center, Yale University/Griffin Hospital, Derby, CT, United States

Keywords: vegetarian, plant-based, dietary pattern, prevention, treatment

Editorial on the Research Topic

### Vegetarian Dietary Patterns in the Prevention and Treatment of Disease

Dietary patterns that emphasize the consumption of vegetables, fruits, whole grains and legumes, are recognized for their health-promoting properties (1). Such diets encompass vegetarian and vegan types, while extending to diverse, plant-predominant dietary patterns (2). Such diets are typically rich in fiber, antioxidants and phytochemicals, but much lower in saturated fat, added sugar, animal protein, and sodium compared to more conventional dietary patterns (3). The current 2015-2020 *Dietary Guidelines for Americans* recommend a vegetarian dietary pattern as one of three healthy dietary patterns, along with the Mediterranean and healthy U.S. style dietary patterns (4). Minimally processed plant foods are emphasized in all three, while only the vegetarian diet excludes meat entirely.

When examining factors that do drive overall, objective measures of diet quality, there are two salient influences: shifts in animal vs. plant food, and shifts from highly processed to unprocessed/minimally processed foods (5). Other things being equal, in modern countries where overt protein or calorie malnutrition is a rare concern, shifts to plant foods correlate consistently and robustly with higher overall diet quality. Other things being equal in nearly any dietary context, shifts from highly processed to less processed foods do the same. Discussions here presuppose the above influences and pertain to high-quality vegetarian diets.

Cardiovascular disease is the leading global cause of mortality, being responsible for 46% of non-communicable disease deaths (6). It has been estimated that about 85.6 million Americans are living with some form of CVD, the prevalence of which continues to rise (7). This increase has been linked to lifestyle factors, particularly low overall diet quality and lack of exercise (8). The systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies by Glenn et al. showed that self-reported vegetarian dietary pattern was associated with a 22% lower cardiovascular mortality and a 28% lower incidence of cardiovascular disease, which is an effect comparable to a combination of the most current pharmacotherapies (9). This implies that in the study population, vegetarianism involves not only the avoidance of meat, but a general elevation of diet quality. The benefits associated with high-quality vegetarian diets come without the unwanted side effects and for a much lower market price than standard pharmacotherapy aimed at comparable risk reduction. Furthermore, plant-based eating may also help reduce society's health care costs, such as hospital admissions and doctor's bills, as well as increasing the number of healthy years filled with productivity. Thus, plant-based diets could save billions of dollars in health care costs (7, 10).

It is also important to note that environmental and climate effects of food at scale are relevant to health outcomes- both directly and indirectly. Here, too, there are important implications of vegetarianism. Shifts from animal to plant-food-predominant diets are key recommendations at the interface of human and planetary health (11).

### **OPEN ACCESS**

### Edited and reviewed by:

Marilia Seelaender, University of São Paulo, Brazil

> \***Correspondence:** Hana Kahleova hana.kahleova@gmail.com

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Clinical Nutrition, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 22 January 2020 Accepted: 19 May 2020 Published: 19 June 2020

#### Citation:

Kahleova H and Katz DL (2020) Editorial: Vegetarian Dietary Patterns in the Prevention and Treatment of Disease. Front. Nutr. 7:92. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2020.00092

4

Allen et al. described a case study of a 54-year old woman who not only reversed her diabetes, but also her systolic dysfunction, increasing her ejection fraction from 21 to 55%, after following a plant-based diet for <6 months. Plantbased diets improve the risk factors for heart failure, but also have direct benefits on heart metabolism and function (12, 13). Given the severe prognosis of heart failure, even limited evidence for benefits from plant-based diets warrants careful attention.

What role does fruit play in weight management? Guyenet performed a systematic review of randomized controlled studies and demonstrated that whole, fresh fruit promotes weight maintenance or modest weight loss and may be therefore used as a part of a healthy diet in the prevention and treatment of excess body weight and adiposity. These findings support the current recommendations by the U.S. Department of Agriculture (4) to increase fruit consumption, which may have a positive impact on public health and obesity control.

Plant-based diets have been shown to be beneficial in a number of different populations. Davis et al. have conducted a randomized controlled trial to test the effectiveness of a plant-based diet and moderate exercise in people with type 2 diabetes in the Republic of the Marshall Islands. The study is still ongoing and it will be exciting to see if diabetes can be significantly improved or even reversed in this part of the world. Singh et al. have shown that plant-based eating is associated with BMI within the recommended range in Hispanic/Latino Seventh-day Adventists. This finding has major implications because currently, diabetes rates are 60% higher among Hispanics/Latinos compared with non-Hispanic Whites (14). Finally, our children and adolescents are the future of our nation. What is the quality of their diet? Would a vegetarian diet promote their health as much as in adults? Are teenagers able to maintain a healthy vegetarian diet? Segovia-Siapco et al. demonstrated that vegetarian adolescents had a more favorable dietary intake profile than non-vegetarians, eating more vegetables, fruits, nuts, legumes and soy products, and much less saturated fat. Such dietary habits likely translate into long-term risk reduction, and prevention of chronic disease.

Alwarith et al. pulled together a review paper on the potential use of plant-based diets for rheumatoid arthritis. This chronic autoimmune disease affects about 1% of the world's population and leads to inflammation, pain, and eventually permanent joint damage (15). The paper presents encouraging evidence that plant-based diets may play an important role in the management and/or remission of rheumatoid arthritis, although some additional trigger foods might need to be eliminated from the diet. The improvements in response to a plantbased diet may be at least partly explained by the changes in gut microbiome.

Tomova et al. described the benefits of vegetarian and vegan diets on gut microbiota. Plant-based diets seem to promote a more diverse and stable gut ecosystem and increase the short-chain fatty acid (SCFA) producing bacteria. The SCFAs improve immune function, bloodbrain barrier integrity, increase insulin sensitivity and have cardioprotective effects.

The health benefits of plant-predominant diets have been observed throughout the whole spectrum, from strict vegan diets all the way to much more liberal lacto-ovo-vegetarian and even semi-vegetarian diets. Due to the design of pertinent studies, it is not always possible to distinguish and quantify the health benefits of any of these dietary patterns relative to another at comparable levels of overall quality.

The range of plant-predominant dietary patterns may be recommended for health promotion without population-specific precautions appended. According to the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, vegetarian, and vegan diets are appropriate for every stage of life including pregnancy, infancy, and childhood, as well as for athletes. Reliable sources of vitamin B-12 need to be secured (16); these can be food sources, or supplements.

Pesticides and herbicides are still widely used in food plant cultivation. Most pesticides are lipophilic and therefore accumulate in fat, particularly in animals feeding upon these foods for prolonged periods of time (17). Thus, the risks of exposure to these compounds at harmful levels is greater with animal than with plant food consumption. The bioaccumulation of pesticides can have harmful effects on animals, as well as people who consume meat and dairy. Organic foods contain lower levels of pesticides, and also higher levels of certain nutrients (18), but may not be affordable or available for everyone.

Regarding costs, fresh produce is often expensive relative to other available food choices. However, some staple foods in plant-predominant diets, such as rice and other cooking grains, beans, cabbage, and potatoes, are much less expensive than meat, dairy, and most processed foods. Water, of course, is either freely available or inexpensive relative to sugar-sweetened beverages. Beans and lentils are highly nutritious substitutes for animal-food protein; are considerably less expensive; and offer environmental impact benefits as well. Thus, there are many opportunities to adopt a more plant-predominant dietary pattern, and improve overall diet quality, unimpeded by barriers of cost.

Arguments for diverse health benefits of high-quality vegetarian diets are thus varied and robust. They are, as well, timely- as meat consumption is a major consideration in an array of threats to planetary health (19, 20). Loss of rainforest in the Amazon, for instance, is directly attributable to the global appetite for meat. The assembly of papers collected here highlights direct health benefits of well-practiced vegetarianism at a time, and in a context, when the indirect benefits- via effects on aquifers, ecosystems, fires, floods, and droughts- may be even more salient.

# AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

# REFERENCES

- Katz DL, Meller S. Can we say what diet is best for health? Annu Rev Public Health. (2014) 35:83–103. doi: 10.1146/annurev-publhealth-032013-182351
- Orlich MJ, Fraser GE. Vegetarian diets in the Adventist Health Study 2: a review of initial published findings. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2014) 100(Suppl. 1):353–8S. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.113.071233
- 3. Satija A, Hu FB. Plant-based diets and cardiovascular health. Trends Cardiovasc Med. (2018) 28:437-41. doi: 10.1016/j.tcm.2018.02.004
- USDA. 2015-2020 Dietary Guidelines for Americans. (2015). Available online at: https://health.gov/dietaryguidelines/2015/guidelines/ (accessed June 09, 2020).
- Schwingshackl L, Bogensberger B, Hoffmann G. Diet quality as assessed by the healthy eating index, alternate healthy eating index, dietary approaches to stop hypertension score, and health outcomes: an updated systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. *J Acad Nutr Diet.* (2018) 118:74–100.e11. doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2017.08.024
- 6. World Health Organization. *Global Status Report on Noncommunicable Diseases*. Geneva: World Health Organization (2014).
- Writing Group Members, Mozaffarian D, Benjamin EJ, Go AS, Arnett DK, Blaha MJ, et al. Heart disease and stroke statistics-2016 update: a report from the American Heart Association. *Circulation*. (2016) 133:e38–360. doi: 10.1161/CIR.00000000000350
- National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults (Adult Treatment Panel III). Third Report of the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults (Adult Treatment Panel III) final report. *Circulation*. (2002). 106:3143–421. doi: 10.1161/circ.106.25.3143
- Chiuve SE, McCullough ML, Sacks FM, Rimm EB. Healthy lifestyle factors in the primary prevention of coronary heart disease among men: benefits among users and nonusers of lipid-lowering and antihypertensive medications. *Circulation*. (2006) 114:160–7. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.621417
- Schepers J, Annemans L. The potential health and economic effects of plantbased food patterns in Belgium and the United Kingdom. *Nutrition*. (2018) 48:24–32. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2017.11.028
- Willett W, Rockström J, Loken B, Springmann M, Lang T, Vermeulen S, et al. Food in the Anthropocene: the EAT-Lancet Commission on healthy diets from sustainable food systems. *Lancet.* (2019) 393:447–92. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31788-4

- Kerley CP. A review of plant-based diets to prevent and treat heart failure. *Card Fail Rev.* (2018) 4:54–61. doi: 10.15420/cfr.2 018:1:1
- Katz DL. Lifestyle and dietary modification for prevention of heart failure. Med Clin North Am. (2004) 88:1295–320, xii. doi: 10.1016/j.mcna.2004. 02.003
- Casagrande SS, Menke A, Aviles-Santa L, Gallo LC, Daviglus ML, Talavera GA, et al. Factors associated with undiagnosed diabetes among adults with diabetes: results from the Hispanic Community Health Study/Study of Latinos (HCHS/SOL). *Diabetes Res Clin Pract.* (2018) 146:258–66. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2018.11.004
- Gibofsky A. Epidemiology, pathophysiology, and diagnosis of rheumatoid arthritis: a synopsis. Am J Manag Care. (2014) 20(Suppl. 7):S128–35.
- Melina V, Craig W, Levin S. Position of the academy of nutrition and dietetics: vegetarian diets. J Acad Nutr Diet. (2016) 116:1970–80. doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2016. 09.025
- Madej K, Kalenik TK, Piekoszewski W. Sample preparation and determination of pesticides in fat-containing foods. *Food Chem.* (2018) 269:527–41. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2018.07.007
- Crinnion WJ. Organic foods contain higher levels of certain nutrients, lower levels of pesticides, and may provide health benefits for the consumer. *Altern Med Rev.* (2010) 15:4–12.
- Ripple WJ, Wolf C, Newsome TM, Barnard P, Moomaw WR. World scientists' warning of a climate emergency. *BioScience*. (2020) 70:8–12. doi: 10.1093/biosci/biz088
- EAT-Lancet Commission Summary Report. EAT. Available online at: https:// eatforum.org/eat-lancet-commission/eat-lancet-commission-summaryreport/ (accessed January 16, 2020).

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Kahleova and Katz. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Vegetables: New Zealand Children Are Not Eating Enough

Elaine Rush<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Fa'asisila Savila<sup>3</sup>, Shabnam Jalili-Moghaddam<sup>3</sup> and Isaac Amoah<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Child Health Research Centre, Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand, <sup>2</sup> Riddet Institute, Massey University, Palmerston North, New Zealand, <sup>3</sup> Centre for Pacific Health and Development Research, Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand

We know that eating a variety of vegetables every day is associated with favorable health across the lifecourse. Internationally, food-based dietary guidelines encourage the consumption of a variety of vegetables and fruit but globally, people are not eating enough vegetables to meet the three-or-more-a-day guideline. Vegetables are good sources of vitamins and minerals, fiber, and many bioactive compounds that promote health and provide energy. They also help reduce hidden hunger (micronutrient deficiencies) and support the healthy growth and development of children. New Zealand is a world leader in the production of diverse nutrients and foods yet poverty and other environmental barriers mean only one in two children eats three-or-more servings of vegetables a day. Price and availability are limiting factors. The proliferation of community, school and home vegetable gardens and vegetable cooperatives may improve access. On a macro level, upstream policies such as a "living wage," affordable housing, and land-use planning are required. International dietary solutions include an agricultural shift to intensified horticulture with a focus on vegetables. The consumption of more plant-based foods including vegetables would reduce green-house gases, reduce land clearing, and help prevent diet-related disease if consumed daily across the lifecourse.

Keywords: vegetables, lifecourse health, supply, cost, children, actions

# **INTRODUCTION**

### Lifecourse Health-Plenty of Vegetables Every Day of Life

Recommendations that vegetables and fruit should be consumed every day, from the time solid food starts to complement breast milk, is based on convincing evidence of favorable health, growth, and development associated with their intake (1). For children, this includes the prevention of cardio-metabolic disease (2) and obesity (3). Vegetables are one important part of a lifelong dietary pattern that is lower in energy density and higher in nutrient density. Specifically, vegetables contribute essential fiber, vitamins and minerals and many health-promoting bioactive compounds. Replacing energy-dense foods with more water-rich vegetables (4) not only lowers energy density but increases the volume of food ingested and satiety while improving overall dietary pattern. By volume it is recommended that a variety of colored vegetables make up more than one quarter of all food consumed each day and this is the basis for the MyPlate communication tool (5).

# **Food-Based Dietary Guidelines**

Globally, food-based dietary guidelines (FBDGs, rather than nutrient-based) encourage the consumption of a variety of vegetables and fruit (6) as part of a dietary pattern that provides the required nutrients to the general public. The focus of FBDGs are on food groups rather than

### OPEN ACCESS

### Edited by:

Hana Kahleova, Physicians Committee for Responsible Medicine, United States

### Reviewed by:

Nada Benajiba, Princess Nourah bint Abdulrahman University, Saudi Arabia Iolanda Cioffi, Azienda Ospedaliera Universitaria Federico II, Italy

\*Correspondence:

Elaine Rush elaine.rush@aut.ac.nz

### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Clinical Nutrition, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 03 October 2018 Accepted: 11 December 2018 Published: 08 January 2019

#### Citation:

Rush E, Savila F, Jalili-Moghaddam S and Amoah I (2019) Vegetables: New Zealand Children Are Not Eating Enough. Front. Nutr. 5:134. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2018.00134

TABLE 1   Food-based dietary guidelines relating to vegetables and fruit from
selected countries.

Country	Message
Sweden	More vegetables and fruit - Eat lots of fruit, vegetables and berries Ideally, choose high fiber vegs such as root vegetables, cabbage, cauliflower, broccoli, beans and onions.
South Africa	Eat plenty of vegetables and fruit every day.
Mexico	Include vegetables and fresh fruits in each meal. Choose them with peel and in season.
United States	A variety of vegetables from all of the subgroups-dark green, red and orange, legumes (beans and peas), starchy, and others
New Zealand	Eat plenty of vegetables and fruits.
Australia	Plenty of vegetables, including different types and colors, and legumes/beans
Iran	Eat raw and cooked vegetables every day at main meals and snacks
India	Eat plenty of vegetables and fruits
China	Consume plenty of vegetables, milk, and soybeans

Food-based dietary guidelines reported by the FAO (6)

nutrients and they emphasize the need to select a variety of foods within each food group. Foods are grouped by their nutrient profile. For example, there is a focus on foods grouped for their protein content such as fish, lean meat, soy products, eggs, nuts, seeds, and legumes. Another group of mainly carbohydrate foods such as rice, wheat, maize and potatoes make up a large portion of the global energy supply. For some populations, foods that contain calcium such as dairy and bones in fish are a focus. Finally, the food group with arguably the biggest variety, vegetables and fruit, receives much attention in guidelines (Table 1) and universal messages which emphasize eating more. Note that the term used currently is vegetables and fruit rather than fruit and vegetables to indicate the importance of vegetables and, now, the recognition that the most nutrient-dense part of a vegetable or fruit is next to the skin (7).

### Why Are Vegetables Healthy?

Vegetables are healthy if a variety are consumed as together they provide diverse combinations of essential nutrients and dietary fiber. The dietary diversity score devised by the FAO (8) is one proxy measure of nutrient adequacy and identifies 16 groups of foods. Four of these groups describe vegetable diversity and the importance of each group for diverse and essential nutrients. These four groups are 1. White tubers and roots which are good sources of energy and fiber; 2. "vitamin A rich vegetables and tubers: pumpkin, carrot, squash, or sweet potato that are orange inside, and other locally available vitamin A rich vegetables (e.g., red sweet pepper)"; 3. "dark green leafy vegetables, including wild forms and locally available, vitamin A rich leaves such as amaranth, cassava leaves, kale and spinach" which are also good sources of folate; 4. "other vegetables (e.g., tomato, onion, eggplant) and other locally available vegetables." A higher dietary diversity score is associated with improved growth in children (9) and micronutrient status (10). Vegetables are good sources of the essential nutrients, dietary fiber, vitamins, and minerals. Dietary fiber, broadly described as carbohydrates that are not digested in the small intestine, has benefits to health associated with modifying the rate of transit through the bowel and delaying the absorption of nutrients such as glucose, binding, and excretion of bile acids, fermentation in the large intestine, and the production of butyrate and adding to stool bulk and improving laxation (11). Vegetables are good sources of viscous and non-viscous fibers and diets higher in fiber has been linked to cancer prevention, weight management, lower risk of heart disease and diabetes management and prevention (12).

In addition, beneficial health effects are derived from bioactive compounds such as phenolics, flavonols, flavonoids, capsaicinoids and carotenoids which are found for example in spinach, broccoli, lettuce, onions, pepper, and tomatoes.

There is a renewed focus on hidden hunger which describes micronutrient deficiencies (13) which may be present with obesity, another form of malnutrition. In children this will impact on growth, and development. Whole vegetables and fruits not only enhance consumers' bioactive stores (14) but also improve micronutrient status. Thus, there is a synergistic impact on health derived from the combination of vitamins, minerals, flavonoids, phenolics, pigments, peptides polysaccharides, and fibre (soluble and insoluble) because of the consumption of whole or minimally processed vegetables. Prebiotics such as the oligosaccharides inulin and fructo-oligosaccharides (15) found in vegetables and fruits have been shown to stimulate growth of probiotic bacteria (bifidobacteria and lactic acid bacteria) in the colon which favorably enhances the function of the gastrointestinal and immune systems (16). This unique property of prebiotics is attributed to their ability to resist digestion in the small intestine, eventually undergoing fermentation in the colon. In addition, prebiotics have been shown to increase the absorption of calcium and magnesium, influence blood glucose levels, and improve plasma lipids (16) and laxation.

The need to promote the consumption of vegetables and other plant-based foods compared to animal-based products, such as beef, is warranted due to the more favorable impact of plant rather than animal agriculture on the planet (17). For example, to raise cattle, large quantities of water are required both to produce the grass or feed for the cattle and for the cattle to drink. Cattle emit green-house gases and may pollute the water system. In contrast, vegetable cultivation requires a relatively small amount of water, could be done without pesticides, absorbs carbon dioxide from the atmosphere, and produces oxygen. An intensification of vegetable production is a sustainable way to support populations to meet dietary guidelines, reduce food insecurity, improve health and provide some amelioration to adverse climate change (18).

# Consumption—Are Children Eating Their Vegetables?

Worldwide the consumption of fruit and vegetables is low (19) and dependent on household income. Miller and colleagues calculated, with data from 18 countries and 143,305 participants, that in low-income countries three servings of vegetables and

two servings of fruit each day for each household member would cost 52% of the household income while in upper-middle income countries the cost was 2%. Vegetables and fruits were more expensive for rural households and consumption decreased as cost increased.

### NZ as a Case Study

New Zealand is a world leader in the production of diverse nutrients and foods (20). In New Zealand from 2012 to 2017 the hectares devoted to growing onions increased by 5% but potatoes, buttercup/squash, peas and sweetcorn reduced by 18, 15, 40, and 17%. The number of dairy cattle increased 1%. Currently, 27% of New Zealand children are living in income poverty and 12% of children are living in material hardship which means among other factors reduced access to vegetables and fruit and/or going to school hungry. Food security which includes having time, money and resources to access and prepare food is a substantial and complex problem. From a study that measured the relative change in price of healthier and less healthy foods over 10 years in New Zealand, the authors reported that the price of wholesome healthy foods and minimally processed foods were cheaper in summer compared to less healthy foods and processed foods (21). At the same time the vegetable price index rose from 700 to 900 between 2006 and 2018- an increase of 35%; fruit rose 60% in the same time (22). In the same period, bread and cereals rose 19% and overall the food price index rose 33%.

Over the last 16 years only slightly more than half the children in New Zealand are consuming 3 or more serves of vegetables each day (**Table 2**). At the same time, more than half are consuming sugary drinks and fast foods at least once a week (24). Some groups, such as Pacific Island children, are eating less vegetables than the general population of children. In New Zealand, the most commonly consumed vegetables are potato, potato fries, kumara (sweet potato), carrots, broccoli, peas, lettuce, cauliflower, cabbage, tomatoes, and corn(23). Onions are frequently added to recipes (30). Overall, approximately 25% of the daily dietary fiber intake (median 19g/day) is derived from vegetables (23).

Children depend on their parents and caregivers for food and in low income families there is a tendency to buy more energy dense food, to get the most calories for the money, rather than nutrient dense foods such as vegetables and fruit (31). Food, especially healthier food, is the first essential that low income families compromise on in times of hardship, exacerbating existing nutritional deficiencies resulting from general lack of money (32). As children grow, the overall volume of food intake increases but there is a fall in the quantity of fruit and vegetables and an increase in other foods such as-energy-dense and low cost breakfast cereal and/or convenience foods. We demonstrated this in the longitudinal Pacific Islands Families study between child ages 4 and 6 years (27). In New Zealand, for families living in more highly deprived areas increases in fruits and vegetable prices especially around their off-season compel them to substitute the purchase of healthier whole fruit and vegetables with cheap energy-dense nutrient-poor products. The weight of vegetables required each week for a family of 6 is 12.6 kg **TABLE 2** | Proportions of New Zealand children meeting the vegetable guideline

 of three or more serves of vegetables a day.

Year	Age, y	% meeting vegetable guideline	References
NATIONAL	SURVEYS		
2002	5-14	57%	(23)
2011-2014	0 to 14	57%	(24)
2014-2017	0 to 14	53%	(24)
METFORM	IN IN GEST	ATIONAL DIABETES FOLLOW UP	STUDY
2008	2	76 % ( <i>n</i> = 147)	(25)
2014	7 to 9	37% (n = 99)	Unpublished data
PACIFIC IS	LANDS FAI	MILIES STUDY	
2004	4	35% (n = 739)	(26)
2006	6	35% ( <i>n</i> = 646)	(27)
2009	9.4	49% ( <i>n</i> = 976)*	(28)
2014	14	32% ( <i>n</i> = 931)	Unpublished data

NB, Adequate vegetable intake is defined for children aged 2–4 years as eating at least two servings of vegetables each day and for children aged 5–14 years as eating at least three servings of vegetables each day (29)–all surveys were food frequency questionnaires except for 2009<sup>°</sup> which was a dietary habits questionnaire. CNS Children's Nutrition Survey; MIGTOFU Metformin in gestational diabetes: the follow-up study; PIF Pacific Islands Families study.

(3 serves  $\times$  100g  $\times$  7 days  $\times$  6 people) and provides one fifth to one third of the energy that uncooked rice or pasta which in addition are more robust to transport and have a longer storage time.

### Health Promotion and the Way Forward

Messages and actions concerning vegetable consumption within New Zealand and globally are consistent but the barriers are persistent. In addition to cost, the perishability and therefore waste of most fresh whole fruits and vegetables discourages purchase. Frozen and canned vegetables may be a better option and should be included more explicitly in health promotion messages. There are other food processing techniques such as chilling, modified atmospheres, edible coatings that enhance the shelf-life of whole vegetables (33) but they add cost and the addition of packaging presents other problems. Drying and freeze drying are also options but require controlled storage conditions.

Locally grown vegetables are the ideal and every city should have dedicated land for market gardens. In addition, community, school and home vegetable gardens and cooperatives are proliferating in New Zealand. New Zealand is fortunate in that it has a temperate climate which allows a continuous source of vegetables throughout the year. In secondary schools (school years 9 to 13), it has been shown that children attending a school with a garden had a lower body mass index and also reported less fast food consumption (34).

More collaboration between industry, retail, government, and not-for-profit organizations promoting public health is required (35). In addition, town planning, land use, reduction in price and increase in availability of vegetables and equitable and culturally targeted actions to improve vegetable intake for children are required. Further, fruits and vegetables could be targeted separately rather than together, and vegetables could be included in cooking education.

To improve conditions on a micro level, upstream policies such as a "living wage" (36), affordable housing, and landuse planning are required. Global dietary solutions, including an agricultural shift to producing more and at the same time consuming more vegetables and plant-based foods throughout the lifecourse, would reduce green-house gases, reduce land clearing, and help prevent diet-related disease. This is a global challenge.

### REFERENCES

- 1. World Health Organization (2005). Fruit and Vegetables for Health: Report of a Joint FAO/WHO Workshop. Kobe: WHO.
- Funtikova AN, Navarro E, Bawaked RA, Fito M, Schroder H. Impact of diet on cardiometabolic health in children and adolescents. *Nutr J.* (2015) 14:118.
- 3. Ledoux TA, Hingle MD, Baranowski T. Relationship of fruit and vegetable intake with adiposity: a systematic review. *Obes Rev.* (2011) 12:e143–50.
- Rolls BJ. Dietary energy density: applying behavioural science to weight management. Nutr Bull. (2017) 42:246–53.
- United States Department of Agriculture (2018). What is Myplate?. Available online at: https://www.choosemyplate.gov/MyPlate (Accessed September 5, 2018).
- Food and Agricultural Organisation of the United Nations (2018). Food-Based Dietary Guidelines. Available online at: http://www.fao.org/nutrition/ nutrition-education/food-dietary-guidelines/en/ (Accessed September 6, 2018).
- Rickman JC, Bruhn CM, Barrett DM. Nutritional comparison of fresh, frozen, and canned fruits and vegetables II. Vitamin A and carotenoids, vitamin E, minerals and fiber. J Sci Food Agric. (2007) 87:1185–96. doi: 10.1002/ jsfa.2824
- Food and Agricultural Organisation of the United Nations and European Union. *Guidelines for Measuring Household and Individual Dietary Diversity* (2013). Available online at: http://www.fao.org/3/a-i1983e.pdf (Accessed September 2018).
- Arimond M, Ruel MT. Dietary diversity is associated with child nutritional status: evidence from 11 demographic and health surveys. J Nutr. (2004) 134:2579–85. doi: 10.1093/jn/134.10.2579
- Zhao W, Yu K, Tan S, Zheng Y, Zhao A, Wang P, et al. Dietary diversity scores: an indicator of micronutrient inadequacy instead of obesity for Chinese children. *BMC Public Health* (2017) 17:440. doi: 10.1186/s12889-017-4381-x
- Blackwood AD, Salter J, Dettmar PW, Chaplin MF. Dietary fibre, physicochemical properties and their relationship to health. J R Soc Promot Health (2000) 120:242–7. doi: 10.1177/1466424000120 00412
- Kendall CW, Esfahani A, Jenkins DJ. The link between dietary fibre and human health. *Food Hydrocolloids* (2010) 24:42–8. doi: 10.1016/j.foodhyd.2009.08.002
- Muthayya S, Rah JH, Sugimoto JD, Roos FF, Kraemer K, Black RE. The global hidden hunger indices and maps: an advocacy tool for action. *PLoS ONE* (2013) 8:e67860. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0067860
- Shashirekha MN, Mallikarjuna SE, Rajarathnam S. Status of bioactive compounds in foods, with focus on fruits and vegetables. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr* (2015) 55:1324–39. doi: 10.1080/10408398.2012.692736
- Slavin J. Fiber and prebiotics: mechanisms and health benefits. Nutrients (2013) 5:1417–35. doi: 10.3390/nu5041417
- Al-Sheraji SH, Ismail A, Manap MY, Mustafa S, Yusof RM, Hassan FA. Prebiotics as functional foods: a review. J Funct Foods (2013) 5:1542–53. doi: 10.1016/j.jff.2013.08.009
- Rizvi S, Pagnutti C, Fraser E, Bauch CT, Anand M. Global land use implications of dietary trends. *PLoS ONE* (2018) 13:e0200781. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0200781

### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

ER led the conception and writing of the manuscript, SJ-M, FS, and IA contributed and critically revised the manuscript. All authors approved the final manuscript.

# FUNDING

The work was produced as part of the role of an academic employed at the Auckland University of Technology.

- Tilman D, Clark M. Global diets link environmental sustainability and human health. *Nature* (2014) 515:518–22. doi: 10.1038/nature13959
- Miller V, Yusuf S, Chow CK, Dehghan M, Corsi DJ, Lock K, et al. Availability, affordability, and consumption of fruits and vegetables in 18 countries across income levels: findings from the Prospective Urban Rural Epidemiology (PURE) study. *Lancet Glob Health* (2016) 4:e695–703. doi: 10.1016/S2214-109X(16)30186-3
- Herrero M, Thornton PK, Power B, Bogard JR, Remans R, Fritz S, et al. Farming and the geography of nutrient production for human use: a transdisciplinary analysis. *Lancet Planet Health* (2017) 1:e33–e42. doi: 10.1016/S2542-5196(17)30007-4
- Mackay S, Vandevijvere S, Lee A. Ten-year trends in the price differential between healthier and less healthy foods in New Zealand. *Nutr Diet*. (2018). doi: 10.1111/1747-0080.12457. [Epub ahead of print].
- Statistics New Zealand. Consumers Price Index Visualisation (2018). Available online at: http://archive.stats.govt.nz/datavisualisation/cpi.html? (Accessed September 11, 2018).
- Ministry of Health (2003). "NZ Food, NZ Children. Key Results of the 2002 National Children's Nutrition Survey". Wellington: Ministry of Health.
- Ministry of Health (2018). New Zealand Health Survey. Available online at: https://minhealthnz.shinyapps.io/nz-health-survey-2016-17-annual-dataexplorer (Accessed September 11, 2018).
- Bristow S. Toddler Food and Activity Patterns and Body Composition: A Study of the Offspring of Mothers Treated for Gestational Diabetes. MPhil, Auckland University of Technology (2010).
- Rush E, Paterson J, Obolonkin VV. Food frequency information relationships to body composition and apparent growth in 4-yearold children in the Pacific Island Family study. N Z Med J. (2008) 121:63–71.
- Savila F, Obolonkin V, Rush E. Tracking food consumption frequency of children from age 4 to 6 years: the Pacific Islands Families study. N Z Med J. (2015) 128:16–24. Available online at: http://www.nzma.org.nz/journal/readthe-journal/all-issues/2010-2019/2015/vol-128-no-1420-21-august-2015/ 6621
- Savila F. The Home Environment, Food Consumption and Physical Growth Among Pacific Islands Children in South Auckland, New Zealand. Ph.D thesis, Auckland University of Technology, Auckland (2017).
- 29. Ministry of Health. Food and Nutrition Guidelines for Healthy Children and Young People (Aged 2–18 years): A Background Paper. Partial Revision February 2015. Wellington: Ministry of Health (2012).
- Massey Dietetic Students. Year 7 and 8 New Zealand Food Survey (2017). Massey University. Available online at: https://www.vegetables.co.nz/assets/ Research/Year-7-and-8-New-Zealand-Food-Survey-Final-L-Henderson. pdf (Accessed December 7, 2018).
- Burns C, Cook K, Mavoa H. Role of expendable income and price in food choice by low income families. *Appetite* (2013) 71:209–17. doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2013.08.018
- Cheer T, Kearns R, Murphy L. Housing policy, poverty, and culture: 'discounting' decisions among Pacific peoples in Auckland, New Zealand. *Environ Plann C* (2002) 20:497–516. doi: 10.1068/ c04r

- Silberbauer A, Schmid M. Packaging Concepts for Ready-to-Eat Food: Recent Progress. J Package Technol Res (2017) 1:113–26. doi: 10.1007/s41783-017-0019-9
- Utter J, Denny S, Dyson B. School gardens and adolescent nutrition and BMI: results from a national, multilevel study. *Prev Med.* (2016) 83:1–4. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2015.11.022
- Rekhy R, Mcconchie R. Promoting consumption of fruit and vegetables for better health. Have campaigns delivered on the goals? Appetite (2014) 79:113– 23. doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2014.04.012
- Carr SC, Parker J, Arrowsmith J, Watters P, Jones H. Can a 'living wage' springboard human capability? An exploratory study from New Zealand. *Lab Indus*. (2016) 26:24–39. doi: 10.1080/10301763.2016.1152533

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Rush, Savila, Jalili-Moghaddam and Amoah. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Plant-Based Diets Are Associated With Lower Adiposity Levels Among Hispanic/Latino Adults in the Adventist Multi-Ethnic Nutrition (AMEN) Study

Pramil N. Singh<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Karen Jaceldo-Siegl<sup>1</sup>, Wendy Shih<sup>2</sup>, Nancy Collado<sup>2</sup>, Lap T. Le<sup>2</sup>, Krystal Silguero<sup>2</sup>, Dennys Estevez<sup>2</sup>, Michael Jordan<sup>3</sup>, Hector Flores<sup>4</sup>, David E. Hayes-Bautista<sup>5</sup> and William J. McCarthy<sup>6</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Center for Nutrition, Healthy Lifestyles and Disease Prevention, School of Public Health, Loma Linda University, Loma Linda, CA, United States, <sup>2</sup> Center for Health Research, School of Public Health, Loma Linda University, Loma Linda, CA, United States, <sup>3</sup> Center for Hispanic Health, White Memorial Medical Center, Los Angeles, CA, United States, <sup>4</sup> Department of Family Medicine, White Memorial Medical Center, Los Angeles, CA, United States, <sup>6</sup> Center for Study of Latino Health and Culture, David Geffen School of Medicine, University of California at Los Angeles, Los Angeles, CA, United States, <sup>6</sup> Health Policy and Management, School of Public Health, UCLA Jonsson Comprehensive Cancer Center, Los Angeles, CA, United States

### OPEN ACCESS

### Edited by:

Hana Kahleova, Physicians Committee for Responsible Medicine, United States

### Reviewed by:

Sharon Ross, National Cancer Institute (NCI), United States Iolanda Cioffi, Azienda Ospedaliera Universitaria Federico II, Italy

> \*Correspondence: Pramil N. Singh psingh@llu.edu

### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Clinical Nutrition, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 13 November 2018 Accepted: 11 March 2019 Published: 09 April 2019

### Citation:

Singh PN, Jaceldo-Siegl K, Shih W, Collado N, Le LT, Silguero K, Estevez D, Jordan M, Flores H, Hayes-Bautista DE and McCarthy WJ (2019) Plant-Based Diets Are Associated With Lower Adiposity Levels Among Hispanic/Latino Adults in the Adventist Multi-Ethnic Nutrition (AMEN) Study. Front. Nutr. 6:34. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2019.00034 **Background:** The Hispanic/Latino population in the US is experiencing high rates of obesity and cardio-metabolic disease that may be attributable to a nutrition transition away from traditional diets emphasizing whole plant foods. In the US, plant-based diets have been shown to be effective in preventing and controlling obesity and cardio-metabolic disease in large samples of primarily non-Hispanic subjects. Studying this association in US Hispanic/Latinos could inform culturally tailored interventions.

**Objective:** To examine whether the plant-based diet pattern that is frequently followed by Hispanic/Latino Seventh-day Adventists is associated with lower levels of adiposity and adiposity-related biomarkers.

**Methods:** The Adventist Multiethnic Nutrition Study (AMEN) enrolled 74 Seventh-day Adventists from five Hispanic/Latino churches within a 20 mile radius of Loma Linda, CA into a cross-sectional study of diet (24 h recalls, surveys) and health (anthropometrics and biomarkers).

**Results:** Vegetarian diet patterns (Vegan, Lacto-ovo vegetarian, Pesco-vegetarian) were associated with significantly lower BMI (24.5 kg/m<sup>2</sup> vs. 27.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, p = 0.006), waist circumference (34.8 in vs. 37.5 in, p = 0.01), and fat mass (18.3 kg vs. 23.9 kg, p = 0.007), as compared to non-vegetarians. Adiposity was positively associated with pro-inflammatory cytokines (Interleukin-6) in this sample, but adjusting for this effect did not alter the associations with vegetarian diet.

**Conclusions:** Plant-based eating as practiced by US-based Hispanic/Latino Seventh-day Adventists is associated with BMI in the recommended range. Further work is needed to characterize this type of diet for use in obesity-related interventions among Hispanic/Latinos in the US.

Keywords: Hispanic/Latino, plant-based diet, vegetarian, obesity, Seventh-day Adventist

12

# BACKGROUND

The rates of obesity and diabetes have sharply increased in the last decade among Hispanics/Latinos in North America (1–4). Currently, diabetes is the fifth leading cause of death in Hispanics/Latinos, and the trend represents a health disparity whereby rates are 60% higher among Hispanics/Latinos as compared to non-Hispanic Whites and increasing faster than in other major ethnic groups (3, 5). In a large sample of Hispanic/Latino adults in four regions of United States (n = 16,400), the Hispanic Community Health Study/Study of Latinos found that about 1 in 3 individuals had pre-diabetes, and that only about half of individuals with type 2 diabetes (T2D) had it under control (6).

One potential contributor to this burden of obesity and diabetes is the occurrence of a "nutrition transition" occurring in most people of Mexican origin but accelerated in US Hispanic/Latinos as they acculturate to consuming higher intake of meats and processed foods, and lower intake of whole plant foods commonly found in the traditional diet (i.e., squash, maize, beans) (7–9). For example, the analysis of a nationally representative sample of US Mexican adults found higher rates of overweight/obesity in those who had "transitioned" from traditional eating patterns emphasizing maize to patterns emphasizing red meat, processed meat, and processed foods (10–12). These emerging data support that a plant-based dietary intervention could be effective in primary and secondary prevention of obesity and obesity-related diabetes in the Hispanic/Latino population.

Overall, in a systematic review of 15 intervention studies (17 intervention groups among them) in multi-ethnic samples, Barnard et al. has shown that interventions with the vegetarian diet contributed to an average of more than 3 kg of weight loss (13). For diabetics, a similar systematic review of vegetarian diet interventions indicated significant improvement in glycemic control (14).

A recent pilot study at Loma Linda University has shown that a 5-week plant-based, culturally-tailored diet intervention implemented through community clinics and a church significantly improved hemoglobin A1C levels over a 6 month follow-up in 32 Latino diabetics living in a medically underserved area. At Loma Linda University, more than 60 years of NIH-funded prospective cohort studies [1960 Adventist Mortality Study (15), 1976 Adventist Health Study-1 (16), 2002 Adventist Health Study-2 (17)] have shown that the vegetarian diet was associated with lower risk of weight gain (18, 19), stroke (20), and diabetes (21, 22), and on this causal pathway, a longer life expectancy. These cohorts enrolled Seventh-day Adventists (most recently a nationwide cohort of 96,000 multi-ethnic adults in AHS-2) who provide a unique insight into diet since, due to faith-based recommendations, about 50% are vegetarian, and virtually all avoid smoking and alcohol (23). Faith-based counsels on diet also encourage the consumption of specific plant foods (i.e., legumes, nuts) in place of animal products (19). Hypotheses generated from these cohorts have been tested in landmark intervention trials.

The Adventist Multi-ethnic Nutrition (AMEN) Study is a new pilot study from Loma Linda University involving Hispanic/Latino Seventh-day Adventist adults for the purpose of studying the association between their cultural tailoring of a plant-based diet and selected health outcomes. To date, we have observed beneficial associations between health outcomes and culturally-tailored plant-based diet choices in Black Adventists (24, 25) and in Asian Adventists (20), respectively. The aim of this report is to test the hypothesis that the culturally-tailored plantbased dietary pattern practiced by Hispanic/Latino Seventhday Adventists is associated with lower levels of adiposity and adiposity-related biomarkers. Findings from this work can potentially inform the cultural tailoring of plant-based diet choices for dietary interventions in the broader population of US Hispanic/Latinos.

# METHODS

# **Study Population**

The AMEN study is a cross-sectional investigation of diet and cardio-metabolic markers conducted during 2013–2016 in churches within a 20 mile radius of Loma Linda University. Our target congregations were predominantly of Hispanic/Latino background. The inclusion criteria included: (1) age 18 years or older, (2) baptized into the Seventh-day Adventist church, (3) self-identify as Hispanic, and (4) no self-report of dementia, pregnancy, or breastfeeding.

Recruitment efforts were initiated by assembling a community advisory board of influential individuals from the Hispanic and Asian Adventist churches in Southern California. Based on the advice of this board, we selected five Hispanic congregations. An additional criterion was that the congregations be meeting in facilities that could accommodate a weekend health clinic. Recruitment from these congregations was done by: (1) linking recruitment to informative health and lifestyle presentations done by Loma Linda University lifestyle medicine faculty, (2) linking recruitment to health and wellness clinics done on the church premises over a weekend, and (3) notices on church bulletin boards, social media, and through e-mail campaigns.

Through these efforts, we recruited 141 subjects from the five congregations that had been invited to participate, of whom 101 subjects were eligible for enrollment. Due to missing data for pertinent diet and anthropometric variables, our analytic sample consisted of 74 subjects. All data collection forms were translated into English and Spanish, and a bi-lingual translator was available for assistance.

### **Outcome Measures**

Eligible subjects were enrolled if they attended a health assessment clinic that occurred either as part of a health fair at their church or by appointment at Loma Linda University. A 12 h fasting blood sample drawn by a certified phlebotomist and first void urine sample were collected from each participant. For

Abbreviations: AMEN, Adventist Multi-*e*thnic Nutrition Study; US, United States; T2D, Type 2 Diabetes; HbA1c, Hemoglobin A1c; WC, Waist circumference; BMI, Body mass index; BP, blood pressure; AHS-2, Adventist Health Study 2; Veg, Vegetarian; Non-veg, Non-vegetarian.

this analysis, biospecimens were analyzed for a comprehensive metabolic panel, and also tests of inflammatory markers (interleukin-6, C reactive protein) using a previously described protocol by Jaceldo-Siegl et al. (26). Briefly, collection of blood was done after an overnight fast, and serum was separated from the cells within 30 min of collection, placed on wet ice, and then shipped or transported to the central study laboratory at Loma Linda, CA for further processing. Blood was aliquoted to 0.5 mL samples and immediately stored in liquid nitrogen until analysis. Concentrations of CRP and IL-6 were measured in duplicate samples using enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kits from R & D Systems (Minneapolis, MN, USA) for IL-6, Thermo Fisher Scientific (Waltham, MA, USA), and Assaypro (St. Charles, MO, USA) for CRP. For IL-6, the detectable limit was 0.039 pg/mL, and intra- and inter-assay CV were 6.9 and 7.2%; and for CRP, these were 100 pg/mL, 5.5 and 7.6%, respectively.

Blood pressure (BP), weight, height, body mass index (BMI), waist circumference (WC), and body composition were assessed on-site. Height was measured to the nearest quarter inch (0.64 cm) using the Seca 214 Portable Height Rod (Seca Corp, Hamburg, Germany). Weight (measured to the nearest half pound or 0.23 kg) and body composition were assessed using a body composition analyzer (Tanita, Model TBF-300A, Arlington Heights, IL, USA). Waist circumference was obtained using an anthropometric tape placed around the waist just above the hipbone.

Blood pressure and resting pulse were assessed each as the average of three measurements using the OMRON Digital Blood Pressure Monitor HEM-7471C (Omron Healthcare Inc., Vernon Hills, IL, USA). All subjects were subject to a standard protocol, including a 5 min quiet relaxation period prior to the first reading of BP and resting pulse, and 1 min rest between consecutive measurements.

### **Classification of Vegetarian Diet**

Dietary intake was assessed using two methods: (1) A single 24 h recall using standard methodology that has been discussed previously (27), (2) Survey items adapted from EPIC Oxford where subjects were also asked about their consumption (in the past 30 days) of four animal-based products (meat, fish, dairy, and eggs). Using the latter method to survey usual intake, participants were classified as non-vegetarian if they currently eat meat; pescatarian if they eat no meat but eat fish; lacto-ovo vegetarian if they eat dairy and eggs but not meat or fish; and strict vegetarian if they do not consume meat, eggs, fish and dairy. Due to the limited sample size, strict vegetarians, lactoovo vegetarians, and pescatarians were considered as following a plant-based diet and collapsed into a "vegetarian" group. Survey items measuring meat intake among Seventh-day Adventists have been validated against multiple 24 h recalls with correlations that exceed 0.80 (27).

# Assessment of Demographic, Religiosity, and Culture-Specific Data

We obtained demographic, spoken language, nativity and religiosity data by questionnaire. Religiosity was assessed by asking the question, "How religious are you?" where we defined "religious" as having "to do with a personal experience and not just a behavior, like going to church." Responses were elicited using a 10-point semantic differential scale where 1 represents not religious at all and 10 the most religious.

### **Statistics**

Descriptive analyses comparing vegetarians and non-vegetarians on selected subject characteristics were conducted using *t*-tests for continuous, and  $\chi^2$  or Fisher test for categorical variables. Continuous outcome variables (anthropometric, body composition, pulse, and blood pressure measures) were compared in vegetarians and non-vegetarians using generalized linear models adjusted for age, sex, and education. Ninety-five percent confidence intervals for the difference between these adjusted means were computed using the standard errors of the regression coefficients in the models.

# RESULTS

In **Table 1**, we examined demographics characteristics of Hispanic/Latino subjects in the AMEN study. We found that vegetarians tended to be older (p = 0.006) and more educated (p = 0.02) as compared to non-vegetarians (**Table 1**). There was no significant difference in religiosity between the vegetarians and non-vegetarians.

# **Vegetarian Diet and Adiposity**

In linear regression models (**Table 2**), we tested the association between measures of adiposity (BMI, waist circumference (WC), fat mass, and percent body fat) as outcomes and vegetarian diet status as a main exposure. We found that BMI was lower among the vegetarians than the non-vegetarians (24.5 kg/m<sup>2</sup> vs. 27.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, p = 0.006) after adjusting for age, sex, and education. Vegetarians also had significantly lower waist circumference (34.8 in vs. 37.5 in), fat mass (18.3 kg vs. 23.9 kg), and percent body fat (28.4% vs. 32%) as compared to non-vegetarians. Pulse rate, systolic and diastolic blood pressure values among vegetarians were not significantly different from those of non-vegetarians.

# Vegetarian Diet, Adiposity, and Inflammatory Markers

We found that log-transformed interleukin-6 (IL-6) was positively associated with the following adiposity outcomes: BMI ( $\beta = 1.64$ , p = 0.04), waist circumference ( $\beta = 1.32$ , p = 0.08), fat mass ( $\beta = 1.32$ , p = 0.05), and fat percent ( $\beta = 4.22$ , p = 0.004). Adding the main exposure for vegetarian status to the model did not appreciably reduce these associations. For log transformed C-reactive protein (CRP), positive associations were found for fat mass ( $\beta = 2.38$ , p = 0.03) and fat percent ( $\beta = 3.13$ , p = 0.004). Similarly, adding the main exposure did not change CRP associations with measures of adiposity. We note that the power to detect mediation was low, making type 1 errors more likely.

There were no significant differences between vegetarians and non-vegetarians for log-transformed CRP ( $\beta = -0.06562$ , p = 0.78) or log-transformed IL-6 ( $\beta = -0.19132$ , p = 0.29).

		-	etarian = 23)		-vegetarian 51)	<i>p</i> -value
Age (y) <sup>a</sup>	Mean	54.3	3	47.6	5	0.03
	SD	14.1		10.6	;	
Religiosity	Mean	8.22	2	7.78	5	0.22
	SD	1.24	ļ	1.46	5	
		n	%	n	%	
Sex <sup>a</sup>						0.15
	Male	4	17.4	17	34.0	
	Female	19	82.6	33	66.0	
Income <sup>a</sup>						
	<\$50,000	12	57.1	38	77.6	0.08
	≥\$51,000	9	42.9	11	22.4	
Education						
	High school or Less	6	26.1	28	54.9	0.02
	College or more	17	73.9	23	45.1	
Marital status	6					
	Married	17	73.9	39	76.5	0.81
	Not Married	6	26.1	12	23.5	
Language						
	English	2	8.7	7	13.7	0.31
	Spanish	19	82.6	43	84.3	
	Other	2	8.7	1	2.0	
Nativity						
	U.S. Born	3	13.0	4	7.8	0.67
	Foreign Born	20	87.0	47	92.2	

**TABLE 1** Selected characteristics among Hispanic/Latino vegetarians and non-vegetarians in the Adventist Multi-ethnic Nutrition (AMEN) Study.

<sup>a</sup>% Missing data: 1% Age, 1% Sex, 2.08% Income.

# DISCUSSION

In the AMEN study, we found that in a sample of Seventh-day Adventist Hispanic/Latino adults, those following a vegetarian dietary pattern had a BMI that was lower (24.5 kg/m<sup>2</sup> vs. 27.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, p = 0.006) and within federally-recommended limits as compared to non-vegetarians. These findings were confirmed by similar decreases in other measures of adiposity [fat mass (18.3 kg vs. 23.9 kg), and percent body fat (28.4% vs. 32%)] and abdominal adiposity [waist circumference (34.8 in vs. 37.5 in)].

These findings are concordant with findings from non-Hispanic white Adventists (18, 19, 22), Black/African American Adventists (22, 25), and Asian Adventists (20). For Black Adventists, Akbar et al. has reported a "cultural tailoring" of the vegetarian diet chosen whereby Southern and Caribbean influenced dietary patterns introduced a wide range of plant foods into the diet (24). In US-based Asian Indian Adventists, Singh reported the predominance of nuts as a major source of protein in vegetarians who were at lower BMI (20).

Our next step in the AMEN study was to investigate how the protective patterns of plant-based eating in Hispanic/Latino adults were influenced by cultural preference for specific plant foods. These data can potentially inform culturally-tailored **TABLE 2** | Comparison of obesity measures, body composition, pulse, and blood

 pressure in vegetarians and non-vegetarians in the AMEN Study.

	4	Adjusted for age, sex, and ed	ucation
	Mean	Difference (95% CI)	<i>p</i> -value
BODY MASS	INDEX (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )		
Non-veg <sup>a</sup>	27.9	3.3 (1.0, 5.7)	0.006
Veg	24.5		
WAIST CIRC	UMFERENCE (ii	n)	
Non-veg	37.5	2.8 (0.6, 4.9)	0.01
Veg	34.8		
FAT MASS (k	.g)		
Non-veg	23.9	5.5 (1.6, 9.5)	0.007
Veg	18.3		
PERCENT BO	ODY FAT		
Non-veg	32.0	3.6 (0.5, 6.7)	0.025
Veg	28.4		
PULSE RATE			
Non-veg	67.5	2.8 (-2.4, 8.1)	0.28
Veg	64.6		
SYSTOLIC B	LOOD PRESSU	RE	
Non-veg	117.6	-3.0 (-11.1, 5.1)	0.46
Veg	120.6		
DIASTOLIC E	BLOOD PRESSU	JRE	
Non-veg	77.1	1.1 (-3.6, 5.9)	0.64
Veg	75.9		

<sup>a</sup>Non-veg, non-vegetarian; Veg, vegetarian (combining vegan, lacto-ovo, and pesco-vegetarian).

plant-based dietary interventions for the broader population of US Hispanic/Latinos who have been experiencing a nutrition transition away from simpler, more traditional diets rich in whole plant foods.

### Plant-Based Eating in US Hispanic/Latinos

Our data indicates that more plant-based eating in US-based Hispanic/Latino Adventist adults was associated on average with adiposity indices falling within the federally-recommended limits. If this association holds true also for non-Adventist Hispanics/Latinos, how feasible and scalable is it to have Adventist and non-Adventist Hispanics/Latinos increase their plant-based dietary choices as a means of preventing the obesity and cardiometabolic diseases that are disproportionately prevalent in their community?

When considering this question it is noteworthy that data from Latin America indicate a rich cultural tradition of eating and preparing a diverse range of regional plant foods. For example, the Tarahumara Indians of Mexico traditionally adhered to a diet consisting of beans, corn, and squash and very little meat, and this pattern has been associated with lower risk of cardiometabolic disease (28) and can be significantly compromised by plying the Tarahumara with a typical U.S. diet (29). Studies from South America report that vegan and semivegetarian Peruvian and Brazilian subjects (following traditional cultural choices involving plant foods) do have lower rates of hypertension, dyslipidemia, and obesity as compared to omnivores (30). These small studies provide clues that increasing plant-based diet choices based on long-held cultural traditions of eating whole plant foods can potentially be an attractive target for high impact interventions. When designing dietary interventions we note that the strict vegetarian diet pattern is not commonly practiced by US Hispanic/Latinos (31), and further research is needed in this community to examine whether increasing plant food intake to the point of semi-vegetarian or pescatarian pattern can improve health outcomes.

# Plant-Based Eating, Pro-Inflammatory Cytokines, and Obesity in Hispanic/Latinos

Among the Hispanic/Latino adults of the AMEN study, we did find that measures of adiposity were associated with proinflammatory cytokines such as interleukin-6. Compared to nonvegetarian dietary patterns, vegetarian dietary patterns generate increased microbially-generated short chain fatty acids, which reduce systemic inflammation (e.g., IL-6), increase hormonal satiety-signaling (e.g., glucagon-like peptide-1) and reduce insulin resistance (32, 33). Among Hispanic/Latino subjects, recent studies suggest that IL-6 may be elevated from a young age, and the link across the lifespan to higher rates of cardiometabolic disease may be due to specific IL-6 polymorphisms in Latino youth (34). Interestingly, adding IL-6 to our models examining association with vegetarian diet exposure did not alter the protective effect of the diet on obesity.

### Limitations

The AMEN study has important limitations. The cross-sectional and observational design precludes inferring a causal effect from the association of diet with obesity and obesity-related disease. The purpose of our pilot study was to generate culturally-specific hypotheses for testing this association in longitudinal and experimental designs with novel culturallytailored interventions.

The relatively small sample size limited our statistical power to test more complex food and nutrient models, and for testing interaction and mediation. We note, however, the significant and cross-validating associations between plant-based eating and measures of adiposity that persist despite the limited power to detect these associations.

Religiosity could also be a factor since we are studying a faith-based group. It is noteworthy, however, that we observed

# REFERENCES

- Arroyo-Johnson C, Mincey KD, Ackermann N, Milam L, Goodman MS, Colditz GA. Racial and ethnic heterogeneity in self-reported diabetes prevalence trends across hispanic subgroups, National Health Interview Survey, 1997-2012. *Prev Chronic Dis.* (2016) 13:E10. doi: 10.5888/pcd13.150260
- Hales CM, Fryar CD, Carroll MD, Freedman DS, Ogden CL. Trends in obesity and severe obesity prevalence in US youth and adults by sex and age, 2007-2008 to 2015-2016. *JAMA*. (2018) 319:1723–5. doi: 10.1001/jama.20 18.3060

no difference in religiosity between the vegetarians and nonvegetarians we studied. Measurement error in dietary assessment is always present in observational work, but we note a decades-long track record by our research group validating diet and vegetarian diet survey measures in Adventists (16, 17, 35).

# CONCLUSIONS

Our findings from Hispanic/Latino Seventh-day Adventists indicate that plant-based diet patterns were associated with adiposity in the recommended range, and effects were consistent across multiple measures of adiposity and obesity-related inflammatory markers. Further studies of how Hispanics/Latinos have culturally tailored the Adventist plant-based eating pattern could potentially inform interventions for the broader population of Hispanics/Latinos.

# **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The study protocol was approved by the institutional review board of Loma Linda University and performed in accordance with the ethical standards as laid down in the 1975 Declaration of Helsinki as revised in 2000. All participants provided signed informed consent.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

PS: designed the study, supervised data collection and analysis, wrote the final version of the manuscript and obtained funding; KJ-S: designed the study, supervised data collection and analysis, wrote a draft of the manuscript; NC: analyzed data; WS: analyzed data and edited manuscript; LL: data collection coordinator and preliminary analysis; KS: analyzed data and edited manuscript; DE: analyzed data; MJ, HF, DH-B, and WM: edited manuscript.

# FUNDING

This study was supported by a grant from the Center for Hispanic Health of the White Memorial Medical Center Foundation (PS).

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the church staff, student volunteers, and our participants for their contributions to this study.

- Fang M. Trends in the prevalence of diabetes among U.S. adults: 1999-2016. Am J Prev Med. (2018) 55:497–505. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2018. 05.018
- 4. Commodore-Mensah Y, Selvin E, Aboagye J, Turkson-Ocran RA, Li X, Himmelfarb CD, et al. Hypertension, overweight/obesity, and diabetes among immigrants in the United States: an analysis of the 2010-2016 National Health Interview Survey. *BMC Public Health.* (2018) 18:773. doi: 10.1186/s12889-018-5683-3
- Xu G, Liu B, Sun Y, Du Y, Snetselaar LG, Hu FB, et al. Prevalence of diagnosed type 1 and type 2 diabetes among US adults in 2016 and 2017: population based study. *BMJ*. (2018) 362:k1497. doi: 10.1136/bmj.k1497

- Sorlie PD, Avilés-Santa LM, Wassertheil-Smoller S, Kaplan RC, Daviglus ML, Giachello AL, et al. Design and implementation of the Hispanic community health study/study of Latinos. *Ann Epidemiol.* (2010) 20:629–41. doi: 10.1016/j.annepidem.2010.03.015
- Martinez AD, Juon HS, Levine DM, Lyford-Pike V, Peters S. The association between nutrition transition score and measures of obesity: results from a cross-sectional study among Latina/o immigrants in Baltimore. *Global Health.* (2014) 10:57. doi: 10.1186/1744-8603-10-57
- Abraido-Lanza AF, Chao MT, Florez KR. Do healthy behaviors decline with greater acculturation? Implications for the Latino mortality paradox. *Soc Sci Med.* (2005) 61:1243–55. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2005.01.016
- 9. Liu JH, Chu YH, Frongillo EA, Probst JC. Generation and acculturation status are associated with dietary intake and body weight in Mexican American adolescents. *J Nutr.* (2012) 142:298–305. doi: 10.3945/jn.111.145516
- Flores M, Macias N, Rivera M, Lozada A, Barquera S, Rivera-Dommarco J, et al. Dietary patterns in Mexican adults are associated with risk of being overweight or obese. J Nutr. (2010) 140:1869–73. doi: 10.3945/jn.110.121533
- Cossrow N, Falkner B. Race/ethnic issues in obesity and obesityrelated comorbidities. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2004) 89:2590–4. doi: 10.1210/jc.2004-0339
- Reininger B, Lee M, Jennings R, Evans A, Vidoni M. Healthy eating patterns associated with acculturation, sex and BMI among Mexican Americans. *Public Health Nutr.* (2017) 20:1267–78. doi: 10.1017/S13689800160 03311
- Barnard ND, Levin SM, Yokoyama Y. A systematic review and meta-analysis of changes in body weight in clinical trials of vegetarian diets. J Acad Nutr Diet. (2015) 115:954–69. doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2014.11.016
- Yokoyama Y, Barnard ND, Levin SM, Watanabe M. Vegetarian diets and glycemic control in diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Cardiovasc Diagn Ther.* (2014) 4:373–82. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2223-3652.2014.10.04
- Lemon FR, Walden RT. Death from respiratory system disease among Seventh-Day Adventist men. JAMA. (1966) 198:117–26. doi: 10.1001/jama.1966.03110150065020
- Beeson WL, Mills PK, Phillips RL, Andress M, Fraser GE. Chronic disease among Seventh-day Adventists, a low-risk group. Rationale, methodology, and description of the population. *Cancer.* (1989) 64:570–81.
- Butler TL, Fraser GE, Beeson WL, Knutsen SF, Herring RP, Chan J, et al. Cohort profile: the Adventist Health Study-2 (AHS-2). *Int J Epidemiol.* (2008) 37:260–5. doi: 10.1093/ije/dym165
- Vang A, Singh PN, Lee JW, Haddad EH, Brinegar CH. Meats, processed meats, obesity, weight gain and occurrence of diabetes among adults: findings from Adventist Health Studies. *Ann Nutr Metab.* (2008) 52:96–104. doi: 10.1159/000121365
- Singh PN, Sabate J, Fraser GE. Does low meat consumption increase life expectancy in humans? *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2003) 78(Suppl. 3):526S-32S. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/78.3.526S
- Singh PN, Arthur KN, Orlich MJ, James W, Purty A, Job JS, et al. Global epidemiology of obesity, vegetarian dietary patterns, and noncommunicable disease in Asian Indians. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2014) 100 (Suppl. 1):359S-64S. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.113.071571
- Rizzo NS, Sabaté J, Jaceldo-Siegl K, Fraser GE. Vegetarian dietary patterns are associated with a lower risk of metabolic syndrome: the Adventist Health Study 2. *Diabetes Care.* (2011) 34:1225–7. doi: 10.2337/ dc10-1221
- Tonstad S, Butler T, Yan R, Fraser GE. Type of vegetarian diet, body weight, and prevalence of type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care.* (2009) 32:791–6. doi: 10.2337/dc08-1886

- 23. Fraser GE. Diet, Life Expectancy, and Chronic Disease: Studies of Seventh-Day Adventists and Other Vegetarians. New York, NY: Oxford University Press (2003).
- Akbar JA, Jaceldo-Siegl K, Fraser G, Herring RP, Yancey A. The contribution of soul and Caribbean foods to nutrient intake in a sample of Blacks of US and Caribbean descent in the Adventist Health Study-2: a pilot study. *Ethn Dis.* (2007) 17:244–9. doi: 10.1093/aje/163.suppl\_11.S31-c
- Singh PN, Clark RW, Herring P, Sabate J, Shavlik D, Fraser GE. Obesity and life expectancy among long-lived Black adults. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. (2014) 69:63–72. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glt049
- Jaceldo-Siegl K, Haddad E, Knutsen S, Fan J, Lloren J, Bellinger D, et al. Lower C-reactive protein and IL-6 associated with vegetarian diets are mediated by BMI. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* (2018). 8:787–94. doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2018.03.003
- Jaceldo-Siegl K, Fan J, Sabate J, Knutsen SF, Haddad E, Beeson WL, et al. Race-specific validation of food intake obtained from a comprehensive FFQ: the Adventist Health Study-2. *Public Health Nutr.* (2011) 14:1988–97. doi: 10.1017/S1368980011000735
- Connor WE, Cerqueira MT, Connor RW, Wallace RB, Malinow MR, Casdorph HR. The plasma lipids, lipoproteins, and diet of the Tarahumara indians of Mexico. Am J Clin Nutr. (1978) 31:1131–42. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/31.7.1131
- McMurry MP, Cerqueira MT, Connor SL, Connor WE. Changes in lipid and lipoprotein levels and body weight in Tarahumara Indians after consumption of an affluent diet. N Engl J Med. (1991) 325:1704–8. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199112123252405
- Navarro JA, Caramelli B. Vegetarians from latin america. Am J Cardiol. (2010) 105:902. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2009.10.031
- Cramer H, Kessler CS, Sundberg T, Leach MJ, Schumann D, Adams J, et al. Characteristics of Americans choosing vegetarian and vegan diets for health reasons. J Nutr Educ Behav. (2017) 49:561–7 e561. doi: 10.1016/j.jneb.2017.04.011
- Zhang C, Bjorkman A, Cai K, Liu G, Wang C, Li Y, et al. Impact of a 3-Months vegetarian diet on the gut microbiota and immune repertoire. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:908. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00908
- Morrison DJ, Preston T. Formation of short chain fatty acids by the gut microbiota and their impact on human metabolism. *Gut Microbes*. (2016) 7:189–200. doi: 10.1080/19490976.2015.1134082
- Boeta-Lopez K, Duran J, Elizondo D, Gonzales E, Rentfro A, Schwarzbach AE, et al. Association of interleukin-6 polymorphisms with obesity or metabolic traits in young Mexican-Americans. *Obes Sci Pract.* (2018) 4:85–96. doi: 10.1002/osp4.138
- 35. Jaceldo-Siegl K, Sabate J, Rajaram S, Fraser GE. Long-term almond supplementation without advice on food replacement induces favourable nutrient modifications to the habitual diets of free-living individuals. Br J Nutr. (2004) 92:533–40. doi: 10.1079/BJN20041223

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Singh, Jaceldo-Siegl, Shih, Collado, Le, Silguero, Estevez, Jordan, Flores, Hayes-Bautista and McCarthy. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Corrigendum: Plant-Based Diets Are Associated With Lower Adiposity Levels Among Hispanic/Latino Adults in the Adventist Multi-Ethnic Nutrition (AMEN) Study

Pramil N. Singh<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Karen Jaceldo-Siegl<sup>1</sup>, Wendy Shih<sup>2</sup>, Nancy Collado<sup>2</sup>, Lap T. Le<sup>2</sup>, Krystal Silguero<sup>2</sup>, Dennys Estevez<sup>2</sup>, Michael Jordan<sup>3</sup>, Hector Flores<sup>4</sup>, David E. Hayes-Bautista<sup>5</sup> and William J. McCarthy<sup>6</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Center for Nutrition, Healthy Lifestyles and Disease Prevention, School of Public Health, Loma Linda University, Loma Linda, CA, United States, <sup>2</sup> Center for Health Research, School of Public Health, Loma Linda University, Loma Linda, CA, United States, <sup>3</sup> Center for Hispanic Health, White Memorial Medical Center, Los Angeles, CA, United States, <sup>4</sup> Department of Family Medicine, White Memorial Medical Center, Los Angeles, CA, United States, <sup>5</sup> Center for Study of Latino Health and Culture, David Geffen School of Medicine, University of California at Los Angeles, Los Angeles, CA, United States, <sup>6</sup> Health Policy and Management, School of Public Health, UCLA Jonsson Comprehensive Cancer Center, Los Angeles, CA, United States

### OPEN ACCESS

### Approved by:

Frontiers Editorial Office, Frontiers Media SA, Switzerland

> \*Correspondence: Pramil N. Singh psingh@llu.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Clinical Nutrition, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

**Received:** 15 April 2019 **Accepted:** 24 May 2019 **Published:** 12 June 2019

### Citation:

Singh PN, Jaceldo-Siegl K, Shih W, Collado N, Le LT, Silguero K, Estevez D, Jordan M, Flores H, Hayes-Bautista DE and McCarthy WJ (2019) Corrigendum: Plant-Based Diets Are Associated With Lower Adiposity Levels Among Hispanic/Latino Adults in the Adventist Multi-Ethnic Nutrition (AMEN) Study. Front. Nutr. 6:88. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2019.00088 Keywords: Hispanic/Latino, plant-based diet, vegetarian, obesity, Seventh-day Adventist

### A Corrigendum on

# Plant-Based Diets Are Associated With Lower Adiposity Levels Among Hispanic/Latino Adults in the Adventist Multi-Ethnic Nutrition (AMEN) Study

by Singh, P. N., Jaceldo-Siegl, K., Shih, W., Collado, N., Le, L. T., Silguero, K., et al. (2019). Front. Nutr. 6:34. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2019.00034

In the original article, there was a mistake in **Table 2** as published. The waist circumference results were provided in cm and should in fact be in inches. The corrected **Table 2** appears below.

Additionally, throughout the article the waist circumference was listed in centimeters and should in fact be in inches.

Corrections have therefore been made to the following section:

The Abstract, paragraph four:

"**Results:** Vegetarian diet patterns (Vegan, Lacto-ovo vegetarian, Pesco-vegetarian) were associated with significantly lower BMI (24.5 kg/m<sup>2</sup> vs. 27.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, p = 0.006), waist circumference (34.8 in vs. 37.5 in, p = 0.01), and fat mass (18.3 kg vs. 23.9 kg, p = 0.007), as compared to non-vegetarians. Adiposity was positively associated with pro-inflammatory cytokines (Interleukin-6) in this sample, but adjusting for this effect did not alter the associations with vegetarian diet."

The Results, subsection Vegetarian Diet and Adiposity:

"In linear regression models (Table 2), we tested the association between measures of adiposity (BMI, waist circumference (WC), fat mass, and percent body fat) as outcomes

TABLE 2   Comparison of obesity measures, body composition, pulse, and blood
pressure in vegetarians and non-vegetarians in the AMEN Study.

	ŀ	Adjusted for age, sex, and ed	ucation
	Mean	Difference (95% CI)	<i>p</i> -value
BODY MASS	INDEX (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )		
Non-veg <sup>a</sup>	27.9	3.3 (1.0, 5.7)	0.006
Veg	24.5		
WAIST CIRC	UMFERENCE (ii	n)	
Non-veg	37.5	2.8 (0.6, 4.9)	0.01
Veg	34.8		
FAT MASS (k	g)		
Non-veg	23.9	5.5 (1.6, 9.5)	0.007
Veg	18.3		
PERCENT BO	DDY FAT		
Non-veg	32.0	3.6 (0.5, 6.7)	0.025
Veg	28.4		
PULSE RATE	1		
Non-veg	67.5	2.8 (-2.4, 8.1)	0.28
Veg	64.6		
SYSTOLIC B	LOOD PRESSU	RE	
Non-veg	117.6	-3.0 (-11.1, 5.1)	0.46
Veg	120.6		
DIASTOLIC E	BLOOD PRESSU	IRE	
Non-veg	77.1	1.1 (-3.6, 5.9)	0.64
Veg	75.9		

<sup>a</sup>Non-veg, non-vegetarian; Veg, vegetarian (combining vegan, lacto-ovo, and pesco-vegetarian).

and vegetarian diet status as a main exposure. We found that BMI was lower among the vegetarians than the non-vegetarians (24.5 kg/m<sup>2</sup> vs. 27.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, p = 0.006) after adjusting for age, sex, and education. Vegetarians also had significantly lower waist circumference (34.8 in vs. 37.5 in), fat mass (18.3 kg vs. 23.9 kg), and percent body fat (28.4% vs. 32%) as compared to non-vegetarians. Pulse rate, systolic and diastolic blood pressure values among vegetarians were not significantly different from those of non-vegetarians."

### The Discussion, paragraph one:

"In the AMEN study, we found that in a sample of Seventh-day Adventist Hispanic/Latino adults, those following a vegetarian dietary pattern had a BMI that was lower (24.5 kg/m<sup>2</sup> vs. 27.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, p = 0.006) and within federally-recommended limits as compared to non-vegetarians. These findings were confirmed by similar decreases in other measures of adiposity [fat mass (18.3 kg vs. 23.9 kg), and percent body fat (28.4% vs. 32%)] and abdominal adiposity [waist circumference (34.8 in vs. 37.5 in)]."

The authors apologize for these errors and state that they do not change the scientific conclusions of the article in any way. The original article has been updated.

Copyright © 2019 Singh, Jaceldo-Siegl, Shih, Collado, Le, Silguero, Estevez, Jordan, Flores, Hayes-Bautista and McCarthy. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# The Effects of Vegetarian and Vegan Diets on Gut Microbiota

Aleksandra Tomova<sup>1\*</sup>, Igor Bukovsky<sup>2</sup>, Emilie Rembert<sup>3</sup>, Willy Yonas<sup>3</sup>, Jihad Alwarith<sup>3</sup>, Neal D. Barnard<sup>3,4</sup> and Hana Kahleova<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Faculty of Medicine, Institute of Physiology, Comenius University in Bratislava, Bratislava, Slovakia, <sup>2</sup> Center for Clinical Nutrition, Bratislava, Slovakia, <sup>3</sup> Physicians Committee for Responsible Medicine, Washington, DC, United States, <sup>4</sup> Adjunct Faculty, George Washington University School of Medicine and Health Sciences, Washington, DC, United States

The difference in gut microbiota composition between individuals following vegan or vegetarian diets and those following omnivorous diets is well documented. A plant-based diet appears to be beneficial for human health by promoting the development of more diverse and stable microbial systems. Additionally, vegans and vegetarians have significantly higher counts of certain Bacteroidetes-related operational taxonomic units compared to omnivores. Fibers (that is, non-digestible carbohydrates, found exclusively in plants) most consistently increase lactic acid bacteria, such as Ruminococcus, E. rectale, and Roseburia, and reduce Clostridium and Enterococcus species. Polyphenols, also abundant in plant foods, increase Bifidobacterium and Lactobacillus, which provide anti-pathogenic and anti-inflammatory effects and cardiovascular protection. High fiber intake also encourages the growth of species that ferment fiber into metabolites as short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs), including acetate, propionate, and butyrate. The positive health effects of SCFAs are myriad, including improved immunity against pathogens, blood-brain barrier integrity, provision of energy substrates, and regulation of critical functions of the intestine. In conclusion, the available literature suggests that a vegetarian/vegan diet is effective in promoting a diverse ecosystem of beneficial bacteria to support both human gut microbiome and overall health. This review will focus on effects of different diets and nutrient contents, particularly plant-based diets, on the gut microbiota composition and production of microbial metabolites affecting the host health.

Keywords: gut microbiota, fiber, nutrition, plant-based diet, postbiotics

# INTRODUCTION

Recent studies of the human microbiome have emerged as an area of popular interest. For decades, many investigations have elucidated the impact of the human gut microbiota on the physiology of the host, with new and unexpectedly broad implications for health and disease.

The human microbiota, defined as the total of all microbial taxa associated with human beings (bacteria, viruses, fungi, protozoa, archaea), consists of a newly estimated  $3 \times 10^{13}$  (trillion) microbes harbored by each person (1). The term *microbiome* is often incorrectly used interchangeably with the term microbiota. However, microbiome refers to the catalog of these microbes and their genes. The human gut microbiome represents ~3.3 million non-redundant microbial genes, which outnumbers the human genome of some 21,000 genes in the ratio of ~150:1 (2). Interestingly, the diversity among the microbiomes of two different individuals is vast compared to their human genomic variation; humans are about 99.9% identical to each other in terms of their genome (3), but their gut microbiome can be up to 80–90% different (4).

### OPEN ACCESS

### Edited by:

Sergueï O. Fetissov, Université de Rouen, France

### Reviewed by:

Iolanda Cioffi, Azienda Ospedaliera Universitaria Federico II, Italy Christine Ann Butts, The New Zealand Institute for Plant & Food Research Ltd, New Zealand

### \*Correspondence:

Aleksandra Tomova aleksandra.tomova@fmed.uniba.sk

### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Clinical Nutrition, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 11 January 2019 Accepted: 29 March 2019 Published: 17 April 2019

### Citation:

Tomova A, Bukovsky I, Rembert E, Yonas W, Alwarith J, Barnard ND and Kahleova H (2019) The Effects of Vegetarian and Vegan Diets on Gut Microbiota. Front. Nutr. 6:47. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2019.00047

20

Recent advancements in laboratory techniques have revealed functions of the human gut microbiota related to immunity and the gastrointestinal, brain, and cardiovascular systems. Research has also suggested a profound effect of the human gut microbiota on host cells and genes. This extensive interaction has suggested that the microbiome functions effectively as a separate "organ."

Several studies have suggested that there are three basic bacterial enterotypes (5) (1) genus *Prevotella* (considered to be mostly anti-inflammatory and otherwise protective), (2) genus *Bacteroides* (more pro-inflammatory and possibly related to the heightened risk of metabolic syndrome and other pathological conditions), and (3) genus *Ruminococcus* (of which the biological significance is less evident) (6).

An imbalance of the gut microbiota has been linked with gastrointestinal conditions such as reflux, peptic ulcers, irritable bowel syndrome, non-alcoholic steatohepatitis, and inflammatory bowel disease. Additionally, some systemic conditions such as obesity, atherosclerosis, type 2 diabetes, cancer, Alzheimer's and Parkinson's disease, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, autism spectrum disorder, atopy etc., also appear to be linked to unfavorable changes in gut microbiota composition (7–17). An accumulating body of evidence points to the gut microbiota as a mediator of dietary impact on the host metabolic status. Current research is focusing on the establishment of causal relationships in people and the development of therapeutic interventions such as personalized nutrition (18).

Dietary composition appears to have long-term and acute effects on the gut microbiota ecosystem (19, 20). Different longterm dietary patterns, such as vegetarian/vegan vs. omnivorous diets, have significant influence on gut microbiota composition. The different gut microbiota content is shown to provide different food nutrients metabolites, termed postbiotics. For instance, SCFAs, phytoestrogens, or isothiocyanates are more linked with the plant-based food, while TMAO and secondary bile acids with the meat-based diet. These and other postbiotics take part in the metabolism of the host in different ways. This review will focus on some general as well as specific aspects of this dynamic field of research.

### **GUT MICROBIOTA: GENERAL ASPECTS**

In addition to bacteria, the gut is host to multiple kingdoms: archaea, viruses, and eukaryotes, including fungal species. The gut microbiota is represented by more than 1,000 microbial species, belonging primary to just two phyla: *Bacteroidetes* and *Firmicutes* (21). Based on human stool samples, overall, the genera *Bacteroides, Prevotella, Bifidobacterium, Eubacterium, Clostridium, Streptococcus,* and *Enterobacteriaceae* are most commonly found. It should be noted that stool samples provide reasonable estimations of the gut microbiota rather than a complete representation (22). This is because anaerobic species often attach to the gut mucosa, making it difficult to identify all bacterial species present in the large intestine. Also, it is probable that the biological significance of any genera or species is not given by its relative proportion in the whole ecosystem. Rather, its significance is observed through its metabolism/postbiotics and effects on the enteric nervous system, local immunity, brain, and genes.

# EFFECT OF DIET ON GUT MICROBIOTA COMPOSITION

The difference in gut microbiota composition between individuals consuming a vegan/vegetarian and an omnivorous diet is well documented. Research shows that vegetarian/vegan diets foster different microbiota when compared to omnivores, with only a marginal difference between vegans and vegetarians (23). Changes in microbiota composition might be due to differences in bacteria directly consumed through food, differences in substrates consumed, variations in transit time through the gastrointestinal system, pH, host secretion influenced by dietary patterns, and regulation of gene expression of the host himself and/or his/her microbiota (24).

A plant-based diet appears to be beneficial for human health by promoting the development of a more diverse gut microbial system, or even distribution of different species (25, 26).

# Diversity and Richness of the Gut Microbiota

The diversity of the microbiota appears to have an important association with BMI, obesity, and arterial compliance; and a majority of the research suggests that a plant-based diet fosters a greater microbial diversity. Klimenko et al. found a positive association between alpha-diversity, or local microbial richness, and long-term fruit and vegetable intake (p < 0.05) (27). Likewise, Martinez et al. observed that adding whole-grain barley, brown rice, or a mixture of the first two to the diet of volunteers resulted in an increase in microbial diversity (n = 28) (28). Klimenko et al. also found a negative association between alpha-diversity and BMI (p < 0.05) (27).

However, a short-term dietary intervention advising increased fiber consumption resulted in a slight but significant decrease in diversity (p < 0.001). The researchers suggest this reduction in diversity might be the result of a rapid dietary change resulting in a temporary disruption to the microbial composition. This hypothesis of transitory microbial "stress" also explains the slight but significant increase in *Enterobacteriaceae* as a result of the intervention (p < 0.05). *Enterobacteriaceae* abundance is typically lower on a vegan diet vs. an omnivorous one (P < 0.05) (29). This is likely due to the greater presence of butyrate-producing bacteria on a higher fiber diet, which can lower colonic pH, preventing the growth of pathogenic bacteria, such as *Enterobacteriaceae* (30).

Verdam et al. observed reduced microbial diversity in obese vs. non-obese study participants (n = 28). The obese participants also displayed a reduction in the *Bacteriodetes:Firmicutes* ratio and an increase in *Proteobacteria*, a pro-inflammatory phylum. Likewise, an increase in C-reactive protein was observed (p < 0.001) which inversely correlated with the *Bacteriodetes:Firmicutes* ratio (p < 0.05). These observations suggest a pro-inflammatory effect of obesity-related microbiota (31). On the other hand, participants from the Adventist Health Study-2 (60,903) following a vegan diet displayed the lowest BMI values when compared with those following a vegetarian or omnivorous diet (32). These findings indicate that a vegan diet, associated with lower body weight, might benefit microbial diversity and protect against inflammation.

Menni et al. observed that carotid-femoral pulse wave velocity, a measure of arterial stiffness, was negatively associated with microbiome diversity (p = 0.001) in women (n = 617) (33). This correlation remained significant after adjusting for insulin resistance and visceral fat. Arterial stiffness is oftentimes caused by hyperglycemia or hyperinsulinemia (34) and is significantly correlated with inflammatory adipokine levels. The researchers suggest the association between arterial stiffness and microbial diversity can be explained partially by the role of the gut in modulating systemic inflammation. Thus, an increase in microbial diversity might improve systemic inflammation, thereby reducing arterial stiffness.

Additionally, vegans and vegetarians have a significantly greater richness (alpha diversity) compared to omnivores, specifically counts of certain *Bacteroidetes*-related operational taxonomic units (OTUs) (35). It seems likely that many health benefits of vegetarian/vegan diets are, in part, mediated by the gut microbiota—not only through the higher relative abundance of those OTUs that are currently considered to be protective (*Bacteroidetes*, *Prevotella*, *Roseburia*, etc.), but also from postbiotic and epigenetic effects on various risk factors for chronic inflammation and chronic degenerative diseases (36).

# Effects of Diet on the Bacteroidetes:Firmicutes Ratio

Despite significant inter-individual differences, a healthy adult intestinal microbiome is characterized by the dominance of these Bacteroidetes-related OTUs along with those of the Firmicutes phylum (37, 38). Research has shown variability in these phyla concentrations to be heavily affected by diet, specifically the ratio between the two when comparing omnivorous diets of the type common in North America, vs. a vegetarian/vegan diet. One study compared the bacterial composition between Indian (n = 11) and Chinese (n = 5) adults (39). While both populations ate diets centered around carbohydrates and vegetables, the Chinese diet was heavier in animal fat and protein than the Indian diet of whole grains and plant-based vegetarian foods. The percentage of Bacteroidetes within the microbiomes of Indian participants was nearly four times greater than in the Chinese, 16.39% vs. 4.27%, respectively (p = 0.001). The higher abundance of Bacteroidetes in Indians was hypothesized to be due to their lower consumption of animal products; indicating a diet lower in animal products to be associated with greater Bacteroidetes counts.

Another study compared the fecal microbiota of Italian children (n = 15) vs. the fecal microbiota of children living in a rural western Africa, specifically in Burkina Faso (n = 14) (40). The Italian children typically consumed a Western diet, high in animal protein, sugar, starch, and fat and low in fiber. The African children of Burkina Faso consumed a diet low in fat and animal protein and rich in starch, fiber, and plant protein. The

abundance of *Firmicutes* was twice as much in the Italian children than in the Burkina Faso children (63.7 vs. 27.3%, respectively). The abundance of *Bacteroidetes* in the Italian children was less than half of that seen than in the Burkina Faso children (22.4 vs. 57.7%, respectively). A decrease in *Firmicutes* levels, usually occurring in favor of *Bacteroidetes* and *Bifidobacteria*, as seen in response to an increase in resistant starches, may be beneficial in preventing and treating obesity (41). While these correlations between diet and microbiota composition are observed among different populations, it is important to consider other factors that may play a role, such as ethnicity, host genotypes, environmental factors, etc.

Research has shown that the balance of Bacteroidetes and Firmicutes is an important marker for obesity and higher BMI. Specifically, a decreased Bacteroidetes:Firmicutes ratio has a strong negative correlation with BMI ( $r_s = 0.59$ , P <0.001) (31). A possible explanation for this correlation may be found in the observation that a 20% increase in Firmicutes and a corresponding decrease in Bacteroidetes abundance is associated with a 150 kcal/day increase in energy harvest, resulting in weight gain overtime. Therefore, an increased Bacteroidetes:Firmicutes ratio, as seen on a high fiber, plantbased diet, may result in weight loss by reducing the amount of energy extracted from the diet. Further research is needed to determine whether the increase in energy harvest due is due to the Bacteroidetes: Firmicutes ratio promoting adiposity or representing a host-mediated adaptive response to limit energy uptake (42).

Studies have also shown opposite trends in Firmicutes and Bacteroidetes. One study compared US children eating a Western diet to Bangladeshi children consuming a plant-based diet of rice, bread, and lentils. The Bacteroidetes:Firmicutes ratio was three times higher in the US children consuming the Western diet (43). This opposes the previous prediction of a Western diet resulting in a decreased Bacteroidetes:Firmicutes ratio. The researchers noted age and geographical differences as potential explanation for this departure from the expected ratio, as well as inter-subject variability. Another study asked participants to increase their fiber consumption and avoid Western diet foods. While prior studies would have suggested an increase in *Bacteroidetes:Firmicutes*, the ratio decreased (0.13  $\pm$  0.2 to  $0.03 \pm 0.09$ , Wilcoxon paired test p < 0.0001, n = 430) (27). Another study analyzed the microbial composition of lean and obese subjects (n = 98) and observed that, when compared to lean subjects, overweight and obese volunteers presented a higher ratio Bacteroidetes to Firmicutes (P = 0.001 and P = 0.005, respectively) (44). Likewise, comparison of bacterial phyla did not show a significant difference in the Bacteroidetes to Firmicutes ratio between obese and lean volunteers (n = 20) (45). These examples reflect the difficulties in broadly linking certain phyla to particular diets. The primary challenge in analyzing specific microbiota is the need to consider the state and interaction dynamic of microbes encompassing the whole microbiome.

### **Effects of Diet on Enterotypes**

As mentioned above, there are three main enterotypes observed in human microbiomes: *Prevotella, Bacteroides,* 

and Ruminococcus. Prevotella, a genus of the Bacteroidetes phyla, appears to be significantly richer in response to a vegan diet. In the previously mentioned study by De Filippo et al., *Prevotella* was exclusively present in the children of Burkina Faso consuming a diet low in fat and animal protein and rich in starch, fiber, and plant protein when compared to children living in Italy consuming a Western diet, high in animal protein, sugar, starch, and fat, and low in fiber (40). Another study compared the diets of 178 elderly residents living in either the community or in long-term residential care (46). The community group was found to consume a low to medium fat, high fiber diet; while the residents in long-term care consumed a moderate to high in fat, and low fiber diet. The study found that those in the community, eating a profile more reflective of a plant-based diet, more frequently had gut communities of the *Prevotella* enterotype.

The study comparing Indian and Chinese adults shows similar results (39). As expected, the Indians who were consuming less animal products and more plant-based foods than the Chinese had a significantly greater percentage of Prevotella (13.07 vs. 0.58%, respectively). When the abundance of Prevotella was analyzed in Thai vegetarians vs. non-vegetarians, the vegetarians were found to have significantly higher numbers of Prevotella (p = 0.005) (47). Other studies have shown vegan/vegetarian diets, high in plant-based foods, to be associated with high abundances of Prevotella (48, 49). This suggests additional support for greater Prevotella presence in those whom consume less animal products and more plant-based food. While mice studies suggest Prevotella to improve glucose metabolism by improving glycogen storage (50), the current lack of any additional research makes Prevotella merely a genus to describe an overall ecosystem of human gut bacteria, primarily under a plant-based diet.

*Bacteroides*, another main enterotype and genus of the *Bacteroidetes* phyla, also appears to be affected by diet but in a different way to *Prevotella*. *Bacteroides* has been positively correlated with long-term diets rich in animal protein and saturated fat (20, 27). This is likely due to their ability to tolerate bile, which is common in gut environments of those who consume animal products. In the study mentioned earlier comparing children in the US eating a Western diet vs. children in Bangladesh consuming a plant based diet, *Bacteroides* was the major genus in the US children's microbiota. High proportions of *Bacteroides* are found in the gut of humans consuming a Western diet and the opposite is found in those consuming a high fiber diet of fruits and legumes (27, 37, 43, 47, 48).

*Ruminococcus* is the third major enterotype and is associated with long term fruit and vegetable consumption. Species of this genus are specialized in degrading complex carbohydrates, such as cellulose and resistant starch, found in plant based foods (51). These microbes degrade dietary fibers, producing butyrate, which acts as an anti-inflammatory compound. *Ruminococcus* is positively associated with low BMI and negatively associated with poor lipid profile (27). Likewise, abundance of *Rumminococcus* has been linked to lower endotoxemia and lower arterial stiffness, a predictor of cardiovascular risk (33). Walnut consumption has been significantly associated with enrichment of *Ruminococcus* as well (38). However, *Ruminococcus* has also been linked to low dietary fiber consumption in college students. While these

microbes degrade complex carbohydrates, they also break down the resistant starches found in refined grain products (52). *Ruminococcus* might also play a role in the conversion of animal-derived choline to trimethylamine (TMA) (53). Thus, the abundance of *Ruminococcus* is influenced by both animal and plant based diets.

### Effects of Diet on Additional Bacteria

While Bacteroides can be pro-inflammatory and their concentration is associated with long term consumption of animal products, a study analyzing 11 vegetarians, 20 vegans, and 29 omnivores (49) found a discrepancy in this generalization. In addition to finding Clostridium clostridioforme and Faecalibacterium prausnitzii, both considered to be health protective, in higher relative abundance in the vegetarians/vegans compared to the omnivores, Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron was also observed in higher abundance in these groups. This discrepancy in categorizing bacteria abundance under a plantbased diet vs. animal-based diet is not uncommon. Clostridium cluster XIVa was found in lower ratio in the vegetarian/vegans, contrary to a study showing Clostridium cluster XIVa bacteria to be a major component of gut microbiota in vegetarian women (103). Therefore, while generalizations can be made, some genus subtypes will be outliers. This discrepancy in some bacterial phyla in response to diet has been acknowledged by previous review papers and has been attributed to various reasons, such as different microbiome profiling methodologies, different host genetics, body mass index, and red wine and aspartame consumption (54, 55). These are all factors that have been shown to possibly modify our microbiota. Therefore, further studies are warranted in order to isolate their effects from those due to a plant based vs. omnivorous diet.

Taken together, dietary habits influence the composition of the intestinal microbiota. While dietary changes have a relatively fast impact (51) (within a week) on the microbial composition and consequently on its metabolites, these effects are modest and reversible (24). For example, changes of microbiota and immune parameters after a 3-month vegetarian diet are significant, but do not reflect the degree of change that occur with a long-term vegetarian diet (56).

# HOW PLANT FOOD COMPONENTS INFLUENCE GUT MICROBIOTA.

### **Nutrient Bioavailability**

Consuming food nutrients with low bioavailability has recently been found to be important. Lower nutrient bioavailability, found in larger food particles, intact plant cell walls, and food without thermal treatment, means that more nutrients reach lower in the gastrointestinal system, thus enriching nutrient delivery to the gut microbiota (57). This helps support normal gut microbiota development and function (57). Modern westernized diets contain more ultra-processed foods and acellular nutrients, or nutrients not containing cells. These components are more easily absorbed in the small intestine, depriving the colon of important nutrients, which may alter the composition and metabolism of the gut microbiota (58). Acellular food, e.g., sugar, has been shown to induce inflammation in young infants, adolescents, women of child-bearing age, and older adults. Whole plant foods have protective effects, favoring the growth of beneficial fiber-degrading bacteria in the colon (58).

### Carbohydrates

Unlike digestible carbohydrates, non-digestible carbohydrates, such as resistance starch, and some sugars, reach the large intestine where they can be fermented by the gut microbiota to provide energy or produce postbiotics. However, both digestible and non-digestible carbohydrates may influence the gut microbiota. Digestible carbohydrates from fruits (e.g., glucose, sucrose, and fructose) have been shown to reduce *Bacteroides* and *Clostridia* (54). Non-digestible carbohydrates most consistently increase lactic acid bacteria, *Ruminococcus, E. rectale*, and *Roseburia*, and reduce *Clostridium* and *Enterococcus* species (54). Both digestible and non-digestible carbohydrates have been shown to increase *Bifidobacteria*, genus of the *Actinobacteria* phylum.

A study compared the Bifidobacteria levels in response to a randomized, double-blind, crossover trail. Participants consumed both a standard enteral formula and a formula supplemented with fructooligiosaccharides (FOS) and fiber (59) as a sole source of nutrition for 14 days. FOS and fiber are both forms of carbohydrates found naturally and abundantly in plant foods-bananas, artichokes, onion, etc. While the volume of formula prescribed was based on individual energy expenditures, a benchmark of 2,000 calories of the FOS/fiber formula provided 10.2 g of FOS and 17.8 g of fiber. The average daily intake of fermentable non-digestible carbohydrates is estimated to be 10 g from inulin and FOS (60). This amount does not include meals and products supplemented with inulin and FOS, which typically add an additional 3-10 g/portion. Therefore, 10.2 g of FOS in the formula is realistic for human consumption. 17.8 g of fiber in the formula is also realistic for human consumption as the average US male and female intake is 18 g and 15 g, respectively<sup>1</sup>.

*Bifidobacterium* is a butyrate-producing genus known to play a protective role in the human gut barrier by providing defense against pathogens and diseases. When participants were given formulas with FOS and fiber, their *Bifidobacteria* increased from 5.1 to 26.6% (P = 0.003) after 14 days. When formula was given without FOS and fiber, *Bifidobacteria* only increased from 3.3 to 8.6% (P = 0.073). A negative correlation between baseline *Bifidobacteria* and magnitude of the bifidogenic effect was observed, indicating that those with lower initial amounts of *Bifidobacteria* benefit most from fructooligiosaccharides and fiber intake. In contrast, high consumption of cholesterol from animal products, was strongly associated with a lower abundance of *Bifidobacteria* (adj. p = 0.008).

While these studies suggest that *Bifidobacterium* increase in response to a fiber-rich, high carbohydrate diet, other studies have shown conflicting results. One important confounding factor may be alcohol intake, which has been strongly associated with a lower abundance of *Bifidobacteria* (adj. p =

0.006). Researchers comparing *Bifidobacteria* levels in vegans, vegetarians, and controls, found *Bifidobacteria* to be significantly lower (p = 0.002) in vegan samples than in controls eating a standard omnivorous diet. No difference between vegans and vegetarians was observed (29). Another study observed higher *Bifidobacteria* levels in meat eaters compared to participants who switched to a vegetarian diet for 4 weeks after eating a mixed Western diet, high in fat and meat (58). The relative decrease of *Bifidobacterium* in vegetarians and vegans may be explained by a relative abundance of other protective bacteria species, such as *Prevotella*. *Prevotella* has been observed confers anti-inflammatory effects (40) and can decrease the growth of other bacteria by competing for fiber as an energy substrate (61).

A recent in vitro study elucidated the specific mechanism of action of carbohydrates, specifically selected dietary fibers, on gut microbiota. The study found the following fibers to have differing prebiotic effects: inulin, alpha-linked galacto-oligosaccharides, beta-linked galacto-oligosaccharides, xylo-oligosaccharides from corn cobs and high-fiber sugar cane, and beta-glucan from oats (62). Beta-glucan induced the growth of Prevotella and Roseburia with a concomitant increase in SCFA propionate production. Inulin and all oligosaccharides had a strong bifidogenic effect (62). This study also showed that all natural sugars, most notably non-digestible forms like inulin and oligosaccharides, increase SCFA levels (62). The prebiotic effects differ due to the type of bacteria that each fiber is broken down by. This is determined through bacterial specificity in which specific gene clusters within the bacterial genome dictate the saccharolytic enzymes that the bacteria can produce and, therefore, whether they can metabolize the prebiotic substrate (63). Non-digestible carbohydrates not only act as prebiotics by promoting the growth of beneficial microorganisms, but also reduce proinflammatory cytokine production, concentrations of serum triglycerides, total cholesterol, and LDL-cholesterol (54). Thus, non-digestible carbohydrates might confer protective effects against cardiovascular disease and central nervous system disorders.

### **Proteins**

A majority of the studies have noted that protein consumption correlates positively with microbial diversity (54). However, animal and plant-proteins influence the gut microbiota in different ways. For instance, individuals consuming a high animal protein diet, from beef which is also high in fat, displayed lower abundances of bacteria, such as *Roseburia*, *Eubacterium rectale*, and *Ruminococcus bromii*, that metabolize dietary plant polysaccharides (51). Populations of bacteria that increase in response to a high animal protein diet when compared to subjects consuming a meatless diet are typically biletolerant microorganisms, such as *Bacteroides* and *Clostridia* (64). Additionally, a high-protein diet typically limits carbohydrate intake, which may lead to a decrease in butyrate-producing bacteria, and thereby to a proinflammatory state and an increased risk of colorectal cancer (65).

Individuals consuming pea protein exhibit increases in beneficial *Bifidobacterium* and *Lactobacillus* and decreases in pathogenic *Bacteroides fragilis* and *Clostridium perfringens* and,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://www.ars.usda.gov/ARSUserFiles/80400530/pdf/dbrief/

<sup>12</sup>\_fiber\_intake\_0910.pdf. (Accessed February 12, 2019)

consequently increases in intestinal SCFA levels (54). Likewise, plant-derived proteins have been associated with lower mortality than animal-derived proteins (54).

### Fats

Current evidence suggests that both the quantity and the quality of consumed fat significantly impact the gut microbiota composition (65).

A plant-based diet is generally naturally low in fat, which favors beneficial *Bifidobacteria* in human gut microbiota. The fat that does come from a vegan/vegetarian diet is made up of predominantly mono and polyunsaturated fats, which increase the *Bacteroidetes:Firmicutes* ratio, and on the genera level, increase lactic acid bacteria, *Bifidobacteria* and *Akkermansia muciniphila* (54). Nuts, particularly walnuts, have been shown to improve the gut microbiota by increasing *Ruminococcaceae* and *Bifidobacteria*, and decreasing *Clostridium* sp. cluster XIVa species (38).

On the other hand, saturated fat, found almost exclusively in animal sources, increases *Bilophila* and *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii*, and decreases *Bifidobacterium* (54). Some studies report that this change activates inflammation (induces proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-1, IL-6, and TNF- $\alpha$ ) and leads to metabolic disorders (66). High consumption of saturated and trans fat, predominately found in a Western diet, increases the risk of cardiovascular disease and reduces *Bacteroidetes*, *Bacteroides*, *Prevotella*, *Lactobacillus* ssp. and *Bifidobacterium* spp, and increases *Firmicutes* (40, 67).

N-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids, have been found to result in either no change to the microbiota, or beneficial increases in *Bifidobacterium*, *Adlercreutzia*, *Lactobacillus*, *Streptococcus*, *Desulfovibrio*, and *Verrucomicrobia* (*Akkermansia muciniphila*) (54, 67).

### **Polyphenols**

Polyphenols, or naturally occurring plant metabolites (68), in plant foods increase *Bifidobacterium* and *Lactobacillus* abundance, which provide anti-pathogenic and antiinflammatory effects and cardiovascular protection (54). Common polyphenol-rich foods include fruits, seeds, vegetables, tea, cocoa products, and wine. For example, polyphenol extracts from tea generate an increase in *Bifidobacterium* and *Lactobacillus–Enterococcus* spp., which then yields an increased SCFA production on human microbiota *in vitro* (69).

# INFLUENCE OF MICROBIOME POSTBIOTICS ON HUMAN HEALTH

Research on the gut-brain, gut-lung, and gut-liver axes highlights the importance of the microbiome on systemic human health. Studies note changes in central neural chemistry, inflammatory lung conditions, and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease pathogenesis with changes to microbial composition (70–72). The mechanism of communication among these organs stems from the microbial products and microbial metabolites of ingested nutrients. These products can be diet-independent (such as lipopolysaccharides, ribosomally synthesized post-translationally modified peptides etc.), but here we would like to describe a few examples of wellknown diet-dependent metabolites, such as SCFA and others. Depending on the bacteria and location along the intestinal tract, different bioactive molecules can be produced from different prebiotics and nutrients (70, 73). Microbial metabolites can have diverse positive health effects including local antiinflammatory and immunomodulatory effects, and systemic anti-obesogenic, antihypertensive, hypocholesterolemic, antiproliferative, and antioxidant effects (74). These postbiotic effects result from modulation of gene expression, metabolism, and intestinal functioning and depend on microbiota composition and substrates, largely dependent on diet.

# **Short-Chain Fatty Acids**

SCFAs act as a substrate to maintain colonic epithelium, and are correlated with plant based food consumption (56). Maintenance of the intestinal barrier prevents endotoxemia and the subsequent inflammatory effects (75, 76). SCFAs acetate, propionate, and butyrate, are mostly microbial metabolites of fermented fiber and other carbohydrates, although a small fraction can derive from proteins. The fecal levels of these metabolites (and the corresponding esters) positively correlate with the consumption of fruits, vegetables, and legumes. Thus, their levels significantly increase in people who begin a plant-based diet. Interestingly, an increase in SCFAs is observed when omnivores consume a Mediterranean diet rich in fruit, legumes and vegetables (77).

While specific gut microbes are predisposed for SCFA production, different bacteria are known to produce different SCFAs. For example, enteric bacteria, such as *Akkermansia muciniphila*, *Bifidobacterium* spp., *Prevotella* spp., and *Bacteroides* spp. produce acetate; *Bacteroides* spp. produce propionate; and *Coprococcus* produces butyrate (78). The most butyrate producing bacteria are in *Clostridium* Cluster XIVa, IV, and XVI. These species are positively correlated with consumption of plant foods, and produce SCFAs that yield several health benefits.

The protective role of acetate, propionate and butyrate against different types of disease, such as type 2 diabetes, inflammatory bowel disease, and immune diseases, is well documented. For example, it has been shown that SCFAs promote immunity against pathogens (78), and are important components for microglia function and maturation and control of the bloodbrain barrier integrity (79). Other effect of SCFAs is to increase thermogenesis, preventing/treating obesity (80, 81). SCFAs serve as energy substrates for colonocytes, as well as for the body generally. For example, propionate serves as a gluconeogenic substrate in the liver and in the intestine (78).

Microbial interactions with dietary polysaccharides and the resulting SCFAs are important energy and signaling molecules. It is becoming increasingly accepted that butyrate-producing bacteria and butyrate, *per se*, may be beneficial for human health (78). Butyrate has been shown to play a key role in gut physiology as a major carbon source for colonocytes. It helps regulate critical functions of the intestine, such as intestinal motility, mucus production, visceral sensitivity, the epithelial barrier, immune homeostasis, and the mucosal oxygen gradient (82, 83). Thus,

dietary fiber and carbohydrates can affect SCFA degradation while altering the abundance of the associated microbes. Taking together, diets rich in fiber might provide benefits to the intestine, as well as overall health.

### **Phytoestrogens**

Phytoestrogens are plant-derived polyphenols that interact with estrogen receptors with either agonist or antagonist actions. A large majority of polyphenols are delivered to the gut, given their 1% bioavailability (57). The protective effects of plant polyphenols, particularly their anti-cancer, anti-inflammatory, and antioxidant effects, and their association with decreased risks of cardiovascular disease, obesity, diabetes, osteoporosis, and amyloid formation have been observed in humans (84–86). Increasing evidence shows that these effects are reached after bioactivation of the polyphenols by the gut microbiota (87, 88). Even though plant polyphenols have protective effects on human health, especially in the bioactive form, there is still a possibility of adverse effects due to their complexity of action and potential inter-individual variability (89).

While not all types of microbes participating in polyphenol metabolism are yet known, it has recently been shown that *Bifidobacterium*, *Lactobacillus* sp., *Coriobacteriaceae*, *Clostridium* sp., *Bacteroides*, and *Saccharomyces* yeast, are involved in the process of converting polyphenols to equol, urolithins, and enterolignans (74, 88). The qualitative and quantitative proportions of urolithins and equol produced correlate positively with the effects of phytoestrogens (88). Other bacterial species, such as *Coriobacteriaceae* and *Eubacterium*, are responsible for different polyphenol transformations (88).

The interaction of polyphenols and gut microbiota is bidirectional (90, 91). The gut bacteria produce microbial metabolites from polyphenols, which in turn serve as prebiotics for the gut bacteria. These metabolites, particularly urolithins, promote the growth of *Lactobacillus* and *Bifidobacterium*(88).

### Vitamins

Gut microbiota are crucial for adequate vitamin levels in the human body. Menaquinone, folate, cobalamin, and riboflavin (ie: vitamins K, B9, and B2) are produced by gut microbes (25). Different bacteria have biosynthetic properties for different vitamins, such as *Bifidobacterium* for vitamins K, B<sub>12</sub>, biotin, folate, thiamine, *Bacillus subtilis* and *Escherichia coli* for riboflavin (92), and *Lactobacillus* for cobalamin and other B vitamins (93). The pathway analysis of the predicted metagenomes showed an enrichment of folate biosynthesis in vegans compared with omnivores (77).

### Isothiocyanates

Isothiocyanates are compounds from glucosinolates, mainly found in plants, like cruciferous vegetables. *Escherichia coli*, certain *Bacteroides*, some *Enterococcus*, *Lactobacillus agilis*, certain *Peptostreptococcus* spp. and *Bifidobacterium* spp. metabolize glucosinolates to isothiocyanates, secreting their own myrosinase enzyme (94). These metabolites have cytoprotective and anti-oxidative effects through regulation of gene expression relating toneoplastic, atherosclerotic, and neurodegenerative processes (25).

# Aryl-Hydrocarbon Receptor Ligands

Intestinal aryl-hydrocarbon receptor ligands are predominantly diet derived from plant food, specifically cruciferous vegetables. Through aryl-hydrocarbon receptors, the ligands act to promote intestinal immune function and gut homeostasis (95). Since aryl-hydrocarbon receptor ligands are gut microbiota-derived, any impairment to the gut microbiota, such as from a high-fat diet, can decrease aryl-hydrocarbon receptor ligands. In turn, this can cause gut inflammation and permeability and promote the development of metabolic syndrome, which can be improved by supplementation with a *Lactobacillus* strain (96). Additionally, a decrease in aryl-hydrocarbon receptors or ligands compromises the maintenance of intraepithelial lymphocytes and the control of the microbial load and composition, resulting in heightened immune activation and epithelial damage (95).

# Secondary Bile Acids and Coprostanol

A separate group of postbiotics are cholesterol metabolites. Several bacterial strains, isolated from intestine or feces, are described to convert dietary or synthesized *de novo* cholesterol into coprostanol (97, 98), which is poorly absorbed by the human intestine. Thus, serum cholesterol in host is reduced, which decreases the risk of cardiovascular diseases. On the other hand, bile acids synthetized from cholesterol are converted by microbiota into secondary bile acids, found in different tissues and in feces. It is believed secondary bile acids are involved in the equilibrium of health/disease (73, 97). For example, they are associated with inflammatory bowel disease, liver and colon cancer.

# Trimethylamine N-Oxide (TMAO)

Trimethylamine N-Oxide is a microbial metabolite believed to be associated with cardiovascular and neurological disorders. Carnitine and choline are the precursors of TMAO and are primarily found in foods of animal origin (eggs, beef, pork), with lower amounts found in beans and fish (99). Several microbial genera, like L-Ruminococcus, have been linked to the intake of animal proteins and fat and have been associated with TMAO levels (77). In general, meat intake appears to proliferate species of Bacteroides, Alistipes, Ruminococcus, Clostridia, and Bilophila, and decease Bifidobacterium. Higher TMAO levels have also been observed with red meat intake, increasing risk for cardiovascular disease and inflammatory bowel disease (54, 66). Vegetarians have a different gut microbiota composition than omnivores with a diminished capacity to produce trimethylamine (TMA), the precursor to TMAO. The plasma concentrations of TMAO appear to be similar in vegans and lacto-ovo-vegetarians (99, 100).

Lowering TMAO levels may be achieved through greater adherence to the Mediterranean diet, particularly a vegetarian one rich in fruits and vegetables (77, 100). Increased vegetable consumption reduces TMAO levels by reducing the enzymes responsible for converting TMA to TMAO and by remodeling the gut microbiota. The studies have shown TMAO production to decrease in vegetarians, which decreases their cardiovascular risk. To be objective, we have to mention a recent study, leaving a room for further analyses. Vegan fecal microbiota transplantation in metabolic syndrome patients resulted in significant changes in intestinal microbiota composition but failed to show changes in TMAO production. Authors explained that the 2-week follow-up was not a sufficient length of time to observe changes in TMAO production (101).

On average, twenty five percent of plasma metabolites are different between omnivores and vegans, suggesting a significant direct effect of diet on the host metabolome. No unique bacterial taxa have been significantly associated with individual metabolite levels after adjustment for multiple comparisons (102). These findings suggest that while inter-individual variability exists, dietary patterns significantly influence the microbial composition.

### CONCLUSION

Current research indicates that diet is the essential factor for human gut microbiota composition, what in its turn is

### REFERENCES

- Sender R, Fuchs S, Milo R. Revised estimates for the number of human and bacteria cells in the body. *PLoS Biol.* (2016) 14:e1002533. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.1002533
- Qin J, Li R, Raes J, Arumugam M, Burgdorf KS, Manichanh C, et al. A human gut microbial gene catalogue established by metagenomic sequencing. *Nature*. (2010) 464:59–65. doi: 10.1038/nature 08821
- Wheeler DA, Srinivasan M, Egholm M, Shen Y, Chen L, McGuire A, et al. The complete genome of an individual by massively parallel DNA sequencing. *Nature*. (2008) 452:872–6. doi: 10.1038/nature06884
- Turnbaugh PJ, Hamady M, Yatsunenko T, Cantarel BL, Duncan A, Ley RE, et al. A core gut microbiome in obese and lean twins. *Nature*. (2009) 457:480-4. doi: 10.1038/nature07540
- Arumugam M, Raes J, Pelletier E, Le Paslier D, Yamada T, Mende DR, et al. Enterotypes of the human gut microbiome. *Nature*. (2011) 473:174–80. doi: 10.1038/nature09944
- 6. Roager HM, Licht TR, Poulsen SK, Larsen TM, Bahl MI. Microbial enterotypes, inferred by the prevotella-to-bacteroides ratio, remained stable during a 6-month randomized controlled diet intervention with the new nordic diet. *Appl Environ Microbiol.* (2014) 80:1142–9. doi: 10.1128/AEM.03549-13
- 7. Bull MJ, Plummer NT. Part 1: The human gut microbiome in health and disease. *Integr Med Clin J.* (2014) 13:17–22.
- Neish AS. Microbes in gastrointestinal health and disease. Gastroenterology. (2009) 136:65–80. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2008. 10.080
- 9. Ley RE, Turnbaugh PJ, Klein S, Gordon JI. Microbial ecology: human gut microbes associated with obesity. *Nature*. (2006) 444:1022–3. doi: 10.1038/4441022a
- Larsen N, Vogensen FK, van den Berg FW, Nielsen DS, Andreasen AS, Pedersen BK, et al. Gut microbiota in human adults with type 2 diabetes differs from non-diabetic adults. *PLoS ONE*. (2010) 5:e9085. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0009085
- Round JL, Mazmanian SK. The gut microbiota shapes intestinal immune responses during health and disease. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2009) 9:313–23. doi: 10.1038/nri2515

crucial for metabolizing nutrients into active for the host postbiotics. Up to date knowledge suggests that a plantbased diet may be an effective way to promote a diverse ecosystem of beneficial microbes that support overall health. Nonetheless, due to the complexity and interindividual differences, further research is required to fully characterize the interactions between diet, the microbiome, and health outcomes.

### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

AT and IB contributed to conception and writing of the manuscript, ER, WY, JA, NB, and HK contributed and critically revised the manuscript. All authors approved the final manuscript.

### FUNDING

This work was funded by PCRM and supported by the Grant Agency of Ministry of Education, Science, Research and Sport of the Slovak Republic VEGA 1/0286/18.

- Spor A, Koren O, Ley R. Unravelling the effects of the environment and host genotype on the gut microbiome. *Nat Rev Microbiol.* (2011) 9:279–90. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro2540
- Jiang C, Li G, Huang P, Liu Z, Zhao B. The gut microbiota and Alzheimer's Disease. J Alzheimers Dis JAD. (2017) 58:1–15. doi: 10.3233/JAD-161141
- Unger MM, Spiegel J, Dillmann KU, Grundmann D, Philippeit H, Bürmann J, et al. Short chain fatty acids and gut microbiota differ between patients with Parkinson's disease and age-matched controls. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord*. (2016) 32:66–72. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2016.08.019
- Ding HT, Taur Y, Walkup JT. Gut microbiota and autism: key concepts and findings. J Autism Dev Disord. (2017) 47:480–9. doi: 10.1007/s10803-016-2960-9
- Jonsson AL, Bäckhed F. Role of gut microbiota in atherosclerosis. Nat Rev Cardiol. (2017) 14:79–87. doi: 10.1038/nrcardio.2016.183
- Tomova A, Husarova V, Lakatosova S, Bakos J, Vlkova B, Babinska K, et al. Gastrointestinal microbiota in children with autism in Slovakia. *Physiol Behav*. (2015) 138:179–87. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2014.10.033
- Selber-Hnatiw S, Rukundo B, Ahmadi M, Akoubi H, Al-Bizri H, Aliu AF, et al. Human gut microbiota: toward an ecology of disease. *Front Microbiol.* (2017) 8:1265. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.01265
- Sonnenburg JL, Bäckhed F. Diet-microbiota interactions as moderators of human metabolism. *Nature*. (2016) 535:56–64. doi: 10.1038/nature18846
- Wu GD, Chen J, Hoffmann C, Bittinger K, Chen YY, Keilbaugh SA, et al. Linking long-term dietary patterns with gut microbial enterotypes. *Science*. (2011) 334:105–8. doi: 10.1126/science.1208344
- 21. Lloyd-Price J, Abu-Ali G, Huttenhower C. The healthy human microbiome. Genome Med. (2016) 8:51. doi: 10.1186/s13073-016-0307-y
- Yan W, Zheng J, Wen C, Ji C, Zhang D, Chen Y, et al. Efficacy of fecal sampling as a gut proxy in the study of chicken gut microbiota. *bioRxiv*. 2018:313577. doi: 10.1101/313577
- 23. Glick-Bauer M, Yeh MC. The health advantage of a vegan diet: exploring the gut microbiota connection. *Nutrients*. (2014) 6:4822–38. doi: 10.3390/nu6114822
- Salonen A, de Vos WM. Impact of diet on human intestinal microbiota and health. Annu Rev Food Sci Technol. (2014) 5:239–62. doi: 10.1146/annurev-food-030212-182554
- Derrien M, Veiga P. Rethinking diet to aid human-microbe symbiosis. Trends Microbiol. (2017) 25:100–12. doi: 10.1016/j.tim.2016.09.011

- Wong MW, Yi CH, Liu TT, Lei WY, Hung JS, Lin CL, et al. Impact of vegan diets on gut microbiota: an update on the clinical implications. *Tzu Chi Med* J. (2018) 30:200–3. doi: 10.4103/tcmj.tcmj\_21\_18
- Klimenko NS, Tyakht AV, Popenko AS, Vasiliev AS, Altukhov IA, Ischenko DS, et al. Microbiome responses to an uncontrolled short-term diet intervention in the frame of the citizen science project. *Nutrients*. (2018) 10:E576. doi: 10.3390/nu10050576
- Martínez I, Lattimer JM, Hubach KL, Case JA, Yang J, Weber CG, et al. Gut microbiome composition is linked to whole grain-induced immunological improvements. *ISME J.* (2013) 7:269–80. doi: 10.1038/ismej.2012.104
- Zimmer J, Lange B, Frick JS, Sauer H, Zimmermann K, Schwiertz A, et al. A vegan or vegetarian diet substantially alters the human colonic faecal microbiota. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2012) 66:53–60. doi: 10.1038/ejcn.2011.141
- Scott KP, Duncan SH, Flint HJ. Dietary fibre and the gut microbiota. Nutr Bull. (2008). 33: 201–211. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-3010.2008.00706.x
- Verdam FJ, Fuentes S, de Jonge C, Zoetendal EG, Erbil R, Greve JW, et al. Human intestinal microbiota composition is associated with local and systemic inflammation in obesity. *Obes Silver Spring Md*. (2013) 21:E607– 615. doi: 10.1002/oby.20466
- Orlich MJ, Fraser GE. Vegetarian diets in the Adventist Health Study
   a review of initial published findings1234. Am J Clin Nutr. (2014) 100:353S-8S. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.113.071233
- Menni C, Lin C, Cecelja M, Mangino M, Matey-Hernandez ML, Keehn L, et al. Gut microbial diversity is associated with lower arterial stiffness in women. *Eur Heart J.* (2018) 39:2390–7. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehy226
- 34. Rizzoni D, Porteri E, Guelfi D, Muiesan ML, Valentini U, Cimino A, et al. Structural alterations in subcutaneous small arteries of normotensive and hypertensive patients with non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *Circulation*. (2001) 103:1238–44. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.103.9.1238
- 35. Losasso C, Eckert EM, Mastrorilli E, Villiger J, Mancin M, Patuzzi I, et al. Assessing the Influence of Vegan, Vegetarian and Omnivore Oriented Westernized Dietary Styles on Human gut microbiota: a cross sectional study. *Front Microbiol.* (2018) 9:317. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2018.00317
- do Rosario VA, Fernandes R, Trindade EB. Vegetarian diets and gut microbiota: important shifts in markers of metabolism and cardiovascular disease. *Nutr Rev.* (2016) 74:444–54. doi: 10.1093/nutrit/nuw012
- Simpson HL, Campbell BJ. Review article: dietary fibremicrobiota interactions. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther.* (2015) 42:158–79. doi: 10.1111/apt.13248
- Bamberger C, Rossmeier A, Lechner K, Wu L, Waldmann E, Fischer S, et al. A walnut-enriched diet affects gut microbiome in healthy caucasian subjects: a randomized, controlled trial. *Nutrients*. (2018) 10. doi: 10.3390/nu10020244
- Jain A, Li XH, Chen WN. Similarities and differences in gut microbiome composition correlate with dietary patterns of Indian and Chinese adults. *AMB Express.* (2018) 8:104. doi: 10.1186/s13568-018-0632-1
- De Filippo C, Cavalieri D, Di Paola M, Ramazzotti M, Poullet JB, Massart S, et al. Impact of diet in shaping gut microbiota revealed by a comparative study in children from Europe and rural Africa. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2010) 107:14691–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1005963107
- Martínez I, Kim J, Duffy PR, Schlegel VL, Walter J. Resistant starches types 2 and 4 have differential effects on the composition of the fecal microbiota in human subjects. *PloS ONE*. (2010) 5:e15046. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0015046
- Ley RE, Bäckhed F, Turnbaugh P, Lozupone CA, Knight RD, Gordon JI. Obesity alters gut microbial ecology. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2005) 102:11070–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0504978102
- 43. Lin A, Bik EM, Costello EK, Dethlefsen L, Haque R, Relman DA, et al. Distinct distal gut microbiome diversity and composition in healthy children from Bangladesh and the United States. *PloS ONE*. (2013) 8:e53838. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0053838
- Schwiertz A, Taras D, Schäfer K, Beijer S, Bos NA, Donus C, et al. Microbiota and SCFA in lean and overweight healthy subjects. *Obes Silver Spring Md*. (2010) 18:190–5. doi: 10.1038/oby.2009.167
- Andoh A, Nishida A, Takahashi K, Inatomi O, Imaeda H, Bamba S, et al. Comparison of the gut microbial community between obese and lean peoples using 16S gene sequencing in a Japanese population. *J Clin Biochem Nutr.* (2016) 59:65–70. doi: 10.3164/jcbn.15-152
- 46. Claesson MJ, Jeffery IB, Conde S, Power SE, O'Connor EM, Cusack S, et al. Gut microbiota composition correlates with diet and

health in the elderly. Nature. (2012) 488:178-84. doi: 10.1038/nature 11319

- Ruengsomwong S, La-Ongkham O, Jiang J, Wannissorn B, Nakayama J, Nitisinprasert S. Microbial community of healthy thai vegetarians and non-vegetarians, their core gut microbiota, and pathogen risk. J Microbiol Biotechnol. (2016) 26:1723–35. doi: 10.4014/jmb.1603. 03057
- Jeffery IB, O'Toole PW. Diet-microbiota interactions and their implications for healthy living. *Nutrients*. (2013) 5:234–252. doi: 10.3390/nu5010234
- Matijašić BB, Obermajer T, Lipoglavšek L, Grabnar I, Avguštin G, Rogelj I. Association of dietary type with fecal microbiota in vegetarians and omnivores in Slovenia. *Eur J Nutr.* (2014) 53:1051–64. doi: 10.1007/s00394-013-0607-6
- Kovatcheva-Datchary P, Nilsson A, Akrami R, Lee YS, De Vadder F, Arora T, et al. Dietary fiber-induced improvement in glucose metabolism is associated with increased abundance of prevotella. *Cell Metab.* (2015) 22:971–82. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2015.10.001
- David LA, Maurice CF, Carmody RN, Gootenberg DB, Button JE, Wolfe BE, et al. Diet rapidly and reproducibly alters the human gut microbiome. *Nature*. (2014) 505:559–63. doi: 10.1038/nature 12820
- 52. Whisner CM, Maldonado J, Dente B, Krajmalnik-Brown R, Bruening M. Diet, physical activity and screen time but not body mass index are associated with the gut microbiome of a diverse cohort of college students living in university housing: a cross-sectional study. *BMC Microbiol.* (2018) 18:210. doi: 10.1186/s12866-018-1362-x
- 53. Ishii C, Nakanishi Y, Murakami S, Nozu R, Ueno M, Hioki K, et al. A metabologenomic approach reveals changes in the intestinal environment of mice fed on american diet. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2018) 19:E4079. doi: 10.3390/ijms19124079
- Singh RK, Chang H-W, Yan D, Lee KM, Ucmak D, Wong K, et al. Influence of diet on the gut microbiome and implications for human health. J Transl Med. (2017) 15:73. doi: 10.1186/s12967-017-1175-y
- Moschen AR, Wieser V, Tilg H. Dietary factors: major regulators of the Gut's microbiota. *Gut Liver*. (2012) 6:411–6. doi: 10.5009/gnl.2012. 6.4.411
- Zhang C, Björkman A, Cai K, Liu G, Wang C, Li Y, et al. Impact of a 3months vegetarian diet on the gut microbiota and immune repertoire. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:908. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00908
- Ercolini D, Fogliano V. Food design to feed the human gut microbiota. J Agric Food Chem. (2018) 66:3754–8. doi: 10.1021/acs.jafc.8b00456
- Zinöcker MK, Lindseth IA. The western diet-microbiome-host interaction and its role in metabolic disease. *Nutrients*. (2018) 10:3. doi: 10.3390/nu10030365
- 59. Whelan K, Judd PA, Preedy VR, Simmering R, Jann A, Taylor MA. Fructooligosaccharides and fiber partially prevent the alterations in fecal microbiota and short-chain fatty acid concentrations caused by standard enteral formula in healthy humans. J Nutr. (2005) 135:1896–902. doi: 10.1093/jn/135.8.1896
- Ten Bruggencate SJ, Bovee-Oudenhoven IM, Lettink-Wissink ML, Katan MB, van der Meer R. Dietary fructooligosaccharides affect intestinal barrier function in healthy men. J Nutr. (2006) 136:70–4. doi: 10.1093/jn/136.1.70
- Chen T, Long W, Zhang C, Liu S, Zhao L, Hamaker BR. Fiberutilizing capacity varies in Prevotella- versus Bacteroides-dominated gut microbiota. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:2594. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-0 2995-4
- 62. Fehlbaum S, Prudence K, Kieboom J, Heerikhuisen M, van den Broek T, Schuren FHJ, et al. *In vitro* fermentation of selected prebiotics and their effects on the composition and activity of the adult gut microbiota. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2018) 19:10. doi: 10.3390/ijms19103097
- Wilson B, Whelan K. Prebiotic inulin-type fructans and galactooligosaccharides: definition, specificity, function, and application in gastrointestinal disorders. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. (2017) 32:64–8. doi: 10.1111/jgh.13700
- Hentges DJ, Maier BR, Burton GC, Flynn MA, Tsutakawa RK. Effect of a high-beef diet on the fecal bacterial flora of humans. *Cancer Res.* (1977) 37:568–71.
- Sheflin AM, Melby CL, Carbonero F, Weir TL. Linking dietary patterns with gut microbial composition and function. *Gut Microbes*. (2016) 8:113–29. doi: 10.1080/19490976.2016.1270809

- Lee YK. Effects of diet on gut microbiota profile and the implications for health and disease. *Biosci Microbiota Food Health*. (2013) 32:1–12. doi: 10.12938/bmfh.32.1
- Coelho OGL, Cândido FG, Alfenas RCG. Dietary fat and gut microbiota: mechanisms involved in obesity control. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr.* (2018) 2018:1–9. doi: 10.1080/10408398.2018.1481821
- Pandey KB, Rizvi SI. Plant polyphenols as dietary antioxidants in human health and disease. Oxid Med Cell Longev. (2009) 2:270–8. doi: 10.4161/oxim.2.5.9498
- 69. Sun H, Chen Y, Cheng M, Zhang X, Zheng X, Zhang Z. The modulatory effect of polyphenols from green tea, oolong tea and black tea on human intestinal microbiota in vitro. *J Food Sci Technol.* (2018) 55:399–407. doi: 10.1007/s13197-017-2951-7
- Klemashevich C, Wu C, Howsmon D, Alaniz RC, Lee K, Jayaraman A. Rational identification of diet-derived postbiotics for improving intestinal microbiota function. *Curr Opin Biotechnol.* (2014) 26:85–90. doi: 10.1016/j.copbio.2013.10.006
- Cryan JF, O'Mahony SM. The microbiome-gut-brain axis: from bowel to behavior. *Neurogastroenterol Motil.* (2011) 23:187–92. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2982.2010.01664.x
- Compare D, Coccoli P, Rocco A, Nardone OM, De Maria S, Cartenì M, et al. Gut-liver axis: The impact of gut microbiota on nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* (2012) 22:471–6. doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2012.02.007
- Donia MS, Fischbach MA. Human microbiota. Small molecules from the human microbiota. Science. (2015) 349:1254766. doi: 10.1126/science.1254766
- Aguilar-Toalá JE, Garcia-Varela R, Garcia HS, et al. Postbiotics: An evolving term within the functional foods field. *Trends Food Sci Technol.* (2018) 75:105–14. doi: 10.1016/j.tifs.2018.03.009
- Morrison DJ, Preston T. Formation of short chain fatty acids by the gut microbiota and their impact on human metabolism. *Gut Microbes*. (2016) 7:189–200. doi: 10.1080/19490976.2015.1134082
- Cani PD, Bibiloni R, Knauf C, et al. Changes in gut microbiota control metabolic endotoxemia-induced inflammation in high-fat dietinduced obesity and diabetes in mice. *Diabetes*. (2008) 57:1470–81. doi: 10.2337/db07-1403
- 77. De Filippis F, Pellegrini N, Vannini L, Jeffery IB, La Storia A, Laghi L, et al. High-level adherence to a Mediterranean diet beneficially impacts the gut microbiota and associated metabolome. *Gut.* (2016) 65:1812–21. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2015-309957
- Koh A, De Vadder F, Kovatcheva-Datchary P, Bäckhed F. From dietary fiber to host physiology: short-chain fatty acids as key bacterial metabolites. *Cell*. (2016) 165:1332–45. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.05.041
- Erny D, Hrabě de Angelis AL, Prinz M. Communicating systems in the body: how microbiota and microglia cooperate. *Immunology*. (2017) 150:7–15. doi: 10.1111/imm.12645
- Reynés B, Palou M, Rodríguez AM, Palou A. Regulation of adaptive thermogenesis and browning by prebiotics and postbiotics. *Front Physiol.* (2019) 9:1908. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01908
- Canfora EE, Meex RCR, Venema K, Blaak EE. Gut microbial metabolites in obesity, NAFLD and T2DM. *Nat Rev Endocrinol.* (2019). doi: 10.1038/s41574-019-0156-z
- Velázquez OC, Lederer HM, Rombeau JL. Butyrate and the colonocyte. Production, absorption, metabolism, and therapeutic implications. *Adv Exp Med Biol.* (1997) 427:123–34. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4615-5967-2\_14
- Borycka-Kiciak K, Banasiewicz T, Rydzewska G. Butyric acid a well-known molecule revisited. *Przeglad Gastroenterol.* (2017) 12:83–9. doi: 10.5114/pg.2017.68342
- Panche AN, Diwan AD, Chandra SR. Flavonoids: an overview. J Nutr Sci. (2016) 5:e47, 1–15. doi: 10.1017/jns.2016.41
- 85. Ono K, Li L, Takamura Y, Yoshiike Y, Zhu L, Han F, et al. Phenolic compounds prevent amyloid  $\beta$ -protein oligomerization and synaptic dysfunction by site-specific binding. *J Biol Chem.* (2012) 287:14631–43. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.325456
- Hossen MS, Ali MY, Jahurul MHA, Abdel-Daim MM, Gan SH, Khalil MI. Beneficial roles of honey polyphenols against some human degenerative diseases: a review. *Pharmacol Rep.* (2017) 69:1194–205. doi: 10.1016/j.pharep.2017.07.002

- Landete JM, Arqués J, Medina M, Gaya P, de Las Rivas B, Muñoz R. Bioactivation of phytoestrogens: intestinal bacteria and health. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr.* (2016) 56:1826–43. doi: 10.1080/10408398.2013.789823
- 88. Tomás-Barberán FA, González-Sarrías A, García-Villalba R, Núñez-Sánchez MA, Selma MV, García-Conesa MT, et al. Urolithins, the rescue of "old" metabolites to understand a "new" concept: Metabotypes as a nexus among phenolic metabolism, microbiota dysbiosis, and host health status. *Mol Nutr Food Res.* (2017) 61:1. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.201500901
- Rietjens IMCM, Louisse J, Beekmann K. The potential health effects of dietary phytoestrogens. Br J Pharmacol. (2017) 174:1263–80. doi: 10.1111/bph.13622
- Cardona F, Andrés-Lacueva C, Tulipani S, Tinahones FJ, Queipo-Ortuño MI. Benefits of polyphenols on gut microbiota and implications in human health. *J Nutr Biochem.* (2013) 24:1415–22. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2013.05.001
- Ozdal T, Sela DA, Xiao J, Boyacioglu D, Chen F, Capanoglu E. The reciprocal interactions between polyphenols and gut microbiota and effects on bioaccessibility. *Nutrients*. (2016) 8:2. doi: 10.3390/nu8020078
- De Filippis F, Pellegrini N, Laghi L, Gobbetti M, Ercolini D. Unusual subgenus associations of faecal Prevotella and Bacteroides with specific dietary patterns. *Microbiome*. (2016) 4. doi: 10.1186/s40168-016-0202-1
- LeBlanc JG, Milani C, de Giori GS, Sesma F, van Sinderen D, Ventura M. Bacteria as vitamin suppliers to their host: a gut microbiota perspective. *Curr Opin Biotechnol.* (2013) 24:160–8. doi: 10.1016/j.copbio.2012.08.005
- 94. Tian S, Liu X, Lei P, Zhang X, Shan Y. Microbiota: a mediator to transform glucosinolate precursors in cruciferous vegetables to the active isothiocyanates. J Sci Food Agric. (2018) 98:1255–60. doi: 10.1002/jsfa.8654
- 95. Li Y, Innocentin S, Withers DR, Roberts NA, Gallagher AR, Grigorieva EF, et al. Exogenous stimuli maintain intraepithelial lymphocytes via aryl hydrocarbon receptor activation. *Cell.* (2011) 147:629–40. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.09.025
- Natividad JM, Lamas B, Pham HP, Michel ML, Rainteau D, Bridonneau C, et al. Bilophila wadsworthia aggravates high fat diet induced metabolic dysfunctions in mice. *Nat Commun.* (2018) 9:2802. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-05249-7
- 97. Gérard P. Metabolism of cholesterol and bile acids by the gut microbiota. *Pathogens.* (2013) 3:14–24. doi: 10.3390/pathogens3010014
- Horáčková Š, Plocková M, Demnerová K. Importance of microbial defence systems to bile salts and mechanisms of serum cholesterol reduction. *Biotechnol Adv.* (2018) 36:682–90. doi: 10.1016/j.biotechadv.2017.12.005
- Janeiro MH, Ramírez MJ, Milagro FI, Martínez JA, Solas M. Implication of trimethylamine N-Oxide (TMAO) in disease: potential biomarker or new therapeutic target. *Nutrients*. (2018) 10:10. doi: 10.3390/nu10101398
- 100. Obeid R, Awwad HM, Keller M, Geisel J. Trimethylamine-N-oxide and its biological variations in vegetarians. *Eur J Nutr.* (2017) 56:2599–609. doi: 10.1007/s00394-016-1295-9
- 101. Smits LP, Kootte RS, Levin E, Prodan A, Fuentes S, Zoetendal EG, et al. Effect of vegan fecal microbiota transplantation on carnitine- and cholinederived trimethylamine-N-oxide production and vascular inflammation in patients with metabolic syndrome. J Am Heart Assoc. (2018) 7:7. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.117.008342
- 102. Wu GD, Compher C, Chen EZ, Smith SA, Shah RD, Bittinger K, et al. Comparative metabolomics in vegans and omnivores reveal constraints on diet-dependent gut microbiota metabolite production. *Gut.* (2016) 65:63–72. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2014-308209
- 103. Hayashi H, Sakamoto M, Benno Y. Fecal microbial diversity in a strict vegetarian as determined by molecular analysis and cultivation. *Microbiol Immunol.* (2002) 46:819–31. doi: 10.1111/j.1348-0421.2002.tb02769.x

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Tomova, Bukovsky, Rembert, Yonas, Alwarith, Barnard and Kahleova. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Impact of Whole, Fresh Fruit Consumption on Energy Intake and Adiposity: A Systematic Review

### Stephan J. Guyenet\*

Self-employed, Seattle, WA, United States

**Background:** The energy content of whole, fresh fruit derives primarily from simple sugars, which are currently under heightened scrutiny for their potential contribution to obesity and chronic disease risk. Yet fruit also has a relatively low energy density, moderate palatability/reward value, and high fiber content, which together may limit energy intake. Although reasoned arguments can be made that fruit is fattening or slimming, the question is best resolved empirically.

Methods: Methods were preregistered with PROSPERO (CRD42018111830). The

primary outcome is the impact of whole, fresh fruit consumption on measures of adiposity including body weight in randomized controlled trials (RCTs). Secondary outcomes are the impact of whole, fresh fruit consumption on energy intake in RCTs, and the association between whole, fresh fruit consumption and changes in measures of adiposity in prospective observational studies. CENTRAL and PubMed databases were searched through October 2018. Cochrane risk of bias tool was used to assess risk of bias in RCTs, and the GRADE method was used to judge and convey the certainty of conclusions. Reporting follows PRISMA guidelines.

**Results:** RCTs, and particularly those of higher quality, suggest that increasing whole, fresh fruit consumption promotes weight maintenance or modest weight loss over periods of 3–24 weeks (moderate certainty), with limited evidence suggesting that a high intake of fruit favors weight loss among people with overweight or obesity. Consistent with this, single-meal RCTs suggest that consuming whole, fresh fruit tends to decrease energy intake, particularly when consumed prior to a meal or when displacing more energy-dense foods (moderate certainty). Prospective observational studies suggest that habitually higher fruit intake is not associated with weight change, or is associated with modest protection against weight gain, over five or more years.

**Conclusions:** Current evidence suggests that whole, fresh fruit consumption is unlikely to contribute to excess energy intake and adiposity, but rather has little effect on these outcomes or constrains them modestly. Single-meal RCTs, RCTs lasting 3–24 weeks, and long-term observational studies are relatively consistent in supporting this conclusion. Whole, fresh fruit probably does not contribute to obesity and may have a place in the prevention and management of excess adiposity.

Keywords: fruit, adiposity, body weight, obesity, energy intake, sugar

### **OPEN ACCESS**

### Edited by:

David Katz, Yale Griffin Prevention Research Center, United States

### Reviewed by:

Nada Benajiba, Princess Nourah bint Abdulrahman University, Saudi Arabia Cristina Pereira-Wilson, University of Minho, Portugal

> \*Correspondence: Stephan J. Guyenet s.guyenet@gmail.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Clinical Nutrition, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 17 December 2018 Accepted: 23 April 2019 Published: 08 May 2019

### Citation:

Guyenet SJ (2019) Impact of Whole, Fresh Fruit Consumption on Energy Intake and Adiposity: A Systematic Review. Front. Nutr. 6:66. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2019.00066

30

### INTRODUCTION

### Rationale

Worldwide, the total *per capita* burden of disease continues to decline, but it does not do so uniformly. Technological and economic progress have substantially relieved the ancient burdens of starvation, infectious disease, and accidents, yet they have ushered in a new era of non-communicable disorders such as obesity, diabetes, and coronary heart disease (1, 2). A key contributor to these disorders is the overconsumption of energy and accumulation of excess adipose tissue (3–6).

Sucrose and other simple sugars with a sweet taste, henceforth "sugar," have long been suspected as a culprit in energy overconsumption and excess adiposity. In 1980, the United States Department of Agriculture Dietary Guidelines advised the public to "avoid too much sugar" and, as part of a four-point plan for reducing weight, "eat less sugar and sweets" (7). Yet scrutiny of sugar has intensified recently, both within the scientific community and outside it, with certain researchers and popular writers arguing that sugar is a particularly potent driver of obesity and non-communicable disease risk (8-10). Observational and experimental findings indeed suggest that in sufficient quantity, refined sugar can increase energy intake and adiposity (11, 12). The energy content of sweet fruits is primarily in the form of sugar. If sugar is a particularly potent driver of obesity and noncommunicable disease risk, this raises the possibility that even whole, fresh fruit may have similar effects, and that conventional advice to increase fruit consumption may be misguided.

On the other hand, fruit differs from refined sugar-containing foods in important respects, such as its lower energy density, lower palatability/reward value, higher fiber content, and higher concentration of essential and non-essential micronutrients. Some of these properties are expected to limit energy intake and adiposity, and together they may render fruit slimming relative to other commonly-eaten foods. Furthermore, the human evolutionary lineage has likely consumed substantial quantities of fruit for tens of millions of years prior to the emergence of obesity and cardiometabolic disease as common health problems, suggesting that it is unlikely to be a major contributor to these conditions (13).

Although reasoned arguments can be made that fruit is fattening or slimming, the question is best resolved empirically. Previous reviews have addressed similar topics (14– 17), concluding that fruit aids in the prevention of excess energy intake, is unlikely to increase adiposity, and may reduce adiposity. However, the current review is the most recent to comprehensively review the randomized controlled trial (RCT) and prospective observational literature on whole, fresh fruit intake specifically. Further, it employs best-practice systematic review methods including detailed preregistration of methods with a well-defined search strategy, adherence to PRISMA reporting guidelines, assessment of study bias using the Cochrane risk of bias tool, and assessment of certainty of conclusions using the GRADE method.

### Objectives

The objective of this review is to systematically review the randomized controlled trial and prospective observational

research literature on the impact of whole, fresh fruit consumption on energy intake and measures of adiposity, and synthesize available studies to form overall conclusions. All studies involving human subjects are considered, and RCTs must report between-group comparisons that isolate differences in whole, fresh fruit consumption as a variable.

### **Research Question**

What is the impact of whole, fresh fruit consumption on energy intake and adiposity?

### **METHODS**

### **Protocol and Registration**

A protocol for this review was preregistered in the PROSPERO systematic review registry prior to initiating literature searches (CRD42018111830)<sup>1</sup>, with the exception of brief preliminary searches used to develop the search method. The primary outcome is the impact of whole, fresh fruit consumption on measures of adiposity, as measured by RCTs. A secondary outcome is the impact of whole, fresh fruit consumption on energy intake, as measured by RCTs. An additional secondary outcome is the association of whole, fresh fruit intake with changes of measures of adiposity, as measured by prospective observational studies.

### **Eligibility Criteria**

"Fruit" is defined in the common/culinary sense of a sweet, seed-bearing plant tissue. Fruit varieties that lack seeds are included. "Whole" and "fresh" denote fruit that has not been significantly processed, i.e., raw and whole rather than cooked, pureed, dried, juiced, or powdered. Raw fruit that has been peeled or cut into bite-sized pieces is included. "Change in adiposity" is defined as change in body weight and/or other direct or indirect measures of body fatness, including but not limited to body fat percentage, body mass index, and waist circumference. "RCT" is defined as a study that assigns subjects to different intervention conditions using randomization or pseudorandomization, such that outcomes can be compared between randomized groups. "Prospective observational study" is defined as a non-intervention study that collects data on exposure variables at an earlier time point, and outcomes at a later time point, and reports the association between the two.

Studies were required to be (1) RCTs on the impact of whole, fresh fruit consumption on measures of adiposity including body weight, (2) RCTs on the impact of whole, fresh fruit consumption on energy intake, or (3) prospective observational studies on the association between fruit consumption and body weight and/or adiposity. Only published studies were considered. No language restrictions were applied. All RCTs and prospective observational studies conducted in humans and published through October 2018 were considered.

To be eligible, RCTs must include a between-group difference in fruit intake. The experimental design must isolate betweengroup differences in fruit intake as a variable, without substantial concurrent between-group differences in other variables such

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/PROSPERO/display\_record.php?RecordID=111830

as vegetable intake. An equivalent non-fruit intervention in a comparison group, such as increased nut intake, is permitted. Energy intake of diets must not be strictly controlled to permit differences in energy intake and adiposity to arise. RCTs must report differences in measures of adiposity, or energy intake, between groups, or such differences must be calculable from data available in the manuscript. Changes in weight and/or adiposity must be measured with a minimum of 2 weeks between baseline and end line to allow meaningful differences in adiposity to emerge, while energy intake RCTs can represent any duration.

For observational outcomes, studies must be prospective observational studies that report the association between the consumption of fresh, whole fruit consumption and subsequent changes in measures of adiposity including body weight. During the course of study selection, the author felt it was appropriate to add one exclusion criterion that was not prespecified: observational studies were excluded if they were potentially confounded by a concurrent intervention. For example, an observational study that reports the association between fruit intake and weight change may be confounded if it is conducted in subjects that received advice to increase fruit intake as part of a weight loss intervention. This criterion excluded four studies, whose findings are broadly similar to those that met inclusion criteria (18–21).

### **Search Strategy**

The search strategy was designed in collaboration with Ben Harnke, Education and Reference Librarian, the University of Colorado Health Sciences Library. RCT searches were conducted in the Cochrane controlled register of trials (CENTRAL), and prospective observational study searches were conducted in PubMed. CENTRAL compiles RCTs from multiple sources



			5			
Trial	Subjects	Intervention	Duration	Weight difference	Adiposity difference	Notes
Singh et al. (24)	Men and women with essential hypertension. 131 randomized; 66 guava, 65 control.	0.5–1.0kg of fresh guava fruit per day before meals vs. no intervention	12 weeks	-0.4 kg ( $p = NS$ )	Not reported	No power calculation. Not preregistered. Subjects were asked to maintain weight.
Singh et al. (25)	Men and women with essential hypertension and mild hypercholesterolemia. 101 randomized; 52 guava; 49 control.	0.5–1.0kg of fresh guava fruit per day before meals vs. no intervention	24 weeks	-0.1  kg  (p = NS)	Not reported	No power calculation. Not preregistered.
de Oliveira et al. (26)	Hypercholesterolemic, overweight, non-smoking women, 30–50 years of age. 49 randomized; number in each group unclear.	3 apples, pears, or oat cookies per day. Hypocaloric diet for all subjects.	12 weeks	$-0.33 \mathrm{kg} (p = 0.003)$	Not reported	No power calculation. Not preregistered. May have pooled two fruit groups that were individually randomized.
Rodriguez et al. (27)	Women with obesity. 15 randomized; 8 low-fruit; 7 high-fruit.	Low-fruit diet vs. high-fruit diet (goal of 5 vs. 15% of kcal from fructose). Hypocaloric diet for all subjects.	8 weeks	+0.3kg ( $p = 0.781$ )	-0.4% BF ( <i>p</i> = 0.231); -3.1 cm WC ( <i>p</i> = 0.048); 0.01 WHR ( <i>p</i> = 0.395)	No power calculation. Not preregistered. Very small sample size.
Fujioka et al. (28)	Men and women with obesity. 91 randomized; 24 grapefruit capsules + apple juice; 22 placebo + apple juice; 21 placebo + grapefruit juice; 24 placebo + fresh grapefruit.	3x a day prior to meals: Group A, Grapefruit capsules + 7 oz apple juice; Group B, placebo capsules + 7 oz apple juice; Group C placebo capsules + 8 oz grapefruit juice; Group D placebo capsules + half a fresh grapefruit. 20–30 min of walking 3–4X per week for all groups.	12 weeks	$-1.4$ kg vs. group B ( $\rho$ = 0.048); -0.1 kg vs. group C ( $\rho$ = NS)	NS difference in % BF (impedance)	Performed a power calculation. Not preregistered.
Rush et al. (29)	Heatthy men and women. 12 randomized; 6 kiwi; 6 control.	One kiwi fruit per 30 kg body weight vs. no kiwi fruit. General diet advice and a pedometer for all subjects.	3 weeks (fruit intervention)	+0.9kg ( $p = NS$ )	Not reported	No power calculation. Not preregistered. Very small sample size.
Madero et al. (30)	Men and women with overweight or obesity. 131 randomized; 66 low-fructose diet; 65 natural fructose diet.	Low-fructose diet (<20 g/d) vs. moderate natural-fructose diet (50-70 g/d mostly from fruit). Hypocaloric diet for all subjects.	6 weeks	$-1.36 \ (p = 0.02)$	-0.8% BF ( <i>p</i> = 0.1); -0.15 WHR ( <i>p</i> = 0.41)	Performed a power calculation. Preregistered with anthropometric changes as primary outcome (NCT00868673).
Dow et al. (31)	Men and premenopausal women with overweight or obesity. 74 randomized; 32 control; 42 grapefruit.	Half a fresh grapefruit with each meal (3X per d) vs. no intervention. All subjects were assigned a baseline diet low in fruit and vegetables.	6 weeks	-0.5 (p = 0.119)	0.55% BF ( $p = 0.337$ , impedance); $-1.22 \text{ cm}$ WC ( $p = 0.082$ ); $0.0$ WHR ( $p = 0.470$ )	Performed a power calculation. Preregistered with weight change as primary outcome (NCT01452841).

Guyenet

(Continued)

May 2019 | Volume 6 | Article 66

Trial	Subjects	Intervention	Duration	Weight difference	Adiposity difference	Notes
Ravn-Haren et al. (32)	Healthy men and women. 34 randomized; number per group unclear.	550 g/d whole apple; 22 mg/d apple pomace; 500 mL/d cloudy apple juice; 500 mL/d clear apple juice; no intervention. Baseline diet was low in polyphenols and pectin.	4 weeks	+0.15 ( $p = NS$ ) vs. no intervention; -0.07 vs. pomace ( $p = NS$ ); 0.42 vs. cloudy juice ( $p = NS$ ); -0.36 vs. clear juice ( $p = NS$ ).	0.0 WHR vs. no intervention ( $p = NS$ ); 0.003 WHR vs. pomace ( $p = NS$ ); -0.008 WHR vs. cloudy juice ( $p = NS$ ); -0.005 WHR vs. clear juice ( $p = NS$ ).	No power calculation. Not preregistered. Very small sample size for number of groups. High dropout rate.
Agebratt et al. (33)	Healthy non-obese men and women. 30 randomized; 15 fruit; 15 nuts.	Diet supplementation with 7 kcal/kg body weight/d of fruit vs. nuts.	8 weeks	+0.03 kg ( <i>p</i> = 0.95)	-0.2 cm SAD ( <i>p</i> = 0.91); -0.081 VF ( <i>p</i> = 0.16)	Performed a power calculation but based on a hepatic fat outcome. Preregistered but not for anthropometric outcomes (NCT02227511). Registry page is sparse.
Kumari et al. (34)	Men and women 18–25 years old. 45 randomized; 15 guava with peel; 15 peeled guava: 15 no intervention.	Men and women 18–25 years old. 45 400g guava with skin per day (group A) randomized; 15 guava with peel; 15 vs. 400g peeled guava; 15 no intervention. vs. no intervention (group C)	6 weeks	-2.0kg (A vs. C; <i>p</i> = NR); -2.6kg (B vs. C; <i>p</i> = NR)	Not reported	No power calculation. Not preregistered.
Randomized controlled t Additional strengths and diameter: VF. visceral fat.	ontrolled trials reporting the impact of whole, gaths and limitations of study design are listed sceral fat.	Randomized controlled trials reporting the impact of whole, fresh fruit consumption on body weight and adiposity. Weight and adiposity differences represent changes in the fruit intervention group relative to the comparator group. Additional strengths and limitations of study design are listed in the "notes" column. NS, not statistically significant (p > 0.05). NR, not reported; BF, body fat; WC, waist circumference; WHR, waist-to-hip ratio; SAD, sagittal abdominal diameter. VF. visceral fat.	osity. Weight ana ant (p > 0.05). N	'adiposity differences represen R, not reported; BF, body fat; VI	t changes in the fruit intervel VC, waist circumference; WF	ntion group relative to the comparator grou IR, waist-to-hip ratic; SAD, sagittal abdomi

The adiposity RCT search employed the following search terms in CENTRAL: ((Fruit OR fruits):ti,ab OR [mh Fruit]) AND ((weight OR "body mass index" OR BMI OR "waist circumference" OR "body fat" OR adiposity OR overweight OR obes\* OR leanness OR Overnutrition OR "over nutrition"):ti,ab OR [mh "Body Weight"] OR [mh "Body Weight Changes"] OR [mh "Overweight"] OR [mh "Thinness"] OR [mh "Body Fat Distribution"]).

The energy intake RCT search employed the following search terms in CENTRAL: ((Fruit OR fruits):ti,ab OR [mh Fruit]) AND (("energy" OR calorie\* OR caloric OR kilocalorie\* OR kcal OR "joule" OR kilojoule OR kJ):tiab) AND ((intake OR consum\* OR ingest\* OR ate OR eat OR eating):ti,ab OR [mh "Energy Intake"] OR [mh Eating]).

The prospective observational study search employed the following search terms in PubMed, in addition to the "observational study" publication type filter: (Fruit[tiab] OR fruits[tiab] OR "Fruit"[Mesh:NoExp]) AND (weight[tiab] OR "body mass index"[tiab] OR BMI[tiab] OR "waist circumference"[tiab] OR "body fat"[tiab] OR adiposity[tiab] OR overweight[tiab] OR obes\*[tiab] OR leanness[tiab] OR Overnutrition[tiab] OR "over nutrition"[tiab] OR "Body Weight"[Mesh:NoExp] OR "Body Weight Changes"[Mesh] OR "Overweight"[Mesh] OR "Thinness"[Mesh] OR "Body Fat Distribution"[Mesh]) AND (prospective\*[tiab] OR cohort[tiab] OR longitudinal[tiab] OR follow up stud\*[tiab] OR followup stud\*[tiab] OR incidence stud\*[tiab] OR "Cohort Studies"[Mesh]).

In addition, previous review papers on fruit, energy intake, and adiposity were hand searched for relevant studies (14–16).

# **Study Selection**

After search records were identified, SG examined titles and abstracts for studies that met inclusion criteria. Potential candidates were compiled in Excel spreadsheets for examination of full text. SG then examined the full text of each study to verify that inclusion criteria were satisfied, resulting in the exclusion of some studies.

# **Data Collection**

Data were extracted from studies that met inclusion criteria into Excel spreadsheets and Cochrane Review Manager 5.3. Data presented in manuscripts were taken at face value and authors were not contacted for additional information. For RCTs, the following data were extracted: first author, year of publication, number and characteristics of subjects, summary of intervention, duration of intervention, between-group difference in weight with statistical significance, between-group difference in other measures of adiposity with statistical significance, Cochrane risk of bias assessment (based on random sequence generation, allocation concealment, blinding of participants and personnel, blinding of outcome assessment, incomplete outcome data,

**FABLE 1** | Continued

selective reporting), additional noteworthy study features. When not directly reported, between-group differences in measures of adiposity and energy intake were calculated based on available data whenever possible.

For observational studies, the following data were extracted: first author, year, number and characteristics of subjects, measure of fruit intake, length of follow-up, covariates accounted for, association between fruit consumption and weight change with statistical significance, association between fruit consumption and other measures of adiposity with statistical significance, additional noteworthy study features. Data from the most adjusted model that does not include energy intake as a covariate were generally preferred, since energy intake is a mechanism by which fruit intake may impact body weight. If an unadjusted or minimally adjusted model was the only one available without energy intake as a covariate, the most adjusted model was selected.

Body mass index measures were only collected if body weight was not reported, since the two measures are redundant in adults who have achieved their final height.

### **Risk of Bias**

Risk of bas was estimated using the Cochrane risk of bias tool for individual studies, according to Cochrane guidelines<sup>2</sup> and using Cochrane Review Manager 5.3, and GRADE was used to judge and communicate the certainty of conclusions for each outcome<sup>3</sup> Risk of bias score was used as a criterion to weight the informativeness of each study when synthesizing conclusions, and GRADE was used to judge and communicate the certainty of each conclusion. Risk of bias graphs and summaries were created using Cochrane Review Manager 5.3.

### Synthesis of Results

This review employed a narrative synthesis method whereby study quality was evaluated and conclusions were informally weighted according to study quality (informal, i.e., a quantitative method was not applied to weight the informativeness of individual studies). Among the three outcomes considered, the preregistered primary outcome was assigned the highest weight. Reporting follows PRISMA guidelines (22). Quantitative metaanalysis of RCTs was judged to be suboptimal in this context, given the limited number of studies identified, the fact that the study pool would have been further narrowed by applying more stringent meta-analysis inclusion criteria, and widely varying study methods and quality. Although meta-analyses are commonly performed on fewer than ten studies, typical methods for accomplishing this do not adequately control the false positive rate, particularly in the context of high heterogeneity (23). Finally, given the high risk of bias of most studies identified, the author believes it is more informative to focus on high-quality trials than to pool their findings with less informative trials.

### RESULTS

### Study Selection and Characteristics

Figure 1 summarizes the search and study selection process using the PRISMA flow diagram. 4,264 records were identified in database searches, 1,671 for body weight RCTs, 848 for energy intake RCTs, and 1,745 for prospective observational studies. 4,201 records were excluded on the basis of title and abstract contents, leaving 63 potentially eligible studies; 16 body weight RCTs, 10 energy intake RCTs, and 37 observational studies. Many studies were excluded on first pass because they did not isolate whole, fresh fruit intake as a variable; for example, they reported associations between combined fruit/vegetable intake and weight outcomes. Upon inspection of full-text manuscripts, 41 studies met inclusion criteria; 11 body weight RCTs, 5 energy intake RCTs, and 25 observational studies. Reasons for exclusion were that studies were duplicates (n = 3), interventions were not long enough to meet inclusion criteria (n = 1), interventions involved processed rather than whole, fresh fruit (n = 2), studies did not report data that are pertinent to this review (n = 8), observational studies were potentially confounded by a concurrent intervention (n = 4), and observational studies reported data in a crosssectional rather than prospective manner (n = 4).

RCTs reporting the impact of whole, fresh fruit consumption on body weight and adiposity were published between 1992 and 2016 and are summarized in Table 1. Of the 11 RCTs identified, two included fewer than 20 subjects, four included 21-50 subjects, two included 51-100 subjects, and three included more than 100 subjects. Interventions represented a variety of fruit types, but guava (n = 3), apple (n = 2), and grapefruit (n = 3)= 2) were named more commonly than other fruit. The quantity of fruit varied widely, with the highest intake representing a goal of 15 percent of energy intake from fruit-derived fructose, which implies  $\sim$ 30 percent of total energy intake from fruit. Interventions lasted 3-24 weeks, with 6 and 12 weeks being most common. All RCTs reported weight changes, and six also reported changes in other measures of adiposity. Four trials reported performing a power calculation as part of trial design, and three trials were preregistered, of which two were preregistered for an adiposity-related outcome.

RCTs reporting the impact of whole, fresh fruit consumption on energy intake were published between 2003 and 2016 and are summarized in Table 2. Of the 5 RCTs identified, two included fewer than 20 subjects, two included 21-50 subjects, and one included more than 50 subjects. Interventions represented several fruit types, but apple (n = 2) was named more commonly than other fruit. As in the body weight RCTs (some of which also met inclusion criteria for energy intake), the quantity of fruit varied widely, with the highest intake representing a goal of 15 percent of calorie intake from fruit-derived fructose, which implies  $\sim$ 30 percent of total energy intake from fruit. Interventions lasted between one meal and 12 weeks, with singlemeal and 8-week trials being the most common. Three trials used self-report methods to measure energy intake, two of which used a 3-day weighed food record; food intake in the other two trials was directly measured by investigators. The latter two trials were single-meal studies. Three trials reported performing a power

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>https://handbook-5-1.cochrane.org/chapter\_8/8\_assessing\_risk\_of\_bias\_in\_ included\_studies.htm

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>https://handbook-5-1.cochrane.org/chapter\_12/12\_2\_1\_the\_grade\_approach. htm.
Trial	Subjects	Intervention	Duration	Energy intake difference	Measurement method	Notes
de Oliveira et al. (26)	Hypercholesterolemic, overweight, non-smoking women, 30 to 50 years of age. 49 randomized; number in each group unclear.	3 apples, pears, or oat cookies per day. Hypocaloric diet for all subjects.	12 weeks	22 kcal (p = NR) daily	Food frequency questionnaire and 3-day dietary record	No power calculation. Not preregistered. No between-group <i>p</i> -value provided for EI. May have pooled two fruit groups that were individually randomized.
Rodriguez et al. (27)	Women with obesity. 15 randomized; 8 Iow-fruit; 7 high-fruit.	Low-fruit diet vs. high-fruit diet (goal of 5 vs. 15% of kcal from fructose). Hypocaloric diet for all subjects.	8 weeks	+47 kcal ( $p = NS$ ) daily	3-day dietary record	No power calculation. Not preregistered. Very small sample size
Flood-Obbagy and Rolls (35)	Flood-Obbagy and Men and women 18–45 years old. 59 Rolls (35) randomized; crossover design.	Isocaloric preload with apple, apple sauce, apple juice with added fiber, apple juice, or no preload. Followed by an <i>ad libitum</i> test meal.	Single meal	-187 kcal vs. no preload ( $p < 0.0001$ ); $-91$ kcal vs. apple sauce ( $p < 0.022$ ); $-152$ kcal vs. apple juice with fiber ( $p < 0.02$ ); $-178$ kcal vs. apple juice ( $p < 0.02$ ). Figures represent total meal energy intake including preload.	Weighed by investigators	Performed a power calculation. Not preregistered.
James et al. (36)	Heatthy pre-menopausal women. 12 randomized; crossover design.	Isocaloric mixed berries vs. confectionary snack, followed by an ad libitum test meal.	Single meal	–134 kcal ( <i>p</i> < 0.001)	Weighed by investigators	Performed a power calculation. Not preregistered.
Agebratt et al. (33)	Healthy non-obese men and women. 30 randomized; 15 fruit; 15 nuts.	Diet supplementation with 7 kcal/kg body weight/d of fruit vs. nuts.	8 weeks	-216 kcal ( $p = 0.37$ )	3-day weighed dietary record	Performed a power calculation but based on hepatic fat outcome. Preregistered but not for energy intake (NCT02227511). Registry page is sparse.

Randomized controlled trials reporting the impact of whole, fresh fruit consumption on energy intake. Energy intake differences represent the fruit intervention group relative to the comparator group. Additional strengths and limitations of study design are listed in the "notes" column. NS, not statistically significant (p > 0.05); NR, not reported.

Guyenet

TABLE 2 | Secondary outcome: impact of whole, fresh fruit consumption on energy intake in RCTs.

calculation as part of study design, although one was powered for a hepatic fat outcome. Only one trial was preregistered, also for a hepatic fat outcome.

Prospective observational studies reporting the impact of whole, fresh fruit consumption on body weight and adiposity change were published between 2002 and 2018 and are summarized in **Table 3**. Of the 25 studies identified, seven included fewer than 1,000 subjects, six included 1,000–10,000 subjects, seven included 10,001–50,000 subjects, and five included more than 50,000 subjects. Follow-up length ranged from 6 months to 24 years. Eleven studies reported weight changes, and 18 reported changes in other measures of adiposity. None were preregistered, and only one applied an adjustment for multiple comparisons (Bonferroni correction) to control familywise error rate when testing several hypotheses using a single data set.

#### **Risk of Bias**

Figure 2 presents the Cochrane risk of bias graph, and Figure 3 presents the Cochrane risk of bias summary for RCTs reporting the impact of whole, fresh fruit consumption on body weight and other measures of adiposity. Six of 11 included trials are at an unclear risk of bias from random sequence generation and allocation concealment due to incomplete description of the randomization process, while the other five are at a low risk of bias. All 11 trials are at a high risk of bias due to lack of blinding of participants, an unavoidable consequence of including whole, fresh fruit consumption as an intervention. This leaves open the possibility that part of the impact of fruit observed in these trials is attributable to placebo effects. The risk of bias due to blinding of outcome assessment is low in all 11 trials, not because investigators were consistently blinded to treatment assignment, but because there is a low risk of bias in measuring body weight due to its simple and objective nature. Nine of 11 trials had a low risk of attrition bias due to low dropout rates, while the other two were at high risk due to high dropout rates. Nine of 11 trials were at an unclear risk of selective reporting bias due to insufficient information about initial study design resulting from a lack of detailed preregistration information, while the other two were at low risk due to detailed preregistration. The risk of other bias was fairly evenly split between low (n = 3), unclear (n = 4), and high (n = 4) risk of bias. The two studies with a low risk of other bias were scored as such because they offered detailed preregistration information with primary outcomes relevant to adiposity.

Body weight RCTs that scored most favorably on the Cochrane risk of bias tool are Madero et al. (30), Dow et al. (31), Agebratt et al. (33), Singh (25), Singh et al. (24), and Kumari et al. (34) (**Figure 3**). Each received a score of "low risk" in four or five of seven domains.

Figure 4 presents the Cochrane risk of bias graph, and Figure 5 presents the Cochrane risk of bias summary for RCTs reporting the impact of whole, fresh fruit consumption on energy intake. This literature fared more poorly in risk of bias scoring than the body weight RCT literature. All energy intake RCTs are at an unclear risk of bias from random sequence generation, and four of five are at an unclear risk of bias from allocation concealment. This is due to incomplete description of the randomization process. For the same reason as the body weight RCTs, all energy intake RCTs are at a high risk of bias due to lack of blinding of participants, leaving open the possibility of placebo effects. The risk of bias due to blinding of outcome assessment is high in three of five energy intake RCTs due to reliance on self-reported measures of energy intake, and low in two of five due to directly measured energy intake. Four of five trials had a low risk of attrition bias due to low dropout rates. All trials were at an unclear risk of selective reporting bias due to insufficient information about initial study design resulting from a lack of detailed preregistration information. The risk of other bias was unclear in four of five trials due to insufficient information.

Energy intake RCTs that scored most favorably on the Cochrane risk of bias tool are Flood-Obbagy and Rolls (35), James et al. (36), and Agebratt et al. (33) (**Figure 5**), although none received a score of "low risk" in more than two of seven domains.

Although observational studies were not assessed using the Cochrane risk of bias tool, features that are informative of bias risk will nevertheless be considered here. All observational studies included in this review used self-report methods to measure fruit intake, most commonly food frequency questionnaires (Table 3). This introduces a substantial source of error that may also introduce an unknown degree of bias. Validation studies suggest that the Pearson correlation coefficient between fruit intake measured by food frequency questionnaires and 7-day weighed food record is 0.50-0.67, implying that 65-75 percent  $(R^2)$  of the variability in fruit intake identified by 7-day weighed food record is not captured by food frequency questionnaire (62). Although it has been argued that self-report error is randomly distributed and should not bias associations, the author is uncertain to what extent this argument is correct, and in which contexts.

Observational studies are inherently more limited than RCTs as tools for causal inference because relationships between exposure and outcome variables may be confounded by other variables. For example, between-person variation in fruit and vegetable intake has a genetic component and "individuals genetically predisposed to low fruit and vegetable consumption may be predisposed to higher [body mass index]," suggesting a possible source of bias that could be both important and difficult to correct (63). For this reason among others, observational relationships between fruit intake and body weight changes can be difficult to interpret. Most of the studies represented in Table 3 adjusted extensively for confounding variables in an attempt to limit confounding bias. However, it is difficult to be certain that the most impactful confounding variables were measured and appropriately incorporated into multivariate models.

In addition, it is difficult to be certain that observational relationships were not overadjusted, attenuating the measured association between fruit intake and body weight/adiposity outcomes. In this regard, it is notable that many studies adjusted for energy intake, which seems suboptimal for the purposes of this review since modified energy intake may be a key intermediate variable between fruit intake and body weight/adiposity outcomes.

Study	Subjects	Intake measure	Follow-up length	Weight change	Adiposity change	Covariates	Notes
Schulz et al. (37)	17,369 German non-smoking men and women	Food frequency questionnaire	2 years	Not reported	Men: OR per 100 g daily intake for small wt gain 1.04 ( $\rho = NS$ ); OR for large wt gain 0.94 ( $\rho = NS$ ); OR for small wt loss 1.05 ( $\rho = NS$ ); OR for small wt loss 1.03 ( $\rho = NS$ ). Women: OR per 100 g intake for small wt gain, 0.94 ( $\rho = NS$ ); OR for large wt gain 0.94 ( $\rho = NS$ ); OR for small wt loss 1.01 ( $\rho = NS$ ); OR for small wt loss 1.03 ( $\rho = NS$ ).	Age, initial body weight and height, education, weight history, medication, menopause, life and health contentment, dietary change, physical activity, prevalent diabetes and thyroid disease	Not adjusted for multiple comparisons. Not preregistered.
Field et al. (38)	14,918 US boys and girls ages 9–14	Food frequency questionnaire	3 years	Not reported	Boys: 0.0 SD BMI z-score ( $\rho = NS$ ); Girls: 0.0 SD BMI z-score ( $\rho = NS$ )	Age, age squared, Tanner stage, height change, baseline weight, physical activity, and inactivity	Not adjusted for multiple comparisons. Not preregistered.
Newby et al. (39)	1,379 US boys and girls ages 2–5	Food frequency questionnaire	6-12 months	+0.02 kg/year per daily serving ( $p = 0.41$ )	Not reported	Age, sex, ethnicity, residence, level of poverty, maternal education, birth weight, food groups	Not adjusted for multiple comparisons. Not preregistered.
Drapeau et al. (40)	248 Canadian men and women	3-day dietary record	6 years	-0.18 kg per 1 percent increase in fruit intake ( $p = 0.03$ )	-0.16 % BF per 1 percent increase in fruit intake ( $p = 0.01$ ); $-0.19$ cm waist circumference per 1 percent increase in fruit intake ( $p = 0.03$ ); $-1.05$ mm sum of 6 skinfold thicknesses per 1 percent increase in fruit intake ( $p = 0.01$ )	Age, baseline body weight, or adiposity indicators, changes in daily physical activity level	Not adjusted for multiple comparisons. Not preregistered.
He et al. (41)	74,063 US female health professionals ages 38–63	Food frequency questionnaire	12 years	Not reported	OR for obesity 0.76 in highest vs. lowest quintile of fruit intake change ( $p = 0.0007$ ); OR for major weight gain 0.73 in highest vs. lowest quintile of fruit intake change ( $p = 0.03$ )	Age, year of follow-up, change in physical activity, change in cigarette smoking status, changes in alcohol consumption and caffeine intake, change in use of hormone replacement therapy, changes in energy-adjusted intakes of saturated fat, polyunsaturated fatt, monounsaturated fat, trans-unsaturated fatty acid, protein, total energy, baseline BMI	Not adjusted for multiple comparisons. Not preregistered.
Koh- Banerjee et al. (42)	27,082 US male t health professionals ages 40-75	Food frequency questionnaire	8 years	-2.51 kg per 20 g/d increase in fruit fiber ( <i>p</i> < 0.001)	Not reported	Age, baseline fruit intake, smoking, baseline weight, and baseline values and changes in refined grains, calories, total physical activity, alcohol, protein, and trans, saturated, monounsaturated, and polyunsaturated fats	Not adjusted for multiple comparisons. Not preregistered.
Nooyens et al. (43)	288 Dutch men ages 50–65 years	Food frequency questionnaire	5 years	<ul> <li>-0.02 kg/year</li> <li>per serving increase of fruit per week (<i>p</i> = 0.03)</li> </ul>	$-0.03$ cm/year WC per serving increase of fruit per week ( $\rho < 0.01$ )	Retirement status, type of job, interaction between retirement and type of job, age, smoking, baseline fruit intake, physical activity, intake of potatoes, breakfast, sugar-sweetened beverages, fiber density	Not adjusted for multiple comparisons. Not preregistered.
Sanchez- Villegas et al. (44)	6,319 Spanish male and female university graduates	Food frequency questionnaire	28 months	-0.09 kg in highest vs. lowest tertile of fruit intake ( $p = 0.46$ )	Not reported	Age, sex, baseline BMI, smoking, physical activity, alcohol consumption, energy, intake, change in dietary habits, physical activity, intake of cereals, vegetables, legumes, fish, nuts, meat, full-fat dairy, olive oil, red wine	Not adjusted for multiple comparisons. Not preregistered.
							(Continued)

	Continuea						
Study	Subjects	Intake measure	Follow-up length	Weight change	Adiposity change	Covariates	Notes
te Velde et al. (45)	168 Dutch men and women	Dietary history interview	24 years	Not reported	$-0.71$ BMI units in highest vs. lowest quartile of fruit intake ( $\rho = NS$ ); $-0.16 mm$ sum of 6 skinfolds in highest vs. lowest quartile of fruit intake ( $\rho = NS$ )	Sex, bone age at 13 years, total energy intake, physical activity, tobacco use, fiber intake	Not adjusted for multiple comparisons. Not preregistered.
Vioque et al. (46)	206 Spanish men and women ages 15–80	Food frequency questionnaire	10 years	Not reported	OR 0.62 for weight gain $>3.41$ kg over 10 years in highest vs. lowest quartile of fruit intake ( $\rho = 0.211$ )	Sex, age, educational level, BMI, time spent watching TV, presence of disease, baseline height, energy intake, energy-adjusted intakes of protein, saturated fat, monounsaturated fat, polyunsaturated, fiber, caffeine, alcohol	Not adjusted for multiple comparisons. Not preregistered.
Buijsse et al. (47)	89,432 Danish, German, UK, Italian, and Dutch men and women	Food frequency questionnaire	6.5 years	-0.016 kg/y per additional 100 g fruit intake ( $p < 0.05$ )	Not reported	Age, sex, cohort, product term UK-Nor X fruit/vegetable intake, years of follow-up, baseline weight, baseline height, change in smoking status, baseline physical activity (dummy variables), education, alcohol intake, postmenopausal status, postmenopausal hormone use	Not adjusted for multiple comparisons. Not preregistered.
Halkjær et al. (48)	42,696 Danish men and women ages 50–64	Food frequency questionnaire	5 years	Not reported	Men: $-0.07$ cm WC per additional 60 kcal/d fruit intake ( $p < 0.001$ ). Women: $-0.10$ cm WC per additional 60 kcal/d fruit intake ( $p < 0.07$ ).	Baseline waist circumference, body mass index, age, smoking, sport, hours of sport, energy intake from wine, beer, and spirits, baseline intake of 21 food and beverage groups	Not adjusted for multiple comparisons. Not preregistered.
Berz et al. (49)	2,327 US girls age 9 years	3-day dietary record	10 years	Not reported	$-2.1$ BMI units in highest vs. lowest fruit intake ( $\rho < 0.001$ )	Race, height, SES, physical activity level, television viewing and video game playing, and total energy	Not adjusted for multiple comparisons. Not preregistered.
Mozaffarian et al. (50)	120,877 US male and female health professionals	Food frequency questionnaire	12-20 years	-0.22 kg per 4-year period per 1-serving increase ( $p < 0.001$ )	Not reported	Age, baseline BMI, sleep duration, changes in physical activity, alcohol use, television watching, smoking, vegetables, nuts, dairy, potatoes, grains, sugar-sweetened beverages, fruit juice, diet beverages, sweets, meats, trans fat, fried foods	Not adjusted for multiple comparisons. Not preregistered.
Romaguera et al. (51)	<ul> <li>48,631 Danish,</li> <li>German, UK,</li> <li>Italian, and Dutch</li> <li>men and women</li> </ul>	Food frequency questionnaire	5.5 years	Not reported	$-0.04 \text{ cm/y}$ WC (adjusted for BMI) per 100 kcal increment of fruit intake ( $\rho < 0.001$ )	Energy intake, age, baseline weight, baseline height, baseline WC (adjusted for BMI), smoking, alcohol intake, physical activity, education, follow-up duration, menopausal status, hormone replacement therapy	Not adjusted for multiple comparisons. Not preregistered.
Mirmiran et al. (52)	1,930 Iranian men and women ages 19–70	Food frequency questionnaire	3 years	-0.42 kg in highest vs. lowest quartile of fruit intake ( $p = 0.01$ )	$-0.53 \mathrm{cm}$ WC in highest vs. lowest quartile of fruit intake ( $ ho=0.006$ )	Sex, age at baseline, BMI, education, smoking, physical activity, total energy intake, dietary carbohydrate, fat, protein	Not adjusted for multiple comparisons. Not preregistered.
							(Continued)

Frontiers in Nutrition | www.frontiersin.org

39

TABLE 3   Continued	Continued						
Study	Subjects	Intake measure	Follow-up length	Weight change	Adiposity change	Covariates	Notes
Vergnaud et al. (53)	373,803 Danish, French, German, Greek, Italian, Dutch, Norwegian, Spanish, Swedish, and UK men and women	Food frequency questionnaire	5 years	Men: $-0.001$ kg/y per additional 100 g fruit intake ( $\rho = 0.75$ ). Women: $-0.001$ kg/y per additional 100 g fruit intake ( $\rho = 0.20$ ).	Not reported	Age, education, physical activity, change in smoking status, BMI at baseline, follow-up time, energy initake, energy initake from alcohol, plausibility of total energy initake reporting, vegetable intake	Not adjusted for multiple comparisons. Not preregistered. Intake data were calibrated using 24-h dietary recall data.
Bayer et al. (54)	. 1,252 girls and boys age 6	Parental questionnaire	4 years	Not reported	+0.014 unit BMI z-score in high vs. low fruit consumers ( $p = NS$ ), +0.033 unit BMI z-score for decreased fruit intake ( $p =$ 0.808), -0.126 unit BMI z-score for increased fruit intake ( $p = 0.348$ ).	Physical activity, cluster	Not adjusted for multiple comparisons. Not preregistered.
Bertoia et al. (55)	133,468 US male and female health professionals	Food frequency questionnaire	13–14 years (mean)	-0.24 kg per 4-year period per 1-serving increase ( $p < 0.05$ )	Not reported	Baseline age, BMI, change in smoking status, physical activity, hours of sitting or watching TV, hours of sleep, fried potatoes, juice, whole grains, refined grains, fried foods, nuts, whole-fat dairy, low-fat dairy, sugar-sweetened beverages, sweets, processed meats, non-processed meats, trans fat, alcohol, seafood	Not adjusted for multiple comparisons. Not preregistered. Similar to Mozaffarian et al. (50).
de Munter et al. (56)	23,108 Swedish men and women ages 18–84	Questionnaire	8 years	Not reported	Men: $-0.07$ BMI units in " $\geq$ daily" vs. "less than daily" fruit intake group ( $p = NS$ ); RR 0.89 for overweight incidence ( $p = NS$ ); RR 0.90 for obesity incidence ( $p = NS$ ). Women: $+0.02$ BMI units in " $\geq$ daily" vs. "less than daily" fruit intake group ( $p =$ NS); RR 0.94 for overweight incidence ( $p =$ NS); RR 0.88 for obesity incidence ( $p =$ NS).	Age, education, physical activity, alcohol intake, smoking	Not adjusted for multiple comparisons. Not preregistered.
Rautiainen et al. (57)	18,146 US female heatth professionals aged ≥45	Food frequency questionnaire	15.9 years	-0.01 kg in highest vs. Iowest quintile of fruit intake ( $p = 0.46$ )	HR 0.87 for obesity or overweight in highest vs. lowest quintile of fruit intake ( <i>p</i> = 0.01)	"Age, randomization treatment assignment, physical activity, history of hypercholesterolemia or hypertension, smoking status, postmenopausal status, postmenopausal hormone use, alcohol use, multivitamin use, energy intake, baseline BMI"	Not adjusted for multiple comparisons. Not preregistered.
Hur et al. (58)	770 Korean male and female children and adolescents	3-day dietary record	4 years	Not reported	-0.08 unit BMI z-score per g/d fruit sugar ( $p < 0.05$ ). $-0.60%$ BF per g/d fruit sugar ( $p = NS$ ).		Not adjusted for multiple comparisons. Not preregistered.
							(Continued)

40

Study	Subjects	Intake measure	Follow-up length	Weight change	Adiposity change	Covariates	Notes
Bel-Serrat et al. (59)	2,755 Irish boys and girls ages 6–10	Parental food frequency questionnaire	3 years	Not reported	OR 2.16 for developing overweight/obesity in "sometimes/never" fresh fruit vs. "every day/most days" group ( <i>p</i> < 0.01). –0.04 unit BMI z-score in "sometimes/never" fresh fruit vs. "every day/most days" group ( <i>p</i> = NS).	Energy intake, income, sex, age	Not adjusted for multiple comparisons. Not preregistered.
Mumena et al. (60)	Mumena et 336 Caribbean (St. 24-h dietary recall 18 months al. (60) Krits and Nevis, Trinidad and Tobago) boys and girls ages 6–10	24-h dietary recall	18 months	Not reported	Children who became overweight or obese had a lower fruit intake at baseline than children who did not ( $p = 0.017$ )	Measurement round, follow-up length, age, sex, baseline z-BMI, baseline abdominal obesity status, school socioeconomic status, school location, household ownership	Adjusted for multiple comparisons (Bonferron). Not preregistered.
Okop et al. (61)	800 South African men and women	Food frequency questionnaire	4.5 years	Not reported	OR 1.47 of weight gain ≥5% in "seldom or no daily fruit" vs. "daily fruit" ( <i>p</i> < 0.05)	NA	Not adjusted for multiple comparisons. Not preregistered.

An additional potential source of bias is that none of the observational studies reported preregistration, leaving open the possibility that outcome selection and data analysis methods were (perhaps inadvertently) guided toward preferred outcomes. The great diversity of analytic methods represented in these studies amplifies this concern because it demonstrates that the possible space of analytic methods is vast (64). Preregistration narrows this space *a priori*.

Finally, only one observational study reported adjusting significance tests for multiple comparisons, e.g., Bonferroni correction. The more hypothesis tests that are performed on a single data set, the higher the likelihood of a false positive finding. Since the commonly accepted false positive rate in the biomedical research community is 5 percent, testing ten hypotheses yields a 40 percent risk of that at least one of the ten tests will return a false positive finding. Many of the observational studies identified here tested ten or more hypotheses, and most represent datasets that have been analyzed using many statistical tests in other contexts (64). Overall, the risk of bias in the observational literature considered here appears quite high and must limit the strength of causal inferences drawn from it.

## Synthesized Findings **Body Weight RCTs**

The primary outcome of this review is the impact of whole, fresh fruit consumption on measures of adiposity including body weight, as measured by RCTs. Given the limited number of studies identified, which would be further reduced by more stringent meta-analysis inclusion criteria, and large variation of methodology and study quality, qualitative synthesis appears most appropriate.

Of the 11 RCTs included, seven reported numerical reductions of body weight as a result of increased fruit consumption relative to a comparison group, while four reported numerical increases of weight (Table 1). Among trials that reported numerical reductions of body weight, three comparisons were statistically significant (26, 28, 30), while none of the comparisons suggesting weight increases achieved statistical significance. This is consistent with the possibility that the weight increases result from random chance. In support of this possibility, studies that reported non-significant weight increases from fruit consumption tended to be statistically underpowered, with as few as six subjects per group (Table 1).

Among the two trials that reported performing a power calculation a priori and were preregistered with measures of adiposity as the primary outcome, Madero et al. (30) reported a significant weight loss of -1.36 kg over 6 weeks of substantially increased fruit consumption (30), while Dow et al. (31) reported a non-significant weight loss of -0.5 kg over 6 weeks of modestly increased fruit consumption (31). In addition, Madero et al. (30) received the lowest risk of bias score of all studies considered, and Dow et al. (31) tied for the second lowest risk of bias. In contrast, three of the four trials reporting non-significant increases of body weight from increased fruit consumption were among those with the highest risk of bias, while the fourth, which reported a non-significant and negligible weight gain of 0.03 kg over 8 weeks, was among those with relatively lower risk of bias



(Figure 3). It is evident that the trials reporting weight reductions tend to have higher methodological quality than those reporting weight increases, suggesting that the former should be viewed as more informative.

Six trials reported measures of adiposity other than body weight, including body fat percentage, waist circumference, waist-to-hip ratio, sagittal abdominal diameter, and visceral fat volume (**Table 1**). Only one measure achieved statistical significance, a waist circumference reduction of -3.1 cm over 8 weeks of a high-fruit diet (27). However, this finding is questionable due to the study's small sample size, high risk of bias, and apparent lack of correction for multiple comparisons.

Since Madero et al. (30) and Dow et al. (31) appear to surpass the others in methodological quality and relevance to adiposity modification, these will be discussed in detail and will contribute disproportionately to the overall conclusions of this review (30, 31). These two trials are particularly relevant to adiposity modification because all subjects had overweight or obesity. Madero et al. (30) was preregistered with anthropometric changes as the primary outcome, and sample size was selected using a power calculation. Sample size was larger than all but one other trial, which had the same number of subjects. This trial also received the lowest risk of bias score among the 11 trials identified, with low risk in all categories except participant blinding, in which high risk is unavoidable due to the impossibility of blinding subjects, and allocation concealment, which was judged as unclear because it was not described in the manuscript.

One hundred and thirty one men and women with overweight or obesity were randomly assigned to eat a low-fructose diet (<20 g/d) vs. a natural-fructose diet (50–70 g/d) in which most of the fructose was from whole, fresh fruit, for 6 weeks. The latter is approximately equivalent to five to eight whole medium apples per day, or eleven to fifteen whole oranges per day. After 6 weeks, the natural-fructose group had lost 1.36 kg more weight than the low-fructose group (p = 0.02). The trial also reported non-significant reductions of body fat percentage and waist-to-hip ratio in the natural-fructose group relative to the low-fructose group.

Dow et al. (31) was preregistered with body weight change as the primary outcome, and sample size was selected using a power calculation (31). This trial tied for the second-lowest risk of bias score among the 11 trials identified, with low risk of bias in four of seven domains (**Figure 3**). Its risk of bias in participant blinding was judged as high, which is unavoidable. Its risk of bias due to randomization and allocation concealment are unclear due to a lack of information in the manuscript.

Seventy-four men and premenopausal women with overweight or obesity were randomly assigned to eat half a fresh grapefruit three times per day prior to each meal, vs. no intervention, for 6 weeks. In addition, all subjects were assigned to a baseline diet low in fruit and vegetables. After 6 weeks, the grapefruit group had lost 0.5 kg more weight than the control group, but this difference was not statistically significant (p = 0.119). Between-group differences in body fat percentage (+0.55 percent), waist circumference (-1.22 cm), and waist-to-hip ratio (0.0) were also non-significant.

Informally weighting the strength of findings according to study quality and risk of bias, the overall RCT literature suggests that increasing whole, fresh fruit consumption promotes weight maintenance or modest weight loss over periods of 3–24 weeks, with limited evidence suggesting that high intakes of fruit lead to weight loss among people with overweight or obesity. The overall quality of evidence according to the GRADE method is moderate, indicating that the true effect of fruit consumption on measures of adiposity is probably close to the effect estimated in the RCTs considered here, particularly those of higher quality.

#### **Energy Intake RCTs**

A secondary outcome of this review is the impact of whole, fresh fruit consumption on measures of energy intake, as measured by RCTs. Given the small number of studies identified, and large variation of methodology and study quality, qualitative synthesis appears most appropriate.





Of the five RCTs included, four reported numerical reductions of energy intake as a result of increased fruit consumption relative to a comparison group, while one reported a numerical increase of energy intake (**Table 2**). Among trials that reported numerical reductions of energy intake, two comparisons were statistically significant (35, 36), while the comparison suggesting numerically increased energy intake reported a small-magnitude effect (+47 kcal/d) that did not achieve statistical significance (27). This is consistent with the possibility that the finding of increased energy intake resulted from random chance. In support of this possibility, this study was likely statistically underpowered, with seven and eight subjects per group (**Table 1**). It did not report performing an *a priori* power calculation and was also at high risk of bias due to its use of a self-reported measure of energy intake, and not blinding subjects (unavoidable) or investigators (avoidable) (**Figure 5**).

Only one energy intake trial was preregistered, and its primary outcome was a change of hepatic fat content rather than energy intake (33). Among the three trials that reported performing a power calculation *a priori*, two reported statistically significant single-meal reductions of energy intake of 134–187 kcal from meals including a fruit preload relative to no preload or a confectionary snack (35, 36), and the third reported a non-significant 216-kcal reduction of daily energy intake from a high-fruit diet relative to a high-nut diet (33). The former two trials were the only two to employ direct measurement of energy intake by investigators rather than self-reported intake (**Table 2**). The three trials that performed power calculations received the most favorable risk of bias scores among the five trials identified, although none of the five trials received a low risk score in more than two of seven domains (**Figure 5**).

Consistent with the adiposity RCTs, it is evident that the trials reporting energy intake reductions, and particularly statistically significant ones, tend to have higher methodological quality than the trial reporting energy intake increase, suggesting that the former should be viewed as more informative. However, it is notable that the three trials reporting non-significant effects, while relying on self-reported data, were the only three with follow-up periods longer than a single meal (**Table 2**).

Flood-Obbagy and Rolls (35) and James et al. (36) appear to surpass the other trials in methodological quality due to direct measurement of energy intake, lower risk of bias score than the other three, and sufficient statistical power supported by *a priori* power calculations (35, 36). Flood-Obbagy and Rolls (35) also has the largest sample size of the five trials identified, and its effective sample size is amplified by its crossover design. These two trials will be discussed in detail and will contribute disproportionately to the overall conclusions of this review. Although these trials may provide a higher level of certainty than the others, they are less relevant to energy intake control in the context of obesity because their subjects were either lean (35) or mildly overweight (36) on average.

Flood-Obbagy and Rolls (35) received one of the lowest risk of bias scores among the five trials identified, although none of the trials were at a low risk of bias. It received a low risk of bias score in blinding of outcome assessment due to directly measured energy intake, and low risk of attrition bias due to low attrition (**Figure 5**). It received an unclear risk of bias score for random sequence generation, allocation concealment, selective reporting, and other bias due to insufficient information in the manuscript and the absence of preregistration. It received a high risk of bias score in participant blinding, in which high risk is unavoidable.

Fifty-nine men and women 18–45 years old, with body mass index of 23.7 kg/m<sup>2</sup> (M) and 24.3 kg/m<sup>2</sup> (W), received five food preloads in random order on different days, followed after 15 min by an *ad libitum* test meal of cheese tortellini, tomato



sauce, and water (35). Preload conditions were whole apple, apple sauce, apple juice with added soluble fiber (pectin), apple juice, or no preload. All preloads were adjusted to contain equal energy (125 kcal) and weight (266 g) except the no-preload control. Total meal energy intake as directly measured by investigators, including preload, was lowest in the whole apple condition and highest in the no-preload condition, with a highly statistically significant difference of -187 kcal (**Table 2**). Energy intake in the whole apple condition was also significantly lower than all other conditions. Total meal energy intake increased with each processing step away from whole fresh apples, in the following order: whole apples < apple sauce < apple juice with fiber < apple juice.

James et al. (36) received a risk of bias score identical to Flood-Obbagy and Rolls (35) for similar reasons (**Figure 5**) (36). Twelve healthy pre-menopausal women, with body mass index of 26.6 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, received two preloads in random order on different days, followed after 60 min by an *ad libitum* test meal of pasta with Bolognese sauce and olive oil. Preload conditions were fresh mixed berries vs. soft berry-flavored candies and were matched for energy content (65 kcal). The two preloads also contained a similar amount of sugar (12.1 vs. 15.5 g). Energy intake at the test meal, as directly measured by investigators, was 134 kcal lower in the mixed berry condition than in the candy condition (p < 0.001).

Informally weighting the strength of findings according to study quality and risk of bias, the overall RCT literature suggests that increasing whole, fresh fruit consumption reduces energy intake, particularly when consumed prior to a meal or instead of more energy-dense foods. However, these findings have uncertain relevance to energy intake control in obesity because the most informative trials were conducted in subjects who were lean or modesty overweight. In addition, the most informative trials used single-meal designs, limiting conclusions about the impact of fruit consumption on long-term energy intake. The overall quality of evidence according to the GRADE method is moderate, indicating that the true effect of pre-meal fruit consumption on short-term energy intake in people without obesity is probably close to the effect estimated in the RCTs considered here. Longer-term effects, and those in people with obesity, are less certain. Nevertheless, the energy intake RCT literature is broadly consistent with findings from the body weight RCT literature.

#### **Prospective Observational Studies**

A secondary outcome of this review is the association between whole, fresh fruit consumption and measures of adiposity including body weight, as measured by prospective observational studies. Of the 25 studies identified, 11 reported weight changes over time, and of those, ten reported that people who consumed larger amounts of fruit gained numerically less weight over time (or lost more weight) than people who consumed less fruit (**Table 3**). Seven of these associations were statistically significant, all suggesting that higher fruit intake is associated with superior weight control over time.

Eighteen studies reported changes in measures of adiposity other than weight over time, 12 of which reported statistically significant differences between higher and lower consumers of fruit (**Table 3**). Among these 12, all reported that markers of adiposity in people who consume larger amounts of fruit tend to increase less over time (or decline more rapidly) than in people who consume less fruit. Although the Cochrane risk of bias tool was not applied to these studies, as discussed previously they all appear to be at a high risk of bias due to a combination of unavoidable and potentially avoidable design features.

Nevertheless, some studies appear more informative than others. Bertoia et al. (55) [similar to Mozaffarian et al. (50)] and Vergnaud et al. (53) will be discussed further due to the fact that they have the largest sample sizes of the 11 studies identified, they rely on contextually-validated food frequency questionnaires, they have relatively long follow-up periods, and together they represent men and women of 11 nations (35, 36).

Bertoia et al. (55) compiled data from three cohorts representing 133,468 US male and female health professionals (55). Diet assessment was performed using food frequency questionnaires administered at 4-year intervals for a mean of



13–14 years. Analyses controlled for a wide variety of diet and lifestyle factors (**Table 3**), and although they did not control for demographic variables such as income and education, included cohorts were fairly homogeneous in these respects. Notably, analyses did not control for energy intake, which is preferable because energy intake is likely a mediating variable between whole, fresh fruit intake and adiposity.

In contrast to most other studies identified, Bertoia et al. (55) examined the association between *changes* in self-reported fruit intake and *changes* in measures of adiposity. In other words, if a person reported increasing fruit intake over the course of the follow-up period, were they also less likely to gain weight over time? Although this "change-on-change" method remains fundamentally observational, it may avoid some of the confounding potential of traditional nutritional epidemiology study designs (65). The study reported that a one-serving increase of daily fruit intake was associated with a highly statistically significant 0.24 kg reduction of body weight per 4-year period, and did not report associations with other measures of adiposity.

Vergnaud et al. (53) represents 373,803 Danish, French, German, Greek, Italian, Dutch, Norwegian, Spanish, Swedish, and UK men and women, making it the largest cohort of the 11 studies identified (53). Diet assessment was performed using food frequency questionnaires and the duration of follow-up was 5 years. In contrast to Bertoia et al. (55) but similar to most other nutritional epidemiology studies, Vergnaud et al. (53) reports the association between baseline self-reported fruit intake and weight change over a 5-year period. Analyses controlled for several basic diet, lifestyle, and demographic factors, including energy intake (Table 3). Systematic underestimation or overestimation of dietary intakes between study centers was addressed using a dietary calibration study. The study reported that 100 g higher daily fruit intake was associated with a non-significantly lower rate of weight gain of -0.001 kg per year in men and women, and did not report associations with other measures of adiposity.

Informally weighting the strength of findings according to study quality, the overall prospective observational literature suggests that habitually higher fruit intake is associated with no effect on weight, or modest protection against weight gain. Although these findings must be interpreted cautiously due to limitations of study design, they are broadly consistent with the findings of energy intake and body weight RCTs discussed previously and may suggest that the short- to medium-term effects observed in RCTs persist in the long term.

## DISCUSSION

### Summary of Main Findings

The primary outcome of this review is the impact of whole, fresh fruit consumption on measures of adiposity including body weight, as measured by RCTs. Overall, these RCTs suggest that increasing intake of whole, fresh fruit promotes weight maintenance or modest weight loss over periods of 3–24 weeks. High intakes of whole, fresh fruit in people with obesity may promote some degree of weight loss. RCTs provide little information about more direct measures of adiposity such as body fat percentage. The strength of evidence supporting this conclusion is moderate, indicating that the true effect of fruit consumption on measures of adiposity is probably close to the effect estimated here.

Secondary outcomes of RCTs reporting the impact of fruit consumption on energy intake, and prospective observational studies reporting associations between fruit intake and measures of adiposity, were broadly consistent with the primary outcome. The strength of evidence supporting conclusions regarding energy intake RCTs is moderate, while the prospective observational findings did not receive a GRADE assessment but are likely at high risk of bias. As with the primary outcome, RCTs and prospective observational studies of higher quality tend to support the hypothesis that higher intakes of whole, fresh fruit either do not impact weight or modestly attenuate weight gain over time.

#### Limitations

Limitations of this review relate both to the review itself, and to the studies that underlie it. Although quantitative pooling of RCT data appeared suboptimal in this context due to the limited number of studies and considerable heterogeneity in study methods and quality, narrative synthesis is inherently more subjective than quantitative meta-analysis. The author endeavored to limit the potential for bias by preregistering a detailed research plan and adhering to widely accepted defined methods for assessing and reporting evidence, such as the Cochrane risk of bias tool, the GRADE method, and PRISMA guidelines. The author attempted to be transparent in methods and reasoning so the reader may form his or her own views. In addition, the greater subjectivity of narrative reviews may be counterbalanced in some instances by a superior ability to focus on high-quality studies rather than diluting their evidence value by pooling them with lower-quality studies. Finally, the author was not funded for this work and has no connection with Big Fruit, eliminating this potential source of real or perceived bias.

An additional limitation of this review is that due to resource constraints, study selection, data extraction, risk of bias scoring, and GRADE evaluation were performed by one person. The Cochrane handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions recommends that systematic reviews be conducted by at least two people to reduce the risk of errors<sup>4</sup>.

The conclusions of this review are also limited by the underlying evidence. Although 11 RCTs were available for the primary outcome of adiposity, most had serious limitations of sample size, lack of preregistration, and/or risk of bias. Conclusions of the primary outcome of this review rest disproportionately on two high-quality trials. Energy intake RCTs were fewer in number and tended to be lower-quality than adiposity RCTs. Prospective observational studies typically had serious limitations including lack of preregistration, lack of correction for multiple comparisons, and potential confounding and overcorrection, which together raise substantial concerns of bias. Some of these limitations are inherent to observational methods, while others are potentially avoidable. Nevertheless, the consistency of findings across the three primary and secondary outcomes is somewhat reassuring.

## CONCLUSIONS

Consistent with earlier reviews on this topic (14, 17), available evidence suggests that increasing intake of whole, fresh fruit probably does not increase adiposity, but instead has either no impact on adiposity or constrains it modestly. Findings consistent with this hypothesis are observed in studies representing single meals, 3–24 week periods, and periods of five or more years. Although some uncertainty remains, these findings support increasing the consumption of whole, fresh fruit

## REFERENCES

 Murray CJL, Vos T, Lozano R, Naghavi M, Flaxman AD, Michaud C, et al. Disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) for 291 diseases and injuries in 21 regions, 1990-2010: a systematic analysis for the as part of a multi-factor approach to controlling excess energy intake and adiposity. These findings also suggest that if the sugar content of fruit favors increased energy intake and adiposity, this is outweighed by its other properties, such as lower calorie density, moderate palatability/reward value, higher fiber content, and micronutrient content, at least when consumed as part of typical diet patterns.

These findings support existing recommendations by organization such as the US Department of Agriculture and the World Health Organization to increase fruit consumption as a public health measure (66, 67). Although increasing consumption of whole, fresh fruit is unlikely to have a large impact on population obesity rates on its own, it may make a positive contribution as part of a broader public health strategy for obesity control. Similarly, healthcare providers should not expect large changes in adiposity as a result of increasing whole, fresh fruit consumption alone, but it is reasonable to include it as part of a broader package of slimming diet and lifestyle behaviors. Furthermore, it is unlikely to cause adiposity gain despite its sugar content, at least as part of a typical mixed diet. Increasing intake of whole, fresh fruit may be more effective as an adiposity control measure when presented as a replacement for calorie-dense dessert foods.

Several opportunities for reducing the uncertainty of conclusions on this topic are apparent. Additional high-quality RCTs with changes in adiposity as the preregistered primary endpoint would be useful, particularly if they report an accurate measure of total and regional adiposity such as dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry. High-quality energy intake RCTs, preregistered and with complete description of randomization processes, involving direct measurement of energy intake in people with obesity over longer periods of time would also contribute substantially. Additional energy intake RCTs could also compare the impact of fruit intake in different contexts, such as pre-meal vs. intra-meal vs. after-meal intake, to identify the most effective strategy for energy intake control. Finally, prospective observational studies that use accurate measurement instruments, are conducted according to a preregistered research plan, and adjust for multiple comparisons would reduce uncertainty.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

SG is the sole contributor to this manuscript, aside from its search strategy, which was designed in collaboration with Ben Harnke.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Many thanks to Ben Harnke, Education and Reference Librarian at the University of Colorado Health Sciences Library, for his generous help in designing the review's search strategy.

Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. Lancet. (2012) 380:2197–223. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61690-0

2. Trowell HC, Burkitt DP. Western Diseases: Their Emergence and Prevention. Harvard University Press(1981). 474 p.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>https://handbook-5-1.cochrane.org/chapter\_2/2\_3\_4\_1\_the\_importance\_of\_a\_ team.htm

- Knowler WC, Barrett-Connor E, Fowler SE, Hamman RF, Lachin JM, Walker EA, et al. Reduction in the incidence of type 2 diabetes with lifestyle intervention or metformin. N Engl J Med. (2002) 346:393–403. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa012512
- Hall KD, Guo J. Obesity energetics: body weight regulation and the effects of diet composition. *Gastroenterology*. (2017) 152:1718–27.e3. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2017.01.052
- Fontana L, Meyer TE, Klein S, Holloszy JO. Long-term calorie restriction is highly effective in reducing the risk for atherosclerosis in humans. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2004) 101:6659–63. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0308291101
- Chan JM, Rimm EB, Colditz GA, Stampfer MJ, Willett WC. Obesity, fat distribution, and weight gain as risk factors for clinical diabetes in men. *Diabetes Care*. (1994) 17:961–9. doi: 10.2337/diacare.17.9.961
- 7. Nutrition and Your Health. *Dietary Guidelines for Americans*. US Department of Agriculture and US Department of Health and Human Services (1980).
- Lustig RH, Schmidt LA, Brindis CD. Public health: the toxic truth about sugar. Nature. (2012) 482:27–9. doi: 10.1038/482027a
- 9. Johnson RJ, Perez-Pozo SE, Sautin YY, Manitius J, Sanchez-Lozada LG, Feig DI, et al. Hypothesis: could excessive fructose intake and uric acid cause type 2 diabetes? *Endocr Rev.* (2009) 30:96–116. doi: 10.1210/er.2008-0033
- 10. Taubes G. The Case Against Sugar First. Knopf (2016).
- Morenga LT, Mallard S, Mann J. Dietary sugars and body weight: systematic review and meta-analyses of randomised controlled trials and cohort studies. *BMJ*. (2013) 346:e7492. doi: 10.1136/bmj.e7492
- Sievenpiper JL, de Souza RJ, Mirrahimi A, Yu ME, Carleton AJ, Beyene J, et al. Effect of fructose on body weight in controlled feeding trials: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Ann Intern Med.* (2012) 156:291–304. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-156-4-201202210-00007
- Klein RG. The Human Career: Human Biological and Cultural Origins, 3rd ed. Chicago, IL: University Of Chicago Press (2009). 1024 p.
- Alinia S, Hels O, Tetens I. The potential association between fruit intake and body weight–a review. *Obes Rev Off J Int Assoc Study Obes*. (2009) 10:639–47. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-789X.2009.00582.x
- Ledoux TA, Hingle MD, Baranowski T. Relationship of fruit and vegetable intake with adiposity: a systematic review. Obes Rev Off J Int Assoc Study Obes. (2011) 12:e143–50. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-789X.2010.00786.x
- Sharma SP, Chung HJ, Kim HJ, Hong ST. Paradoxical effects of fruit on obesity. Nutrients. (2016) 8:633. doi: 10.3390/nu8100633
- Hebden L, O'Leary F, Rangan A, Singgih Lie E, Hirani V, Allman-Farinelli M. Fruit consumption and adiposity status in adults: a systematic review of current evidence. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr.* (2017) 57:2526–40. doi: 10.1080/10408398.2015.1012290
- Sartorelli DS, Franco LJ, Cardoso MA. High intake of fruits and vegetables predicts weight loss in Brazilian overweight adults. *Nutr Res.* (2008) 28:233–8. doi: 10.1016/j.nutres.2008.02.004
- Lamb MJE, Griffin SJ, Sharp SJ, Cooper AJM. Fruit and vegetable intake and cardiovascular risk factors in people with newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2017) 71:115–21. doi: 10.1038/ejcn.2016.180
- Linde JA, Utter J, Jeffery RW, Sherwood NE, Pronk NP, Boyle RG. Specific food intake, fat and fiber intake, and behavioral correlates of BMI among overweight and obese members of a managed care organization. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act.* (2006) 3:42. doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-3-42
- Garden FL, Marks GB, Almqvist C, Simpson JM, Webb KL. Infant and early childhood dietary predictors of overweight at age 8 years in the CAPS population. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2011) 65:454–62. doi: 10.1038/ejcn.2011.7
- Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG, PRISMA Group. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. *PLoS Med.* (2009) 6:e1000097. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000097
- IntHout J, Ioannidis JP, Borm GF. The Hartung-Knapp-Sidik-Jonkman method for random effects meta-analysis is straightforward and considerably outperforms the standard DerSimonian-Laird method. BMC Med Res Methodol. (2014) 14:25. doi: 10.1186/1471-2288-14-25
- 24. Singh RB, Rastogi SS, Singh R, Ghosh S, Niaz MA. Effects of guava intake on serum total and high-density lipoprotein cholesterol levels and on systemic blood pressure. *Am J Cardiol.* (1992) 70:1287–91. doi: 10.1016/0002-9149(92)90763-O
- 25. Singh RB, Rastogi SS, Singh R, Niaz MA, Singh NK, Madhu SV. Effects on plasma ascorbic acid and coronary risk factors of adding guava fruit to the

usual diet in hypertensives with mild to moderate. *J Nutr Environ Med.* (1997) 7:5–14. doi: 10.1080/13590849762754

- Conceição de Oliveira M, Sichieri R, Sanchez Moura A. Weight loss associated with a daily intake of three apples or three pears among overweight women. *Nutrition*. (2003) 19:253–6. doi: 10.1016/S0899-9007(02)00850-X
- Rodríguez MC, Parra MD, Marques-Lopes I, De Morentin BEM, González A, Martínez JA. Effects of two energy-restricted diets containing different fruit amounts on body weight loss and macronutrient oxidation. *Plant Foods Hum Nutr.* (2005) 60:219–24. doi: 10.1007/s11130-005-8622-2
- Fujioka K, Greenway F, Sheard J, Ying Y. The effects of grapefruit on weight and insulin resistance: relationship to the metabolic syndrome. *J Med Food*. (2006) 9:49–54. doi: 10.1089/jmf.2006.9.49
- Rush E, Ferguson LR, Cumin M, Thakur V, Karunasinghe N, Plank L. Kiwifruit consumption reduces DNA fragility: a randomized controlled pilot study in volunteers. *Nutr Res.* (2006) 26:197–201. doi: 10.1016/j.nutres.2006.05.002
- 30. Madero M, Arriaga JC, Jalal D, Rivard C, McFann K, Pérez-Méndez O, et al. The effect of two energy-restricted diets, a low-fructose diet versus a moderate natural fructose diet, on weight loss and metabolic syndrome parameters: a randomized controlled trial. *Metab Clin Exp.* (2011) 60:1551–9. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2011.04.001
- Dow CA, Going SB, Chow HHS, Patil BS, Thomson CA. The effects of daily consumption of grapefruit on body weight, lipids, and blood pressure in healthy, overweight adults. *Metab Clin Exp.* (2012) 61:1026–35. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2011.12.004
- 32. Ravn-Haren G, Dragsted LO, Buch-Andersen T, Jensen EN, Jensen RI, Németh-Balogh M, et al. Intake of whole apples or clear apple juice has contrasting effects on plasma lipids in healthy volunteers. *Eur J Nutr.* (2013) 52:1875–89. doi: 10.1007/s00394-012-0489-z
- 33. Agebratt C, Ström E, Romu T, Dahlqvist-Leinhard O, Borga M, Leandersson P, et al. A randomized study of the effects of additional fruit and nuts consumption on hepatic fat content, cardiovascular risk factors and basal metabolic rate. *PLoS ONE.* (2016) 11:e0147149. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0147149
- Kumari S, Rakavi R, Mangaraj M. Effect of guava in blood glucose and lipid profile in healthy human subjects: a randomized controlled study. *J Clin Diagn Res.* (2016) 10:BC04–7. doi: 10.7860/JCDR/2016/21291.8425
- Flood-Obbagy JE, Rolls BJ. The effect of fruit in different forms on energy intake and satiety at a meal. *Appetite*. (2009) 52:416–22. doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2008.12.001
- James LJ, Funnell MP, Milner S. An afternoon snack of berries reduces subsequent energy intake compared to an isoenergetic confectionary snack. *Appetite*. (2015) 95:132–7. doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2015.07.005
- Schulz M, Kroke A, Liese AD, Hoffmann K, Bergmann MM, Boeing H. Food groups as predictors for short-term weight changes in men and women of the EPIC-potsdam cohort. J Nutr. (2002) 132:1335–40. doi: 10.1093/jn/132.6.1335
- Field AE, Gillman MW, Rosner B, Rockett HR, Colditz GA. Association between fruit and vegetable intake and change in body mass index among a large sample of children and adolescents in the United States. *Int J Obes*. (2003) 27:821–6. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.0802297
- Newby PK, Peterson KE, Berkey CS, Leppert J, Willett WC, Colditz GA. Dietary composition and weight change among low-income preschool children. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. (2003) 157:759–64. doi: 10.1001/archpedi.157.8.759
- Drapeau V, Després JP, Bouchard C, Allard L, Fournier G, Leblanc C, et al. Modifications in food-group consumption are related to long-term body-weight changes. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2004) 80:29–37. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/ 80.1.29
- He K, Hu FB, Colditz GA, Manson JE, Willett WC, Liu S. Changes in intake of fruits and vegetables in relation to risk of obesity and weight gain among middle-aged women. *Int J Obes.* (2004) 28:1569–74. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.0802795
- 42. Koh-Banerjee P, Franz M, Sampson L, Liu S, Jacobs DR, Spiegelman D, et al. Changes in whole-grain, bran, and cereal fiber consumption in relation to 8-y weight gain among men. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2004) 80:1237–45. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/80.5.1237
- 43. Nooyens AC, Visscher TL, Schuit AJ, van Rossum CT, Verschuren WM, van Mechelen W, et al. Effects of retirement on lifestyle in relation to changes in

weight and waist circumference in Dutch men: a prospective study. *Public Health Nutr.* (2005) 8:1266–74. doi: 10.1079/PHN2005756

- Sánchez-Villegas A, Bes-Rastrollo M, Martínez-González MA, Serra-Majem L. Adherence to a mediterranean dietary pattern and weight gain in a follow-up study: the SUN cohort. *Int J Obes.* (2006) 30:350–8. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.0803118
- 45. te Velde SJ, Twisk JWR, Brug J. Tracking of fruit and vegetable consumption from adolescence into adulthood and its longitudinal association with overweight. *Br J Nutr.* (2007) 98:431–8. doi: 10.1017/S0007114507721451
- Vioque J, Weinbrenner T, Castelló A, Asensio L, Hera MG de la. Intake of fruits and vegetables in relation to 10-year weight gain among spanish adults. *Obesity*. (2008) 16:664–70. doi: 10.1038/oby.2007.121
- 47. Buijsse B, Feskens EJ, Schulze MB, Forouhi NG, Wareham NJ, Sharp S, et al. Fruit and vegetable intakes and subsequent changes in body weight in European populations: results from the project on Diet, Obesity, and Genes (DiOGenes). Am J Clin Nutr. (2009) 90:202–9. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.2008.27394
- Halkjær J, Tjønneland A, Overvad K, Sørensen TIA. Dietary predictors of 5year changes in waist circumference. J Acad Nutr Diet. (2009) 109:1356–66. doi: 10.1016/j.jada.2009.05.015
- Berz JPB, Singer MR, Guo X, Daniels SR, Moore LL. Use of a DASH food group score to predict excess weight gain in adolescent girls in the national growth and health study. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med.* (2011) 165:540–6. doi: 10.1001/archpediatrics.2011.71
- Mozaffarian D, Hao T, Rimm EB, Willett WC, Hu FB. Changes in diet and lifestyle and long-term weight gain in women and men. *N Engl J Med.* (2011) 364:2392–404. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1014296
- Romaguera D, Ängquist L, Du H, Jakobsen MU, Forouhi NG, Halkjær J, et al. Food Composition of the diet in relation to changes in waist circumference adjusted for body mass index. *PLoS ONE.* (2011) 6:e23384. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0023384
- Mirmiran P, Bahadoran Z, Golzarand M, Shiva N, Azizi F. Association between dietary phytochemical index and 3-year changes in weight, waist circumference and body adiposity index in adults: tehran Lipid and Glucose study. *Nutr Metab.* (2012) 9:108. doi: 10.1186/1743-7075-9-108
- 53. Vergnaud AC, Norat T, Romaguera D, Mouw T, May AM, Romieu I, et al. Fruit and vegetable consumption and prospective weight change in participants of the European prospective investigation into cancer and nutrition-physical activity, nutrition, alcohol, cessation of smoking, eating out of home, and obesity study. Am J Clin Nutr. (2012) 95:184–93. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.111.019968
- Bayer O, Nehring I, Bolte G, von Kries R. Fruit and vegetable consumption and BMI change in primary school-age children: a cohort study. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2014) 68:265–70. doi: 10.1038/ejcn.2013.139
- 55. Bertoia ML, Mukamal KJ, Cahill LE, Hou T, Ludwig DS, Mozaffarian D, et al. Changes in intake of fruits and vegetables and weight change in united states men and women followed for Up to 24 Years: analysis from three prospective cohort studies. *PLoS Med.* (2015) 12:e1001878. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1001878
- 56. de Munter JS, Tynelius P, Magnusson C, Rasmussen F. Longitudinal analysis of lifestyle habits in relation to body mass index, onset of overweight and obesity: results from a large population-based cohort in Sweden. *Scand J Public Health.* (2015) 43:236–45. doi: 10.1177/1403494815569865
- 57. Rautiainen S, Wang L, Lee IM, Manson JE, Buring JE, Sesso HD. Higher intake of fruit, but not vegetables or fiber, at baseline is associated with lower risk of

becoming overweight or obese in middle-aged and older women of normal BMI at baseline. J Nutr. (2015) 145:960–8. doi: 10.3945/jn.114.199158

- Hur YI, Park H, Kang JH, Lee HA, Song HJ, Lee HJ, et al. Associations between sugar intake from different food sources and adiposity or cardio-metabolic risk in childhood and adolescence: the korean child-adolescent cohort study. *Nutrients*. (2016) 8:20. doi: 10.3390/nu8010020
- Bel-Serrat S, Heinen MM, Mehegan J, O'Brien S, Eldin N, Murrin CM, et al. Predictors of weight status in school-aged children: a prospective cohort study. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2018) 1. doi: 10.1038/s41430-018-0359-8. [Epub ahead of print].
- Mumena WA, Francis-Granderson I, Phillip LE, Gray-Donald K. Rapid increase of overweight and obesity among primary school-aged children in the Caribbean; high initial BMI is the most significant predictor. *BMC Obes.* (2018) 5:4. doi: 10.1186/s40608-018-0182-8
- Okop KJ, Lambert EV, Alaba O, Levitt NS, Luke A, Dugas L, et al. Sugarsweetened beverage intake and relative weight gain among South African adults living in resource-poor communities: longitudinal data from the STOP-SA study. *Int J Obes.* (2018) 43:603–14. doi: 10.1038/s41366-018-0216-9
- Hu FB, Rimm E, Smith-Warner SA, Feskanich D, Stampfer MJ, Ascherio A, et al. Reproducibility and validity of dietary patterns assessed with a food-frequency questionnaire. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (1999) 69:243–9. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/69.2.243
- Martin LJ, Lee SY, Couch SC, Morrison J, Woo JG. Shared genetic contributions of fruit and vegetable consumption with BMI in families 20 y after sharing a household. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2011) 94:1138–43. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.111.015461
- Ioannidis JPA. The challenge of reforming nutritional epidemiologic research. JAMA. (2018) 320:969–70. doi: 10.1001/jama.2018.11025
- 65. Pan A, Malik VS, Hao T, Willett WC, Mozaffarian D, Hu FB. Changes in water and beverage intake and long-term weight changes: results from three prospective cohort studies. *Int J Obes.* (2013) 37:1378–85. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2012.22538
- 2015–2020 Dietary Guidelines Health.gov. Available online at: https://health.gov/dietaryguidelines/2015/guidelines/ (accessed March 29, 2019)
- 67. World Health Organization. Food Based Dietary Guidelines in the WHO European Region (2003).

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** This research was not conducted in association with any public or private organization. SG is the author of a general-audience book on the neurobiology of overeating, The Hungry Brain, which does not currently yield royalties but may in the future. This book mentions fruit but does not place a special emphasis on it. SG is the co-creator of a weight management program, the Ideal Weight Program, from which he receives revenue. This program permits the consumption of fruit but does not place a special emphasis on it.

Copyright © 2019 Guyenet. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# An Intensive Lifestyle Intervention to Treat Type 2 Diabetes in the Republic of the Marshall Islands: Protocol for a Randomized Controlled Trial

Brenda C. Davis<sup>1</sup>, Humaira Jamshed<sup>2</sup>, Courtney M. Peterson<sup>2</sup>, Joan Sabaté<sup>3</sup>, Ralph D. Harris<sup>4</sup>, Rohit Koratkar<sup>2</sup>, Jamie W. Spence<sup>5</sup> and John H. Kelly Jr.<sup>6,7\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Brenda Davis Nutrition Consultation Services, Kelowna, BC, Canada, <sup>2</sup> Department of Nutrition Sciences, University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham, AL, United States, <sup>3</sup> School of Public Health, Center for Nutrition, Lifestyle, and Disease Prevention, Loma Linda University, Loma Linda, CA, United States, <sup>4</sup> The Meridian Senior Retirement Center, San Marcos, CA, United States, <sup>5</sup> Canvasback Missions, Inc., Benicia, CA, United States, <sup>6</sup> Department of Preventive Medicine, School of Medicine, Loma Linda University, Loma Linda, CA, United States, <sup>7</sup> Black Hills Lifestyle Medicine Center, Hermosa, SD, United States

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Hana Kahleova, Physicians Committee for Responsible Medicine, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Nada Benajiba, Princess Nourah bint Abdulrahman University, Saudi Arabia Sergio Davinelli, University of Molise, Italy

> \*Correspondence: John H. Kelly Jr. jhkelly@bhhec.org

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Clinical Nutrition, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

**Received:** 04 March 2019 **Accepted:** 15 May 2019 **Published:** 05 June 2019

#### Citation:

Davis BC, Jamshed H, Peterson CM, Sabaté J, Harris RD, Koratkar R, Spence JW and Kelly JH Jr (2019) An Intensive Lifestyle Intervention to Treat Type 2 Diabetes in the Republic of the Marshall Islands: Protocol for a Randomized Controlled Trial. Front. Nutr. 6:79. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2019.00079 **Background:** The Republic of the Marshall Islands has the highest prevalence of type 2 diabetes (T2D) in the world, with the country's rapid rise of T2D attributed to its reliance on imported and refined foods laden with salt, sugar, and fat. As much as lifestyle factors can increase the risk of T2D, they can also reverse or treat the disease, with multiple studies demonstrating that plant-based diets and/or moderate exercise improve glycemic control and cardiovascular risk factors in T2D patients.

**Objective:** We therefore tested the hypothesis that a community-based, intensive, plant-rich lifestyle intervention with exercise is more effective for treating and managing T2D in the Republic of the Marshall Islands than the standard of diabetes care.

**Methods:** Building on a successful lifestyle program used at the Guam Seventh-day Adventist Clinic, we conducted a randomized controlled trial to test the effectiveness of an intensive lifestyle intervention involving a plant-rich diet and moderate exercise or the standard of care in T2D patients for 24 weeks. In this manuscript, we describe the clinical trial protocol, including the rationale, design, and methods of the clinical trial and the lifestyle program. The lifestyle intervention included a step-wise, intensive 12-week program of counseling and instruction on healthy eating, exercise, and stress management. The prescribed diet focused on high-fiber, whole plant foods, with foods grouped into a four-tiered system. The lifestyle intervention also involved hands-on cooking classes, meals prepared for participants, and group exercise classes—all tailored to be culturally appropriate. The study's main endpoints were glycemic control and cardiovascular disease risk factors.

**Discussion:** The present study is the first randomized clinical trial conducted in the Republic of the Marshall Islands and the first lifestyle intervention trial conducted in

Micronesia. The results of this study will help guide future medical care for indigenous populations in the Pacific Islands and will also shed light on how to effectively design and deliver intensive lifestyle interventions to treat and manage diabetes.

Clinical Trials Registration: www.ClinicalTrials.gov; identifier NCT03862963

Keywords: type 2 diabetes, lifestyle intervention, plant-based diet, exercise, Republic of the Marshall Islands

## INTRODUCTION

Diabetes is a rising epidemic. More than 420 million people worldwide have the disease (1), and new estimates suggest that diabetes now afflicts about 9.4% of Americans (2). Yet, in some countries, such as within the Pacific Islands and Micronesia, the prevalence of diabetes among adults is as high as 25-31% (3).

The Republic of the Marshall Islands (RMI) has the highest prevalence of diabetes in the world, where the disease afflicts almost one-third (31.4%) of all adults aged 18–99 years (3). The explosion in diabetes rates in the RMI is a relatively recent phenomenon. In the 1950's, only three people in the RMI were known to have the disease, according to an oral report by an RMI health official in 2005. By the 1990's, the prevalence had reached 30% (4). Now, more than half of all hospital admissions in the capital city of Majuro are due to diabetes (5), and 60% of deaths in adults under the age of 60 years are attributed to the disease and its related comorbidities (5). The epidemic has been attributed to the growing population, which has strained supplies of healthier indigenous foods and increased the reliance on imported goods such as flour, rice, and foods high in salt, sugar, and fats (6).

To combat the growing global diabetes epidemic, the American Diabetes Association has called for increased use of lifestyle interventions as part of primary care (7). Indeed, dietary interventions can lower hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) by 0.5-2.0% (7), with several trials reporting values between 1.0 and 3.4% (8-20) as well as reductions in hyperglycemic medications and/or even T2D remission (8, 10-12, 15, 17, 19, 21-27). In particular, several trials suggest that vegetarian and vegan low-fat diets are superior to conventional diets for lowering glucose, HbA1c, and insulin levels; decreasing diabetes medication dosages; and reducing diabetes complications, such as neuropathy, in T2D patients (12, 19, 20, 22, 26-40). This is corroborated by prospective cohort studies, such as the Nurses' Health Study and Adventist Health Study-2, which report that plant-based diets reduce the risk of developing type 2 diabetes by about half (41-45). Moreover, among populations such as the Seventh-day Adventists, the prevalence of diabetes among vegans is as low as 0.22 times that among non-vegetarians (45, 46). Plant-based diets have also been found to improve lipids, renovascular health, and

oxidative stress levels in adults with T2D more effectively than conventional diets (12, 19, 22, 26, 28, 31-35, 38, 47). Plant-based diets likely mediate these effects through multiple mechanisms (47-49), including through improvements in body weight and visceral fat [e.g., (32, 36, 50, 51)]; insulin sensitivity and beta-cell function (32, 39, 52, 53); incretins and gastrointestinal hormones (39, 52); oxidative stress (32); phytochemical intake [including polyphenols and plant sterols (49, 54)]; fiber and prebiotic intake, which positively modulate gut microbiota (55); lower oxidant intake (such as heme iron) (49); and increased wellbeing (37). Lifestyle interventions that combine plant-diets with regular exercise may be even more effective. Coupling a plantbased diet with exercise significantly reduces the incidence of diabetes in glucose-impaired individuals (56, 57), and clinical trials show that the combination is effective for treating diabetes, cardiovascular disease, obesity, and other chronic conditions (32, 58-64). To date, however, only one previous clinical trial has combined a plant-rich diet with exercise for treating T2D (65).

Despite the promise of such lifestyle interventions, implementing them in indigenous populations such as the RMI presents unique challenges. Research has shown that such interventions are more effective when they are culturallysensitive and delivered to communities, rather than to individuals or families (66). In the late 1990's, Canvasback Missions, Inc., recognized the need for such interventions in the RMI and conducted two lifestyle intervention programs with excellent results, using a modified version of the NEWSTART<sup>®</sup> wellness program operated by the Guam Seventh-day Adventist Clinic (67). The program emphasizes a whole-food, plant-rich diet with moderate exercise and is used to treat T2D, obesity, and other chronic diseases. Although no studies have been published on the intervention, Guam physicians have found it effective and continue to refer their patients to wellness centers (68).

Building on the success of these lifestyle intervention programs in Guam and the RMI, we designed and conducted the first randomized controlled trial to rigorously evaluate whether a comprehensive, culturally-sensitive, lifestyle intervention program can treat T2D in the RMI. The goal of the study was to determine the effectiveness of an intensive lifestyle intervention consisting of a mostly plant-based diet and regular moderate exercise in Marshall Islanders with T2D. The present study was also the first randomized clinical trial ever conducted in the RMI and the first lifestyle intervention trial ever conducted in Micronesia. The primary aim was to determine whether the lifestyle intervention can improve glycemic control. The primary endpoints included fasting glucose, fasting insulin, HbA1c, insulin resistance as measured by the Homeostatic

Abbreviations: T2D, Type 2 diabetes; RMI, Republic of the Marshall Islands; BMI, body mass index; HbA1c, hemoglobin A1c; HOMA-IR, Homeostatic Model Assessment of Insulin Resistance; hs-CRP, high-sensitivity-C-reactive protein; MOH, Ministry of Health; DWC, Diabetes Wellness Clinic; NEWSTART, Nutrition, Exercise, Water, Sunshine, Temperance, Air, Rest, and Trust in divine power.

Model Assessment of Insulin Resistance (HOMA-IR), and usage of diabetes medications. The secondary aim was to determine whether the lifestyle intervention could improve cardiovascular risk factors, including lipids, blood pressure, heart rate, highsensitivity C-reactive protein (hs-CRP), body weight, body mass index (BMI), and waist circumference. We hypothesized that study participants would be able to make sufficient lifestyle changes—including by modifying their diet and increasing their physical activity—to achieve clinically meaningful improvements in glycemic control and cardiovascular risk factors, relative to the control group.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

# **Study Design**

#### **Study Overview**

This trial was conducted in partnership with the RMI's Ministry of Health (MOH). The study was designed as an open-label, parallel-arm, randomized controlled trial and was conducted at the MOH's Diabetes Wellness Center (DWC) in the city of Majuro in the RMI. Adults with T2D were randomized to receive either the standard of diabetes care (control group) or a lifestyle intervention comprising a whole-foods, largely plant-based diet combined with increased physical activity (intervention group). The intervention group received intensive counseling, support, and group sessions over a 12-week period and then continued the lifestyle intervention on their own for the remainder of the 24-week intervention. Health outcomes were assessed at weeks 0 (baseline), 2, 6, 12, and 24. At the end of the study intervention, those who were randomized to the control group were offered the option to crossover to the experimental arm and complete the lifestyle program. The study was approved by the Loma Linda University Institutional Review Board (IRB #: 59105) and an ad-hoc Institutional Review Board in the RMI that was set-up specifically for the trial. The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. All participants provided written informed consent prior to enrolling in the study and were given a stipend for their participation. Due to the nature of the intervention, the study was not blinded.

#### Recruitment

During year 1 of the study, participants were initially recruited from the general public. Two local leaders assisted in building interest among and recruiting Majuro residents. During year 2, participants were recruited both from the general public and from the MOH Diabetes Clinic through its diabetes registry. Of those screened, 18% or 31 out of 169 eligible participants dropped from the trial before beginning the intervention. The first cohort began the study intervention in June 2006 and the last cohort began in July 2008. Due to a lack of funding after the clinical trial ended, the study data was not analyzed and published until the present.

## **Eligibility Criteria**

Recruited individuals were screened against a series of inclusion and exclusion criteria. The inclusion criteria were: (1) resident of RMI, (2) aged 18–75 years, (3) HbA1c  $\geq$  8.0% or diagnosed

with T2D and taking diabetes medication, and (4) medical clearance to participate from DWC physicians. The exclusion criteria included (1) recent ( $\leq$ 3 months) change in a diabetes-related medication dosage, (2) a physical or medical condition that would impede participation in the lifestyle intervention (e.g., wheel-chair bound, unstable angina), (3) evidence of significant coronary heart disease, and (4) previous participation in an intensive lifestyle intervention. There were no eligibility criteria related to BMI.

#### Screening

Prospective participants were screened during a single in-person visit, which included a review of their medical history, physical fitness testing, a dietary assessment based primarily on a food frequency questionnaire, and fasting blood draws to measure glucose and HbA1c. Screening was performed at the DWC. To ensure suitability for the exercise portion of the intervention, participants were queried about their cardiovascular fitness and history. Those with ischemic heart disease were required to have special clearance from their physician. A physician reviewed all dietary, medication, and medical history data for medical clearance. Individuals who passed the screening process later attended an oral presentation explaining the study. During these group sessions, the study was explained to the participants in detail. Translators were assigned by the MOH to explain the study to participants who did not understand English. Interested participants then read and signed the informed consent in English or their native language.

#### Randomization

Following enrollment, participants were randomized to the two groups. Spouses who enrolled in the trial were randomized in pairs to keep them together. Non-eligible spouses were encouraged to attend counseling sessions but were not enrolled in the study.

#### Cohorts

Participants were enrolled in five overlapping cohorts, with each cohort including both a control and intervention group (described below). Within each cohort, participants were randomized to one of the two groups in approximately equal numbers. The cohorts were spread over a two-year period, with Cohorts 1 and 2 finishing in year 1 and Cohorts 3-5 finishing in year 2. The cohorts 1-5 consisted of 27 (13 in the intervention group vs. 14 controls), 41 (21 vs. 20), 31 (9 vs. 22), 27 (14 vs. 13), and 43 (22 vs. 21) participants, respectively. The control arm received the usual standard of diabetes care, while the intervention arm received a lifestyle intervention. Unfortunately, not all participants in the control group in year 1 sought and received the usual standard of care for diabetes treatment as instructed, so starting in year 2, participants were primarily recruited from the MOH Diabetes Clinic, in order to ensure that the control group was compliant with the standard of care. Furthermore, to improve the delivery of the intervention, Cohorts 3-5 received an enhanced version of the lifestyle intervention. The enhanced version was identical to the standard version of the intervention, with the exception of more patient education and contact during weeks 4 and 6 of the study. The nature of the dietary and exercise intervention itself was not changed and did not vary across cohorts.

# Study Intervention

#### Usual Diabetes Care

The control group received the standard of diabetes care in the RMI, which consisted of the standard treatment protocols used by the MOH Diabetes Clinic. These included placing T2D patients on anti-hyperglycemic agents appropriate to their HbA1c levels (including sulfonylureas, metformin, and insulin) and providing oral and written information about the importance of maintaining a healthy weight, eating a healthy diet, and getting regular exercise. Participants in the control group were instructed not to make changes in their diet and activity levels during the study.

#### Lifestyle Intervention

The lifestyle intervention consisted of a high-fiber, low-fat, mostly plant-based diet, and moderate exercise. Participants initially received 12 weeks of group educational classes and meals prepared by the DWC Wellness Kitchen and then followed the lifestyle intervention on their own for the remaining 12 weeks (**Table 1**). Group classes included informative sessions on healthy eating, exercise (both aerobic and strength training), and stress management, as well as hands-on cooking classes. Classes were delivered as a combination of PowerPoint presentations, practical workshops, dine-outs, shopping tours, and cooking classes with spouses. To foster access to affordable produce, participants were also taught by soil and gardening experts how to grow their own vegetables and were taken on agricultural field trips.

The initial 12-week program was structured as follows. During the first 2-week intensive phase, participants in all cohorts attended 5-6 h/day of group classes on Mondays-Thursdays (4 days/week) at the DWC, totaling 36 h of health education over the first two weeks. Figure 1 displays the schedule for the intensive phase. On clinic days, group sessions included 1 h/day of exercise, and participants were fed 3 meals/day made by the DWC Kitchen, according to the menus shown in Table 2. Participants ate breakfast at the DWC and took lunch boxes with them to eat at work or at home. The participants then returned to the DWC for a 5-h session from 3:00 to 8:00 p.m., where they helped prepare the meals and then ate dinner. Participants prepared the main dish, and the kitchen staff made the side dishes (e.g., green salad). During weeks 3-6, participants who received the standard version of the intervention (Cohorts 1-2) spent 4-5 h twice per week (Tuesdays and Thursdays) in group sessions, including 60 min/day of structured exercise, a 10-20min walk after each meal, and also consumed an evening meal provided by the DWC Wellness Kitchen (see menus in Table 3). For those receiving the enhanced version of the intervention (Cohorts 3-5), weeks 4 and 6 of the standard intervention were replaced with weeks 1 and 2 to increase the intensity of instruction, as shown in Table 1. During weeks 7-12 of the program, participants in all cohorts participated in a 4-5 h once per week session with structured exercise and group classes and were provided an evening meal. Finally, during the last 12 weeks of the trial (weeks 13–24), no instruction or counseling was provided, and participants came to the center weekly to turn in their pedometer readings.

#### Diet

The dietary intervention was adapted from the NEWSTART<sup>®</sup> program (67), a plant-based diet used by the Guam Seventh-day Adventist Clinic Wellness Center, and from concepts presented in the book Defeating Diabetes (69). (NEWSTART<sup>®</sup> stands for Nutrition, Exercise, Water, Sunshine, Temperance, Air, Rest, and Trust in divine power.) The diet used in this trial was mostly plant-based and emphasized whole plant foods, high fiber intake (roughly 35 g fiber per 1,000 kcal), low fat intake (20-25% of energy intake), moderate protein intake (10-15% of energy intake), and moderate sodium intake (<2,400 mg/day) while encouraging local cuisine (70). The diet was designed to be high in phytochemicals and antioxidants, low in dietary oxidants, and to have a low glycemic load. Concentrated fats and oils were minimized, and only fat from healthy sources was permitted. Saturated fat was limited to <7% of caloric intake, and no trans fatty acids were permitted. The diet included sufficient omega-3 fatty acids sourced from plants (primarily ground flaxseeds and walnuts), and fish, for those who chose to include it at home after the 2-week intensive phase of the intervention.

In the first 2 weeks of the dietary intervention (the intensive phase), participants consumed a 100% plant-based diet that minimized ground grains (e.g., flour, pasta, bread) and refined carbohydrates (e.g., refined sugar and starches). Also during the intensive phase, participants consumed 12 meals/week that were prepared for them by the DWC's Wellness Kitchen (see menus in **Table 2**), and they were instructed not to eat any outside food or snacks the remainder of those days. After the 2-week 100% plant-based phase, participants were allowed to consume boiled, steamed, or grilled fish or seafood if desired, and they continued to eat a smaller number of meals provided by the DWC (see **Tables 2**, **3**).

When not eating meals prepared by the DWC, participants were counseled to make healthy food choices on their own using a tiered food classification system, with foods classified into four groups: 1st, 2nd, 3rd, and 4th classes (Table 4). Participants were encouraged to eat freely from the 1st class, moderately from the 2nd class, and sparingly from the 3rd class, and to completely avoid items in the 4th class. The food classification system encouraged participants to eat mostly first-class foods (75-100% of daily calories), which were defined as unprocessed, whole plant foods. To maximize nutrient density and reduce glycemic load, the first class category emphasized non-starchy vegetables, legumes, and foods rich in viscous fiber (e.g., ground flaxseed, psyllium, oats, barley, beans, and some vegetables and fruits, such as sweet potatoes, local pumpkin, turnips, and citrus fruits). Second-class foods-defined as minimally processed products such as non-dairy milks, meat substitutes, canned vegetables, and whole grain flour products-were permitted but used less often. Third-class foods included moderately processed foods, such as processed whole grains (e.g., flaked and puffed cereals) and white flour products, and animal products with moderate fat content. Fish that was not fried was permitted after the intensive phase

Standard version	Enhanced version	Frequency	Meals/day	Group classes	Exercise
Weeks 1–2	Weeks 1–2, 4, and 6	1 dava/waak	2	5–6 h	1 b
Weeks 3–6	Weeks 3 and 5	4 days/week 2 days/week	1	4–5 h	1 h 30–60 min
Weeks 7–12	Weeks 7-12	1 day/week	1	4–5 h	30–60 min
Weeks 13–24	Weeks 13-24	1 day/week	0	Turn in Pedomet	er Readings

The standard and enhanced versions of the lifestyle intervention differ only during weeks 4 and 6.

Time 7:00	Day 1	Day 2	Day 3	Day 4	Friday to	Day 5	Day 6	Day 7	Day 8	Friday to	Day 9		Day 10
7.00	Monday	Tuesday	Wednesday	Thursday	Sunday	Monday	Tuesday	Wednesday	Thursday	Monday	Tuesday	Wed.	Tuesday
7:001			Glucometer 1	/	7:00		,	Glucometer 1	,	1	, accady	ai	, accuaj
7:20			cise AM Gluco		7:20			cise AM Gluco		1			
8:00		Breakfas	st Served		8:00		Breakfa	st Served		1			
8:45	Meal I	nstruction / B	ox Lunch Dist	ributed	8:45	Meal I	nstruction / B	lox Lunch Dist	ributed	1			
9:00		Personal Day	time Schedul	Э	9:00		Personal Day	/time Schedule	Э	-			
	(incl.	nutritional cor	nsult appointn	nents)		(incl.	nutritional co	nsult appointn	nents)				
15:00	Pi	re-exercise P	M Glucomete	r 3	15:00	P	re-exercise P	M Glucometer	r 3	16:00	Pre-exercis	e PM G	lucometer 1
15:20	Group	Group	Group	Group	15:20	Group	Group	Group	Group	16:30			
	Education:	Education:	Education:	Education:		Education:	Education:	Education:	Education:				
	Why exercise?	Exercise & inactivity	Interval training #1	Interval training #2		Muscle and fat loss	Exercise & aging	Exercise guidelines	Why exercise?				
15:30		Group Exerc	ů – Š	training #2	15:30	1033	00	sise Sessions:		-		Exercise	e
15.50			Weights (F)	Aeorobics (F)	15.50	Weights (F)		Weights (F)	Aeorobics (F)				
	Circuit or	Weights (M)	Circuit or	Weights (M)		Circuit or	Weights (M)	Circuit or	Weights (M)				
	Theraband (M)	• • • •	Theraband (M)			Theraband (M)		Theraband (M)					
16:30	Po	st-exercise P	M Glucomete	r 4	16:30	Po	ost-exercise F	PM Glucomete	r 4	17:00	Post-exerci	se PM 0	Glucometer 2
16:45		Cookin	g Class		16:45		Cookir	ng Class		17:15	Co	oking C	lass
18:00		Su	oper		18:00		Su	pper		18:00		Supper	r
18:45		After Sup	oper Walk		18:45		After Su	pper Walk		18:45		Supper	· Walk
19:00		Group	Group	Group	19:00		Group	Group	Group	19:00			Group
	Education:	Education:	Education:	Education:		Education:	Education:	Education:	Education:		Education:		Education:
	What is Diabetes?	Clinical signs and symptoms	Lifestyle medicine and	Link between diet and		Diet & Diabetes	Diet & Diabetes	Diabetes lab tests and blood	Bringing the program		The Diabetes Wellness		Stress management
	Definitions &	Complications	diabetes	diabetes		Lecture #1:	Lecture #2:	sugar	home/taking		Program		and diabetes
	classifications	and diagnosis	0.000100			The most	The most	monitoring	personal		dietary and		
		of diabetes		Obesity and	19:20	healthful foods	harmful foods		responsibility		lifestyle		
19.30	What causes	Stages of high	Lifestyle and	diabetes	10.20	and dietary	and dietary	Lifestyle and	for health		principles		
	diabetes?	blood sugar. Is		The Diabetes	19:40	components	components	diabetes	(brand new car comparison)				
		diabetes	program	Wellness	10.10			program	companson)				
	resistance, pre-	reversible?	graduates	Program diet				graduates					
	diabetes risk, and factors;	Treatment of diabetes &	share experiences	Food classes				share experiences					
	metabolic	restoring	experiences					experiences					
	syndrome	insulin											
		sensitivity											
20:00	P	ost-supper Pl	VI Glucometer	5	20:00	P	ost-supper P	M Glucometer	5	20:00	Post-suppe	er PM G	lucometer 3
20:30		De	part		20:30		De	epart		20:30		Depart	
•					_								
GURE	1   Schedule	es for the firs	t 3 weeks of	the lifestyle ir	nterventior	٦.							

of the program, and non-fish animal products—such as poultry, eggs from local chickens, and lower-fat dairy—were permitted, but participants were encouraged to minimize consumption of these foods. Fourth-class foods—such as beverages with added sugar, processed meat, fried foods, fast foods, and confections were prohibited. Within all food categories, lower glycemic index foods were selected. For example, barley was emphasized in the grain group, as it has the lowest glycemic index of all grains. Portions of concentrated carbohydrate foods such as whole grains and starchy vegetables were controlled, and portion sizes of very high-fat foods such as nuts, seeds, and coconut were small to help keep calories controlled.

#### Exercise

Participants were asked to exercise at least 30-60 min per day throughout the study, which included both solo exercise and

structured group exercise classes that decreased in intensity as the study proceeded (Table 1). The structured group exercise included culturally acceptable physical activities as determined by focus groups. Group exercise included walking, calisthenics, elastic-band resistance training, Marshallese-style dance classes, and use of gym equipment, such as treadmills, cardio gliders, rowing machines, and free weights. During the 2-week intensive phase of the intervention, participants attended a 1-h group exercise class 4 days per week and completed 2 daily walks on their own, with one before breakfast and one after lunch. They also completed one daily walk as a group after dinner. Each after-meal walk was 10-20 min. On non-clinic days, participants exercised solo. They were encouraged to exercise at the clinic when possible, and when not possible, they were asked to use their therabands and to exercise for at least 30-60 min at home. After the

#### TABLE 2 | Study menus for weeks 1-2.

	Breakfast	Lunch	Dinner
WEEK 1			
Monday	Not provided	Salad bar Sesame tahini dressing Pumpkin and/or breadfruit and red bean salad Cream of broccoli soup	*Crispy tofu fingers *Spicy eggplant Fresh fruit or vegetables
Tuesday	*Pineapple and coconut muesli *Beans and greens Ground flax Soymilk Jelée parfait	Salad bar Italian dressing Five-bean salad Spiral noodle salad Pea soup	*Garbanzo à la king Fresh fruit or vegetables
Wednesday	*Kamut/barley cereal Beans and greens Walnuts Ground flax Soymilk *Jelée parfait	Gado gado Savory tofu Steamed breadfruit cubes Bean and barley soup	*Papaya or pumpkin stew Fresh fruit or vegetables
Thursday	*Oatmeal *Crunchy granola Ground flax Beans and greens Soymilk Jelée parfait	Salad bar Creamy dill dressing Sesame crackers "Eggless" egg salad Hummus Lentil soup	*Chili Fresh fruit or vegetables
Friday	*Creamy barley cereal *Easy beans/greens Walnuts Ground flax Soymilk Jelée parfait	Not provided	Not provided
WEEK 2			
Monday	Not provided	Salad bar Yam, black bean, and greens salad with balsamic vinaigrette Cabbage soup	*Garbanzo kelel *Cabbage salad Fresh fruit
Tuesday	*Apple raisin muesli Ground flax Easy beans/greens Soymilk Jelée parfait	Salad bar Thousand Island dressing Rice and lentil salad Black bean and corn soup	*Ma stew Fresh fruit or vegetables
Wednesday	*Creamy barley cereal Walnuts Ground flax Beans and greens Soymilk *Jelée parfait	Salad bar Sesame dressing Thai noodle salad Oriental cabbage salad Eggplant black-eyed pea soup	*Tofu or vegetable stir fry *Long beans in black bean sauce Fresh fruit or vegetables
Thursday	*Multigrain cereal Ground flax Beans and greens Soymilk Jelée parfait	Tropical haystacks (rice, pinto beans, lettuce/cabbage, peppers, peanuts, coconut, and pineapple) Golden sauce Pumpkin ginger soup	*Lentil loaf *Mushroom gravy <sup>+</sup> Roasted vegetables Fresh fruit or vegetables
Friday	*Scrambled tofu with peppers, onions, and greens Easy oat burgers Jelée parfait	Not provided	Not provided

\*Recipes prepared by participants. +Recipes demonstrated to participants

2-week intensive phase, participants attended 60-min exercise group classes on clinic days and were counseled to exercise on their own on non-clinic days. They were also advised to continue with their daily walks (including 10–20 min walks after each meal) and to attend group fitness classes (such as dance classes).

#### TABLE 3 | Study menus for weeks 3-12.

	Tuesday dinner	Thursday dinner
Week 3	Green salad <sup>+</sup> Balsamic vinaigrette *Creole <sup>+</sup> Barley	Promotion night Finger food provided by Diabetes Wellness Center, including breadfruit wedges and taro squares
Week 4 (standard version only)	Green salad *Thousand Island dressing *Vegetable and bean stew	Green salad <sup>+</sup> Italian dressing *Pasta primavera <sup>+</sup> Spicy roasted chickpeas
Week 5	Potluck and/or games night (all groups)	*Red lentil soup *Mexi dip <sup>+</sup> Pita wedges Raw vegetables <sup>+</sup> Banana bread
Week 6 (standard version only)	Cucumber salad Wet pumpkin curry Brown rice <sup>+</sup> Banana ice cream	Green salad Balsamic vinaigrette *Bean burger +Whole-wheat bread or rolls
ONCE-A-WEEK	DINNER	
Week 7	Green salad <sup>+</sup> Tahini dressing *African stew <sup>+</sup> Barley	
Week 8	Green salad Italian dressing *Polynesian beans and vegetables *Polynesian fruit bars	
Week 9	Asian salad Sesame or ginger dressing *Tofu triangles with mushrooms *Brown rice	
Week 10	Papaya salad <sup>+</sup> Coconut mayonnaise *Stewed beans *International greens *Cornbread	
Week 11	Green salad <sup>+</sup> Creamy dill dressing *Tamale pie <sup>+</sup> Brownie bars or banana carob cake	
Week 12	Green salad <sup>+</sup> Oil and vinegar dressing *Sweet and sour tofu Brown rice <sup>+</sup> Peru pudding	

The menus for weeks 3–12 were the same for both the standard and enhanced versions of the intensive lifestyle intervention, with the exception that the weeks 1 and 2 menus were used for weeks 4 and 6, respectively, of the enhanced version of the intervention. \*Recipes prepared by participants. +Recipes demonstrated to participants.

#### Stress Management

Participants in the intervention group were also provided with stress counseling and management activities, such as deep breathing, stretching, and words of encouragement. They were provided a lecture on suggestions for handling stressful situations and getting support.

#### **Cultural Adaptation**

The intervention was delivered in a culturally-sensitive manner by trained indigenous Marshallese and Canvasback Missions staff. Prior to designing the intervention, Canvasback Missions had more than 20 years of experience working with the Marshallese people and government, including operating NEWSTART lifestyle programs. The intervention was designed in partnership with the RMI MOH. The study team met with the MOH and health care providers to determine the appropriate level of content and preferred methods of learning. Consequently, the program was structured to be interactive and rely on active learning. All Canvasback Missions staff were provided with significant cultural sensitivity training that included instruction in the cultural traditions and local customs of respect. Marshallese staff were hired, trained, and performed as many study functions as possible, including meal preparation and group activities. Training included a trip to Guam to learn the NEWSTART program before coming back to Majuro to set-up the study. We also engaged local physicians, nurses, dance instructors, and our staff cooks to be a part of education sessions, in an effort to make the program culturally relevant. This was supported by strong relationships that were forged with Marshallese and American dignitaries, the MOH personnel, community group leaders, and store managers. Study documents, lectures, and instructions were provided in the Marshallese language. To tailor the dietary intervention, recipes from Marshallese cuisine were incorporated and adapted while still ensuring that the diet was plant-based and met nutritional targets. Finally, group exercise activities were led by a Marshallese staff member who was known in the community for leading such activities, and local dance routines were encouraged as aerobic activity.

# Measurements and Outcomes

#### Assessments

Study assessments included demographics, anthropometrics, vital signs, serum cardiometabolic risk factors, medication usage, and behavioral assessments. All study assessments were performed at weeks 0, 2, 6, 12, and 24 unless otherwise stated below.

#### Anthropometrics and Vital Signs

Height, weight, waist circumference, blood pressure, and resting heart rate were all measured in duplicate using standard procedures. Height was measured using a stadiometer and was used to tabulate BMI. Waist circumference was measured at the level of the umbilicus above the iliac crest.

#### Serum Chemistry

Serum analytes included HbA1c and fasting glucose, insulin, lipids, and hs-CRP. Lipids included total cholesterol, HDL cholesterol, and triglycerides, with LDL cholesterol calculated using the Friedewald equation. Analytes were measured using the CLIA-approved laboratory at the MOH's Hospital. HOMA-IR, which is a product of fasting glucose and fasting insulin, was used to estimate insulin resistance. LDL cholesterol values above 400 mg/dl will be considered unreliable and be replaced with

#### TABLE 4 | Tiered food classification system.

	1ST CLASS FOODS: Whole Plant Foods (75–100% of calories)	2ND CLASS FOODS: Lightly Processed Foods and Low-Fat Animal Products (≤25% of calories)	3RD CLASS FOODS: Moderately Processed Foods and Mid-Fat Animal Products (≤10% of calories)	4TH CLASS FOODS: Heavily Processed Foods and High-Fat Animal Products (≤5% of calories)
Vegetables	Green leafy vegetables Non-starchy vegetables: broccoli, carrots, cauliflower, onions, cucumbers, egg plant, peppers, mushrooms, tomatoes, sprouts Starchy vegetables: potatoes, sweet potatoes, corn, winter squash	Green leafy vegetables that are canned or cooked in oil	Battered vegetables Vegetables in high-fat sauces	Vegetable chips French fries Deep-fried potatoes or sweet potatoes
Protein foods	Legumes: beans, lentils, peas	Tofu Tempeh Fish (not fried)	Lean meat Poultry (no skin) Eggs Fish canned in oil	Processed or canned meat (e.g., bacon, sausage, cold cuts, frankfurters) High-fat meat Poultry Fried meat
Grains and cereal	Whole grains: barley, rye, kamut, spelt, brown rice, quinoa Cut and rolled grains	Slightly processed whole-grain breads and cereals (incl. whole wheat or other whole grain flour)	Moderately processed grains (e.g., granola bars, white flour, pasta, bagels, white rice)	Heavily processed, white flour products (e.g., donuts, cookies, and other sweet baked goods) Corn chips
Fruit	Fresh, dried, and frozen fruit	Lightly processed fruits (e.g., canned fruit in natural juice)	Fruit canned in syrup Fruit juice	Fruit jams and jellies Fruit-flavored punch and drinks
Dairy/dairy alternatives	Fresh pressed nut and seed milks	Soymilk (unsweetened or original) Other commercial non-dairy milk (almond, hemp, rice)	Non- or low-fat dairy products (incl. skim or low-fat milk and cheese)	High-fat dairy products (e.g., whole milk, cream, cheese, ice cream, sour cream, whipping cream)
Higher fat whole foods, fats, and oils	Nuts, seeds and their butters (natural) Avocados Olives	Nuts and seeds with small amounts of added oil or salt Nut butters with sugar or salt	Vegetable oils Zero trans-fat margarines Nut butters with hydrogenated fats Nuts with fat, sugar, and salt	Lard Shortening Butter Hydrogenated margarine
Other			Natural sweeteners (e.g., maple syrup, blackstrap molasses, honey, brown rice syrup)	Refined sugar (e.g., white sugar, syrup) Soda Sugar-sweetened beverages Candy

the maximum reliable value of 400 mg/dl. hs-CRP values above 10 mmol/l were taken as indicative of an active acute infection, rather than as measures of chronic low-grade inflammation, and were therefore treated as missing values.

#### Medications

To monitor changes in glucose levels in the intervention group and adjust medication dosages accordingly, a glucometer was used during the first 2 weeks and fasting labs at weeks 2, 6, and 12 were relied on thereafter. Medication dosages were adjusted by participants' primary care physicians and/or the DWC clinicians. Medications and their dosages were recorded at each assessment. Changes in the average number of medications and in the percentage of participants taking one or more medications will be compared across groups for both all medications and diabetesspecific medications.

#### Glucometers

Participants in the intervention group were given glucometers during the intensive 2-week phase of the intervention to

measure their glucose levels, as needed. These assessments were used both for educational purposes and to make medication adjustments.

#### **Dietary Assessment**

Participants completed a food frequency questionnaire at baseline (week 0) and at week 24. The questionnaire was tailored to Majuro residents and asked participants about the frequency with which they consumed 110 food items, as well as the typical serving size and any seasonal differences in consumption (for fresh fruits and vegetables only). Participants also described what they usually ate for breakfast, lunch, dinner, and snacks. Participants also completed a one-page, self-reported diet quality assessment at weeks 2, 6, and 12 to report any changes in food intake, including the foods they now avoid, eat less of, and eat more of. Changes in dietary intake and other lifestyle factors were used to help gauge the program's effectiveness. At the end of the trial, participants also self-reported their adherence to the diet using a 1–5 Likert scale.

#### **Physical Activity Assessment**

Cardiopulmonary fitness was assessed at each time point using the Harvard step test in year 1 and both the Harvard step test and the timed 1-mile walk in year 2. For the Harvard step test, participants stepped up onto a gym bench  $\sim$ 20 inches in height once every 2s for 5 min or until the participant could not maintain the pace. Thereafter, they were seated in a chair, and their pulse was assessed 1, 2, and 3 min after completing the step tests, and fitness level was graded as 50  $\times$  (duration in seconds)/(sum of the three post-exercise heart rates). For the timed 1-mile walk test, potential participants were given pedometers to wear and were asked to walk a one-mile roadway loop outside the hospital at a pace they could maintain without running or stopping. Participants were instructed to walk alone at their own pace. After the individuals returned, their walking time and steps were collected and recorded. Physical activity levels were assessed by self-report using a modified version of the International Physical Activity Questionnaire at each time point and through weekly pedometer readings. All participantsincluding those in the control group-were asked to wear pedometers throughout the study and report their step count on a weekly basis. Participants came to the DWC to report their readings or, if they were unable to come in, called study staff to report their readings.

#### Safety

Participants were instructed to report adverse events as soon as they occurred and were also queried about adverse events at each assessment. To minimize the risk of complications from exercises, warm-up exercises were used to gently increase the intensity of the physical activity.

# DATA ANALYSES

## **Statistical Power Calculation**

Since the trial proceeded in phases, the initial data collected in year 1 was used to determine the overall sample size needed for the trial. Based on the variances observed in the primary endpoints in the year 1 cohorts, a sample size of N = 120 in total was needed to provide at least 80% power (two-sided,  $\alpha = 0.05$ ) to detect between-group differences of 20 mg/dl in fasting glucose and 1.0% in HbA1c.

## **Statistical Analyses**

All data will be analyzed using two-sided statistical tests and a Type I error rate of  $\alpha = 0.05$ . The intention-to-treat method will be used for the primary analyses but will be compared to outcomes from actual-treatment-received analyses (i.e., per protocol analyses). Categorical data will be compared between the two groups using chi-square or Fisher's exact tests. Continuous data will be compared using linear mixed models or non-parametric tests (as appropriate), with potential adjustments for changes in medication dosages and potential covariates such as baseline values, age, biological sex, and cohort number. Likelihood functions will be examined to determine the appropriateness of covariates and to avoid overfitting the data. Multivariable linear and logistic regression will be used to identify predictors for improved health outcomes. Lastly, subgroup analyses may be performed by sex, age, co-morbidity, length of diagnosis, and severity to evaluate heterogeneity in treatment responses.

# DISCUSSION

This study leverages interventions that are clinically effective in an already-established wellness program in Guam and tested them for the first time in a randomized controlled trial. The main goal of the study was to determine the effectiveness of an intensive lifestyle intervention consisting of a mostly plantbased diet and regular moderate exercise in Marshall Islanders with T2D. We expected that study participants would be able to adopt a plant-based diet and engage in moderate exercise sufficiently to achieve clinically meaningful improvements in glycemic control and that many participants would reduce their reliance on diabetes medications and/or even potentially go into remission from T2D. We also expected that participants would experience improved lipid profiles, reduced blood pressure, and lower levels of inflammation, relative to the standard of care. To support these objectives, we leveraged ongoing organizational networks within the RMI, including Canvasback Missions' more than 11 years of experience in providing medical services to T2D patients in the RMI. Moreover, we forged partnerships with the local government to deliver a culturally-adapted version of an intensive lifestyle intervention using trained indigenous staff.

Through implementing this clinical trial, we achieved several major community-wide successes, which serve as a model for future lifestyle intervention trials and community-based participatory research. One of the major achievements is that we assisted in designing an expanded and improved 6,700square foot Diabetes Wellness Center, which has now been established and is operating in Majuro. The intervention itself was so successful that supermarket buying patterns in Majuro have changed. Reports from the local supermarket indicate that the demand for healthy foods has increased to such an extent that these items are "gone in 2-3 days." The DWC received many requests to speak and present intervention programs for churches, schools, and service groups. The DWC also held a seminar for the members of the Nitijela (Parliament) and the president's cabinet. As a result of the influence of these leaders, the community has begun to respond by changing their food choices and exercising more. When DWC staff first arrived in Majuro, walking was frowned upon, and people tended to take taxis, even for short distance outings. Now, walking for exercise has become sufficiently popular that there are concerns for public safety, as most walking takes place on the roads. As a result, the mayor and police commissioner have agreed to close down the main highway in the early morning to provide the community with a safe place to walk during the cooler dawn hours. More markets are setting aside sections for health foods, and the island now has a good selection of these foods. Produce is being flown in to meet the new public demand. DWC-approved items are appearing on local restaurant menus. The MOH has asked Canvasback Missions

to take over food preparation for the hospital. The Department of Education approached Canvasback Missions to develop a nutrition curriculum for grades K-6 in public schools in Majuro and to train teachers. Canvasback Missions was awarded a grant from the World Diabetes Federation. Brenda Davis, RD and Margie Colclough, SLP, were recently brought into Majuro to complete this work. They developed a comprehensive 13-module curriculum called *Get Healthy at School*. Teachers in all nine public schools in Majuro were trained to use these materials in their classrooms. The MOH also held a 2-day conference with its senior administrative staff and leading doctors to find ways to focus on preventive health care. Word of the success of this program has reached many of the surrounding Pacific Island jurisdictions, and the DWC often hosts visitors from these countries.

In achieving these successes, we overcame several challenges. First, recruitment was slower than expected in year 1, so in year 2, we increased enrollment rates by recruiting subjects from the MOH Diabetes Clinic. Another benefit of this change in our recruitment strategy is that it improved compliance to the standard of care in the control group. During year 1, when participants were screened from the general public, they did not always adhere to the standard of care. Recruiting subjects who were already receiving the usual care and regularly met with their physicians resolved this problem. In year 2, as the word spread throughout the country that the DWC program was controlling and reversing T2D naturally, more and more people came forward and wanted to participate, and recruitment was no longer a challenge. In fact, by the end of the trial, more than 100 people were on the waiting list for the DWC program. Another challenge faced in year 1 is that about 25% of the adults screened did not comprehend English well enough to understand materials presented in English. This may have introduced selection bias by enrolling better-educated participants in year 1. Therefore, in year 2, all program materials were translated into Marshallese and presented in Marshallese, initially by translating English presentations, and then later by replacing English presentations with Marshallese presentations. Cohort 5 was the first all Marshallese-run program. After an initial hurdle of training local staff, who had little previous experience and limited education, to become precise and accurate recordkeepers and accurate presenters, we were able to deliver an all Marshallese-version of the intervention.

As for the intervention itself, we observed that the 4-timesper-week intensive phase appeared to be highly effective in promoting adherence to the lifestyle intervention and improving glycemic control. However, once the intervention intensity dwindled to once-every-other-week, a majority of participants did not maintain adherence as well, so adherence waned in the later stages of the trial. This may partially be due to the fact that intensive lifestyle changes can be socially and culturally isolating, particularly because the RMI is a highly social and culturally engaged society, where food is often a central part of cultural events. After some trial and error, we noticed that moving from a 4-times-per-week intensive phase to a twice-per-week phase (rather than every other week) is a more effective approach. It is important for future trials on intensive lifestyle interventions to continue testing the optimal intensity of lifestyle interventions. One of the main unanticipated effects of the intervention is that a significant fraction of the control group attempted the intensive lifestyle program on their own, despite being randomized to the standard of care. Such participants were spotted purchasing foods, such as oatmeal and flaxseeds, at the grocery store, despite not having used these foods before; some of these participants admitted that they were trying to do the lifestyle intervention on their own. In total, we estimate that about one-fourth of the controls adopted significant lifestyle changes during the 24-week intervention, despite instructions to the contrary and despite having the opportunity to crossover to the intervention group after completing the control arm. Contamination of the control group tends to bias outcomes toward the null hypothesis, so our anticipated future results may underestimate the actual treatment effects. Another intervention-related concern is the potential for nutritional shortfalls, especially regarding vitamin B12. Although we used some vitamin B12-fortified foods, such as nutritional yeast and fortified soymilk, such fortified foods are not as readily available in the RMI, and there was concern that over time, vitamin B12 intakes could be inadequate, especially for participants taking metformin. Also, healthy foods, such as fruits and vegetables, are expensive in the RMI, and residents tend to have few resources.

The management of adverse events and data collection in a country with no prior research infrastructure presented the greatest challenges to the trial. The main challenge for adverse event management was adjusting medication dosages downwards to avoid hypoglycemic reactions in the intervention group. When participants were not in the clinic, they often had to return to their family physician to adjust their medication dosages, which meant long wait times and a fee. This was particularly problematic for participants on insulin, who had to be very carefully monitored so that insulin dosages could be reduced or stopped accordingly. Further, because medication dosing tended to increase for control subjects and decrease for intervention subjects, future reported outcomes will likely be biased toward the null hypothesis. We also faced problems with missing data due to participants not showing up for appointments, procedural failures by the laboratory, and the hospital being new to the extensive documentation requirements for clinical trials, in a country where clinical trials have never been performed before. It took several trips and digging through boxes of duplicate lab slips to fill in missing logbook entries. The positive outcome is that new policies and reporting procedures were established for any future lab work that may be required, and all lab work that was done is now backed up. To tackle the challenge of participant attendance at clinic visits, research staff attempted to reach every participant by phone, and in some cases, went to the participant's home or work to remind them of the importance of the blood draws and measures to complete the study. We have discovered that within the RMI, more effort is needed than in the U.S. to ensure that participants fully participate in the intervention.

Overall, though, the clinical trial was a success. We delivered a novel lifestyle intervention, which constituted the first randomized clinical trial conducted in the Republic of the Marshall Islands; the first lifestyle intervention trial conducted in Micronesia; and the second clinical trial to investigate the effects of a plant-rich diet combined with moderate exercise in T2D patients. We intend to publish future manuscripts reporting the results of the clinical trial. We expect that the results of this study will help guide future medical care in the Pacific Islands and provide insight into how to best direct resources to treat indigenous populations with T2D. Outside of the Pacific Islands, it will shed light on how to effectively deliver comprehensive, intensive lifestyle interventions for the treatment and management of diabetes. Finally, it will provide critical insight into the degree to which lifestyle interventions can treat and reverse type 2 diabetes.

## ETHICS STATEMENT

The study was approved by the Loma Linda University Institutional Review Board and an *ad-hoc* Institutional Review Board in the RMI that was set-up specifically for the trial. The raw data may be requested by contacting the corresponding author, Dr. John Kelly, at jhkelly@bhhec.org, after the study results are published. The data request will be reviewed by the RMI Ministry of Health.

## REFERENCES

- World Health Organization. Global Report on Diabetes. (2016). Available online at: http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/204871/1/ 9789241565257\_eng.pdf (accessed November 12, 2017).
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. National Diabetes Statistics Report, 2017: Estimates of Diabetes and Its Burden in the United States. Atlanta, GA (2017). Available online at: https://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/data/statistics/ statistics-report.html (assessed December 10, 2018).
- International Diabetes Federation. *IDF Diabetes Atlas: Country Summary Table, 8th ed.* (2017). Available online at: http://diabetesatlas.org/resources/2017-atlas.html (accessed November 26, 2018).
- Balachandra H. Reports of Health Visits to Outer Atolls to Ministry of Health and Environment. Majuro: Marshall Islands. Unpublished Ministry of Health Documents (2002).
- Cho NH, Shaw JE, Karuranga S, Huang Y, da Rocha Fernandes JD, Ohlrogge AW, et al. IDF diabetes atlas: global estimates of diabetes prevalence for 2017 and projections for 2045. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract.* (2018) 138:271– 81. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2018.02.023
- 6. Chutaro B. Social and Economic Baseline Survey: Jenrok Village. Majuro: Citeseer (2005).
- American Diabetes Association. Lifestyle management. *Diabetes Care*. (2017) 40(Suppl. 1):S33–43. doi: 10.2337/dc17-S007
- McKenzie AL, Hallberg SJ, Creighton BC, Volk BM, Link TM, Abner MK, et al. A novel intervention including individualized nutritional recommendations reduces hemoglobin A1c level, medication use, and weight in type 2 diabetes. J Med Internet Res. (2017) 2:e5. doi: 10.2196/diabetes.6981
- Sonomtseren S, Sankhuu Y, Warfel JD, Johannsen DL, Peterson CM, Vandanmagsar B. Lifestyle modification intervention improves glycemic control in Mongolian adults who are overweight or obese with newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes. *Obes Sci Pract.* (2016) 2:303–8. doi: 10.1002/osp4.56
- Tay J, Luscombe-Marsh ND, Thompson CH, Noakes M, Buckley JD, Wittert GA, et al. Comparison of low- and high-carbohydrate diets for type 2 diabetes management: a randomized trial. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2015) 102:780– 90. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.115.112581
- Dunaief DM, Fuhrman J, Dunaief JL, Ying G. Glycemic and cardiovascular parameters improved in type 2 diabetes with the high nutrient density (HND) diet. Open J Prev Med. (2012) 2:364–71. doi: 10.4236/ojpm.2012.23053

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

JK designed the study, with input from JS. BD, RH, and JK conducted the study. HJ, CP, and RK performed the analyses and drafted the manuscript. All authors revised and approved the final version of the manuscript.

## FUNDING

This research was supported by the Department of the Army (W81XWH-05-1-0547). The sponsor had no role in the design and conduct of the trial or in the analysis, interpretation, and publication of data.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors are very grateful to the government of the Republic of the Marshall Islands, particularly the Ministry of Health; the Diabetes Wellness Clinic; and the Canvasback Missions staff, who assisted invaluably in conducting this trial.

- Nicholson AS, Sklar M, Barnard ND, Gore S, Sullivan R, Browning S. Toward improved management of NIDDM: a randomized, controlled, pilot intervention using a lowfat, vegetarian diet. *Prev Med.* (1999) 29:87– 91. doi: 10.1006/pmed.1999.0529
- Esposito K, Maiorino MI, Petrizzo M, Bellastella G, Giugliano D. The effects of a Mediterranean diet on the need for diabetes drugs and remission of newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes: follow-up of a randomized trial. *Diabetes Care*. (2014) 37:1824–30. doi: 10.2337/dc13-2899
- Elhayany A, Lustman A, Abel R, Attal-Singer J, Vinker S. A low carbohydrate Mediterranean diet improves cardiovascular risk factors and diabetes control among overweight patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a 1-year prospective randomized intervention study. *Diabetes Obes Metab.* (2010) 12:204– 9. doi: 10.1111/j.1463-1326.2009.01151.x
- Westman EC, Yancy WS Jr, Mavropoulos JC, Marquart M, McDuffie JR. The effect of a low-carbohydrate, ketogenic diet versus a low-glycemic index diet on glycemic control in type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Nutr Metab.* (2008) 5:36. doi: 10.1186/1743-7075-5-36
- Haimoto H, Sasakabe T, Wakai K, Umegaki H. Effects of a low-carbohydrate diet on glycemic control in outpatients with severe type 2 diabetes. *Nutr Metab.* (2009) 6:21. doi: 10.1186/1743-7075-6-21
- Yancy WS Jr, Foy M, Chalecki AM, Vernon MC, Westman EC. A lowcarbohydrate, ketogenic diet to treat type 2 diabetes. *Nutr Metab.* (2005) 2:34. doi: 10.1186/1743-7075-2-34
- Manley SE, Stratton IM, Cull CA, Frighi V, Eeley EA, Matthews DR, et al. Effects of three months' diet after diagnosis of Type 2 diabetes on plasma lipids and lipoproteins (UKPDS 45). UK Prospective Diabetes Study Group. *Diabet Med.* (2000) 17:518–23. doi: 10.1046/j.1464-5491.2000. 00320.x
- Barnard ND, Cohen J, Jenkins DJ, Turner-McGrievy G, Gloede L, Jaster B, et al. A low-fat vegan diet improves glycemic control and cardiovascular risk factors in a randomized clinical trial in individuals with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care.* (2006) 29:1777–83. doi: 10.2337/dc06-0606
- Ramal E, Champlin A, Bahjri K. Impact of a plant-based diet and support on mitigating type 2 diabetes mellitus in Latinos living in medically underserved areas. Am J Health Promot. (2018) 32:753–62. doi: 10.1177/0890117117706793
- Steven S, Lim EL, Taylor R. Population response to information on reversibility of type 2 diabetes. *Diabet Med.* (2013) 30:e135– 8. doi: 10.1111/dme.12116

- 22. Anderson JW, Ward K. Long-term effects of high-carbohydrate, highfiber diets on glucose and lipid metabolism: a preliminary report on patients with diabetes. *Diabetes Care.* (1978) 1:77–82. doi: 10.2337/diacare. 1.2.77
- 23. Saslow LR, Mason AE, Kim S, Goldman V, Ploutz-Snyder R, Bayandorian H, et al. An online intervention comparing a very low-carbohydrate ketogenic diet and lifestyle recommendations versus a plate method diet in overweight individuals with type 2 diabetes: a randomized controlled trial. *J Med Internet Res.* (2017) 19:e36. doi: 10.2196/jmir.5806
- Mayer SB, Jeffreys AS, Olsen MK, McDuffie JR, Feinglos MN, Yancy WS Jr. Two diets with different haemoglobin A1c and antiglycaemic medication effects despite similar weight loss in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Obes Metab.* (2014) 16:90–3. doi: 10.1111/dom.12191
- Sarathi V, Kolly A, Chaithanya HB, Dwarakanath CS. High rates of diabetes reversal in newly diagnosed Asian Indian young adults with type 2 diabetes mellitus with intensive lifestyle therapy. J Nat Sci Biol Med. (2017) 8:60– 3. doi: 10.4103/0976-9668.198343
- Anderson JW, Ward K. High-carbohydrate, high-fiber diets for insulintreated men with diabetes mellitus. Am J Clin Nutr. (1979) 32:2312– 21. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/32.11.2312
- Lee YM, Kim SA, Lee IK, Kim JG, Park KG, Jeong JY, et al. Effect of a brown rice based vegan diet and conventional diabetic diet on glycemic control of patients with type 2 diabetes: a 12-week randomized clinical trial. *PLoS ONE.* (2016) 11:e0155918. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0155918
- Rinaldi S, Campbell EE, Fournier J, O'Connor C, Madill J. A comprehensive review of the literature supporting recommendations from the Canadian diabetes association for the use of a plant-based diet for management of type 2 diabetes. *Can J Diabetes*. (2016) 40:471–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jcjd.2016. 02.011
- Bunner AE, Wells CL, Gonzales J, Agarwal U, Bayat E, Barnard ND. A dietary intervention for chronic diabetic neuropathy pain: a randomized controlled pilot study. *Nutr Diabetes.* (2015) 5:e158. doi: 10.1038/nutd.2015.8
- Yokoyama Y, Barnard ND, Levin SM, Watanabe M. Vegetarian diets and glycemic control in diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Cardiovasc Diagn Ther.* (2014) 4:373– 82. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2223-3652.2014.10.04
- Porrata-Maury C, Hernandez-Triana M, Ruiz-Alvarez V, Diaz-Sanchez ME, Fallucca F, Bin W, et al. Ma-Pi 2 macrobiotic diet and type 2 diabetes mellitus: pooled analysis of short-term intervention studies. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev.* (2014) 30(Suppl. 1):55–66. doi: 10.1002/dmrr.2519
- 32. Kahleova H, Matoulek M, Malinska H, Oliyarnik O, Kazdova L, Neskudla T, et al. Vegetarian diet improves insulin resistance and oxidative stress markers more than conventional diet in subjects with Type 2 diabetes. *Diabet Med.* (2011) 28:549–59. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2010.03209.x
- 33. De Natale C, Annuzzi G, Bozzetto L, Mazzarella R, Costabile G, Ciano O, et al. Effects of a plant-based high-carbohydrate/high-fiber diet versus high-monounsaturated fat/low-carbohydrate diet on postprandial lipids in type 2 diabetic patients. *Diabetes Care*. (2009) 32:2168–73. doi: 10.2337/dc09-0266
- Barnard ND, Cohen J, Jenkins DJ, Turner-McGrievy G, Gloede L, Green A, et al. A low-fat vegan diet and a conventional diabetes diet in the treatment of type 2 diabetes: a randomized, controlled, 74-wk clinical trial. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2009) 89:1588S–96S. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.2009.26736H
- 35. Viguiliouk E, Kendall CW, Kahleova H, Rahelic D, Salas-Salvado J, Choo VL, et al. Effect of vegetarian dietary patterns on cardiometabolic risk factors in diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Clin Nutr.* (2018) 38:1133–45. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2018.05.032
- 36. Mishra S, Xu J, Agarwal U, Gonzales J, Levin S, Barnard ND. A multicenter randomized controlled trial of a plant-based nutrition program to reduce body weight and cardiovascular risk in the corporate setting: the GEICO study. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2013) 67:718–24. doi: 10.1038/ejcn. 2013.92
- Toumpanakis A, Turnbull T, Alba-Barba I. Effectiveness of plantbased diets in promoting well-being in the management of type 2 diabetes: a systematic review. BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care. (2018) 6:e000534. doi: 10.1136/bmjdrc-2018-000534
- Fallucca F, Fontana L, Fallucca S, Pianesi M. Gut microbiota and Ma-Pi 2 macrobiotic diet in the treatment of type 2 diabetes. World J Diabetes. (2015) 6:403–11. doi: 10.4239/wjd.v6.i3.403

- 39. Belinova L, Kahleova H, Malinska H, Topolcan O, Vrzalova J, Oliyarnyk O, et al. Differential acute postprandial effects of processed meat and isocaloric vegan meals on the gastrointestinal hormone response in subjects suffering from type 2 diabetes and healthy controls: a randomized crossover study. *PLoS ONE.* (2014) 9:e107561. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0107561
- Barnard ND, Katcher HI, Jenkins DJ, Cohen J, Turner-McGrievy G. Vegetarian and vegan diets in type 2 diabetes management. *Nutr Rev.* (2009) 67:255–63. doi: 10.1111/j.1753-4887.2009.00198.x
- 41. Satija A, Bhupathiraju SN, Rimm EB, Spiegelman D, Chiuve SE, Borgi L, et al. Plant-based dietary patterns and incidence of type 2 diabetes in US men and women: results from three prospective cohort studies. *PLoS Med.* (2016) 13:e1002039. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1002039
- Chen Z, Zuurmond MG, van der Schaft N, Nano J, Wijnhoven HAH, Ikram MA, et al. Plant versus animal based diets and insulin resistance, prediabetes and type 2 diabetes: the Rotterdam study. *Eur J Epidemiol.* (2018) 33:883– 93. doi: 10.1007/s10654-018-0414-8
- Tonstad S, Butler T, Yan R, Fraser GE. Type of vegetarian diet, body weight, and prevalence of type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care.* (2009) 32:791– 6. doi: 10.2337/dc08-1886
- Tonstad S, Stewart K, Oda K, Batech M, Herring RP, Fraser GE. Vegetarian diets and incidence of diabetes in the Adventist Health Study-2. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* (2013) 23:292–9. doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2011.07.004
- Snowdon DA, Phillips RL. Does a vegetarian diet reduce the occurrence of diabetes? Am J Public Health. (1985) 75:507–12. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.75.5.507
- 46. Fraser GE. Vegetarian diets: what do we know of their effects on common chronic diseases? Am J Clin Nutr. (2009) 89:1607S-12S. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.2009.26736K
- Kahleova H, Pelikanova T. Vegetarian diets in the prevention and treatment of type 2 diabetes. J Am Coll Nutr. (2015) 34:448-58. doi: 10.1080/07315724.2014.976890
- Kahleova H, Levin S, Barnard N. Cardio-metabolic benefits of plant-based diets. *Nutrients*. (2017) 9:848. doi: 10.3390/nu9080848
- McMacken M, Shah S. A plant-based diet for the prevention and treatment of type 2 diabetes. J Geriatr Cardiol. (2017) 14:342–54.
- Ferdowsian HR, Barnard ND, Hoover VJ, Katcher HI, Levin SM, Green AA, et al. A multicomponent intervention reduces body weight and cardiovascular risk at a GEICO corporate site. *Am J Health Promot.* (2010) 24:384– 7. doi: 10.4278/ajhp.081027-QUAN-255
- Turner-McGrievy GM, Barnard ND, Scialli AR. A two-year randomized weight loss trial comparing a vegan diet to a more moderate low-fat diet. *Obesity*. (2007) 15:2276–81. doi: 10.1038/oby.2007.270
- 52. Kahleova H, Tura A, Klementova M, Thieme L, Haluzik M, Pavlovicova R, et al. A plant-based meal stimulates incretin and insulin secretion more than an energy- and macronutrient-matched standard meal in type 2 diabetes: a randomized crossover study. *Nutrients.* (2019) 11:486. doi: 10.3390/nu11030486
- 53. van Nielen M, Feskens EJ, Rietman A, Siebelink E, Mensink M. Partly replacing meat protein with soy protein alters insulin resistance and blood lipids in postmenopausal women with abdominal obesity. J Nutr. (2014) 144:1423–9. doi: 10.3945/jn.114.193706
- Hanhineva K, Torronen R, Bondia-Pons I, Pekkinen J, Kolehmainen M, Mykkanen H, et al. Impact of dietary polyphenols on carbohydrate metabolism. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2010) 11:1365–402. doi: 10.3390/ijms11041365
- 55. Kim MS, Hwang SS, Park EJ, Bae JW. Strict vegetarian diet improves the risk factors associated with metabolic diseases by modulating gut microbiota and reducing intestinal inflammation. *Environ Microbiol Rep.* (2013) 5:765– 75. doi: 10.1111/1758-2229.12079
- Resnicow K, Barone J, Engle A, Miller S, Haley N, Fleming D, et al. Diet and serum lipids in vegan vegetarians: a model for risk reduction. *J Am Diet Assoc.* (1991) 91:447–53.
- Tuomilehto J, Lindström J, Eriksson JG, Valle TT, Hämäläinen H, Ilanne-Parikka P, et al. Prevention of type 2 diabetes mellitus by changes in lifestyle among subjects with impaired glucose tolerance. N Engl J Med. (2001) 344:1343–50. doi: 10.1056/NEJM200105033441801
- Veleba J, Matoulek M, Hill M, Pelikanova T, Kahleova H. "A Vegetarian vs. Conventional Hypocaloric Diet: The Effect on Physical Fitness in Response to Aerobic Exercise in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes." A Parallel Randomized Study. Nutrients. (2016) 8:671. doi: 10.3390/nu8110671

- Ornish D, Scherwitz LW, Billings JH, Brown SE, Gould KL, Merritt TA, et al. Intensive lifestyle changes for reversal of coronary heart disease. *JAMA*. (1998) 280:2001–7. doi: 10.1001/jama.280.23.2001
- 60. Pischke CR, Weidner G, Elliott-Eller M, Ornish D. Lifestyle changes and clinical profile in coronary heart disease patients with an ejection fraction of  $\leq$  40% or > 40% in the Multicenter Lifestyle Demonstration Project. *Eur J Heart Fail.* (2007) 9:928–34. doi: 10.1016/j.ejheart.2007.05.009
- Pischke CR, Weidner G, Elliott-Eller M, Scherwitz L, Merritt-Worden TA, Marlin R, et al. Comparison of coronary risk factors and quality of life in coronary artery disease patients with versus without diabetes mellitus. *Am J Cardiol.* (2006) 97:1267–73. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2005.11.051
- Koertge J, Weidner G, Elliott-Eller M, Scherwitz L, Merritt-Worden TA, Marlin R, et al. Improvement in medical risk factors and quality of life in women and men with coronary artery disease in the Multicenter Lifestyle Demonstration Project. *Am J Cardiol.* (2003) 91:1316–22. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9149(03)00320-5
- Toobert DJ, Glasgow RE, Radcliffe JL. Physiologic and related behavioral outcomes from the Women's Lifestyle Heart Trial. Ann Behav Med. (2000) 22:1–9. doi: 10.1007/BF02895162
- Ornish D, Brown SE, Scherwitz LW, Billings JH, Armstrong WT, Ports TA, et al. Can lifestyle changes reverse coronary heart disease? The lifestyle heart trial. *Lancet.* (1990) 336:129–33. doi: 10.1016/0140-6736(90)91656-U
- Barnard RJ, Jung T, Inkeles SB. Diet and exercise in the treatment of NIDDM. The need for early emphasis. *Diabetes Care*. (1994) 17:1469– 72. doi: 10.2337/diacare.17.12.1469
- Englberger L, Marks G, Fitzgerald M. Factors to consider in Micronesian foodbased interventions: a case study of preventing vitamin A deficiency. *Publ Health Nutr.* (2004) 7:423–31. doi: 10.1079/PHN2003544

- Henry B, Kalynovskyi S. Reversing diabetes and obesity naturally: 
   NEWSTART<sup>®</sup> lifestyle program. *Diabetes Educ.* (2004) 30:48–59. doi: 10.1177/014572170403000109
- Simmons D, Thompson C, Volklander D. Polynesians: prone to obesity and type 2 diabetes mellitus but not hyperinsulinaemia. *Diabetic Med.* (2001) 18:193–8. doi: 10.1046/j.1464-5491.2001. 00435.x
- Davis B, Barnard T. Defeating Diabetes: A No-Nonsense Approach to Type 2 Diabetes and the Diabesity Epidemic. Summertown, TN: Healthy Living Publications (2003).
- Davis B. Defeating Diabetes: Lessons From the Marshall Islands. *Today's Dietitian* 10. (2008).

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** BD is the author of the books Defeating Diabetes and The Kick Diabetes Cookbook: An Action Plan and Recipes for Defeating Diabetes.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest

Copyright © 2019 Davis, Jamshed, Peterson, Sabaté, Harris, Koratkar, Spence and Kelly. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Heart Failure and a Plant-Based Diet. A Case-Report and Literature Review

Kathleen E. Allen<sup>1</sup>, Divya Gumber<sup>2</sup> and Robert J. Ostfeld<sup>2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Food and Nutrition, NewYork-Presbyterian, New York, NY, United States, <sup>2</sup> Division of Cardiology, Montefiore Health System, Bronx, NY, United States

A 54-year-old female with grade 3 obesity body mass index (BMI 45.2 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) and type II diabetes (hemoglobin A1c 8.1%) presented to her primary care physician in May 2017 with a chief complaint of left lower extremity edema. Work-up revealed heart failure with depressed left ventricular systolic function. Upon diagnosis, she substantially altered her lifestyle, changing her diet from a "healthy western" one to a whole food plant-based one. Guideline directed medical therapy for heart failure was also utilized. Over five and a half months, she lost 22.7 kg and reversed her diabetes without the use of diabetes medications. Her left ventricular systolic function normalized. Although causality cannot be determined, this case highlights the potential role of a plant-based diet in helping to reverse heart failure with reduced ejection fraction. This article will review how a minimally processed whole food plant-based dietary pattern and similar dietary patterns, such as the Dietary Approach to Stop Hypertension diet, may contribute to the reversal of left ventricular dysfunction.

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Hana Kahleova, Physicians Committee for Responsible Medicine, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Ertugrul Kilic, Istanbul Medipol University, Turkey Tianan Alan Jiang, McCormick & Company, Inc., United States

> \*Correspondence: Robert J. Ostfeld rostfeld@montefiore.org

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Clinical Nutrition, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 15 December 2018 Accepted: 20 May 2019 Published: 11 June 2019

#### Citation:

Allen KE, Gumber D and Ostfeld RJ (2019) Heart Failure and a Plant-Based Diet. A Case-Report and Literature Review. Front. Nutr. 6:82. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2019.00082 Keywords: diet, heart failure, hypertension, plant-based, vegetarian

# CASE

A 54-year-old female with grade 3 obesity body mass index (BMI 45.2 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) and type II diabetes (hemoglobin A1c 8.1%) presented to her primary care physician in May 2017 with a chief complaint of left lower extremity edema. Venous duplex revealed no deep venous thrombosis and an X-Ray revealed lower extremity atherosclerosis with no fracture. She was sent to a cardiologist. Electrocardiogram demonstrated normal sinus rhythm and a left bundle branch block. Echocardiography revealed a left ventricular ejection fraction of 25% without significant valvular pathology; heart failure was diagnosed. Renal, liver, and thyroid function, as well as ferritin and potassium levels were within normal limits. HIV was non-reactive. She was not anemic. She was started on a beta-blocker, an ACE inhibitor, and a statin. Cardiac MRI in June 2017, revealed a dilated cardiomyopathy and an ejection fraction of 21%. Coronary CT angiogram revealed an Agatston coronary artery calcium score of 458. Extensive calcification on the CT angiogram precluded assessment of coronary artery stenosis. Hence cardiac catheterization was performed and revealed a cardiomyopathy out of proportion to coronary artery disease with a 30% proximal left anterior descending artery stenosis, a 25% proximal and a 60% distal left circumflex artery stenosis, and a 65% first obtuse marginal artery lesion. The left main and right coronary arteries were without stenosis. She was shaken by her diagnosis and became determined to adopt a more healthful diet. She changed her diet from "healthy western" to whole food plant-based (Table 1). She also started supplemental vitamin B12. She lost 22.7 kg in <6 months, resulting in a BMI of 35.1 kg/m<sup>2</sup>. Her diabetes resolved, with her hemoglobin A1c falling to 5.7% without the use of diabetes medications. Her baseline dyspnea on exertion improved considerably. Repeat echocardiography in November 2017 revealed a normal left ventricular ejection fraction of 55% (Table 2).

TABLE 1 | Patient's dietary pattern pre- and post-dietary change.

"Healthy western" diet	Plant-based diet (daily)
Chicken (without the skin)	No animal products
• Fish	<ul> <li>At least 3 servings dark leafy greens</li> </ul>
Turkey	<ul> <li>At least 3 servings of vegetables</li> </ul>
• Eggs	<ul> <li>At least 3 servings of fruit</li> </ul>
Lean cuts of red meat	<ul> <li>1–3 servings of beans/legumes</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Small amounts of</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>1–3 servings of whole grains</li> </ul>
processed red meat	<ul> <li>1 Tablespoon herb/spice</li> </ul>
Diet soft drinks	<ul> <li>1 serving of raw unsalted nuts or seeds</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Processed foods (e.g.,</li> </ul>	• 2 Tablespoons of hemp seeds/chia seeds
chips and cakes)	/ground flax meal
<ul> <li>1–2 servings of</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>At least one cup of tea/day</li> </ul>
vegetables or fruits daily	<ul> <li>Limit packaged/processed foods</li> </ul>

Regarding the plant-based diet, patients are not given caloric or macronutrient goals and are invited to consume freely within these parameters.

 TABLE 2 | Health parameters at baseline and after five and a half months on a plant-based diet.

Baseline	After 5 ½ months
45.2 kg/m <sup>2</sup>	35.1 kg/m <sup>2</sup>
8.1%	5.7%
25%	55%
	45.2 kg/m <sup>2</sup> 8.1%

Although causality cannot be determined, this case highlights the potential role of a plant-based diet in helping to reverse systolic dysfunction, or heart failure with reduced ejection fraction.

This article will review how a minimally processed whole food plant-based dietary pattern and similar dietary patterns, such as the Dietary Approach to Stop Hypertension (DASH) diet and vegetarian diet, may contribute to the reversal of left ventricular dysfunction. For the purposes of this case report and literature review, the term plant-based diet will include dietary patterns that are exclusively plant-based and dietary patterns that are predominantly plant-based, such as the DASH diet and vegetarian dietary patterns.

## BACKGROUND

Heart failure (HF) is a condition in which the heart is unable to provide adequate blood flow to meet the normal metabolic needs of the body and can occur with either a reduced or a preserved left ventricular ejection fraction (1). HF is a leading cause of morbidity and mortality with a prevalence of more than 5.5 million in the US and 23 million globally (2). Each year in the US, over 550,000 individuals are newly diagnosed with HF (3)–about half die within 5 years (1).

Numerous risk factors for the development and progression of HF are influenced by diet, including inflammation, hypertension,

dysbiotic microbiome, hyperlipidemia, obesity, and diabetes (4–6). However, the medical community has traditionally focused on pharmacotherapy and devices and not on nutrition in both the primary and secondary prevention of HF (7, 8).

This focus may occur because cardiologists receive little instruction on either nutrition or nutrition counseling (9, 10). In a recent survey of more than 900 cardiologists, although 95% believed that their role should include counseling patients about nutrition, 90% received minimal or no related training (10). This training deficit is not unique to cardiology and extends to most fields, including internal medicine and obstetrics/ gynecology (9, 11, 12).

This deficit may represent a preventive opportunity lost throughout the lifecycle. The Barker Hypothesis suggests that the intrauterine environment influences cardiovascular health later in life (13, 14). In human and animal models, the presence of maternal obesity adversely impacted cardiac morphology and metabolism, predisposing offspring to cardiovascular disease (15, 16). Offspring of maternal pigs fed a high fat, highcalorie diet versus a standard diet have numerous structural and metabolic cardiac derangements that may put them at risk for HF (16). Human mothers consuming more meat and fish had offspring with elevated cortisol levels which may predispose to hypertension and the metabolic syndrome (17). Consequently, more healthful diets may provide both primordial prevention, and prevention throughout the lifecycle (18).

# **PROSPECTIVE COHORT STUDIES**

Prospective cohort studies support the beneficial impact of plantbased dietary patterns on incident HF (19-23). In a study of 38,075 Finnish people over a median of 14.1 years, higher consumption of vegetables was associated with a lower incidence of HF in men, but not in women (21). Similarly, among 20,900 healthy male physicians in the Physicians' Health Study I, greater consumption of fruits and vegetables was associated with a decreased risk of HF (19). A subset of the Reasons for Geographic and Racial Differences in Stroke (REGARDS) Cohort of 15,569 persons with no Coronary Artery Disease or HF diagnosis was divided into five dietary patterns: Alcohol/Salads, Convenience, Plant-based, Southern, and Sweets. After a median follow-up of more than 7 years, patients with closer adherence to the Plantbased dietary pattern had lower risk of incident HF (23). In a prospective cohort from Sweden of 34,319 women without cardiovascular disease and cancer at initial assessment, after 12.9 years, greater fruit and vegetable consumption was associated with a lower rate of HF (22).

# THE INFLUENCE OF DIET ON HEART FAILURE RISK FACTORS

#### Inflammation

Elevated serum levels of inflammation increase risk factors for HF, as well as incident HF (24, 25). Plant-based diets (PBD) decrease serum levels of inflammation (26-29) and may be

**Abbreviations:** BMI, Body mass index; DASH, Dietary Approach to Stop Hypertension; HDL, High density lipoprotein; HF, Heart Failure; HFpEF, heart failure with preserved ejection fraction; HTN, Hypertension; LDL, Low-density lipoprotein; PBD, Plant-based Diet.

protective (5). This protective effect is in part mediated through Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS) or free radicals (30, 31).

ROS are unstable molecules that promote inflammation and may react with and damage myocardial cells leading to interstitial fibrosis, myocyte hypertrophy, and decreased myocardial contractility (32). PBDs with high levels of antioxidants and other bioactive compounds may be protective by reducing levels of ROS whereas animal-based diets with lower levels of antioxidants, may not (30, 33). In addition, the consumption of animal foods may facilitate ROS creation via heme iron (34) and other pro-inflammatory compounds such as N-Glycolylneuraminic acid (Neu5gc) (35), Advanced Glycation End-Products (AGEs) (36), trimethylamine amine (TMAO) (37), and nitrates utilized to preserve processed meats (38), thereby potentially further inducing myocardial dysfunction and HF (23, 24).

Moreover, vegetarian versus omnivorous diets are associated with lower plasma levels of the pro-oxidant compound, myeloperoxidase, which promotes atherosclerotic plaque formation, and progression. This promotion may lead to atherosclerotic plaque rupture, myocardial infarction, and HF (39).

## Hypertension

Hypertension (HTN) is a common precursor to HF, increasing its risk by 2–3 fold (40, 41). Accordingly, in the Framingham cohort, a blood pressure (BP) of  $\geq$ 160/100 vs. <140/90 doubled the lifetime risk of incident HF (40). PBDs and predominantly PBDs, such as the DASH or vegetarian diet, may lower both systolic and diastolic BP (42–44), via a number of mechanisms, including favorably modifying the renin-angiotensin (45) and sympathetic nervous systems (46), greater potassium and decreased sodium consumption (47), improved blood vessel dilation (44, 46, 48), and changes in baroreceptors (46).

In prospective studies, red meat and poultry increased incident HTN (49) whereas plant proteins lowered it (50). In the Chicago Western Electric Study, greater consumption of fruits or vegetables was associated with significantly lower BP whereas beef, lamb, poultry, and veal consumption was associated with higher BP after 7 years (51). Similarly, in a large cohort from China of over 450,000 subjects, greater consumption of fresh fruit was associated with decreased systolic BP by 4 mmHg (52). The Diet Approach to Stop Hypertension (DASH) diet, which is low in animal products, total, and saturated fat and high in fruits and vegetables, reduced both systolic and diastolic BP by 5.5 and 3.0 mmHg, respectively, in hypertensive patients (53). Correspondingly, large prospective studies reported that greater adherence to a DASH diet was associated with a 22 and 37% decreased HF risk in men and women, respectively (54, 55). A PBD, however, may even further lower BP. A vegan diet has been associated with achieving a lower BP than omnivorous, pescatarian, and vegetarian diets (56).

## Microbiome

The gut microbiome consists of around one hundred trillion microorganisms and impacts our immunologic, cardiovascular, and overall health (57). For example, the pro-atherogenic

compound, Trimethylamine N-oxide (TMAO) is formed, in part, via the interplay of the gut microbiome with the nutrients L-carnitine and choline (58). Increasing TMAO levels are associated with increasing severity of HF, rates of MI, and overall mortality (58–64). Accordingly, TMAO may induce vascular inflammation, increase platelet reactivity (58), and reduce reverse cholesterol transport (4). A PBD rapidly selects for a different microbiome than does an animal-based diet and hence produces less TMAO than does an animal-based diet (4) possibly accounting, in part, for the fewer cardiovascular events seen in those consuming a minimally processed plant-based diet (58, 65).

Furthermore, soluble dietary fiber, found exclusively in plantbased foods (66), nourishes healthful bacteria in the colon enabling them to produce short-chain fatty acids (67). Shortchain fatty acids then nourish the enterocyte (68) which may lead to reduced cholesterol biosynthesis by the enterocyte by down-regulating the enterocyte's expression of genes involved in cholesterol biosynthesis, and thereby lower serum cholesterol levels (69). As elevated serum cholesterol is a key cause of coronary artery disease and myocardial infarction (70–73), and hence HF, plant-based nutrition may further lower HF risk by impacting cholesterol biosynthesis in the enterocyte (4, 69).

## Hyperlipidemia

Plant-based diets lower serum lipid levels in part due to their soluble fiber, phytosterols, low saturated fat content, absence of cholesterol, and potentially due to their ability to reduce enterocyte cholesterol biosynthesis (69, 74, 75). Moreover, a PBD improves lipids levels specifically in patients with decreased left ventricular ejection fraction (76, 77). Conversely, animal-based diets are associated with increased serum cholesterol levels (78).

Furthermore, a PBD may render low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol particles less prone to oxidation (74, 79–81). Oxidized LDL particles are particularly atherogenic, damaging to endothelial cells, and promoting of inflammation and oxidative stress (82, 83).

While high-density lipoprotein (HDL) levels may decrease on a PBD (43), recent studies have suggested that increasing HDL levels may not be beneficial and may be harmful (84). In addition, it appears that a healthful lifestyle may render an HDL particle protective, while an unhealthful one renders it atherogenic (85). Accordingly, HDL efflux capacity, or its ability to perform reverse cholesterol transport, irrespective of the absolute HDL serum level, may be a more important measure of its potential beneficial health impact (43, 84, 86). Thus, aspects of a PBD, such as pistachios and almonds, may improve HDL efflux capacity (86, 87).

## Obesity

Obesity is a risk factor for HF and may account for approximately 11 and 14 percent of HF cases in men and women, respectively. Increases in BMI are linearly associated with an increase in HF risk, where those with obesity having twice the risk of HF compared to those with a healthy BMI (88). Similarly, in the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA) cohort, greater self-reported weight at 20 and 40 years of age was associated with increased HF risk later in life (89).

This increased risk may occur as obesity is associated with altered left ventricular remodeling (90). Furthermore, obesity may promote risk factors for HF, such as inflammation, HTN, dyslipidemia, DM, and sleep apnea (88, 91–93).

PBDs have been associated with greater weight loss (94, 95), decreased weight gain (96), and lower BMIs (97, 98) when compared with other dietary patterns. Conversely, greater intake of animal-based foods is correlated with a higher BMI (97, 98). Accordingly, a randomized controlled trial found a vegan diet to be associated with significantly greater weight loss (-7.5%) than a pesco-vegetarian, semi-vegetarian, or omnivorous diet (-3.2,-3.2, and -3.1%, respectively) over the course of 6 months (94). A prospective cohort study found each 250 g/d increase in meat (red meat, processed meat, and poultry) consumption to be associated with an increase in weight of 2 kg over 5 years (99). In the Seventh-Day Adventist study, mean BMI increased as diet became more animal-centric: 23.6 kg/m<sup>2</sup> in vegans, 25.7 kg/m<sup>2</sup> in lacto-ovo-vegetarian, 26.3 kg/m<sup>2</sup> in pesco-vegetarians, 27.3 kg/m<sup>2</sup> in semi-vegetarians, and 28.8 kg/m<sup>2</sup> in non-vegetarians (98). PBDs likely contribute to the obtention and maintenance of a healthy weight through their high fiber content, low caloric density, and potentially, their ability to augment resting energy expenditure (100).

#### **Diabetes**

Diabetes Mellitus (DM) is associated with an approximate 400% increase in the incidence of HF (101) and poorly controlled diabetes is associated with worse HF outcomes. Each 1% increase in hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) was associated with a 12% increase in HF hospitalizations after controlling for other HF risk factors (102). Similarly, insulin resistance, often a precursor for diabetes, is associated with an increased risk of incident HF (103).

A PBD results in a lower incidence of diabetes (104, 105) and hemoglobin A1c levels (106, 107) and may reduce insulin requirements despite a lack of weight loss (108). As such, a PBD may improve HF incidence and outcomes (101, 102). As aforementioned, PBDs are associated with decreased inflammation (26–29), which may ameliorate diabetes by improving both insulin sensitivity and beta cell function (109, 110). Moreover, PBDs are low in saturated fat, which upon accumulation in muscle and hepatic cells, contributes to insulin resistance (100, 111, 112).

Accordingly, in the Seventh-Day Adventist Study, the relationship between Type 2 diabetes and degree of dietary plant consumption appeared to lie on a continuum, with a prevalence of: 2.9% in vegans, 3.2% in lacto-ovo vegetarians, 4.8% in pesco-vegetarian, 6.1% in semi-vegetarians, and 7.6% in non-vegetarians (98).

#### REFERENCES

- Inamdar AA, Inamdar AC. Heart failure: diagnosis, management and utilization. J Clin Med. (2016) 5:62. doi: 10.3390/jcm5070062
- Bui AL, Horwich TB, Fonarow GC. Epidemiology and risk profile of heart failure. Nat Rev Cardiol. (2011) 8:30–41. doi: 10.1038/nrcardio.2010.165

# HEART FAILURE WITH PRESERVED EJECTION FRACTION

Heart failure with preserved ejection fraction (HFpEF), or diastolic heart failure, is common and has similar symptoms and adverse outcomes as heart failure with reduced ejection fraction (113). It is hypothesized that HFpEF may be secondary, in part, to diffuse endothelial dysfunction, including that of the myocardial microvasculature, due partly, to increased inflammation (113). Many plant-based foods are anti-inflammatory (26), and increase Nitric Oxide bioavailability (114), thereby improving vascular health and potentially ameliorating this microvascular dysfunction (24, 113, 115). A PBD may also prevent or treat numerous comorbid conditions, such as obesity, HTN, kidney disease, and diabetes (44, 98, 104-107, 116-118), potentially providing additional preventive and therapeutic benefit. The Dietary Approach to Stop Hypertension in "Diastolic" Heart Failure (DASH-DHF) pilot study evaluated the impact of a DASH diet on 13 post-menopausal women with diastolic HF. After 3 weeks, consuming the DASH diet was associated with significant improvements in blood pressure, arterial elasticity, and oxidative stress (115).

# CONCLUSION

Our patient's improvements were temporally associated with her adoption of a whole food plant-based diet. Plant-based diets are associated with improvements in risk factors for heart failure and with direct benefits on cardiac metabolism and function. Given the burden of heart failure, its adverse prognosis, and the overall evidence to date, a plant-based diet should be considered as part of a multifaceted approach to heart failure care.

## ETHICS STATEMENT

Full name of the ethics committee: The Montefiore Einstein Institutional Review Board.

Consent Procedure: Written informed consent was obtained from the patient to publish her identifiable/case report data.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

RO identified the case and had sole access to patient information. RO, KA, and DG all performed background research, and contributed both to the writing and editing of the paper.

## FUNDING

RO also received a research grant from Purjes Foundation.

 Hunt SA, Abraham WT, Chin MH, Feldman Arthur M, Francis Gary S, Ganiats Theodore G, et al. 2009 Focused update incorporated into the ACC/AHA 2005 guidelines for the diagnosis and management of heart failure in adults. *Circulation*. (2009) 119:e391–e479. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109. 192065

- Koeth RA, Wang Z, Levison BS, Buffa JA, Org E, Sheehy BT, et al. Intestinal microbiota metabolism of L-carnitine, a nutrient in red meat, promotes atherosclerosis. *Nat Med.* (2013) 19:576–85. doi: 10.1038/nm.3145
- 5. Kerley CP. A review of plant-based diets to prevent and treat heart failure. *CFR*. (2018) 4:54–61. doi: 10.15420/cfr.2018:1:1
- Qi J, You T, Li J, Pan T, Xiang L, Han Y, et al. Circulating trimethylamine Noxide and the risk of cardiovascular diseases: a systematic review and metaanalysis of 11 prospective cohort studies. *J Cell Mol Med.* (2018) 22:185–94. doi: 10.1111/jcmm.13307
- Sciatti E, Lombardi C, Ravera A, Vizzardi E, Bonadei I, Carubelli V, et al. Nutritional deficiency in patients with heart failure. *Nutrients*. (2016) 8:442. doi: 10.3390/nu8070442
- Fiuzat M, Mayne ST, Hillebrenner M, Stockbridge N, Zuckerman B, Califf RM. JACC: heart failure series: FDA in the 21st century: focus on nutrition and heart failure prevention. *JACC Heart Fail*. (2017) 5:229–31. doi: 10.1016/j.jchf.2016.12.012
- Devries S, Dalen JE, Eisenberg DM, Maizes V, Ornish D, Prasad A, et al. A deficiency of nutrition education in medical training. *Am J Med.* (2014) 127:804–6. doi: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2014.04.003
- Devries S, Agatston A, Aggarwal M, Aspry KE, Esselstyn CB, Kris-Etherton P, et al. A deficiency of nutrition education and practice in cardiology. *Am J Med.* (2017) 130:1298–305. doi: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2017.04.043
- Vetter ML, Herring SJ, Sood M, Shah NR, Kalet AL. What do resident physicians know about nutrition? An evaluation of attitudes, selfperceived proficiency and knowledge J Am Coll Nutr. (2008) 27:287–98. doi: 10.1080/07315724.2008.10719702
- Antognoli EL, Seeholzer EL, Gullett H, Jackson B, Smith S, Flocke SA. Primary care resident training for obesity, nutrition, and physical activity counseling: a mixed-methods study. *Health Promot Pract.* (2017) 18:672–80. doi: 10.1177/1524839916658025
- Barker DJ. Fetal origins of coronary heart disease. *BMJ.* (1995) 311:171–4. doi: 10.1136/bmj.311.6998.171
- Harding J. The nutritional basis of the fetal origins of adult disease. Int J Epidemiol. (2001) 30:15-23. doi: 10.1093/ije/30.1.15
- Blackmore HL, Niu Y, Fernandez-Twinn DS, Tarry-Adkins JL, Giussani DA, Ozanne SE. Maternal diet-induced obesity programs cardiovascular dysfunction in adult male mouse offspring independent of current body weight. *Endocrinology*. (2014) 155:3970–80. doi: 10.1210/en.2014-1383
- Guzzardi MA, Liistro T, Gargani L, Ait Ali L, D'angelo G, Rocchiccioli S, et al. Maternal obesity and cardiac development in the offspring: study in human neonates and minipigs. *JACC Cardiovasc Imaging*. (2017) 11:1750–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jcmg.2017.08.024
- Reynolds RM, Godfrey KM, Barker M, Osmond C, Phillips DIW. Stress responsiveness in adult life: influence of mother's diet in late pregnancy. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2007) 92:2208–10. doi: 10.1210/jc.2007-0071
- Craig WJ, Mangels AR. Position of the American Dietetic Association: vegetarian diets. J Am Diet Assoc. (2009) 109:1266–82.
- Djousse L, Driver JA, Gaziano JM. Relation between modifiable lifestyle factors and lifetime risk of heart failure. *JAMA*. (2009) 302:394–400. doi: 10.1001/jama.2009.1062
- Pfister R, Sharp SJ, Luben R, Wareham NJ, Khaw KT. Plasma vitamin C predicts incident heart failure in men and women in European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition-Norfolk prospective study. *Am Heart J.* (2011) 162:246–53. doi: 10.1016/j.ahj.2011.05.007
- Wang Y, Tuomilehto J, Jousilahti P, Antikainen R, Mahonen M, Katzmarzyk PT, et al. Lifestyle factors in relation to heart failure among Finnish men and women. *Circ Heart Fail.* (2011) 4:607–12. doi: 10.1161/circheartfailure.111.962589
- 22. Rautiainen S, Levitan EB, Mittleman MA, Wolk A. Fruit and vegetable intake and rate of heart failure: a population-based prospective cohort of women. *Eur J Heart Fail.* (2015) 17:20–6. doi: 10.1002/ejhf.191
- Lara KM, Levitan EB, Gutierrez OM, Shikany JM, Safford MM, Judd SE, et al. Dietary patterns and incident heart failure in U.S. Adults without known coronary disease. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2019) 73:2036–45. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2019.01.067
- 24. Anker SD, Von Haehling S. Inflammatory mediators in chronic heart failure: an overview. *Heart*. (2004) 90:464–70. doi: 10.1136/hrt.2002.007005
- 25. Kalogeropoulos A, Georgiopoulou V, Psaty BM, Rodondi N, Smith AL, Harrison DG, et al. Inflammatory markers and incident heart failure risk in

older adults: the health ABC (Health, aging, and body Composition) study. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2010) 55:2129–37. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2009.12.045

- Watzl B. Anti-inflammatory effects of plant-based foods and of their constituents. Int J Vitam Nutr Res. (2008) 78:293–8. doi: 10.1024/0300-9831.78.6.293
- Turner-Mcgrievy GM, Wirth MD, Shivappa N, Wingard EE, Fayad R, Wilcox S, et al. Randomization to plant-based dietary approaches leads to larger short-term improvements in dietary inflammatory index scores and macronutrient intake compared with diets that contain meat. *Nutr Res.* (2015) 35:97–106. doi: 10.1016/j.nutres.2014.11.007
- Eichelmann F, Schwingshackl L, Fedirko V, Aleksandrova K. Effect of plantbased diets on obesity-related inflammatory profiles: a systematic review and meta-analysis of intervention trials. *Obes Rev.* (2016) 17:1067–79. doi: 10.1111/obr.12439
- Najjar RS, Moore CE, Montgomery BD. Consumption of a defined, plantbased diet reduces lipoprotein(a), inflammation, and other atherogenic lipoproteins and particles within 4 weeks. *Clin Cardiol.* (2018) 41:1062–8. doi: 10.1002/clc.23027
- Kim MK, Cho SW, Park YK. Long-term vegetarians have low oxidative stress, body fat, and cholesterol levels. *Nutr Res Pract.* (2012) 6:155–61. doi: 10.4162/nrp.2012.6.2.155
- Hecke T, Camp J, Smet S. Oxidation during digestion of meat: interactions with the diet and helicobacter pylori gastritis, and implications on human health. *Compr Rev Food Sci Food Saf.* (2017) 16:214–33. doi: 10.1111/1541-4337.12248
- Tsutsui H, Kinugawa S, Matsushima S. Oxidative stress and heart failure. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. (2011) 301:H2181–H2190. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00554.2011
- 33. Carlsen MH, Halvorsen BL, Holte K, Bohn SK, Dragland S, Sampson L, et al. The total antioxidant content of more than 3100 foods, beverages, spices, herbs and supplements used worldwide. *Nutr J.* (2010) 9:3. doi: 10.1186/1475-2891-9-3
- 34. Kitatsuji C, Izumi K, Nambu S, Kurogochi M, Uchida T, Nishimura S-I, et al. Protein oxidation mediated by heme-induced active site conversion specific for heme-regulated transcription factor, iron response regulator. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:18703. doi: 10.1038/srep1870
- 35. Samraj AN, Pearce OMT, Läubli H, Crittenden AN, Bergfeld AK, Banda K, et al. A red meat-derived glycan promotes inflammation and cancer progression. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2015) 112:542–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1417508112
- 36. Uribarri J, Woodruff S, Goodman S, Cai W, Chen XUE, Pyzik R, et al. Advanced glycation end products in foods and a practical guide to their reduction in the diet. J Am Diet Assoc. (2010) 110:911–6.e912. doi: 10.1016/j.jada.2010.03.018
- Chen ML, Zhu XH, Ran L, Lang HD, Yi L, Mi MT. Trimethylamine-N-oxide induces vascular inflammation by activating the NLRP3 inflammasome through the SIRT3-SOD2-mtROS signaling pathway. J Am Heart Assoc. (2017) 6:e006347. doi: 10.1161/jaha.117.006347
- Wolk A. Potential health hazards of eating red meat. J Intern Med. (2017) 281:106–22. doi: 10.1111/joim.12543
- Navarro JA, De Gouveia LA, Rocha-Penha L, Cinegaglia N, Belo V, Castro MM, et al. Reduced levels of potential circulating biomarkers of cardiovascular diseases in apparently healthy vegetarian men. *Clin Chim Acta*. (2016) 461:110–3. doi: 10.1016/j.cca.2016.08.002
- Lloyd-Jones DM, Larson MG, Leip EP, Beiser A, D'agostino RB, Kannel WB, et al. Lifetime risk for developing congestive heart failure: the Framingham Heart Study. *Circulation*. (2002) 106:3068–72. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000039105.49749.6F
- Messerli FH, Rimoldi SF, Bangalore S. The transition from hypertension to heart failure: contemporary update. *JACC Heart Fail.* (2017) 5:543–51. doi: 10.1016/j.jchf.2017.04.012
- Pettersen BJ, Anousheh R, Fan J, Jaceldo-Siegl K, Fraser GE. Vegetarian diets and blood pressure among white subjects: results from the Adventist Health Study-2 (AHS-2). *Public Health Nutr.* (2012) 15:1909–16. doi: 10.1017/s1368980011003454
- Kent L, Morton D, Rankin P, Ward E, Grant R, Gobble J, et al. The effect of a low-fat, plant-based lifestyle intervention (CHIP) on serum HDL levels and the implications for metabolic syndrome status – a cohort study. *Nutr Metab.* (2013) 10:58. doi: 10.1186/1743-7075-10-58

- 44. Yokoyama Y, Nishimura K, Barnard ND, Takegami M, Watanabe M, Sekikawa A, et al. Vegetarian diets and blood pressure: a meta-analysis. *JAMA Intern Med.* (2014) 174:577–87. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2013.14547
- 45. Chen Q, Turban S, Miller ER, Appel LJ. The effects of dietary patterns on plasma renin activity: results from the Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension trial. *J Hum Hypertens*. (2012) 26:664–9. doi: 10.1038/jhh.2011.87
- 46. Suter PM, Sierro C, Vetter W. Nutritional factors in the control of blood pressure and hypertension. *Nutr Clin Care*. (2002) 5:9–19.
- Perez V, Chang ET. Sodium-to-potassium ratio and blood pressure, hypertension, and related factors. *Adv Nutr.* (2014) 5:712–41. doi: 10.3945/an.114.006783
- Vogel RA, Corretti MC, Plotnick GD. Effect of a single high-fat meal on endothelial function in healthy subjects. *Am J Cardiol.* (1997) 79:350–4. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9149(96)00760-6
- Borgi L, Curhan GC, Willett WC, Hu FB, Satija A, Forman JP. Long-term intake of animal flesh and risk of developing hypertension in three prospective cohort studies. J Hypertens. (2015) 33:2231–8. doi: 10.1097/hjh.00000000000722
- 50. Wang YF, Yancy WS Jr., Yu D, Champagne C, Appel LJ, Lin PH. The relationship between dietary protein intake and blood pressure: results from the PREMIER study. *J Hum Hypertens.* (2008) 22:745–54. doi: 10.1038/jhh.2008.64
- Miura K, Greenland P, Stamler J, Liu K, Daviglus ML, Nakagawa H. Relation of vegetable, fruit, and meat intake to 7-year blood pressure change in middle-aged men: the Chicago Western Electric Study. *Am J Epidemiol.* (2004) 159:572–80. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwh085
- Du H, Li L, Bennett D, Guo Y, Key TJ, Bian Z, et al. Fresh fruit consumption and major cardiovascular disease in China. N Engl J Med. (2016) 374:1332– 43. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1501451
- Appel LJ, Moore TJ, Obarzanek E, Vollmer WM, Svetkey LP, Sacks FM, et al. A clinical trial of the effects of dietary patterns on blood pressure. DASH Collaborative Research Group. *N. Engl J Med.* (1997) 336:1117–24. doi: 10.1056/nejm199704173361601
- Levitan EB, Wolk A, Mittleman MA. Consistency with the DASH diet and incidence of heart failure. *Arch Intern Med.* (2009) 169:851–7. doi: 10.1001/archinternmed.2009.56
- 55. Levitan EB, Wolk A, Mittleman MA. Relation of consistency with the dietary approaches to stop hypertension diet and incidence of heart failure in men aged 45 to 79 years. *Am J Cardiol.* (2009) 104:1416–20. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2009.06.061
- Appleby PN, Davey GK, Key TJ. Hypertension and blood pressure among meat eaters, fish eaters, vegetarians and vegans in EPIC-Oxford. *Public Health Nutr.* (2002) 5:645–54. doi: 10.1079/phn2002332
- 57. Valdes AM, Walter J, Segal E, Spector TD. Role of the gut microbiota in nutrition and health. *BMJ*. (2018) 361:k2179 doi: 10.1136/bmj.k2179
- Li XS, Obeid S, Klingenberg R, Gencer B, Mach F, Raber L, et al. Gut microbiota-dependent trimethylamine N-oxide in acute coronary syndromes: a prognostic marker for incident cardiovascular events beyond traditional risk factors. *Eur Heart J.* (2017) 38:814–24. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehw582
- Tang WHW, Wang Z, Levison BS, Koeth RA, Britt EB, Fu X, et al. Intestinal microbial metabolism of phosphatidylcholine and cardiovascular risk. *N Engl J Med.* (2013) 368:1575–84. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1109400
- Tang WH, Hazen SL. The contributory role of gut microbiota in cardiovascular disease. J Clin Invest. (2014) 124:4204–11. doi: 10.1172/jci72331
- 61. Tang WH, Wang Z, Fan Y, Levison B, Hazen JE, Donahue LM, et al. Prognostic value of elevated levels of intestinal microbe-generated metabolite trimethylamine-N-oxide in patients with heart failure: refining the gut hypothesis. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2014) 64:1908–14. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2014.02.617
- Tang WH, Wang Z, Shrestha K, Borowski AG, Wu Y, Troughton RW, et al. Intestinal microbiota-dependent phosphatidylcholine metabolites, diastolic dysfunction, and adverse clinical outcomes in chronic systolic heart failure. J Card Fail. (2015) 21:91–6. doi: 10.1016/j.cardfail.2014.11.006

- 63. Troseid M, Ueland T, Hov JR, Svardal A, Gregersen I, Dahl CP, et al. Microbiota-dependent metabolite trimethylamine-N-oxide is associated with disease severity and survival of patients with chronic heart failure. J Intern Med. (2015) 277:717–26. doi: 10.1111/joim.12328
- 64. Suzuki T, Yazaki Y, Voors AA, Jones DJL, Chan DCS, Anker SD, et al. Association with outcomes and response to treatment of trimethylamine Noxide in heart failure (from BIOSTAT-CHF). *Eur J Heart Fail.* (2018) doi: 10.1002/ejhf.1338. [Epub ahead of print].
- Satija A, Bhupathiraju SN, Spiegelman D, Chiuve SE, Manson JE, Willett W, et al. Healthful and unhealthful plant-based diets and the risk of coronary heart disease in U.S. *Adults. J Am Coll Cardiol.* (2017) 70:411–22. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2017.05.047
- Dhingra D, Michael M, Rajput H, Patil RT. Dietary fibre in foods: a review. J Food Sci Technol. (2012) 49:255–66. doi: 10.1007/s13197-011-0365-5
- Desai MS, Seekatz AM, Koropatkin NM, Kamada N, Hickey CA, Wolter M, et al. A dietary fiber-deprived gut microbiota degrades the colonic mucus barrier and enhances pathogen susceptibility. *Cell.* (2016) 167:1339– 53.e1321. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.10.043
- Den Besten G, Van Eunen K, Groen AK, Venema K, Reijngoud D-J, Bakker BM. The role of short-chain fatty acids in the interplay between diet, gut microbiota, and host energy metabolism. *J Lipid Res.* (2013) 54:2325–40. doi: 10.1194/jlr.R036012
- Alvaro A, Sola R, Rosales R, Ribalta J, Anguera A, Masana L, et al. Gene expression analysis of a human enterocyte cell line reveals downregulation of cholesterol biosynthesis in response to short-chain fatty acids. *IUBMB Life*. (2008) 60:757–64. doi: 10.1002/iub.110
- Jousilahti P, Vartiainen E, Pekkanen J, Tuomilehto J, Sundvall J, Puska P. Serum cholesterol distribution and coronary heart disease risk. *Circulation*. (1998) 97:1087–94. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.97.11.1087
- Werner RM, Pearson TA. LDL-cholesterol: a risk factor for coronary artery disease-from epidemiology to clinical trials. *Can J Cardiol.* (1998) 14(Suppl. B): 3b–10b.
- 72. Abdullah SM, Defina LF, Leonard D, Barlow CE, Radford NB, Willis BL, et al. Long-term association of low-density lipoprotein cholesterol with cardiovascular mortality in individuals at low 10-year risk of atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease. *Circulation*. (2018) 138:2315–25. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.118.034273
- 73. Grundy SM, Stone NJ, Bailey AL, Beam C, Birtcher KK, Blumenthal RS, et al. 2018 AHA/ACC/AACVPR/AAPA/ABC/ACPM/ADA/AGS /APhA/ASPC/NLA/PCNA Guideline on the Management of Blood Cholesterol: executive summary: a Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2018). doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2018.11.002. [Epub ahead of print].
- Ferdowsian HR, Barnard ND. Effects of plant-based diets on plasma lipids. *Am J Cardiol.* (2009) 104:947–56. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2009.05.032
- Wang F, Zheng J, Yang B, Jiang J, Fu Y, Li D. Effects of vegetarian diets on blood lipids: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J Am Heart Assoc. (2015) 4:e002408. doi: 10.1161/jaha.115.002408
- 76. Pischke CR, Weidner G, Elliott-Eller M, Ornish D. Lifestyle changes and clinical profile in coronary heart disease patients with an ejection fraction of <or=40% or >40% in the Multicenter Lifestyle Demonstration Project. *Eur J Heart Fail.* (2007) 9:928–34. doi: 10.1016/j.ejheart.2007.05.009
- Choi EY, Allen K, Mcdonnough M, Massera D, Ostfeld RJ. A plant-based diet and heart failure: case report and literature review. J Geriatr Cardiol. (2017) 14:375–8. doi: 10.11909/j.issn.1671-5411.2017.05.003
- Yokoyama Y, Levin SM, Barnard ND. Association between plant-based diets and plasma lipids: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Nutr Rev.* (2017) 75:683–98. doi: 10.1093/nutrit/nux030
- Esterbauer H, Gebicki J, Puhl H, Jurgens G. The role of lipid peroxidation and antioxidants in oxidative modification of LDL. *Free Radic Biol Med.* (1992) 13:341–90.
- Vinson JA, Dabbagh YA, Serry MM, Jang J. Plant flavonoids, especially tea flavonols, are powerful antioxidants using an *in vitro* oxidation model for heart disease. J Agric Food Chem. (1995) 43:2800–2. doi: 10.1021/jf00059a005
- Tuso P, Stoll SR, Li WW. A plant-based diet, atherogenesis, and coronary artery disease prevention. *Perm J.* (2015) 19:62–7. doi: 10.7812/TPP/14-036

- Chin JH, Azhar S, Hoffman BB. Inactivation of endothelial derived relaxing factor by oxidized lipoproteins. J Clin Invest. (1992) 89:10–8. doi: 10.1172/JCI115549
- Witztum JL. The oxidation hypothesis of atherosclerosis. Lancet. (1994) 344:793–5.
- Singh K, Rohatgi A. Examining the paradox of high high-density lipoprotein and elevated cardiovascular risk. *J Thorac Dis.* (2018) 10:109–12. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2017.12.97
- Roberts CK, Barnard RJ. Effects of exercise and diet on chronic disease. J Appl Physiol. (2005) 98:3–30. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00852.2004
- Holligan SD, West SG, Gebauer SK, Kay CD, Kris-Etherton PM. A moderatefat diet containing pistachios improves emerging markers of cardiometabolic syndrome in healthy adults with elevated LDL levels. *Br J Nutr.* (2014) 112:744–52. doi: 10.1017/s0007114514001561
- Berryman CE, Fleming JA, Kris-Etherton PM. Inclusion of almonds in a cholesterol-lowering diet improves plasma HDL subspecies and cholesterol efflux to serum in normal-weight individuals with elevated LDL cholesterol. J Nutr. (2017) 147:1517–23. doi: 10.3945/jn.116. 245126
- Kenchaiah S, Evans JC, Levy D, Wilson PW, Benjamin EJ, Larson MG, et al. Obesity and the risk of heart failure. N Engl J Med. (2002) 347:305–13. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa020245
- Fliotsos M, Zhao D, Rao VN, Ndumele CE, Guallar E, Burke GL, et al. Body mass index from early-, mid-, and older-adulthood and risk of heart failure and atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease: MESA. J Am Heart Assoc. (2018) 7:e009599. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.118.009599
- Lauer MS, Anderson KM, Kannel WB, Levy D. The impact of obesity on left ventricular mass and geometry. The Framingham Heart Study. JAMA. (1991) 266:231–6.
- Kasai T, Bradley TD. Obstructive sleep apnea and heart failure: pathophysiologic and therapeutic implications. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2011) 57:119–27. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2010.08.627
- 92. Klop B, Elte JWF, Cabezas MC. Dyslipidemia in obesity: mechanisms and potential targets. *Nutrients*. (2013) 5:1218-40. doi: 10.3390/nu5041218
- Benjamin EJ, Blaha MJ, Chiuve SE, Cushman M, Das SR, Deo R, et al. Heart disease and stroke statistics--2017 update: a report from the American Heart Association. *Circulation*. (2017) 135:e146-603. doi: 10.1161/cir.000000000000485
- 94. Turner-Mcgrievy GM, Davidson CR, Wingard EE, Wilcox S, Frongillo EA. Comparative effectiveness of plant-based diets for weight loss: a randomized controlled trial of five different diets. *Nutrition*. (2015) 31:350–8. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2014.09.002
- Huang RY, Huang CC, Hu FB, Chavarro JE. Vegetarian diets and weight reduction: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *J Gen Intern Med.* (2016) 31:109–16. doi: 10.1007/s11606-015-3390-7
- He K, Hu FB, Colditz GA, Manson JE, Willett WC, Liu S. Changes in intake of fruits and vegetables in relation to risk of obesity and weight gain among middle-aged women. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord*. (2004) 28:1569–74. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.0802795
- Spencer EA, Appleby PN, Davey GK, Key TJ. Diet and body mass index in 38000 EPIC-Oxford meat-eaters, fish-eaters, vegetarians and vegans. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord.* (2003) 27:728–34. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo. 0802300
- Tonstad S, Butler T, Yan R, Fraser GE. Type of vegetarian diet, body weight, and prevalence of type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care.* (2009) 32:791–6. doi: 10.2337/dc08-1886
- Vergnaud AC, Norat T, Romaguera D, Mouw T, May AM, Travier N, et al. Meat consumption and prospective weight change in participants of the EPIC-PANACEA study. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2010) 92:398–407. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.2009.28713
- Kahleova H, Levin S, Barnard N. Cardio-metabolic benefits of plant-based diets. Nutrients. (2017) 9:848. doi: 10.3390/nu9080848
- Rosano GM, Vitale C, Seferovic P. Heart failure in patients with diabetes mellitus. CFR. (2017) 3:52–5. doi: 10.15420/cfr.2016:20:2
- Lind M, Olsson M, Rosengren A, Svensson AM, Bounias I, Gudbjornsdottir S. The relationship between glycaemic control and heart failure in 83,021 patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetologia*. (2012) 55:2946–53. doi: 10.1007/s00125-012-2681-3

- Ingelsson E, Sundström J, Ärnlöv J, Zethelius B, Lind L. Insulin resistance and risk of congestive heart failure. *JAMA*. (2005) 294:334–41. doi: 10.1001/jama.294.3.334
- 104. Satija A, Bhupathiraju SN, Rimm EB, Spiegelman D, Chiuve SE, Borgi L, et al. Plant-based dietary patterns and incidence of type 2 diabetes in us men and women: results from three prospective cohort studies. *PLoS Med.* (2016) 13:e1002039. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1002039
- 105. Chen Z, Zuurmond MG, Van Der Schaft N, Nano J, Wijnhoven HAH, Ikram MA, et al. Plant versus animal based diets and insulin resistance, prediabetes and type 2 diabetes: the Rotterdam Study. *Eur J Epidemiol.* (2018) 33:883–93. doi: 10.1007/s10654-018-0414-8
- 106. Barnard ND, Cohen J, Jenkins DJ, Turner-Mcgrievy G, Gloede L, Jaster B, et al. A low-fat vegan diet improves glycemic control and cardiovascular risk factors in a randomized clinical trial in individuals with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care.* (2006) 29:1777–83. doi: 10.2337/dc06-0606
- 107. Barnard ND, Cohen J, Jenkins DJ, Turner-Mcgrievy G, Gloede L, Green A, et al. A low-fat vegan diet and a conventional diabetes diet in the treatment of type 2 diabetes: a randomized, controlled, 74-wk clinical trial. Am J Clin Nutr. (2009) 89:1588s–96s. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.2009.26736H
- Anderson JW, Ward K. High-carbohydrate, high-fiber diets for insulintreated men with diabetes mellitus. Am J Clin Nutr. (1979) 32:2312–21.
- Agrawal NK, Kant S. Targeting inflammation in diabetes: newer therapeutic options. World J Diabetes. (2014) 5:697–710. doi: 10.4239/wjd.v5.i5.697
- 110. Kahleova H, Tura A, Hill M, Holubkov R, Barnard ND. A plant-based dietary intervention improves beta-cell function and insulin resistance in overweight adults: a 16-week randomized clinical trial. *Nutrients*. (2018) 10:E189. doi: 10.3390/nu10020189
- 111. Lichtenstein AH, Schwab US. Relationship of dietary fat to glucose metabolism. *Atherosclerosis.* (2000) 150:227–43. doi: 10.1016/S0021-9150(99)00504-3
- 112. Kraegen EW, Cooney GJ. Free fatty acids and skeletal muscle insulin resistance. *Curr Opin Lipidol.* (2008) 19:235–41. doi: 10.1097/01.mol.0000319118.44995.9a
- 113. Sharma K, Kass DA. Heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: mechanisms, clinical features, and therapies. *Circulation*. (2014) 115:79–96. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.115.302922
- Kobayashi J, Ohtake K, Uchida H. NO-rich diet for lifestyle-related diseases. Nutrients. (2015) 7:4911–37. doi: 10.3390/nu7064911
- 115. Hummel SL, Seymour EM, Brook RD, Kolias TJ, Sheth SS, Rosenblum HR, et al. Low-sodium dietary approaches to stop hypertension diet reduces blood pressure, arterial stiffness, and oxidative stress in hypertensive heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. *Hypertension*. (2012) 60:1200–6. doi: 10.1161/hypertensionaha.112.202705
- 116. Moe SM, Zidehsarai MP, Chambers MA, Jackman LA, Radcliffe JS, Trevino LL, et al. Vegetarian compared with meat dietary protein source and phosphorus homeostasis in chronic kidney disease. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2011) 6:257–64. doi: 10.2215/cjn.05040610
- 117. Chiu THT, Huang H-Y, Chiu Y-F, Pan W-H, Kao H-Y, Chiu JPC, et al. Taiwanese vegetarians and omnivores: dietary composition, prevalence of diabetes and IFG. *PLoS ONE.* (2014) 9:e88547. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0088547
- Chauveau P, Koppe L, Combe C, Lasseur C, Trolonge S, Aparicio M. Vegetarian diets and chronic kidney disease. *Nephrol Dial Transplant.* (2019) 34:199–207. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfy164

Conflict of Interest Statement: RO consulted for Better Therapeutics.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Allen, Gumber and Ostfeld. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Relation of Vegetarian Dietary Patterns With Major Cardiovascular Outcomes: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Prospective Cohort Studies

Andrea J. Glenn<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Effie Viguiliouk<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Maxine Seider<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Beatrice A. Boucher<sup>1</sup>, Tauseef A. Khan<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Sonia Blanco Mejia<sup>1,2,3</sup>, David J. A. Jenkins<sup>1,2,3,4,5,6</sup>, Hana Kahleová<sup>7,8</sup>, Dario Rahelić<sup>9,10</sup>, Jordi Salas-Salvadó<sup>11,12</sup>, Cyril W. C. Kendall<sup>1,2,3,13\*</sup> and John L. Sievenpiper<sup>1,2,3,4,5\*</sup>

### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Lidia Santarpia, University of Naples Federico II, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

Christine Louise Sardo Molmenti, Donald and Barbara Zucker School of Medicine at Hofstra-Northwell, United States Weiyi Mai, Guangdong Provincial People's Hospital, China

#### \*Correspondence:

Cyril W. C. Kendall Cyril.kendall@utoronto.ca John L. Sievenpiper john.sievenpiper@utoronto.ca

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Clinical Nutrition, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 13 November 2018 Accepted: 16 May 2019 Published: 13 June 2019

#### Citation:

Glenn AJ, Viguiliouk E, Seider M, Boucher BA, Khan TA, Blanco Mejia S, Jenkins DJA, Kahleová H, Rahelić D, Salas-Salvadó J, Kendall CWC and Sievenpiper JL (2019) Relation of Vegetarian Dietary Patterns With Major Cardiovascular Outcomes: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Prospective Cohort Studies. Front. Nutr. 6:80. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2019.00080 <sup>1</sup> Department of Nutritional Sciences, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada, <sup>2</sup> Clinical Nutrition and Risk Factor Modification Center, St. Michael's Hospital, Toronto, ON, Canada, <sup>3</sup> Toronto 3D Knowledge Synthesis and Clinical Trials Unit, St. Michael's Hospital, Toronto, ON, Canada, <sup>4</sup> Li Ka Shing Knowledge Institute, St. Michael's Hospital, Toronto, ON, Canada, <sup>5</sup> Division of Endocrinology and Metabolism, St. Michael's Hospital, Toronto, ON, Canada, <sup>6</sup> Department of Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada, <sup>7</sup> Physicians Committee for Responsible Medicine, Washington, DC, United States, <sup>8</sup> Institute for Clinical and Experimental Medicine, Prague, Czechia, <sup>9</sup> Vuk Vrhovac University Clinic for Diabetes, Endocrinology and Metabolic Diseases, Merkur University Hospital, Zagreb, Croatia, <sup>10</sup> School of Medicine, University of Zagreb, Zagreb, Croatia, <sup>11</sup> CIBER Fisiopatología de la Obesidad y Nutrición (CIBER Obn), Instituto de Salud Carlos III, Madrid, Spain, <sup>12</sup> Human Nutrition Department, IISPV, Universitat Rovira i Virgili, Reus, Spain, <sup>13</sup> College of Pharmacy and Nutrition, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, SK, Canada

**Background:** Vegetarian dietary patterns are recommended for cardiovascular disease (CVD) prevention and management due to their favorable effects on cardiometabolic risk factors, however, the role of vegetarian dietary patterns in CVD incidence and mortality remains unclear.

**Objective:** To update the European Association for the Study of Diabetes (EASD) clinical practice guidelines for nutrition therapy, we undertook a systematic review and meta-analysis of the association of vegetarian dietary patterns with major cardiovascular outcomes in prospective cohort studies that included individuals with and without diabetes using the Grading of Recommendations, Assessment, Development, and Evaluation (GRADE) approach.

**Methods:** MEDLINE, EMBASE, and Cochrane databases were searched through September 6th, 2018. We included prospective cohort studies  $\geq$ 1 year of follow-up including individuals with or without diabetes reporting the relation of vegetarian and non-vegetarian dietary patterns with at least one cardiovascular outcome. Two independent reviewers extracted data and assessed study quality (Newcastle-Ottawa Scale). The pre-specified outcomes included CVD incidence and mortality (total CVD, coronary heart disease (CHD) and stroke). Risk ratios for associations were pooled using inverse variance random effects model and expressed as risk ratios (RRs) with 95% confidence intervals (CIs). Heterogeneity was assessed (Cochran Q-statistic) and quantified ( $l^2$ -statistic). The overall certainty of the evidence was assessed using GRADE.

69

**Results:** Seven prospective cohort studies (197,737 participants, 8,430 events) were included. A vegetarian dietary pattern was associated with reduced CHD mortality [RR, 0.78 (Cl, 0.69, 0.88)] and incidence [0.72 (0.61, 0.85)] but were not associated with CVD mortality [0.92 (0.84, 1.02)] and stroke mortality [0.92 (0.77, 1.10)]. The overall certainty of the evidence was graded as "very low" for all outcomes, owing to downgrades for indirectness and imprecision.

**Conclusions:** Very low-quality evidence indicates that vegetarian dietary patterns are associated with reductions in CHD mortality and incidence but not with CVD and stroke mortality in individuals with and without diabetes. More research, particularly in different populations, is needed to improve the certainty in our estimates.

Clinical Trial Registration: Clinicaltrials.gov, identifier: NCT03610828.

Keywords: vegetarian dietary patterns, vegetarian diets, cardiovascular disease, prospective cohort studies, systematic review, meta-analysis, GRADE

# INTRODUCTION

Vegetarian dietary patterns, or vegetarian diets, are defined as diets that exclude meat, poultry, or fish and may or may not include dairy and eggs. Vegetarian dietary patterns are recognized for their health promoting properties as these diets are typically higher in fiber, antioxidants, phytochemicals, and plant protein and lower in saturated fat compared to non-vegetarian dietary patterns (1). Recent systematic reviews and meta-analyses of vegetarian dietary patterns have found that following a vegetarian dietary pattern was associated with reduced risk of coronary heart disease (CHD) in prospective cohort studies, but not with cardiovascular disease (CVD), or stroke (2). Vegetarian dietary patterns also improved cardiometabolic risk factors in randomized controlled trials in individuals with and without diabetes when compared to non-vegetarian dietary patterns (3-5). Currently, the 2015-2020 Dietary Guidelines for Americans recommend a vegetarian dietary pattern, along with the Mediterranean and healthy U.S. style dietary patterns, as 1 of 3 healthy dietary patterns (6). A number of clinical practice guidelines for diabetes and CVD also recommend vegetarian dietary patterns based on the evidence from systematic reviews and meta-analyses of both prospective cohort studies and randomized controlled trials (2-4). The Canadian Cardiovascular Society (7), Diabetes Canada (8), the American Diabetes Association (9), and Diabetes UK (10) include vegetarian dietary patterns in their clinical practice guidelines for the reduction of cardiovascular disease (CVD) risk factors [including low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C), blood pressure (BP) and body weight risk], CVD outcomes, and improvement in glycemic control for individuals with type 2 diabetes.

Despite the evidence supporting the widespread inclusion of vegetarian dietary patterns in dietary guidelines and clinical practice guidelines for nutrition therapy, the European Association for the Study of Diabetes (EASD) (11) has not

assessed the evidence for the role of vegetarian dietary patterns in the prevention and management of CVD, an important outcome as CVD, particularly CHD, is the leading cause of premature death in individuals with diabetes (12, 13). To update the clinical practice guidelines for nutrition therapy to include recommendations for the role of vegetarian dietary patterns in the prevention and management of cardiometabolic diseases, the Diabetes and Nutrition Study Group (DNSG) of the EASD commissioned a series of systematic reviews and meta-analyses using the Grading of Recommendations, Assessment, Development, and Evaluation (GRADE) approach, a standard in guideline development to assess the certainty of evidence for important research questions in healthcare. Additional systematic reviews and meta-analyses on vegetarian dietary patterns, diabetes incidence and cardiometabolic risk factors were conducted to update the EASD clinical practice guidelines (5). These systematic reviews and meta-analyses were conducted as the GRADE approach was not previously assessed on this topic. The present systematic review and metaanalysis using GRADE was conducted to address the question of whether the available evidence from prospective cohort studies of vegetarian dietary patterns in comparison with nonvegetarian dietary patterns shows an association with reduced risk of major cardiovascular outcomes in individuals with and without diabetes.

## **METHODS**

## **Study Design**

We conducted a systematic review and meta-analysis following the methodology from the Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews and Interventions (14). Reporting followed the Metaanalysis of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (MOOSE) (15) and PRISMA guidelines (www.prisma-statement.org). The study protocol was registered on ClinicalTrials.gov (identifier NCT03610828).

## **Data Sources and Searches**

We searched MEDLINE, EMBASE, and the Cochrane Library (through September 6th, 2018) for relevant prospective cohort studies in humans with no language restrictions. The search strategy is presented in **Supplementary Table 1**. We supplemented the search with manual searches by identifying cohort studies in the reference lists of included studies.

# **Study Selection**

We included studies based on the following PICOS (population, intervention, comparator, outcomes, and study design): Population included individuals of all ages with and without diabetes; intervention included vegetarian dietary patterns; comparator included non-vegetarian dietary patterns; outcomes included major cardiovascular outcomes (CVD, CHD, stroke mortality, and incidence) and study design included prospective cohort studies of  $\geq$ 1-year duration. Vegetarian dietary patterns were considered either as lacto-ovo vegetarian diets, which includes dairy and eggs but excludes all other animal products, or vegan diets, which exclude all animal products including dairy and eggs.

# **Data Extraction**

Two reviewers (AJG and EV or MS) independently reviewed the articles, extracted relevant data, and assessed risk of bias.

## **Risk of Bias**

The Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (NOS), a scoring system developed to assess the quality of nonrandomized studies, was used to assess the risk of bias. The studies are judged on three broad perspectives and can receive up to a total of 9 points. The first section is cohort selection (max 4 points), which includes representativeness of the exposed cohorts, selection of the non-exposed cohort and ascertainment of exposure. The second section is the comparability of cohort (max 2 points), which refers to the appropriate inclusion of confounding variables in the analysis. The last section is adequacy of the outcome measures (max 3 points), which includes assessment of outcome and adequacy of follow-up (16). Studies achieving 6 points or more were considered high quality. Differences were reconciled by consensus.

## Outcomes

There were 6 primary outcomes included in the analysis: CVD mortality, CHD mortality, stroke mortality, CVD incidence, CHD incidence, and stroke incidence. CVD incidence and mortality includes all forms of CVD, including both CHD, and stroke outcomes. CHD includes incidence or mortality from atherosclerosis and/or myocardial infarction. Stroke incidence and mortality includes all forms of stroke, including ischemic, hemorrhagic, and unspecified.

## **Statistical Analyses**

Primary and sensitivity analyses were conducted using Review Manager (RevMan), version 5.3 (Copenhagen, Denmark) and subgroup and publication bias analyses was conducted using STATA software, version 13.0 (College Station, TX, USA).

Individual cohort comparison relative risks (RRs) from the most adjusted models were obtained comparing vegetarian vs. non-vegetarian dietary patterns. Hazard Ratios (HRs) were treated as RRs. To obtain summary estimates, we natural logtransformed the RRs and pooled them using DerSimonian-Laird random effects models (17). Heterogeneity was assessed (Cochran Q statistic) and quantified ( $I^2$  statistic). If  $I^2$  was  $\geq$  50% and p < 0.10, then we interpreted this finding as evidence of substantial heterogeneity (18). Sources of heterogeneity were investigated through sensitivity and subgroup analyses. Sensitivity analyses were performed by systematically removing each study from the meta-analysis with recalculation of the summary estimates in order to assess whether any single study exerted an undue influence on the summary estimates (change of significance and/or direction of association or change of significance of heterogeneity estimate). If  $\geq 10$  cohort comparisons were available, a priori subgroup analyses by sex (female, male), type of vegetarian diet (vegan, lacto-ovo), underlying disease status (i.e., diabetes), follow-up (<10 vs.  $\geq 10$ years), validation of dietary assessment methods (yes vs. no), NOS (<5 vs. >6), and funding source (agency, industry) was conducted using meta-regression. If  $\geq 10$  cohort comparisons were available, publication bias by visual inspection of funnel plots and formal testing using the Begg and Egger tests was conducted (19, 20). When publication bias was suspected, adjustment for funnel plot asymmetry was done by imputing missing study data using the Duval and Tweedie trim and fill method (21).

# Grading of the Evidence

The certainty and strength of the evidence was assessed using the Grading of Recommendations, Assessment, Development, and Evaluation (GRADE) system (18, 22-33). Included observational studies started at low-certainty of evidence by default and then were downgraded or upgraded based on pre-specified criteria. Criteria to downgrade certainty included study limitations (weight of studies showing risk of bias by NOS), inconsistency (substantial unexplained inter-study heterogeneity,  $I^2 \ge 50\%$ and P < 0.10), indirectness (presence of factors relating to the population, exposures and outcomes that limit generalizability), imprecision [95% CIs were wide or crossed a minimally important difference of 5% (RR 0.95-1.05) for all CVD outcomes] and publication bias (significant evidence of smallstudy effects). Criteria to upgrade included a large effect size (RR > 2 or RR < 0.5 in the absence of plausible confounders), a dose-response gradient and attenuation by plausible confounding effects.

# RESULTS

**Figure 1** shows the flow of the literature search. Of the 233 reports found, 6 reports with 7 unique prospective cohort studies met eligibility criteria. The 7 unique cohorts include: EPIC-Oxford (34, 35), Heidelberg Study (36), Adventist Health Study-2 (AHS-2) (37), Adventist Mortality Study (AMS) (38), Adventist Health Study-1 (AHS-1) (38), Oxford Vegetarian Study (39), and Health Food Shoppers Study (39) (**Table 1**). We included


sex-specific data from one cohort (37) as separate comparisons. Therefore, we included 6 cohort comparisons for CVD mortality (144,247 participants, 3,307 cases) (34, 36, 37, 39), 8 cohort comparisons for CHD mortality (197,737 participants, 2,988 cases) (34, 36–39), 5 cohort comparisons for stroke mortality (122,525 participants, 1,113 cases) (34, 38, 39), and 1 cohort comparison for CHD incidence (44,561 participants, 1,235 cases) (35) (**Figure 2; Table 1**). Data from two cohorts (AMS and AHS-1) were extracted from a previous pooled analysis (38). No studies were found that were exclusive to individuals with diabetes or that included subgroup analyses of individuals with diabetes. No studies were found reporting CVD and/or stroke incidence.

## **Study Characteristics**

Table 1 shows the characteristics of the included prospective cohort studies. Participants were from the United States, the United Kingdom and Germany, mostly middle-aged (median age range: 33–58 years) and belonged to specific health-conscious groups (i.e., health food store shoppers, members of vegetarian societies, subscribers to vegetarian magazines, and members of the Seventh-Day Adventist church). Prevalence of individuals in the cohorts who followed a vegetarian dietary pattern ranged from 28 to 62%. While no studies excluded individuals with diabetes, only one cohort (EPIC-Oxford) reported prevalence of diabetes (1%) in their cohort (35) and no cohorts conducted subgroup analyses for individuals with diabetes. The mean follow-up durations ranged from 5.5 to 21 years. There were more female than male participants across all outcomes. Ascertainment of cases was done by

medical record linkage for all cohorts except one (Heidelberg study), which ascertained mortality through death certificates (36). Vegetarian dietary patterns (combined lacto-ovo and/or vegan) were compared to non-vegetarian, or omnivorous, dietary patterns for all outcomes. This was because only one cohort (AHS-2) reported separate disease associations for different types of vegetarian dietary patterns: lacto-ovo and vegan diets (37). Although dietary intake was assessed by a food frequency questionnaire at baseline in most studies, the assignment of vegetarian status was often based on responses to global questions about the consumption of meat, poultry and/or fish. For example, one cohort (Health Food Shoppers) asked the question "Are you vegetarian?" and one cohort (Oxford Vegetarian Study) asked about never eating meat or fish (39). The EPIC-Oxford cohort assigned vegetarian diet status through four questions on diet groups (meat, fish, dairy, and eggs) or through a food frequency questionnaire (FFQ) (34, 35). All studies were funded by agency alone; except for one cohort (Heidelberg Study), which did not report funding sources (36).

**Supplementary Table 2** show the statistical adjustments performed in the included studies. All studies adjusted for the pre-specified primary confounding variable (age). No studies adjusted for all 7 of 9 predefined secondary confounding variables for CVD outcomes (sex, family history of CVD, smoking, markers of overweight/obesity, diabetes, hypertension, dyslipidemia, energy intake, and physical activity) and only one cohort (Oxford Vegetarian Study) adjusted for diabetes status (39).

TABLE 1   Summary of characteristics of prospective cohort studies assessing the associat	tion between vegetarian dietary patterns and major cardiovascular outcomes.
---	---

References	Cohort	Country	No. of participants	% vegetarians	Outcomes	No. of cases	Person- years	Age range, years	Mean follow-up, years (dates)	Diet assessment method to determine vegetarian status	Exposure	Methods of outcome assessment	NOS quality score	Funding source
Crowe et al. (35)	EPIC— Oxford	UK	10,602 (M) 33,959 (W)	34	Incident CHD	1,235	517,960	20–89	11.6 (1993– 2009)	Validated 130-item FFQ and global questions about meat, fish, dairy, and eggs <sup>f</sup>	0	Medical record linkage	7	Agency <sup>a</sup>
Chang- Claude et al. (36)	Heidelberg Study	Germany	858 (M) 1,046 (W)	61.2	CVD + CHD mortality	255 (CVD) 72 (CHD)	NR	10–85	21 (1976– 1999)	FFQ included meat, fish, dairy, and eggs	Vegetarian/ vegan vs. non- vegetarian	Death certificates	6	NR
Orlich et al. (37)	AHS-2	USA	25,105 (M) 48, 203 (W)	28.9	CVD + CHD mortality	987 (CVD) 372 (CHD)	NR	57 <sup>b</sup>	5.79 (2002– 2009)	Validated >200-item FFQ <sup>9</sup>	Vegetarian/ vegan vs. non- vegetarian <sup>d</sup>	National Death Index	6	Agency <sup>a</sup>
Key et al. (38)	Adventist Mortality Study	USA	8,994 (M) 15,544 (W)	41.8	CHD + stroke mortality	598 (CHD) 182 (Stroke)	138, 304	35–80	5.5 (1960– 1965)	21-item FFQ	Vegetarian vs. non- vegetarian	Medical record linkage	6	Agency <sup>a</sup>
Key et al. (38)	AHS-1	USA	12, 214 (M) 16, 738 (W)	27.6	CHD + stroke mortality	921 (CHD) 317 (Stroke)	320, 818	25–89	11.1 (1976– 1988)	>60-item FFQ	Vegetarian vs. non- vegetarian	Medical record linkage	6	Agency <sup>a</sup>
Key et al. (34)	EPIC— Oxford	UK	11, 324 (M) 35, 930 (W)	34	CVD, CHD + stroke mortality	479 (CVD) 213 (CHD) 159 (Stroke)	506, 620	20–89	8–14 <sup>c</sup> (1993– 2007)	Validated 130-item FFQ and global questions about meat, fish, dairy and eggs <sup>f</sup>	Vegetarian/ vegan vs. non- vegetarian <sup>e</sup>	linkage	7	Agency <sup>a</sup>
Appleby et al. (39)	Oxford Vegetarian Study	UK	4,174 (M) 6,871 (W)	42	CVD, CHD + stroke mortality	469 (CVD) 250 (CHD) 125 (Stroke)	NR	16–89	17.6 (1980– 2000)	Never ate meat or fish statement	Vegetarian vs. non- vegetarian	Medical record linkage	5	Agency <sup>a</sup>
Appleby et al. (39)	Health Food Shoppers	UK	4,325 (M) 6,411 (W)	43	CVD, CHD + stroke mortality	1,117 (CVD) 562 (CHD) 330 (Stroke)	NR	16–89	18.7 (1973– 1999)	"Are you vegetarian?" question	Vegetarian vs. non- vegetarian	Medical record linkage	6	Agency <sup>a</sup>

AHS-1, Adventist Health Study-1; AHS-2, Adventist Health Study-2; CHD, coronary heart disease; CVD, cardiovascular disease; EPIC, European Prospective Investigation Into Cancer; FFQ, food frequency questionnaire; M, men; NR, not reported; NOS, Newcastle-Ottawa Scale; USA, United States; UK, United Kingdom; W, women.

<sup>a</sup>Agency funding is that from government, university or not-for-profit health agency sources.

<sup>b</sup>Mean age.

June 2019 | Volume 6 | Article 80

<sup>c</sup>Range of years of follow-up.

<sup>d</sup>Reported disease associations for other forms of vegetarianism in original publication (i.e., vegan, lacto-ovo, pescatarian, semi-vegetarian); only overall vegetarian diet included in current analysis.

<sup>e</sup> Reported disease associations for pescatarians in original publication; combined vegetarian and vegan diet data included in current analysis.

<sup>f</sup>Vegetarian dietary pattern determined by 4 global questions relating to never eating meat, fish, dairy or eggs or by intake of relevant food items reported in FFQ (first 1,300 participants); FFQ validated for nutrients only.

<sup>g</sup>Vegetarian dietary pattern determined by intake of food items of animal origin reported on FFQ; FFQ validated for animal foods/food groups.

Glenn et al

#### **Risk of Bias Assessment**

**Supplementary Table 3** shows the NOS scores for the included prospective cohort studies. Although several studies lost points in several domains, only one cohort (Oxford Vegetarian Study) showed evidence of serious risk of bias (NOS <6) (39).

# Vegetarian Dietary Patterns and CVD Mortality

**Figure 2** and **Supplementary Figure 1** show the association between vegetarian dietary patterns and CVD mortality (6 cohort comparisons, 144,247 participants and 3,307 cases). We found no significant association (RR 0.92, 95% CI 0.84, 1.02, p = 0.13) with no evidence of heterogeneity ( $I^2 = 34\%$ , P = 0.18) when we compared vegetarian dietary patterns to non-vegetarian dietary patterns.

# Vegetarian Dietary Patterns and CHD Mortality

**Figure 2** and **Supplementary Figure 2** show the association between vegetarian dietary patterns with CHD mortality (8 cohort comparisons, 197 737 participants and 2,988 cases). We found a protective association (RR 0.78, 95% CI 0.69, 0.88, p < 0.0001) with no evidence of substantial heterogeneity ( $I^2 = 46\%$ , P = 0.07) when we compared vegetarian dietary patterns to non-vegetarian dietary patterns.

# Vegetarian Dietary Patterns and Stroke Mortality

**Figure 2** and **Supplementary Figure 3** show the association between vegetarian dietary patterns with stroke mortality (5 cohort comparisons, 122,525 unique participants and 1,113 cases). We found no significant association (RR 0.92, 95% CI 0.77, 1.10, p = 0.36) with no evidence of heterogeneity ( $I^2 = 44\%$ , P = 0.13) when we compared vegetarian dietary patterns to non-vegetarian dietary patterns.

# Vegetarian Dietary Patterns and CHD Incidence

**Figure 2** shows the association between vegetarian dietary patterns with CHD incidence (1 cohort comparison, 44,561 participants and 1,235 cases). We found a protective association (RR 0.72, 95% CI 0.61, 0.85) in this cohort between vegetarian dietary patterns and CHD incidence. As only one cohort comparison was found, a test for overall effect or heterogeneity was not possible.

# **Sensitivity Analyses**

**Supplementary Table 4** show the sensitivity analyses involving the systematic removal of each study for CVD, CHD and stroke mortality, respectively. For CVD mortality, removing each study did not change the direction or significance of the result, or result in significant heterogeneity. For CHD mortality, the direction or significance of the association did not change, however, individually removing the Adventist Mortality Study, the Heidelberg Study, the Adventist Health Study-2 (men), the Adventist Health Study-2 (women), and EPIC-Oxford introduced significant heterogeneity. Similarly, for stroke mortality, the direction or significance of the association did not change, however, individually removing the Adventist Health Study-1 and the Health Food Shoppers study introduced evidence of substantial heterogeneity.

## Subgroup and Publication Bias Analyses

Subgroup and publication bias analyses were not undertaken as there were <10 cohort comparisons available for each of the CVD outcomes.

#### **GRADE** Assessment

Figure 2 and Supplementary Table 5 show the GRADE assessments for the association between vegetarian dietary patterns and each CVD outcome. The evidence was rated as very low certainty for all outcomes. CVD and stroke mortality were rated as very low certainty owing to downgrades for serious imprecision and indirectness. CHD mortality was rated as very low-certainty owing to downgrades for serious indirectness. All mortality outcomes were downgraded for indirectness as the majority of the studies (comprising of 84-91% of weight in pooled analyses) were done in participants who belonged to specific health-conscious groups (e.g., vegetarian societies, health food store shoppers, subscribers to vegetarian magazines, or were members of the Seventh-day Adventist church). In addition, outcomes were downgraded for indirectness due to the lack of exclusive to or subgroups analyses in patients with diabetes. CHD incidence was rated as very low certainty due to serious indirectness (only one cohort was included in the analysis). Publication bias and a dose-response relationship were not assessed due to limited cohort comparisons.

# DISCUSSION

# **Summary of Main Findings**

The present systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies including individuals with and without diabetes assessed the association between vegetarian dietary patterns (combined lacto-ovo and vegan) and major cardiovascular outcomes. A total of 8 cohort comparisons were included in the analysis: 6 for CVD mortality (144,247 participants and 3,307 cases), 8 for CHD mortality (197,737 participants and 2,988 cases), 5 for stroke mortality (122,525 participants and 1,113 cases), and 1 for CHD incidence (44,561 participants and 1,235 cases) (34-39). Pooled analyses showed that vegetarian dietary patterns were associated with a 22% decrease in CHD mortality and 28% decrease in CHD incidence. Vegetarian dietary patterns were not associated with reductions in CVD and stroke mortality. These findings will provide important evidence to update the clinical practice guidelines for nutrition therapy of the EASD on vegetarian dietary patterns.

## **Results in Relation to Other Studies**

Our results are consistent with systematic-reviews and metaanalyses of prospective cohorts previously conducted in this area, where vegetarian dietary patterns were associated with a 25% reduced risk of CHD mortality (2). The same study also found that vegetarian dietary patterns were not significantly

											GRA	DE			
									Do	wngr	ade	U	ograde	-	
CVD Outcome	No. Cohort Comparisons	No. Cases	No. Participants	Risk ratio [95% Cls]		P	Hete I <sup>2</sup>	erogeneity P	Risk of Bias Inconsistency	Indirectness	Imprecision Publication bias	Dose response	Large effect size Attenuation	Certainty of the	Evidence
CVD MORTALITY	6	3,307	144,247	0.92 [0.84, 1.02]	-	0.13	34%	0.18						⊕000	Very Low
CHD MORTALITY	8	2,988		0.78 [0.69, 0.88]		<0.0001		0.07						⊕000	Very Low
STROKE MORTALITY	5	1,113	122,525	0.92 [0.77, 1.10]		0.36	44%	0.13						⊕000	Very Low
CHD INCIDENCE	1	1,235	44,561	0.72 [0.61, 0.85]	-	NA	NA	NA						⊕000	Very Low
					0.50 0.75 1.00 1.25 1.50										

**FIGURE 2** Summary of the pooled effect estimates and certainty of evidence of prospective cohort studies assessing the association between vegetarian dietary patterns and major cardiovascular outcomes. Pooled risk estimate is represented by the diamond. Values of  $l^2 \ge 50\%$  indicate substantial heterogeneity (18). Values > 1.0 indicate an adverse association. The Grading of Recommendations, Assessment, Development, and Evaluation (GRADE) of prospective cohort studies are rated as "Low" certainty of evidence and can be downgraded by 5 domains and upgraded by 3 domains. The filled black squares indicate downgrade and/or upgrades for each outcome. CHD, coronary heart disease; CI, confidence interval; CVD, cardiovascular disease; NA, not applicable.

associated with CVD and stroke mortality. While similar studies were included in both this study and the most recent past systematic reviews and meta-analyses (2), there were slight differences in methodology (i.e., we included sex-specific analysis as different comparisons when possible), and the study did not include a GRADE assessment of the certainty of the evidence, an important assessment for providing evidencebased recommendations for healthcare professionals and to identify knowledge gaps. Systematic reviews and meta-analyses of prospective cohort studies have also consistently shown that increased meat consumption has been associated with increased CVD outcomes, including CHD and stroke (40-43). Furthermore, the evidence from systematic reviews and metaanalyses of randomized controlled trials of intermediate CVD risk factors, including LDL-C, total cholesterol, BP and body weight, found that vegetarian dietary patterns and replacing animal protein with plant protein can significantly reduce these CVD risk factors compared to non-vegetarian dietary patterns or consuming animal protein (3-5, 44, 45).

We were unable to assess the quality of the vegetarian dietary patterns consumed in our pooled analysis due to the limited information on the exposure provided in the cohorts. This highlights an area to be considered in future studies as these aspects may be important for CVD prevention. Recently, an analysis of the Nurse's Health Study and Health Professionals Follow-up Study found that a healthy plant-based dietary pattern (which may or may not be vegetarian) was associated with reduced risk of CHD, whereas an unhealthy plant-based diet high in refined carbohydrates was associated with an increased risk of CHD (46). This finding suggests that the quality of a vegetarian dietary pattern may also be important and that healthy plant-based dietary patterns that include small amounts of meat, poultry or fish may also reduce risk of CHD. We were also unable to separate different types of vegetarian dietary patterns (e.g., vegan) in our pooled analysis due to limited sample size of vegans, highlighting another area to be considered in future studies. Vegan dietary patterns may impact health outcomes differently, as evidenced by an analysis of the Seventh-Day Adventist cohorts which showed that vegan dietary patterns may offer additional CVD protection, particularly in males (47).

## **Potential Mechanisms**

Several potential mechanisms may explain the protective association found with CHD in our systematic review and metaanalysis and for the cardioprotective effects of vegetarian dietary patterns found in randomized controlled trials. Vegetarian dietary patterns are typically higher in whole grains, fruits, vegetables, nuts, pulses and soy compared to non-vegetarian dietary patterns (48). This difference in eating pattern results in a diet that is typically higher in fiber, phytochemicals (e.g., antioxidants and plant sterols), plant protein, plantbased unsaturated fatty acids, and lower in energy density and saturated fat, factors that have been shown to reduce CVD risk factors and impact overall CVD health through both intrinsic and food displacement mechanisms (1, 5, 45, 49-53). A lower intake of saturated fat may explain the association of reduced risk with CHD, as high saturated fat diets have been shown to increase LDL-C (54), and LDL-C is a known causal factor in the development of atherosclerosis and CHD (55). Other novel mechanisms include reduced intake of heme iron from animal products (56-59) and less trimethyl Noxide (TMAO) production (60), as higher intake and levels have both been associated with increased CVD events (56-60). Similar mechanisms may also play a role in reduced CVD and stroke incidence or mortality, however, we did not find protective associations of vegetarian dietary patterns with CVD or stroke mortality.

## **Strengths and Limitations**

The strengths of this study are that we identified all available prospective cohort studies through a systematic search strategy, performed quantitative syntheses and assessed the certainty

of the evidence using the GRADE approach. The inability to rule out residual confounding is a limitation inherent in all observational research and explains why prospective cohort studies start at a GRADE of low certainty. Potential sources of residual confounding include reverse causality, the reliability of self-report dietary intake (61) and measurement of the exposure to vegetarian and non-vegetarian dietary patterns, measured and unmeasured confounders included in statistical models, and important collinearity effects from related dietary and lifestyle factors. In particular, as diet was only assessed at baseline in each cohort, we cannot determine if individuals changed their diet over time to include meat or fish, which could lead to misclassification of vegetarian diets during followup (62). Some self-reported vegetarians may also consume small amounts of meat and fish, which could also result in misclassification of their diet (63). Another important limitation is indirectness of the study populations. We downgraded the certainty of the evidence for all of the mortality outcomes for serious indirectness, as the majority of the studies (comprising of 84-91% of weight in pooled analyses) were conducted in participants who belonged to specific health-conscious groups (e.g., vegetarian societies, health food store shoppers, subscribers to vegetarian magazines, or were members of the Seventh-day Adventist church) and the populations did not provide subgroup analysis of individuals with diabetes, limiting generalizability. We also downgraded the certainty of the evidence for CHD incidence for indirectness as it was limited to one cohort from the UK. Furthermore, there were no available prospective cohort studies that assessed the relationship of vegetarian dietary patterns with CVD and/or stroke incidence. A final limitation was imprecision. We downgraded CVD and stroke mortality for serious imprecision as the 95% CIs were wide and could not rule out clinically important benefit and/or harm.

Weighing the strengths and limitations of the evidence, the certainty of evidence was considered to be very low certainty for each CVD outcome, owing to downgrades of indirectness due to the limitations of the populations included for all outcomes, and downgrades of imprecision for CVD and stroke mortality.

## Implications

Although the evidence has been rated as very low certainty for all CVD outcomes, if we consider the current study results with findings from systematic reviews and meta-analyses of randomized controlled trials of vegetarian dietary patterns and findings from systematic reviews and meta-analyses of meat consumption in prospective cohort studies, we are provided with further and better quality evidence that vegetarian dietary patterns may be beneficial for CVD risk reduction. The evidence for vegetarian dietary patterns in CVD risk reduction is not only important for clinical practice and dietary guidelines to consider for individual health, but also for growing consumer concerns regarding climate change and animal welfare.

All prospective cohorts included in this analysis were conducted in North America or Europe, where following a vegetarian dietary pattern may be more beneficial for health than other areas in the world where small amounts of meat may improve nutritional status. Globally, in North America and Europe, the number of reported vegetarians is increasing but still remains low, with recent surveys in estimating 10% of the population follows a vegetarian or vegan diet (64-67). This highlights that there is room to shift more individuals toward this healthy dietary pattern as one strategy to improve cardiovascular health, including individuals who have diabetes. Interestingly, recent surveys have reported that 33% of Americans plan to buy more plant-based products in the next year (68), and in Europe recent surveys have indicated that 45% of consumers in Italy and France, 57% in Germany and 61% in Spain report that they regularly include meat-free days in their diet (69). Despite this increased interest in plant-based foods, there is some evidence from a small study in Canada that healthcare professionals are hesitant to recommend vegetarian dietary patterns as they are perceived as too difficult to follow (70). Moreover, the same study reported that 89% of patients living with diabetes did not know a vegetarian dietary pattern was an option to manage their disease and help prevent future CVD, however, 66% reported they would be willing to try the diet with the right support (70). Further, evidence supports that vegetarian dietary patterns have been shown to be as acceptable as other therapeutic diets, suggesting their suitability for long-term use (71-73).

The expanding plant-based food market and availability of vegetarian products in grocery stores and restaurants indicates that this dietary pattern may become easier to follow in the future. As mentioned previously, other implications of a vegetarian dietary pattern for ethical and environmental reasons may also be in line with the values and preferences of some individuals (74, 75). Many scientists have called for significant reductions in the consumption of animal products for sustainable planetary health, in which a vegetarian dietary pattern would fit, as recently described in the global scientific targets of the EAT-Lancet Commission (76). Given these consumer trends and concerns, healthcare professionals may have more clients interested in this dietary pattern. Therefore, there is an opportunity for healthcare professionals to consider a vegetarian dietary pattern as one dietary strategy, along with other dietary patterns such as the Mediterranean and Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension (DASH), to reduce CVD risk in their patients. Clinical practice guidelines, such as the EASD, should consider developing appropriate resources and tools for healthcare professionals to effectively counsel their patients and address barriers of those interested in following a vegetarian or more plant-based diet (77). Lastly, healthcare professionals can work with their clients to develop a vegetarian dietary pattern that is appropriately planned to ensure adequate nutrient intake, and to ensure that a reliable source of vitamin B12 is included in the diet of those following a vegan dietary pattern (65).

# CONCLUSIONS

In conclusion, vegetarian dietary patterns were associated with a reduced risk of CHD mortality and incidence but were not associated with reductions in CVD and stroke mortality in predominantly middle-aged participants with and without diabetes. These findings and GRADE assessment provide a very low certainty of evidence for all CVD outcomes, which will be included in the EASD clinical practice guidelines for nutrition therapy. Sources of uncertainty include the observational study design from which one cannot infer causality, indirectness due to the specific groups studied, and imprecision in the pooled estimates for CVD and stroke mortality. Additional research will have an important influence on the certainty of our estimates. In the absence of randomized controlled trials, additional well-conducted prospective cohort studies in other populations assessing the relationship of vegetarian dietary patterns on CVD outcomes are needed. Future studies should also assess if there are differences between different forms of vegetarianism (e.g., vegan) and the nutritional quality of the vegetarian dietary patterns. There is also a need to assess the role of vegetarian dietary patterns in CVD prevention in patients with diabetes, as there were no studies exclusively in individuals with diabetes and no subgroups analyses conducted in those with diabetes. Lastly, and more importantly, there is a need for more high-quality evidence from large randomized trials assessing the effect of vegetarian dietary patterns on hard CVD outcomes in individuals with and without diabetes.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

AG, HK, DR, JS-S, CK, and JS conceived and designed the study. All authors analyzed and/or interpreted the data. AG wrote the first draft of the manuscript. All authors revised the article critically for important intellectual content, gave final approval of the version to be published and agreed to be accountable for all aspects of the work.

#### FUNDING

The Diabetes and Nutrition Study Group (DNSG) of the European Association for the Study of Diabetes (EASD) commissioned this systematic review and meta-analysis and provided funding and logistical support for meetings as part of their development of clinical practice guidelines for nutrition

#### REFERENCES

- Satija A, Hu FB. Plant-based diets and cardiovascular health. *Trends Cardiovasc Med.* (2018) 28:437–41. doi: 10.1016/j.tcm.2018. 02.004
- Dinu M, Abbate R, Gensini GF, Casini A, Sofi F. Vegetarian, vegan diets and multiple health outcomes: a systematic review with metaanalysis of observational studies. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr.* (2017) 57:3640–9. doi: 10.1080/10408398.2016.1138447
- Yokoyama Y, Nishimura K, Barnard ND, Takegami M, Watanabe M, Sekikawa A, et al. Vegetarian diets and blood pressure: a meta-analysis. *JAMA Intern Med.* (2014) 174:577–87. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2013. 14547
- Yokoyama Y, Levin SM, Barnard ND. Association between plant-based diets and plasma lipids: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Nutr Rev.* (2017) 75:683–98. doi: 10.1093/nutrit/nux030
- Viguiliouk E, Kendall CW, Kahleova H, Rahelic D, Salas-Salvado J, Choo VL, et al. Effect of vegetarian dietary patterns on cardiometabolic risk factors in diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Clin Nutr.* (2018) 38:1133–45. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2018. 05.032.

therapy. This work was also supported by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (funding reference number, 129920) through the Canada-wide Human Nutrition Trialists' Network (NTN). The Diet, Digestive tract, and Disease (3-D) Center, funded through the Canada Foundation for Innovation (CFI) and the Ministry of Research and Innovation's Ontario Research Fund (ORF), provided the infrastructure for the conduct of this project. DJ was funded by the Government of Canada through the Canada Research Chair Endowment. JS was funded by a PSI Graham Farquharson Knowledge Translation Fellowship, Diabetes Canada Clinician Scientist award (grant number, CS-5-15-4771-JS), CIHR INMD/CNS New Investigator Partnership Prize, and Banting & Best Diabetes Center Sun Life Financial New Investigator Award. With the exception of the Diabetes and Nutrition Study Group (DNSG) of the European Association for the Study of Diabetes (EASD) guidelines committee, none of the sponsors had a role in any aspect of the present study, including design, and conduct of the study; collection, management, analysis, and interpretation of the data; and preparation, review, approval of the manuscript or decision to publish. The corresponding authors had full access to all the data in the study and had final responsibility for the decision to submit for publication.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Aspects of this work were presented at the 36th International Symposium on Diabetes and Nutrition, Opatija, Croatia, June 27–30, 2018 and the 21st Diabetes Canada Professional Conference & Annual Meeting, Halifax, Canada, October 11–13, 2018.

#### SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2019. 00080/full#supplementary-material

- USDA. Dietary Guidelines for Amercians 2015-2020. (2015). Available online at: https://health.gov/dietaryguidelines/2015/resources/2015-2020\_Dietary\_ Guidelines.pdf.
- Anderson TJ, Gregoire J, Pearson GJ, Barry AR, Couture P, Dawes M, et al. 2016 Canadian cardiovascular society guidelines for the management of dyslipidemia for the prevention of cardiovascular disease in the adult. *Can* J Cardiol. (2016) 32:1263–82. doi: 10.1016/j.cjca.2016.07.510
- Sievenpiper JL, Chan CB, Dworatzek PD, Freeze C, Williams SL. Nutrition therapy. *Can J Diabetes*. (2018) 42 (Suppl. 1):S64–79. doi: 10.1016/j.jcjd.2017.10.009
- ADA. 4 Lifestyle management: standards of medical care in diabetes-2018. Diabetes Care. (2018) 41(Suppl. 1), S38–50. doi: 10.2337/dc18-S004
- Dyson PA, Twenefour D, Breen C, Duncan A, Elvin E, Goff L, et al. Diabetes UK evidence-based nutrition guidelines for the prevention and management of diabetes. *Diabet Med.* (2018) 35:541–7. doi: 10.1111/dme.13603
- Mann JI, De Leeuw I, Hermansen K, Karamanos B, Karlstrom B, Katsilambros N, et al. Evidence-based nutritional approaches to the treatment and prevention of diabetes mellitus. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* (2004) 14:373–94. doi: 10.1016/S0939-4753(04)80028-0
- 12. Haffner SM, Lehto S, Ronnemaa T, Pyorala K, Laakso M. Mortality from coronary heart disease in subjects with type 2 diabetes and in nondiabetic

subjects with and without prior myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med. (1998) 339:229-34. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199807233390404

- Booth GL, Kapral MK, Fung K, Tu JV. Relation between age and cardiovascular disease in men and women with diabetes compared with nondiabetic people: a population-based retrospective cohort study. *Lancet.* (2006) 368:29–36. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(06)68967-8
- Higgins JPT, Green S. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0 [updated March 2011]. The Cochrane Collaboration. (2011). Available online at: www.cochranehandbook.org (accessed September 8, 2018).
- Stroup DF, Berlin JA, Morton SC, Olkin I, Williamson GD, Rennie D, et al. Meta-analysis of observational studies in epidemiology: a proposal for reporting. *JAMA*. (2000) 283:2008–12. doi: 10.1001/jama.28 3.15.2008
- Wells GA, Shea B, O'Connell D, Peterson J, Welch V, Losos M, et al. *The* Newcastle–Ottawa Scale (NOS) for Assessing the Quality of Nonrandomised Studies in Meta-Analyses. (2014). Ottawa: Ottawa Hospital Research Institute. Available online at: www.ohri.ca/programs/clinical\_epidemiology/oxford.asp (accessed May 8, 2018).
- 17. DerSimonian R, Laird N. Meta-analysis in clinical trials. *Control Clin Trials.* (1986) 7:177–88.
- Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Kunz R, Woodcock J, Brozek J, Helfand M, et al. GRADE guidelines: 7. Rating the quality of evidence—inconsistency. J Clin Epidemiol. (2011) 64:1294–302. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2011.03.017
- Begg CB, Mazumdar M. Operating characteristics of a rank correlation test for publication bias. *Biometrics*. (1994) 50:1088–101.
- 20. Egger M, Davey Smith G, Schneider M, Minder C. Bias in meta-analysis detected by a simple, graphical test. *BMJ*. (1997) 315:629–34.
- Duval S, Tweedie R. Trim and fill: A simple funnel-plot-based method of testing and adjusting for publication bias in meta-analysis. *Biometrics*. (2000) 56:455–63. doi: 10.1111/j.0006-341X.2000.00455.x
- Balshem H, Helfand M, Schunemann HJ, Oxman AD, Kunz R, Brozek J, et al. GRADE guidelines: 3. Rating the quality of evidence. *J Clin Epidemiol*. (2011) 64:401–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2010.07.015
- Guyatt G, Oxman AD, Akl EA, Kunz R, Vist G, Brozek J, et al. GRADE guidelines: 1. Introduction-GRADE evidence profiles and summary of findings tables. *J Clin Epidemiol.* (2011) 64:383–94. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2010.04.026
- Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Kunz R, Atkins D, Brozek J, Vist G, et al. GRADE guidelines: 2. framing the question and deciding on important outcomes J Clin Epidemiol. (2011) 64:395–400. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2010. 09.012
- Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Kunz R, Brozek J, Alonso-Coello P, Rind D, et al. GRADE guidelines 6. rating the quality of evidence—imprecision. J Clin Epidemiol. (2011) 64:1283–93. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2011.01.012
- Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Kunz R, Woodcock J, Brozek J, Helfand M, et al. GRADE guidelines: 8. Rating the quality of evidence-indirectness. J Clin Epidemiol. (2011) 64:1303–10. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2011.04.014
- Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Montori V, Vist G, Kunz R, Brozek J, et al. GRADE guidelines: 5. rating the quality of evidence–publication bias *J Clin Epidemiol*. (2011) 64:1277–82. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2011.01.011
- Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Sultan S, Glasziou P, Akl EA, Alonso-Coello P, et al. GRADE guidelines: 9. rating up the quality of evidence. *J Clin Epidemiol.* (2011) 64:1311–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2011.06.004
- Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Vist G, Kunz R, Brozek J, Alonso-Coello P, et al. GRADE guidelines: 4. rating the quality of evidence–study limitations (risk of bias). J Clin Epidemiol. (2011) 64:407–15. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2010.07.017
- Brunetti M, Shemilt I, Pregno S, Vale L, Oxman AD, Lord J, et al. GRADE guidelines: 10. considering resource use and rating the quality of economic evidence. J Clin Epidemiol. (2013) 66:140–50. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2012.04.012
- Guyatt G, Oxman AD, Sultan S, Brozek J, Glasziou P, Alonso-Coello P, et al. GRADE guidelines: 11. making an overall rating of confidence in effect estimates for a single outcome and for all outcomes. *J Clin Epidemiol.* (2013) 66:151–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2012.01.006
- Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Santesso N, Helfand M, Vist G, Kunz R, et al. GRADE guidelines: 12. preparing summary of findings tables-binary outcomes. J Clin Epidemiol. (2013) 66:158–72. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2012.01.012

- Guyatt GH, Thorlund K, Oxman AD, Walter SD, Patrick D, Furukawa TA, et al. GRADE guidelines: 13. preparing summary of findings tables and evidence profiles-continuous outcomes J Clin Epidemiol. (2013) 66:173–83. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2012.08.001
- Key TJ, Appleby PN, Spencer EA, Travis RC, Roddam AW, Allen NE. Mortality in British vegetarians: results from the European prospective investigation into cancer and nutrition (EPIC-Oxford). *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2009) 89:1613S–9S. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.2009.26736L
- 35. Crowe FL, Appleby PN, Travis RC, Key TJ. Risk of hospitalization or death from ischemic heart disease among British vegetarians and nonvegetarians: results from the EPIC-Oxford cohort study. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2013) 97:597– 603. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.112.044073
- Chang-Claude J, Hermann S, Eilber U, Steindorf K. Lifestyle determinants and mortality in German vegetarians and health-conscious persons: results of a 21-year follow-up. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* (2005) 14:963–8. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-04-0696
- Orlich MJ, Singh PN, Sabate J, Jaceldo-Siegl K, Fan J, Knutsen S, et al. Vegetarian dietary patterns and mortality in Adventist Health Study 2. JAMA Intern Med. (2013) 173:1230–8. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2013.6473
- Key TJ, Fraser GE, Thorogood M, Appleby PN, Beral V, Reeves G, et al. Mortality in vegetarians and non-vegetarians: a collaborative analysis of 8300 deaths among 76,000 men and women in five prospective studies. *Public Health Nutr.* (1998) 1:33–41.
- Appleby PN, Key TJ, Thorogood M, Burr ML, Mann J. Mortality in British vegetarians. *Public Health Nutr.* (2002) 5:29–36. doi: 10.1079/PHN2001248
- Wang X, Lin X, Ouyang YY, Liu J, Zhao G, Pan A, et al. Red and processed meat consumption and mortality: dose-response meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Public Health Nutr.* (2016) 19:893–905. doi: 10.1017/S1368980015002062
- Yang C, Pan L, Sun C, Xi Y, Wang L, Li D. Red meat consumption and the risk of stroke: a dose-response meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis. (2016) 25:1177–86. doi: 10.1016/j.jstrokecerebrovasdis.2016.01.040
- 42. Bechthold A, Boeing H, Schwedhelm C, Hoffmann G, Knuppel S, Iqbal K, et al. Food groups and risk of coronary heart disease, stroke and heart failure: a systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr.* (2019) 59:1071–90. doi: 10.1080/10408398.2017.1392288
- 43. Kim K, Hyeon J, Lee SA, Kwon SO, Lee H, Keum N, et al. Role of total, red, processed, and white meat consumption in stroke incidence and mortality: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective cohort Studies. *J Am Heart Assoc.* (2017) 6:5983. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.117.005983
- Barnard ND, Levin SM, Yokoyama Y. A systematic review and meta-analysis of changes in body weight in clinical trials of vegetarian diets. J Acad Nutr Diet. (2015) 115:954–69. doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2014.11.016
- 45. Li SS, Blanco Mejia S, Lytvyn L, Stewart SE, Viguiliouk E, Ha V, et al. Effect of plant protein on blood lipids: a systematic review and metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. J Am Heart Assoc. (2017) 6:6659. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.117.006659
- 46. Satija A, Bhupathiraju SN, Spiegelman D, Chiuve SE, Manson JE, Willett W, et al. Healthful and unhealthful plant-based diets and the risk of coronary heart disease in U.S. Adults. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2017) 70:411–22. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2017.05.047
- Le LT, Sabate J. Beyond meatless, the health effects of vegan diets: findings from the Adventist cohorts. *Nutrients*. (2014) 6:2131–47. doi: 10.3390/nu6062131
- Orlich MJ, Jaceldo-Siegl K, Sabate J, Fan J, Singh PN, Fraser GE. Patterns of food consumption among vegetarians and non-vegetarians. *Br J Nutr.* (2014) 112:1644–53. doi: 10.1017/S000711451400261X
- Jenkins DJ, Mirrahimi A, Srichaikul K, Berryman CE, Wang L, Carleton A, et al. Soy protein reduces serum cholesterol by both intrinsic and food displacement mechanisms. *J Nutr.* (2010) 140:2302S–11S. doi: 10.3945/jn.110.124958
- Blanco Mejia S, Kendall CW, Viguiliouk E, Augustin LS, Ha V, Cozma AI, et al. Effect of tree nuts on metabolic syndrome criteria: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *BMJ Open.* (2014) 4:e004660. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2013-004660
- 51. Ha V, Sievenpiper JL, de Souza RJ, Jayalath VH, Mirrahimi A, Agarwal A, et al. Effect of dietary pulse intake on established therapeutic lipid

targets for cardiovascular risk reduction: a systematic review and metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. *CMAJ.* (2014) 186:E252-262. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.131727

- Jayalath VH, de Souza RJ, Sievenpiper JL, Ha V, Chiavaroli L, Mirrahimi A, et al. Effect of dietary pulses on blood pressure: a systematic review and meta-analysis of controlled feeding trials. Am J Hypertens. (2014) 27:56–64. doi: 10.1093/ajh/hpt155
- 53. Viguiliouk E, Blanco Mejia S, Kendall CW, Sievenpiper JL. Can pulses play a role in improving cardiometabolic health? Evidence from systematic reviews and meta-analyses. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* (2017) 1392:43–57. doi: 10.1111/nyas.13312
- Siri-Tarino PW, Sun Q, Hu FB, Krauss RM. Saturated fat, carbohydrate, and cardiovascular disease. Am J Clin Nutr. (2010) 91:502–9. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.2008.26285
- Ference BA, Ginsberg HN, Graham I, Ray KK, Packard CJ, Bruckert E, et al. Low-density lipoproteins cause atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease.
   Evidence from genetic, epidemiologic, and clinical studies. A consensus statement from the European Atherosclerosis Society Consensus Panel. *Eur Heart J.* (2017) 38:2459–72. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehx144
- Ascherio A, Willett WC, Rimm EB, Giovannucci EL, Stampfer MJ. Dietary iron intake and risk of coronary disease among men. *Circulation*. (1994) 89:969–74.
- Lee DH, Folsom AR, Jacobs DR Jr. Iron, zinc, and alcohol consumption and mortality from cardiovascular diseases: the Iowa Women's Health Study. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2005) 81:787–91. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/81.4.787
- van der AD, Peeters PH, Grobbee DE, Marx JJ, van der Schouw YT. Dietary haem iron and coronary heart disease in women. *Eur Heart J.* (2005) 26, 257–62. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehi027
- 59. de Oliveira Otto MC, Alonso A, Lee DH, Delclos GL, Bertoni AG, Jiang R, et al. Dietary intakes of zinc and heme iron from red meat, but not from other sources, are associated with greater risk of metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular disease. *J Nutr.* (2012) 142:526–33. doi: 10.3945/jn.111. 149781
- Heianza Y, Ma W, Manson JE, Rexrode KM, Qi L. Gut microbiota metabolites and risk of major adverse cardiovascular disease events and death: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective studies. *J Am Heart Assoc.* (2017) 6:4947. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.116.004947
- Dhurandhar NV, Schoeller D, Brown AW, Heymsfield SB, Thomas D, Sorensen TI, et al. Energy balance measurement: when something is not better than nothing. *Int J Obes.* (2015) 39:1109–13. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2014.199
- Willett W. Lessons from dietary studies in Adventists and questions for the future. Am J Clin Nutr. (2003) 78(Suppl. 3):539S-43S. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/78.3.539S
- Haddad EH, Tanzman JS. What do vegetarians in the United States eat? Am J Clin Nutr. (2003) 78(Suppl. 3):626S-32S. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/78. 3.626S
- 64. Ipsos. Vegan Society Poll. Available online at: https://www.ipsos.com/ipsosmori/en-uk/vegan-society-poll (accessed September 8, 2018).
- Melina V, Craig W, Levin S. Position of the academy of nutrition and dietetics: vegetarian diets. J Acad Nutr Diet. (2016) 116:1970–80. doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2016.09.025
- 66. Portal TS. Share of people who follow a vegetarian diet worldwide as of 2016, by region. (2016). Available online at: https://www.statista.com/ statistics/597408/vegetarian-diet-followers-worldwide-by-region/ (accessed September 8, 2018).
- Charlebois S. More Than 3 Million Canadians Vegetarian or Vegan: Study. CTV News. (2018). Available online at: https://www.ctvnews.ca/canada/ more-than-3-million-canadians-vegetarian-or-vegan-study-1.4027606 (accessed September 8, 2018).
- Nielsen. Plant-Based Proteins are Gaining Dollar Share Among North Americans. (2017). Available online at: https://www.nielsen.com/us/en/ insights/news/2017/plant-based-proteins-are-gaining-dollar-share-amongnorth-americans.html (accessed September 8, 2018).
- Mintel. 2018 Summer Food and Drink Trends. (2018). Available online at: https://www.mintel.com/summer-food-drink-trends (accessed September 8, 2018).
- 70. Lee V, McKay T, Ardern CI. Awareness and perception of plant-based diets for the treatment and management of type 2 diabetes in a community education

clinic: a pilot study. J Nutr Metab. (2015) 2015:236234. doi: 10.1155/2015/ 236234

- Barnard ND, Scialli AR, Turner-McGrievy G, Lanou AJ. Acceptability of a low-fat vegan diet compares favorably to a step II diet in a randomized, controlled trial. J Cardiopulm Rehabil. (2004) 24:229–35. doi: 10.1097/00008483-200407000-00004
- 72. Barnard ND, Gloede L, Cohen J, Jenkins DJ, Turner-McGrievy G, Green AA, et al. A low-fat vegan diet elicits greater macronutrient changes, but is comparable in adherence and acceptability, compared with a more conventional diabetes diet among individuals with type 2 diabetes. J Am Diet Assoc. (2009) 109:263–72. doi: 10.1016/j.jada.2008.10.049
- Katcher HI, Ferdowsian HR, Hoover VJ, Cohen JL, Barnard ND. A worksite vegan nutrition program is well-accepted and improves health-related quality of life and work productivity. *Ann Nutr Metab.* (2010) 56:245–52. doi: 10.1159/000288281
- 74. Fox N, Ward K. Health, ethics and environment: a qualitative study of vegetarian motivations. *Appetite*. (2008) 50:422–9. doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2007.09.007.
- 75. Tilman D, Clark M. Global diets link environmental sustainability and human health. *Nature*. (2014) 515:518–22. doi: 10.1038/nature13959
- Willett W, Rockstrom J, Loken B, Springmann M, Lang T, Vermeulen S, et al. Food in the Anthropocene: the EAT-Lancet Commission on healthy diets from sustainable food systems. Lancet. (2019) 393:447–92. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31788-4
- 77. Rinaldi S, Campbell EE, Fournier J, O'Connor C, Madill J. A comprehensive review of the literature supporting recommendations from the Canadian diabetes association for the use of a plant-based diet for management of type 2 diabetes. *Can J Diabetes*. (2016) 40:471–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jcjd. 2016.02.011

Conflict of Interest Statement: CK has received grants or research support from the Advanced Food Materials Network, Agriculture, and Agri-Foods Canada (AAFC), Almond Board of California, American Pistachio Growers, Barilla, Calorie Control Council, Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR), Canola Council of Canada, International Nut and Dried Fruit Council, International Tree Nut Council Research and Education Foundation, Loblaw Brands Ltd, Pulse Canada, Saskatchewan Pulse Growers and Unilever. He has received in-kind research support from the Almond Board of California, American Peanut Council, Barilla, California Walnut Commission, Kellogg Canada, Loblaw Companies, Quaker (Pepsico), Primo, Unico, Unilever, WhiteWave Foods. He has received travel support and/or honoraria from the American Peanut Council, American Pistachio Growers, Barilla, California Walnut Commission, Canola Council of Canada, General Mills, International Nut and Dried Fruit Council, International Pasta Organization, Loblaw Brands Ltd, Nutrition Foundation of Italy, Oldways Preservation Trust, Paramount Farms, Peanut Institute, Pulse Canada, Sabra Dipping Co., Saskatchewan Pulse Growers, Sun-Maid, Tate and Lyle, Unilever and White Wave Foods. He has served on the scientific advisory board for the International Tree Nut Council, International Pasta Organization, McCormick Science Institute, Oldways Preservation Trust, Paramount Farms and Pulse Canada. He is a member of the International Carbohydrate Quality Consortium (ICQC), Executive Board Member of the Diabetes and Nutrition Study Group (DNSG) of the European Association for the Study of Diabetes (EASD), is on the Clinical Practice Guidelines Expert Committee for Nutrition Therapy of the EASD and is a Director of the Toronto 3D Knowledge Synthesis and Clinical Trials foundation.

JS-S reports serving on the board of and receiving grant support through his institution from the International Nut and Dried Fruit Council, and Eroski Foundation. Reports serving in the Executive Committee of the Instituto Danone Spain. Has received research support from the Instituto de Salud Carlos III, Spain; Ministerio de Educaciandón y Ciencia, Spain; Departament de Salut Pandública de la Generalitat de Catalunya, Catalonia, Spain; European Commission. Has received research support from California Walnut Commission, Sacramento CA, USA; Patrimonio Comunal Olivarero, Spain; La Morella Nuts, Spain; and Borges, S.A., Spain. Reports receiving consulting fees or travel expenses from Danone; California Walnut Commission, Eroski Foundation, Instituto Danone - Spain, Nuts for Life, Australian Nut Industry Council, Nestlandé, Abbot Laboratories, and Font Vella Lanjarandón. He is on the Clinical Practice Guidelines Expert

Committee of the European Association for the study of Diabetes (EASD) and served in the Scientific Committee of the Spanish Food and Safety Agency, and the Spanish Federation of the Scientific Societies of Food, Nutrition and Dietetics. He is a member of the International Carbohydrate Quality Consortium (ICQC), and Executive Board Member of the Diabetes and Nutrition Study Group (DNSG) of the EASD.

DR is the president of Croatian Society for Diabetes and Metabolic Disorders of Croatian Medical Association. He serves as an Executive Committee member of Croatian Endocrine Society, Croatian Society for Obesity and Croatian Society for Endocrine Oncology. He was a board member and secretary of IDF Europe and currently he is the chair of IDF YLD Programme. He has served as an Executive Committee member of Diabetes and Nutrition Study Group of EASD and currently he serves as an Executive Committee member of Diabetes and Cardiovascular Disease Study Group of EASD. He has served as principal investigator or co-investigator in clinical trials of AstraZeneca, Eli Lilly, MSD, Novo Nordisk, Sanofi Aventis, Solvay, and Trophos. He has received honoraria for speaking or advisory board engagements and consulting fees from Abbott, Amgen, AstraZeneca, Bayer, Boehringer Ingelheim, Eli Lilly, Lifescan–Johnson & Johnson, Novartis, Novo Nordisk, MSD, Merck Sharp and Dohme, Pfizer, Pliva, Roche, Salvus, Sanofi Aventis, and Takeda.

DJ has received research grants from Saskatchewan Pulse Growers, the Agricultural Bioproducts Innovation Program through the Pulse Research Network, the Advanced Foods and Material Network, Loblaw Companies Ltd., Unilever, Barilla, the Almond Board of California, Agriculture and Agri-food Canada, Pulse Canada, Kellogg's Company, Canada, Quaker Oats, Canada, Procter and Gamble Technical Center Ltd., Bayer Consumer Care, Springfield, NJ, Pepsi/Quaker, International Nut and Dried Fruit (INC), Soy Foods Association of North America, the Coca-Cola Company (investigator initiated, unrestricted grant), Solae, Haine Celestial, the Sanitarium Company, Orafti, the International Tree Nut Council Nutrition Research and Education Foundation, the Peanut Institute, Soy Nutrition Institute (SNI), the Canola and Flax Councils of Canada, the Calorie Control Council (CCC), the CIHR, the Canada Foundation for Innovation and the Ontario Research Fund. He has received in-kind supplies for trials as a research support from the Almond board of California, Walnut Council of California, American Peanut Council, Barilla, Unilever, Unico, Primo, Loblaw Companies, Quaker (Pepsico), Pristine Gourmet, Bunge Limited, Kellogg Canada, WhiteWave Foods. He has been on the speaker's panel, served on the scientific advisory board and/or received travel support and/or honoraria from the Almond Board of California, Canadian Agriculture Policy Institute, Loblaw Companies Ltd, the Griffin Hospital (for the development of the NuVal scoring system, the Coca-Cola Company, EPICURE, Danone, Diet Quality Photo Navigation (DQPN), Better Therapeutics (FareWell), Verywell, True Health Initiative, Institute of Food Technologists (IFT), Soy Nutrition Institute (SNI), Herbalife Nutrition Institute (HNI), Saskatchewan Pulse Growers, Sanitarium Company, Orafti, the Almond Board of California, the American Peanut Council, the International Tree Nut Council Nutrition Research and Education Foundation, the Peanut Institute, Herbalife International, Pacific Health Laboratories, Nutritional Fundamentals for Health (NFH), Barilla, Metagenics, Bayer Consumer Care, Unilever Canada and Netherlands, Solae, Kellogg, Quaker Oats, Procter and Gamble, the Coca-Cola Company, the Griffin Hospital, Abbott Laboratories, the Canola Council of Canada, Dean Foods, the California Strawberry Commission, Haine Celestial, PepsiCo, the Alpro Foundation, Pioneer Hi-Bred International, DuPont Nutrition and Health, Spherix Consulting and WhiteWave Foods, the Advanced Foods and Material Network, the Canola and Flax Councils of Canada, the Nutritional Fundamentals for Health, Agri-Culture and Agri-Food Canada, the Canadian Agri-Food Policy Institute, Pulse Canada, the Saskatchewan Pulse Growers, the Soy Foods Association of North America, the Nutrition Foundation of Italy (NFI), Nutra-Source Diagnostics, the McDougall Program, the Toronto Knowledge Translation Group (St. Michael's Hospital), the Canadian College of Naturopathic Medicine, The Hospital for Sick Children, the Canadian Nutrition Society (CNS), the American Society of Nutrition (ASN), Arizona State University, Paolo Sorbini Foundation and the Institute of Nutrition, Metabolism, and Diabetes. He received an honorarium from the United States Department of Agriculture to present the 2013 W.O. Atwater Memorial Lecture. He received the 2013 Award for Excellence in Research from the International Nut and Dried Fruit Council. He received funding and travel support from the Canadian Society of Endocrinology and Metabolism to produce mini cases for the Canadian Diabetes Association (CDA). He is a member of the International Carbohydrate Quality Consortium (ICQC). His wife, ALJ, is a director and partner of Glycemic Index Laboratories, Inc., and his sister, CB, received funding through a grant from the St. Michael's Hospital Foundation to develop a cookbook for one of his studies.

TK has received research support from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) and an unrestricted travel donation from Bee Maid Honey Ltd. He was an invited speaker at a Calorie Control Council annual general meeting for which he received an honorarium.

AG and EV serve as scientific advisors for New Era Nutrition.

JS has received research support from the Canadian Foundation for Innovation, Ontario Research Fund, Province of Ontario Ministry of Research and Innovation and Science, Canadian Institutes of health Research (CIHR), Diabetes Canada, PSI Foundation, Banting and Best Diabetes Centre (BBDC), American Society for Nutrition (ASN), INC International Nut and Dried Fruit Council Foundation, National Dried Fruit Trade Association, The Tate and Lyle Nutritional Research Fund at the University of Toronto, The Glycemic Control and Cardiovascular Disease in Type 2 Diabetes Fund at the University of Toronto (a fund established by the Alberta Pulse Growers), and the Nutrition Trialists Fund at the University of Toronto (a fund established by an inaugural donation from the Calorie Control Council). He has received in-kind food donations to support a randomized controlled trial from the Almond Board of California, California Walnut Commission, American Peanut Council, Barilla, Unilever, Unico/Primo, Loblaw Companies, Quaker, Kellogg Canada, and WhiteWave Foods. He has received travel support, speaker fees and/or honoraria from Diabetes Canada, Mott's LLP, Dairy Farmers of Canada, FoodMinds LLC, PepsiCo, International Sweeteners Association, Nestlé, Pulse Canada, Canadian Society for Endocrinology and Metabolism (CSEM), GI Foundation, Abbott, Biofortis, ASN, Health Sciences North, INC Nutrition Research & Education Foundation, European Food Safety Authority (EFSA), and Physicians Committee for Responsible Medicine. He has or has had ad hoc consulting arrangements with Perkins Coie LLP, Tate & Lyle, and Wirtschaftliche Vereinigung Zucker e.V. He is a member of the European Fruit Juice Association Scientific Expert Panel. He is on the Clinical Practice Guidelines Expert Committees of Diabetes Canada, European Association for the study of Diabetes (EASD), Canadian Cardiovascular Society (CCS), and Obesity Canada. He serves as an unpaid scientific advisor for the Food, Nutrition, and Safety Program (FNSP) and the Technical Committee on Carbohydrates of the International Life Science Institute (ILSI) North America. He is a member of the International Carbohydrate Quality Consortium (ICQC), Executive Board Member of the Diabetes and Nutrition Study Group (DNSG) of the EASD, and Director of the Toronto 3D Knowledge Synthesis and Clinical Trials foundation. His wife is a former employee of Unilever Canada.

HK is the Director of Clinical Research of the Physicians Committee for Responsible Medicine, a nonprofit organization conducting research and education in nutrition.

AG, DJ, and HK follow a vegetarian or vegan dietary pattern.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Glenn, Viguiliouk, Seider, Boucher, Khan, Blanco Mejia, Jenkins, Kahleová, Rahelić, Salas-Salvadó, Kendall and Sievenpiper. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# **Beyond Meat: A Comparison of the Dietary Intakes of Vegetarian and Non-vegetarian Adolescents**

Gina Segovia-Siapco<sup>1\*</sup>, Nasira Burkholder-Cooley<sup>2</sup>, Sara Haddad Tabrizi<sup>1</sup> and Joan Sabaté<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Center for Nutrition, Healthy Lifestyle and Disease Prevention, School of Public Health, Loma Linda University, Loma Linda, CA, United States, <sup>2</sup> Food Science and Nutrition Program, Chapman University, Orange, CA, United States

Dietary intake of adult vegetarians from large prospective studies has been well-characterized but is rarely reported in vegetarian adolescents. Our objective was to describe and compare the dietary intake of vegetarian adolescents with their non-vegetarian counterparts in a population known to espouse healthy living. Adolescents (n = 534) aged 12–18 years old from middle and high schools near major Adventist universities in Michigan and Southern California provided dietary, demographic, and anthropometric data. Dietary intake was measured with a validated 151-item self-administered web-based food frequency questionnaire; weight and height were measured during school visits. Vegetarian was defined as the combined intake of meat, meat derivatives, poultry, and fish of <1 serving per week. Descriptive statistics and ANCOVA were used to compare the intake of vegetarians and non-vegetarians. Vegetarians significantly ate more fruits, vegetables, and other plant-based foods, but significantly less foods of animal origin, sugar-sweetened beverages, and coffee/tea compared to non-vegetarians. Vegetarians had significantly higher intakes of carbohydrates and total protein but lower intakes of fats, animal protein, and zinc compared to their counterparts. A majority (75% or more) of both groups met the 2015 Dietary Guidelines' age-and-gender-specific recommendations for most nutrients but only 16-18% of vegetarians/non-vegetarians did not exceed the upper limit for sodium. More vegetarians (49%) than non-vegetarians (25%) had <10% of their caloric intake from SFA. More than 90% of both groups met dairy recommendations, but greater proportions of vegetarians met recommendations for vegetables, fruits, nuts/soy products, and legumes than non-vegetarians. Of the non-vegetarians, only 7% and 44% met the fish and meats/poultry/eggs recommendation, respectively, which none of the vegetarians met. Compared to the general US adolescent population, both diet groups ate more fruits, vegetables, dairy and protein foods, and also consumed more micronutrients but less macronutrients. Overall, vegetarian adolescents have a more favorable dietary intake profile than non-vegetarians, but both vegetarians and non-vegetarians in this study population have a more adequate diet than the general US adolescent population. The influence of the Adventist plant-based diet culture that is translated both at home and at school is evident in our findings.

Keywords: vegetarian, adolescence, dietary habits, nutritional status, Adventist Health Studies, plant-based diets, NHANES, Adventist

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Hana Kahleova, Physicians Committee for Responsible Medicine, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Nada Benajiba, Princess Nourah Bint Abdulrahman University, Saudi Arabia Luigi Iuliano, Sapienza University of Rome, Italy

> \*Correspondence: Gina Segovia-Siapco gsiapco@llu.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Clinical Nutrition, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 22 February 2019 Accepted: 23 May 2019 Published: 13 June 2019

#### Citation:

Segovia-Siapco G, Burkholder-Cooley N, Haddad Tabrizi S and Sabaté J (2019) Beyond Meat: A Comparison of the Dietary Intakes of Vegetarian and Non-vegetarian Adolescents. Front. Nutr. 6:86. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2019.00086

81

# INTRODUCTION

Dietary habits formed during childhood and adolescence have both short- and long-term impacts on health (1-3). Nutrient and energy demands increase to support the accelerated growth and development during adolescence, thus, it is crucial to establish or maintain healthy dietary habits during this period since this tends to persist through adulthood (4). A healthy diet during adolescence predisposes to better physical health since it is associated with lower weight gain (1) and lower risk of developing cardiovascular risk factors (5) during adulthood. High diet quality is also imperative to prevent depression (6), an increasing mental health problem among the youth and young adults (6–8).

Increased independence during adolescence and other factors, such as the family's socio-economic condition and education of parents (9), may influence dietary habits. Increased portion sizes of marketplace foods (10) have contributed to increased caloric consumption (11, 12) and low diet quality among US adolescents (13). Although there has been a decrease in sugar- sweetened beverages intake since 1999 (14), high-calorie-low nutrient-density foods have remained major sources of calories among the youth (12–14). On the contrary, intake of nutrient-dense foods (i.e., fruits and vegetables), remains below recommendations (15–18).

With a growing trend toward plant-based diets, there is an increasing movement toward vegetarian eating in different population groups, including adolescents. A vegetarian diet excludes meat, seafood, and products containing both, but may include eggs and dairy. Vegan diets eliminate all animal products. A national online survey conducted by Harris Poll for the Vegetarian Resource Group in 2014 indicated that 4% of youth ages 8–18 years are vegetarians while a total of 32% eat at least one vegetarian meal per week (19). In a 2016 national poll conducted in the United States among a representative sample of adults ages 18 years and above, 3.3% were self-reported vegetarians, half of whom claimed to be vegans (20).

Vegetarian and vegan diets are associated with a lower risk of chronic diseases among adults (21, 22). However, while plantbased or vegetarian diets and their health effects are well studied in adults, reports on vegetarian children and adolescents are scarce. We have access to the Adventist population, a group of people known to espouse a healthy lifestyle that includes a plant-based diet. A sizable proportion of this population are vegetarians, 4.2% being vegan and  $\sim$ 32% being lacto-ovo vegetarian (23). Although several studies have been published on Adventist adults, only very few have been reported on young people and none of these investigated their dietary intakes. Thus, our objectives were to describe and compare the dietary intake of Adventist vegetarian and non-vegetarian adolescents, determine if their reported intakes meet the recommend intakes for their age group, and compare their dietary profile with those of the general US adolescent population.

# **METHODS**

## **Study Design and Participants**

In previous reports, we have described a cross-sectional study the Teen Food and Development Study—that we conducted among adolescents to examine associations between dietary intake and certain health outcomes, particularly physical growth and pubertal development (24–26). We used the dietary data from this study in this report. Briefly, we collected data on 601 adolescents (262 males and 339 females) aged 12–18 years old from selected Adventist and public middle and high schools near major Adventist universities in Michigan and Southern California. A website was especially created for the study that served as the interface in the enrolment of potential participants and their parents, completing informed consent, and providing information on demographics, lifestyle habits, physical development, and dietary intake using the web-survey. Anthropometrics were measured during school visits.

Parents of potential participants 17 years old and younger provided their consent for their children's participation in the study by checking a box and providing their name and at least one telephone number at which they could be reached. In the same manner, the children indicated their assent to be part of the study by checking the assent box and providing their name on the same consent form. To ascertain that a parent actually provided the consent, a call was made at the telephone number provided. The informed consent was made official and printed for record-keeping only after the parent had confirmed his/her identity and consent, and the child's assent to participate. All study protocols, including data collection and informed consent, were approved by the Institutional Review Boards of Andrews University in Michigan (IRB#12-113) and Loma Linda University in Southern California (IRB#5120014).

## Assessment of Dietary Intake

Dietary intake was measured using a validated 151-item selfadministered semi-quantitative web-based food frequency questionnaire designed for the study (27). Briefly, the questionnaire included 8 food groups: convenience foods (32 items), protein-rich foods (29 items), starches/cereals (17 items), vegetables/fruits (21 items), dairy products (10 items), beverages (24 items), snacks/sweets (11 items), and soups/legumes (7 items). Participants reported frequency of their intake of a food item using a drop-down list: never/rarely, 1–3 times per month, once per week, 2–4 times per week, 5–6 times per week, once per day, 2–3 times per day, and 4 or more times per day.

## Assessment of Vegetarian Status

Vegetarian status was determined based on self-reported intake of foods that differentiate vegetarians from non-vegetarians. Vegetarian was defined as intake of less than one combined portion (<3 ounces) of meat, meat derivatives, poultry, and fish per week.

## **Assessment of Other Measures**

During school visits, trained personnel measured weight and height of the participants. In the web-based survey, participants also self-reported their weight and height after measuring themselves. Clinical data for the anthropometrics were used for the statistical analysis; however, for participants who were absent during the school visits (about 4%), self-reported measures were used in the analysis since self-reported weight and height were found to be highly correlated to the clinic-measured values (28).

A section of the self-administered web survey included items on demographics and lifestyle (time spent on vigorous physical activity and sleep). The parents' educational levels were used as surrogate for socio-economic status. Some of these variables were controlled for when dietary intake comparisons were made between vegetarians and non-vegetarians.

#### **Data Management and Analysis**

Of the 601 original participants, 13 were excluded due to completely missing diet or demographic data and 54 were excluded due to implausible energy intake (<500 calories and >3,500 calories for girls, <800 calories and >4,500 calories for boys). The final analytical dataset included 534 participants.

Descriptive and univariate analyses for all participants and by dietary preference (vegetarian vs. non-vegetarian) were conducted using either independent *t*-test or Chi-square test to check differences between vegetarians and non-vegetarians. ANCOVA was used to compare the food and nutrient intake of vegetarians and non-vegetarians while controlling for age, sex, ethnicity, education of mother, education of father, total energy intake, BMI z-score, and physical activity level. Before analysis, the food and nutrient variables were log-transformed due to non-normal distributions.

#### **Food Groupings and Nutrient Calculations**

Foods were grouped according to the following categories: (1) breads, grains and pastas; (2) cereals; (3) fresh fruits; (4) 100% fruit juices, canned and dried fruits; (5) non-starchy vegetables; (6) starchy vegetables; (7) legumes; (8) meats (red meats, processed meats, and poultry); (9) fish; (10) meat alternatives; (11) nuts and nut butters; (12) eggs; (13) dairy cheese; (14) dairy milk; (15) dairy substitutes; (16) dairy desserts; (17) water; (18) sugar-sweetened beverages; (19) coffee and tea; and, (20) pastries and chips. The first 16 food groups were further re-categorized into breads/grains/pastas/cereals, total fruits, total vegetables, total protein foods, total dairy. Supplementary Table 1 shows the list of foods under each of the food groups. Given that our webFFQ was semi-quantitative, i.e., has fixed serving sizes, intake of these food groups was determined based on the sum of the intake frequency per day of the foods under each group, where frequency per day is equivalent to serving per day.

The nutrient profile of each food in the FFQ was determined using the Nutrition Data System for Research (29) database. Nutrient intake per day was computed using the sum-product method, i.e.,

$$A = \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i a_i \tag{1}$$

where A = total intake of nutrient A per day;  $F_i$  = frequency of food i intake per day; and  $a_i$  = amount of nutrient A in food i. The nutrients assessed in the study were: energy, total carbohydrates, added sugar, total fat, saturated fatty acids (SFA), mono-unsaturated fatty acids (MUFA), polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA), linoleic acid (LA), alpha linolenic acid (ALA), total protein, animal protein, vegetable protein, total dietary fiber, insoluble fiber, soluble fiber, vitamin B12, vitamin C, thiamin, riboflavin, vitamin D, vitamin E, folate, calcium, iron, potassium, magnesium, sodium, and zinc.

# Intake Comparisons With the US Adolescent Population

Food intakes of the study population were compared with their counterparts in the general US population using the values for those aged 14–18 years old in the 2007–2010 published estimates for the US population in the National Cancer Institute's Epidemiology and Genomics Research Program website (30). Weighted mean intake values for selected foods were computed since mean intakes were reported separately for males (n = 808) and females (n = 727). Percent differences between the mean intakes of the vegetarians and non-vegetarians in the study population were then calculated against the weighted means of the US adolescent population.

Nutrient intakes of the study population were also compared with the general US population ages 12–19 years using What We Eat in America, NHANES 2011–2012 (31) values from the Nutrient Intakes from Food and Beverages table. Since mean intake values were separated for male and female adolescents, weighted means were computed to represent the whole group. In the same manner as for foods, percent differences between the mean intakes of the vegetarians and non-vegetarians were then calculated against the general US population/NHANES values.

#### Intake Comparisons With Dietary Guidelines and Dietary Reference Intakes

The US Dietary Guidelines Recommendations and Nutritional Goals for Age-Sex Groups Based on Dietary Reference Intakes and Dietary Guidelines Recommendations found in Appendix 7 of the 2015–2020 Dietary Guidelines for Americans (2015DGA) (32) was used to determine what proportions of the study population met the recommended intake amounts for selected nutrients. To determine if the participants met the recommended food groups intake, Healthy U.S.-Style Eating Pattern: Recommended Amounts of Food from Each Food Group at 12 Calorie Levels found in Appendix 3 of the 2015DGA was used. Comparisons were made according to age and gender group recommendations for nutrients and calorie levels of 1,600 kcal (for female participants ages 12-13 years old), 1,800 kcal (for male participants ages 12-13 years old and female participants ages 14-18 years old), and 2,200 kcal (for male participants ages 14-18 years old).

## RESULTS

The demographic profile of the study population is presented in **Table 1** for both vegetarians and non-vegetarians. Girls were more likely to be vegetarians compared to boys and more than half (52%) of the vegetarians were non-Hispanic whites. Although both groups had parents with college education or higher, the vegetarians had a significantly greater proportion of parents with higher education, especially at the graduate level.

#### TABLE 1 | Demographic characteristics according to vegetarian status.

Variable	Non-vegeta	arians, <i>n</i> = 397	Vegetaria	ns, <i>n</i> = 137	p-va	alue
	n (%)	Mean (SD)	n (%)	Mean (SD)		
Sex						0.012
Girls	212 (53.4)		90 (65.7)			
Boys	185 (46.6)		47 (34.3)			
Age, years		15.0 (1.8)		15.0 (1.7)	0.986	0.458
12	28 (7.1)		10 (7.3)			
13	75 (18.9)		18 (13.1)			
14	64 (16.1)		25 (18.2)			
15	66 (16.6)		32 (23.4)			
16	70 (17.6)		25 (18.2)			
17	63 (15.9)		16 (11.7)			
18	31 (7.9)		11 (8.0)			
Mother's educational level						0.008
High school and below	66 (7.6)		8 (6.1)			
Vocational	18 (4.8)		5 (3.8)			
College	161 (42.9)		57 (43.2)			
Master's	101 (26.9)		42 (31.8)			
Doctoral	29 (7.7)		20 (15.2)			
Father's educational level						< 0.00
High school and below	84 (22.4)		10 (7.6)			
Vocational	20 (5.3)		4 (3.0)			
College	128 (34.1)		34 (25.8)			
Master's	86 (22.9)		48 (36.4)			
Doctoral	57 (15.2)		36 (27.3)			
Ethnicity						0.001
Black	34 (9.1)		13 (9.8)			
Non-Hispanic White	123 (32.8)		69 (52.3)			
Hispanic	60 (16.0)		13 (9.8)			
Asian	49 (13.1)		13 (9.8)			
Other ethnicities	109 (29.1)		24 (18.2)			
Site						0.325
California	225 (56.7)		71 (51.8)			
Michigan	172 (43.3)		66 (48.2)			
Physical activity, min/day		33.3 (25.7)		27.5 (23.1)	0.022	
Duration of sleep, hours/day		7.8 (2.5)		7.9 (1.1)	0.746	
BMI Z-score		0.42 (0.97)	0.14 (0.89)		0.005	

Vegetarians were also leaner compared to non-vegetarians. Non-vegetarians, however, spent significantly more time in vigorous physical activity compared to their vegetarian counterparts.

As shown in **Table 2**, there were significant differences in the food intakes of vegetarians and non-vegetarians. **Table 2** displays the estimated marginal means with their 95% confidence intervals after controlling for relevant covariates. Vegetarians ate about one-half serving more of fruits, nearly <sup>3</sup>/<sub>4</sub> serving more of vegetables, and over one serving more of nut/nut butters and meat alternatives than their non-vegetarian peers. Not surprisingly, non-vegetarians ate slightly over one serving more of animal protein foods than the non-vegetarians, but their egg intake amounted to approximately one-third of a serving compared to about one-fourth of a serving for their vegetarian counterparts. Intake of dairy products by non-vegetarians was higher by just a small amount (between 0.07 to 0.30 of a serving) compared to vegetarians. Although intakes of sugar-sweetened beverages and coffee/tea were small for both groups (much less than a serving), the non-vegetarians significantly consumed more of these beverages than the vegetarians.

**Table 3** shows a comparison of the nutrient intakes between the two diet groups. Vegetarians had significantly higher intakes of carbohydrates ( $\sim$ 27 g more), polyunsaturated fatty acids ( $\sim$ 3 g more PUFA and LA, and  $\sim$ 2 g more ALA), LA:ALA ratio, vegetable protein ( $\sim$ 21 g more), dietary fiber ( $\sim$ 8 g more), vitamin C ( $\sim$ 20 mg more), thiamin ( $\sim$ 1.7 mg more), vitamin E ( $\sim$ 1.4 mg more), folate ( $\sim$ 135 mcg more), calcium ( $\sim$ 130 mg more), iron (3.6 mg more), potassium ( $\sim$ 296 mg

Dietary Intake of	<sup>-</sup> Vegetarian	Adolescents
-------------------	-------------------------	-------------

Foods, servings per day	Means (9	<i>p</i> -value	
	Non-vegetarians	Vegetarians	
Breads/Grains/Pastas/Cereals, total	5.42 (5.25, 5.59)	5.82 (5.53, 6.13)	0.022
Breads, Grains, Pastas	4.75 (4.60, 4.91)	4.97 (4.69, 5.26)	0.207
Cereals	0.58 (0.53, 0.63)	0.75 (0.65, 0.86)	0.003
Fruits, total	2.17 (2.03, 2.31)	2.71 (2.44, 3.00)	0.001
Fresh fruits	1.53 (1.42, 1.65)	1.93 (1.70, 2.17)	0.002
100% FJ; canned and dried fruits	0.60 (0.54, 0.66)	0.68 (0.58, 0.79)	0.177
Vegetables, total	3.54 (3.37, 3.71)	4.32 (3.99, 4.67)	<0.0001
Non-starchy vegetables	2.66 (2.52, 2.81)	3.11 (2.85, 3.40)	0.004
Starchy vegetables	0.30 (0.27, 0.32)	0.30 (0.26, 0.34)	0.958
Legumes	0.47 (0.43, 0.52)	0.76 (0.68, 0.85)	<0.0001
Protein foods, total	2.44 (2.35, 2.54)	2.30 (2.15, 2.46)	0.144
Meat, poultry, eggs	1.37 (1.30, 1.44)	0.29 (0.22, 0.36)	<0.0001
Meats (red meats, poultry)	0.97 (0.92, 1.03)	0.06 (0.01, 0.11)	<0.0001
Eggs	0.37 (0.34, 0.40)	0.23 (0.18, 0.28)	<0.0001
Fish	0.10 (0.09, 0.12)	0.01 (-0.01, 0.03)	<0.0001
Nuts, nut butters, meat alternatives	0.86 (0.79, 0.93)	1.97 (1.77, 2.17)	<0.0001
Meat alternatives	0.55 (0.49, 0.61)	1.34 (1.19, 1.50)	<0.0001
Nuts and nut butters	0.29 (0.26, 0.33)	0.53 (0.45, 0.61)	<0.0001
Dairy, total	3.25 (3.16, 3.34)	3.08 (2.94, 3.22)	0.058
Cheese, dairy	2.03 (2.01, 2.06)	1.96 (1.92, 2.00)	0.003
Milk, dairy	0.53 (0.47, 0.59)	0.23 (0.15, 0.31)	<0.0001
Dairy desserts	0.30 (0.27, 033)	0.22 (018, 0.27)	0.007
Dairy substitutes	0.24 (0.19, 0.28)	0.51 (0.42, 0.61)	<0.0001
Water	2.75 (2.57, 2.95)	3.08 (2.74, 3.45)	0.118
Sugar-sweetened beverages	0.62 (0.57, 0.69)	0.41 (0.32, 0.50)	<0.0001
Coffee and tea	0.17 (0.14, 0.20)	0.09 (0.04, 0.13)	0.002
Pastries and chips	1.10 (1.02, 1.17)	1.10 (0.97, 1.24)	0.938

<sup>a</sup> Estimated marginal means; controlled for age, gender, ethnicity, education of mother, education of father, total energy intake, BMI z-scores, and physical activity. Values in bold are significantly greater than the other diet group.

more), magnesium ( $\sim$ 72 mg more), as well as sodium ( $\sim$ 150 mg more) and phosphorus (57 mg more). On the other hand, non-vegetarians significantly consumed more total ( $\sim$ 6g more), saturated ( $\sim$ 5g more) and monounsaturated ( $\sim$ 3g more) fats, animal protein ( $\sim$ 23g more), and zinc (1 mg more) compared to vegetarians.

As seen in **Table 4**, at least 75% of both vegetarians and nonvegetarians in the study population met the recommended intake amounts for carbohydrates, protein, vitamin B12, riboflavin, vitamin C, thiamin, folate, and iron, and had adequate intakes of the omega-3 fatty acid, alpha linolenic acid (ALA). About 77% of vegetarians reported adequate intake of linoleic acid compared to about 72% of non-vegetarians. Very small proportions ( $\leq 10\%$ ) of both vegetarians and non-vegetarians met the dietary recommendations for vitamins D and E and potassium, and <20% consumed sodium below the upper limit. Almost 50% of the vegetarians consumed <10% of their total caloric intake from saturated fatty acids (SFA) whereas only half of that proportion ( $\sim$ 25%) met the SFA intake recommendation among non-vegetarians. Compared to non-vegetarians, a larger proportion of vegetarians met the dietary fiber (53 vs. 36%), calcium (44 vs. 36%), and magnesium (56 vs. 48%) recommendations. On the other hand, a larger proportion of non-vegetarians met the zinc recommendations compared to their vegetarian counterparts (77 vs. 64%).

**Table 4** also shows the percentage of study participants who met the recommendations for vegetables, fruits, grains, dairy, and protein foods. Compared to their non-vegetarian counterparts, a larger percentage of vegetarians ate more vegetables (80 vs. 68%), non-starchy vegetables (85 vs. 77%), legumes (88 vs. 74%), fruits (72 vs. 62%), and nuts/soy products (98 vs. 70%). Only a small proportion of both groups met the recommendations for starchy vegetables, while more non-vegetarians met the recommendations for grains (41 vs. 38%) and protein foods (61 vs. 39%) than vegetarians. No vegetarian participants met the meat/poultry/eggs and fish intake recommendations.

Figures 1, 2 show comparisons of percent intake differences for food groups (Figure 1) and nutrients (Figure 2) between the two diet groups and the general US adolescent population. Intakes of dairy, fruits, total vegetables, non-starchy vegetables, and protein foods were relatively greater (ranging from about 25% to 300% more), whereas intakes of breads/grains/pastas, starchy vegetables, and fish were relatively lower (ranging from about 20 to 90%) for both diet groups than average US adolescents. However, only vegetarians reported lower intake of fish while non-vegetarians had a fish intake similar to that of US adolescents. Intakes of ALA, dietary fiber, vitamin B12, vitamin C, thiamin, vitamin E, folate, iron, potassium, and magnesium were higher for both groups (ranging from  $\sim 10$  to  $\sim$ 290%) except for zinc, which was only higher for the nonvegetarian group compared to the US adolescent population. Only vegetarians had higher intakes of polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA), linoleic acid (LA), and calcium. Intakes of total fat, SFA, monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFA), LA:ALA ratio, total protein, vitamin D, and sodium were lower for both groups compared to the US adolescents, but zinc intake was only lower for vegetarians.

#### DISCUSSION

In this study, we described and compared the dietary intake of vegetarian and non-vegetarian adolescents in a population largely composed of Adventists. We further compared these intakes with the DRI and 2015 DGA to determine dietary intake adequacy, and with those of the general US adolescent population. As expected, vegetarians significantly consumed more plant-based foods (i.e., fruits, vegetables, legumes, cereals), meat alternatives, and dairy substitutes compared to their nonvegetarian counterparts while the non-vegetarians consumed more dairy and protein foods from animal sources (i.e., meats, eggs, and fish). Vegetarians also consumed higher amounts of most nutrients except those that are associated with animal TABLE 3 | Comparison of the intake of selected nutrients by vegetarians and non-vegetarians.

Nutrients (servings per day)	Means (	<i>p</i> -value	
	Non-vegetarians	Vegetarians	
Energy, kcal	1990.22 (1972.39, 2008.21)	2010.22 (1980.29, 2040.60)	0.277
Total carbohydrates, g	248.64 (244.69, 252.90)	275.06 (267.20, 283.16)	< 0.0001
Added sugars	40.73 (38.74, 42.78)	37.15 (34.09, 40.49)	0.077
Fat	77.09 (75.57, 78.65)	70.95 (68.58, 73.48)	<0.0001
SFA, g	26.68 (25.89, 27.47)	21.41 (20.35, 22.53)	<0.0001
MUFA, g	25.97 (25.41, 26.52)	22.71 (21.89, 23.59)	<0.0001
PUFA, g	17.41 (16.98, 17.85)	20.78 (19.91, 21.69)	<0.0001
LA	15.27 (14.89, 15.67)	18.38 (17.58, 19.20)	<0.0001
ALA	1.70 (1.66, 1.74)	1.86 (1.78, 1.93)	<0.0001
LA:ALA ratio	8.98 (8.83, 9.14)	9.90 (9.60, 10.22)	< 0.0001
Total protein, g	79.84 (78.34, 81.37)	77.48 (74.89, 80.08)	0.124
Animal protein	38.21 (36.60, 39.92)	15.72 (14.57, 16.96)	<0.0001
Vegetable protein, g	37.68 (36.45, 38.98)	58.62 (55.37, 62.12)	< 0.0001
Total dietary fiber, g	21.87 (21.24, 22.49)	29.84 (28.42, 31.37)	< 0.0001
Insoluble fiber, g	15.35 (14.88, 15.82)	21.31 (20.19, 22.47)	<0.0001
Soluble fiber, g	6.45 (6.28, 6.62)	8.46 (8.08, 8.86)	<0.0001
Vitamin B12. ug	5.69 (5.44, 5.95)	5.85 (5.42, 6.32)	0.539
Vitamin C, mg	142.74 (134.96, 150.96)	162.39 (147.23, 178.93)	0.029
Thiamin, mg	2.32 (2.20, 2.44)	4.03 (3.69, 4.42)	<0.0001
Riboflavin, mg	2.03 (1.98, 2.08)	2.10 (2.01, 2.19)	0.174
Vitamin D, mcg	4.69 (4.42, 4.98)	4.18 (3.77, 4.64)	0.067
Vitamin E, mg $\alpha$ -tocopherol	8.46 (8.20, 8.73)	9.84 (9.31, 10.39)	<0.0001
Folate, ug	540.77 (524.79, 557.80)	675.19 (640.34, 711.94)	<0.0001
Calcium, mg	1091.16 (1059.97, 1122.15)	1221.70 (1162.12, 1284.34)	<0.0001
Iron, mg	16.58 (16.15, 17.03)	20.19 (19.30, 21.14)	<0.0001
Potassium, mg	2702.68 (2643.87, 2765.56)	2998.90 (2884.19, 3118.17)	< 0.0001
Magnesium, mg	314.51 (308.28, 320.86)	386.45 (373.16, 399.81)	< 0.0001
Sodium, mg	3248.67 (3190.71, 3310.98)	3398.20 (3291.18, 3508.70)	0.022
Zinc, mg	11.93 (11.66, 12.19)	10.92 (10.52, 11.36)	< 0.0001

<sup>a</sup>Estimated marginal means; controlled for age, gender, ethnicity, education of mother, education of father, total energy intake (except for energy), BMI z-scores, and physical activity level. Values in bold are significantly greater than the other diet group.

foods (total fat, SFA, animal proteins, and zinc) and MUFA compared to non-vegetarians. However, in comparison to the reported intake of US adolescents, both diet groups in our study population ate more plant-based foods (fruits, vegetables), dairy, and protein foods but relatively less breads/grains/pastas, starchy vegetables, and fish. Regarding nutrients, both groups had similar intakes of total energy, added sugars, total protein, vitamin B12, riboflavin, and vitamin D. Compared to US adolescents, both diet groups have lower intakes of total energy and macronutrients except for PUFA, ALA and dietary fiber; however, intake of LA was only higher for vegetarians but similar for non-vegetarians. Intakes of nutrients associated with fruits and vegetables (e.g., folate and vitamin C) and nuts/nut butters (e.g., vitamin E and ALA) as well as most of the selected micronutrients, except vitamin D and sodium, were higher for both groups compared to their US adolescent counterparts. However, zinc intake was higher for non-vegetarians yet lower for vegetarians compared to US adolescents. Most of the nutrient recommendations were met by more than three-fourths of both vegetarians and non-vegetarians except for linoleic acid and zinc. About half of vegetarians but just 25% of non-vegetarians met the recommendation for SFA intake to be <10% of total energy intake, while over half of vegetarians and about one-third of non-vegetarians met the dietary fiber recommendation. Lower proportions of both groups met the recommendations for intake of the nutrients important for bone health: calcium (44 vs. 36%, vegetarians vs., non-vegetarians, respectively); magnesium (56 vs. 48%); and, vitamin D (3.6 vs. 3.3%).

Our findings are consistent with previous findings of Perry et al. (33) regarding intakes of fruits, vegetables, total and saturated fats, and iron among vegetarian and non-vegetarian adolescents. However, unlike their findings, vegetarians in our study had similar vitamin B12 intake as non-vegetarians, probably due to most of them being lacto-ovo vegetarians. Vitamin D intake in both vegetarians and non-vegetarians is lower in this adolescent group compared to the mean intake

	Met	Recommendation	s, %
	All subjects	Non-vegetarians	Vegetarians
NUTRIENTS <sup>a</sup>			
Carbohydrates	95.1	94.7	96.4
Protein	92.5	93.2	90.5
SFA < 10% of energy intake	31.1	24.9	48.9
Linoleic acid (LA) <sup>c</sup>	73.0	71.5	77.4
Linolenic acid (ALA) <sup>c</sup>	77.7	77.6	78.1
Dietary fiber	40.6	36.3	53.3
Vitamin B12	92.7	94.5	87.6
Riboflavin	93.8	94.2	92.7
Vitamin C	88.8	88.4	89.8
Thiamin	94.6	92.9	99.3
Folate	82.0	80.1	87.6
Vitamin D	3.4	3.3	3.6
Vitamin E	15.4	15.1	16.1
Calcium	37.6	35.5	43.8
Iron	78.5	76.8	83.2
Potassium <sup>c</sup>	9.0	8.6	10.2
Magnesium	50.0	48.1	55.5
Sodium <sup>d</sup>	17.6	18.1	16.1
Zinc	73.6	76.8	64.2
Phosphorus	57.7	58.2	56.2
FOOD GROUPS <sup>b</sup>			
Vegetables <sup>e</sup>	71.2	68.0	80.3
Starchy vegetables <sup>f</sup>	7.9	8.3	6.6
Non-starchy vegetables <sup>f</sup>	78.7	76.6	84.7
Legumes <sup>f</sup>	77.3	73.6	88.3
Fruits <sup>e</sup>	64.8	62.5	71.5
Grains, oz-eq/day	40.4	41.3	38.0
Dairy <sup>e</sup>	95.1	95.5	93.8
Protein foods <sup>g</sup>	55.4	61.0	39.4
Meats/poultry/eggs <sup>h</sup>	33.0	44.3	0.0
Fish <sup>h</sup>	5.2	7.1	0.0
Nuts and soy products <sup>h</sup>	77.3	70.3	97.8

**TABLE 4** | Percentage who met age-and-gender specific recommendations for intake of selected nutrients and food groups.

<sup>a</sup> Intake of study participants were compared with Appendix 7 Nutritional Goals for Age-Sex Groups Based on Dietary Reference Intake and Dietary Guidelines Recommendations (27).

<sup>b</sup>Intake of study participants were compared with Table A3-1 Healthy U.S.-Style Eating Pattern: Recommended Amounts of Food from Each Food Group at 12 Calorie Levels (27).

<sup>c</sup>Based on adequate intake (AI) goal.

<sup>d</sup>Based on upper limit (UL) goal.

<sup>e</sup>Based on cup-equivalents per day.

<sup>f</sup>Measured in cup-equivalents per week.

<sup>g</sup>Measured in oz-equivalents per day.

<sup>h</sup>Measured in oz-equivalents per week.

(5.6 mcg) of the NHANES 2011–2012 adolescent population (31). In the NHANES 2007–2010, it was reported that 88% of US youth ages 2–18 did not meet the estimated average requirement (EAR) for vitamin D (34). When compared with other populations, the mean intake of vitamin D is also lower in our population than that of adolescent Finnish vegans (5 mcg)

and omnivores (14 mcg) (35). As a vitamin involved in bone metabolism, this is a concern; however, a better measure of the vitamin D status is serum 25(OH)D, which should be measured in this population to assess vitamin D adequacy.

The LA:ALA ratios for our study population—8.98 for nonvegetarians and 9.90 for vegetarians—are lower compared to the US adolescent population (weighted mean = 11.1). A lower LA:ALA ratio is considered favorable since the dietary ratio of LA (the parent n-6) to ALA (the parent n-3) had been shown to affect ALA conversion to the physiologically important very long-chain n-3 fatty acids, EPA and DHA, in the red blood cells (36, 37). A lower LA intake and a LA:ALA ratio < 10 may improve this conversion and also reduce arachidonic acid (37), the precursor of pro-inflammatory eicosanoids.

The majority of both diet groups (82% of non-vegetarians and 84% of vegetarians) have exceeded the recommended upper limit (2,200 mg for ages 9-13 and 2,300 mg for ages 14-18) of sodium; these proportions are slightly lower than the reported excessive sodium intake prevalence in the US (89% among adults and >90% among children) (38). This is alarming given that the average intakes for both groups exceeded sodium intake limits by about 1,000 mg. Excessive sodium intake had been consistently linked to negative health effects, specifically elevated blood pressure and risk of kidney disease (39). Upon further analysis using stepwise multiple regression, we found that bread/pasta/grains explained 59.4% of the total variance in sodium intake. This was followed by legumes, which contributed 14.1% to the variance, succeeded by dairy cheese and nonstarchy vegetables (each contributed 6.5% of total variance), meat alternatives (3.8%), meats/poultry (2.0%), starchy chips/pastry (1.4%), and others that contributed <1% to the total sodium intake variance of 96.7%. Foods under these groupings are similar to what were identified as major sources of sodium intake among US children ages 6-18 years as reported in NHANES 2011-2012 (40) and NHANES 2003-2008 (41), most of which are either manufactured/processed or from fast foods. Also consistent with the NHANES 2005-2008 report (42), we found sugar-sweetened beverages to be a significant predictor of sodium intake, but it only explained 0.1% of the total variance.

Using the same stepwise algorithm, we explored further the main sources of variation in SFA intake in our study population and found dairy cheese to be the main contributor (48.3% of the 72.5% total variance). Other foods that are significant contributors were meats and chicken (9.3%), dairy desserts (6.3%), chips and pastries (4.4%), milk/yogurt (2.1%), nonstarchy vegetables (1.0%), and <1% each from eggs, nuts/nut butters, and starchy vegetables. The top five sources of SFA intake among US adolescents based on the NHANES 2011-2014 data were pizza, sweet bakery products, milk, Mexican dishes, and cheese (43). Cheese intake in our population is correlated with intake of pizza aside from other foods, such as pasta and sandwiches. Meats, poultry, cured meats/poultry and mixed dishes containing meat/fish/poultry were ranked 9th, 10th, 12th, and 15th, respectively, as sources of SFA among US adolescents (43), whereas meats and chicken were ranked second as a source of SFA in our population. Again, it should be noted that most foods identified to be determinants of saturated fat intakes are



FIGURE 1 | Percent difference in food group intake of vegetarian and non-vegetarian participants compared to the average intake of the US adolescent population. Comparisons were made using data from Usual Dietary Intakes: Food Intakes, US Population, 2007–2010 (30). Bars above the reference "0" line indicate higher intake while bars below the line indicate lower intake compared to the average intake of US adolescents.



reference US adolescent population.

also manufactured/processed or from fast foods. In light of these findings, studies are needed to determine the impact of excessive salt intake during adolescence, both among vegetarians and non-vegetarians, as well as saturated fat intake >10% of total caloric intake, on health during adulthood.

Many other studies on vegetarian adolescents compared dietary intakes for only a few foods or nutrients (44), or were

conducted on younger non-US populations (45–47). Our study is one of the very few that investigated the dietary intake of vegetarian adolescents. One strength of our study is the multiethnicity and the large percentage of vegetarians (25%) that provided the power necessary to determine significant intake differences between the diet groups. However, since our study population may not be representative of the US adolescent

population, this limits the generalizability of our findings. On the other hand, our findings were also consistent with those of the previous study (33), despite methodological differences, and thus add additional evidence that vegetarian adolescents tend to have a more favorable dietary intake profile. One limitation of our study is the use of a dietary assessment method that has inherent biases, including the possibility of over- or under-estimation of reported intakes. However, food frequency questionnaires continue to be the mainstay in assessing habitual diet because they are low-cost, time-efficient, and easy to administer especially in the context of large epidemiological studies. The lack of biomarkers used to verify nutrient status based on reported intake is another limitation. Currently, however, only a few valid and reliable nutritional biomarkers have been identified that can be feasibly used in population studies (48). Considering that a substantial number of 9-13 (30%) and 14-18 (26.3%) years old US children use dietary supplements (49), we may have underestimated the nutrient intake of our participants by not accounting for their supplement use. However, our intent was to a focus on the nutrient amounts that our adolescent population derive from their food intake. The comparison values from the reference US adolescent population were also only based on nutrient intake from foods and beverages (31).

# CONCLUSIONS

Overall, the influence of the SDA plant-based diet culture that is translated both at home and at school is evident in our findings. We found vegetarian SDA adolescents to have a more favorable dietary intake profile than non-vegetarians as indicated by the higher intake of plant-based foods and lower intake of nutrients and foods associated with detrimental health effects, such as saturated fats and animal-based products. It is notable that both vegetarians and non-vegetarians in this study population ate healthier than the general US adolescent population. This is indicated by vegetarians' greater intakes of foods considered to be beneficial to health and their overall better nutrient intake profile, including lower intakes of energy and SFA, and higher intakes of dietary fiber and most nutrients of concern-folate, iron, and the bone minerals calcium, potassium, and magnesium. However, a large majority of both the vegetarians and nonvegetarians exceeded the upper intake limits for sodium just like the general US adolescents. Our study does not allow us to draw

# REFERENCES

- Hu T, Jacobs DR, Larson NI, Cutler GJ, Laska MN, Neumark-Sztainer D. Higher diet quality in adolescence and dietary improvements are related to less weight gain during the transition from adolescence to adulthood. *J Pediatr* US. (2016) 178:188–93.e3. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2016.08.026
- Emmett PM, Jones LR. Diet, growth, and obesity development throughout childhood in the Avon longitudinal study of parents and children. *Nutr Rev.* (2015) 73:175–206. doi: 10.1093/nutrit/nuv054
- Malik VS, Fung TT, van Dam RM, Rimm EB, Rosner B, Hu FB. Dietary patterns during adolescence and risk of type 2 diabetes in middle-aged women. *Diabetes Care*. (2012) 35:12–8. doi: 10.2337/dc11-0386

conclusions about the potential beneficial effects of a long-term vegetarian diet in adult life endpoints. Thus, we recommend further investigations of the dietary tracking from adolescence to adulthood and the impact of dietary intake during adolescence to future health.

## DATA AVAILABILITY

The datasets for this manuscript are not publicly available because we are still using the data for writing other manuscripts/reports. Requests to access the datasets should be directed to Joan Sabate, jsabate@llu.edu.

## **ETHICS STATEMENT**

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the Institutional Review Board of Loma Linda University with written informed consent from parents and assent of all subjects. All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The protocol was approved by the Institutional Review Boards of Loma Linda University and Andrews University.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

JS and GS-S designed the study. GS-S supervised the data collection, analyzed the data, and prepared the manuscript. JS, NB-C, SH, and GS-S interpreted the data and critically reviewed, edited, and finalized the manuscript.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank all the young people who volunteered to be part of this study, their parents who provided consent for them to participate, and the wonderful Teen Food and Development Study team of research assistants who helped with the data collection.

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2019. 00086/full#supplementary-material

- Movassagh EZ, Baxter-Jones ADG, Kontulainen S, Whiting SJ, Vatanparast H. Tracking dietary patterns over 20 years from childhood through adolescence into young adulthood: the Saskatchewan pediatric bone mineral accrual study. *Nutrients*. (2017) 9:990. doi: 10.3390/nu9090990
- Dahm CC, Chomistek AK, Jakobsen MU, Mukamal KJ, Eliassen AH, Sesso HD, et al. Adolescent diet quality and cardiovascular disease risk factors and incident cardiovascular disease in middle-aged women. J Am Heart Assoc. (2016) 5:e003853. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.116.003583
- Opie RS, Itsiopoulos C, Parletta N, Sanchez-Villegas A, Akbaraly TN, Ruusunen A, et al. Dietary recommendations for the prevention of depression. *Nutr Neurosci.* (2017) 20:161–71. doi: 10.1179/1476830515Y.00000 00043

- Mojtabai R, Olfson M, Han B. National trends in the prevalence and treatment of depression in adolescents and young adults. *Pediatrics*. (2016) 138:e20161878. doi: 10.1542/peds.2016-1878
- Banta JE, Khoie-Mayer RN, Somaiya CK, McKinney O, Segovia-Siapco G. Mental health and food consumption among California children 5-11 years of age. *Nutr Health*. (2013) 22:237–53. doi: 10.1177/0260106015599511
- Harris C, Flexeder C, Thiering E, Buyken A, Berdel D, Koletzko S, et al. Changes in dietary intake during puberty and their determinants: results from the GINIplus birth cohort study. *BMC Public Health*. (2015) 15:841. doi: 10.1186/s12889-015-2189-0
- Young LR, Nestle M. The contribution of expanding portion sizes to the US obesity epidemic. *Am J Public Health.* (2002) 92:246–9. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.92.2.246
- Poti JM, Popkin BM. Trends in energy intake among US children by eating location and food source, 1977-2006. J Am Diet Assoc. (2011) 111:1156–64. doi: 10.1016/j.jada.2011.05.007
- Slining MM, Mathias KC, Popkin BM. Trends in food and beverage sources among US children and adolescents: 1989-2010. J Acad Nutr Diet. (2013) 113:1683–94. doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2013.06.001
- Murakami K, Livingstone MB. Associations between meal and snack frequency and overweight and abdominal obesity in US children and adolescents from National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) 2003-2012. Br J Nutr. (2016) 115:1819–29. doi: 10.1017/S0007114516000854
- Larson N, Story M, Eisenberg ME, Neumark-Sztainer D. Secular trends in meal and snack patterns among adolescents from 1999 to 2010. J Acad Nutr Diet. (2016) 116:240–50e2. doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2015.09.013
- 15. US Department of Agriculture. *All About the Fruit Group*. (2016). Available online at: https://www.choosemyplate.gov/fruit
- 16. US Department of Agriculture. *All About the Vegetable Group.* (2016). Available online at https://www.choosemyplate.gov/vegetables
- Bradlee ML, Singer MR, Qureshi MM, Moore LL. Food group intake and central obesity among children and adolescents in the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES III). *Public Health Nutr.* (2010) 13:797–805. doi: 10.1017/S1368980009991546
- Herrick KA, Rossen LM, Nielsen SJ, Branum AM, Ogden CL. Fruit consumption by youth in the United States. *Pediatrics*. (2015) 136:664–71. doi: 10.1542/peds.2015-1709
- Vegetarian Resource Group. The Vegetarian Resource Group Blog [Internet]. Baltimore, MD: The Vegetarian Resource Group (2014). (cited 2018). Available online at: https://www.vrg.org/blog/2014/05/30/how-manyteens-and-other-youth-are-vegetarian-and-vegan-the-vegetarian-resourcegroup-asks-in-a-2014-national-poll/
- 20. Stahler C. *How Many Adults are Vegetarians*? The Vegetarian Resource Group (2015). Available online at: https://www.vrg.org
- Key TJ, Appleby PN, Rosell MS. Health effects of vegetarian and vegan diets. Proc Nutr Soc. (2006) 65:35–41. doi: 10.1079/PNS2005481
- Orlich MJ, Fraser GE. Vegetarian diets in the Adventist Health Study 2: A review of initial published findings. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2014) 100:353s-8s. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.113.071233
- Butler TL, Fraser GE, Beeson WL, Knutsen SF, Herring RP, Chan J, et al. Cohort profile: The Adventist Health Study-2 (AHS-2). *Int J Epidemiol*. (2008) 37:260–5. doi: 10.1093/ije/dym165
- 24. Segovia-Siapco G, Pribis P, Messina M, Oda K, Sabate J. Is soy intake related to age at onset of menarche? A cross-sectional study among adolescents with a wide range of soy food consumption. *Nutr J.* (2014) 13:54. doi: 10.1186/1475-2891-13-54
- Nezami M, Segovia-Siapco G, Beeson WL, Sabate J. Associations between consumption of dairy foods and anthropometric indicators of health in adolescents. *Nutrients*. (2016) 8:427. doi: 10.3390/nu8070427
- Segovia-Siapco G, Pribis P, Oda K, Sabate J. Soy isoflavone consumption and age at pubarche in adolescent males. *Eur J Nutr.* (2017) 57:2287–94. doi: 10.1007/s00394-017-1504-1
- Segovia-Siapco G, Oda K, Sabaté J. Evaluation of the relative validity of a Web-based food frequency questionnaire used to assess Soy Isoflavones and nutrient intake in adolescents. *BMC Nutr.* (2016) 2:39. doi: 10.1186/s40795-016-0080-8

- 28. Siapco GS, Alomairah S, Sabate J. Can teens accurately report their weight, height, and waist and hip circumferences? *FASEB J.* (2013) 27.
- 29. Nutrition Coordinating Center University of Minnesota. *Nutrition Data System for Research (NDS-R)* 2013. Minneapolis, MN: The Nutrition Coordinating Center, Division of Epidemiology, School of Public Health, University of Minnesota (2000).
- Epidemiology and Genomics Research Program. Usual Dietary Intakes: Food Intakes, U.S. Population, 2007-10. National Cancer Institute (2018) (updated April 24, 2018). Available online at: https://epi.grants.cancer.gov/ diet/usualintakes/pop/2007-10/
- 31. US Department of Agriculture and Agricultural Research Service. Nutrient Intakes from Food: Mean Amounts Consumed per Individual, by Gender and Age. What We Eat in America, NHANES 2011-2012 (2012). Available at online https://www.ars.usda.gov/northeast-area/beltsville-md-bhnrc/ beltsville-human-nutrition-research-center/food-surveys-research-group/ docs/wweia-data-tables/
- 32. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services and U.S. Department of Agriculture. 2015–2020 Dietary Guidelines for Americans. 8th Edition. (2015). Available online at http://health.gov/dietaryguidelines/2015/guidelines/
- Perry CL, McGuire MT, Neumark-Sztainer D, Story M. Adolescent vegetarians - How well do their dietary patterns meet the Healthy People 2010 objectives? Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. (2002) 156:431–7. doi: 10.1001/archpedi.156.5.431
- Cifelli CJ, Houchins JA, Demmer E, Fulgoni VL. Increasing plant based foods or dairy foods differentially affects nutrient intakes: dietary scenarios Using NHANES 2007-2010. Nutrients. (2016) 8:422. doi: 10.3390/nu8070422
- Elorinne AL, Alfthan G, Erlund I, Kivimaki H, Paju A, Salminen I, et al. Food and nutrient intake and nutritional status of Finnish vegans and non-vegetarians. *PLoS ONE*. (2016) 11:e0148235. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0148235
- Brenna JT. Efficiency of conversion of alpha-linolenic acid to long chain n-3 fatty acids in man. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care.* (2002) 5:127–32. doi: 10.1097/00075197-200203000-00002
- Greupner T, Kutzner L, Pagenkopf S, Kohrs H, Hahn A, Schebb NH, Schuchardt JP. Effects of a low and a high dietary LA/ALA ratio on longchain PUFA concentrations in red blood cells. *Food Funct.* (2018) 9:4742–54. doi: 10.1039/C8FO00735G
- Jackson SL, King SM, Zhao L, Cogswell ME. Prevalence of excess sodium intake in the United States - NHANES, 2009-2012. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. (2016) 64:1393–7. doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6452a1
- 39. Malta D, Petersen KS, Johnson C, Trieu K, Rae S, Jefferson K, et al. High sodium intake increases blood pressure and risk of kidney disease. From the Science of Salt: A regularly updated systematic review of salt and health outcomes (August 2016 to March 2017). *J Clin Hypertens*. (2018) 20:1654–65. doi: 10.1111/jch.13408
- Quader ZS, Gillespie C, Sliwa SA, Ahuja JK, Burdg JP, Moshfegh A, et al. Sodium intake among US school-aged children: National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 2011-2012. J Acad Nutr Diet. (2017) 117:39– 47.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2016.09.010
- Drewnowski A, Rehm CD. Sodium intakes of US children and adults from foods and beverages by location of origin and by specific food source. *Nutrients.* (2013) 5:1840–55. doi: 10.3390/nu50 61840
- Grimes CA, Wright JD, Liu K, Nowson CA, Loria CM. Dietary sodium intake is associated with total fluid and sugar-sweetened beverage consumption in US children and adolescents aged 2-18 y: NHANES 2005-2008. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2013) 98:189–96. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.112.051508
- 43. O'Neil CE, Nicklas TA, Fulgoni VL, 3rd. Food sources of energy and nutrients of public health concern and nutrients to limit with a focus on milk and other dairy foods in children 2 to 18 years of age: National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 2011-2014. *Nutrients*. (2018) 10:1050. doi: 10.3390/nu10081050
- 44. Sabate J, Lindsted KD, Harris RD, Sanchez A. Attained height of lacto-ovo vegetarian children and adolescents. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (1991) 45:51–8.
- Gorczyca D, Prescha A, Szeremeta K, Jankowski A. Iron status and dietary iron intake of vegetarian children from Poland. *Ann Nutr Metab.* (2013) 62:291–7. doi: 10.1159/000348437

- Nathan I, Hackett AF, Kirby S. The dietary intake of a group of vegetarian children aged 7-11 years compared with matched omnivores. Br J Nutr. (1996) 75:533–44. doi: 10.1079/BJN19 960157
- 47. Yen CE, Yen CH, Huang MC, Cheng CH, Huang YC. Dietary intake and nutritional status of vegetarian and omnivorous preschool children and their parents in Taiwan. *Nutr Res.* (2008) 28:430–6. doi: 10.1016/j.nutres.2008.03.012
- Raiten DJ, Namaste S, Brabin B, Combs G, Jr., L'Abbe MR, Wasantwisut E, et al. Executive summary-biomarkers of nutrition for development: building a consensus. Am J Clin Nutr. (2011) 94:633s-50s. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.110. 008227
- Jun S, Cowan AE, Tooze JA, Gahche JJ, Dwyer JT, Eicher-Miller HA, et al. Dietary supplement use among U.S. children by family income, food security

level, and nutrition assistance program participation status in 2011-2014. *Nutrients.* (2018) 10:1212. doi: 10.3390/nu10091212

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Segovia-Siapco, Burkholder-Cooley, Haddad Tabrizi and Sabaté. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Nutrition Interventions in Rheumatoid Arthritis: The Potential Use of Plant-Based Diets. A Review

Jihad Alwarith<sup>1\*</sup>, Hana Kahleova<sup>1</sup>, Emilie Rembert<sup>1</sup>, Willy Yonas<sup>1</sup>, Sara Dort<sup>1</sup>, Manuel Calcagno<sup>1</sup>, Nora Burgess<sup>1</sup>, Lee Crosby<sup>1</sup> and Neal D. Barnard<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Physicians Committee for Responsible Medicine, Washington, DC, United States, <sup>2</sup> Adjunct Faculty, George Washington University School of Medicine and Health Sciences, Washington, DC, United States

Rheumatoid arthritis (RA), a chronic inflammatory autoimmune disease, affects roughly 1% of the world's population. RA pathogenesis remains unclear, but genetic factors account for 50-60% of the risk while the remainder might be linked to modifiable factors, such as infectious diseases, tobacco smoking, gut bacteria, and nutrition. Dietary triggers may play an inciting role in the autoimmune process, and a compromised intestinal barrier may allow food components or microorganisms to enter the blood stream, triggering inflammation. In addition, excessive body weight may affect pharmacotherapy response and the likelihood of disease remission, as well as the risk of disease mortality. Evidence suggests that changes in diet might play an important role in RA management and remission. Several studies have shown improvements in RA symptoms with diets excluding animal products. Studies have also shown that dietary fiber found in these plant-based foods can improve gut bacteria composition and increase bacterial diversity in RA patients, thus reducing their inflammation and joint pain. Although some of the trigger foods in RA patients are individualized, a vegan diet helps improve symptoms by eliminating many of these foods. This review examines the potential role of a plant-based diet in mediating RA symptoms. Further research is needed to test the effectiveness of plant-based diets on joint pain, inflammation, and quality of life in patients with RA.

Keywords: autoimmune, diet, inflammation, plant-based, vegan, vegetarian, rheumatoid arthritis

# INTRODUCTION

Rheumatoid arthritis (RA), a chronic inflammatory autoimmune disease, affects roughly 1% of the world's population (1). Hands, wrists, and knees are most commonly bilaterally affected causing inflammation, pain, and eventually permanent joint damage (2). Genetic factors may account for a portion of risk (3–5), while the rest might be linked to environmental factors or a combination of genetic and environmental factors. Infectious diseases, tobacco smoking, and gut bacteria have all been considered to play a role in the development or progression of RA (6). Medications are a mainstay of treatment, but have unwanted side effects or are often expensive (7). Thus, changes in diet might be an easy and economical intervention in the management of RA.

Several studies have shown a correlation between modifiable risk factors and improvement of symptoms and outcomes in RA patients. Excessive body weight and diets that include animal products (e.g., dairy and red meat) tend to impair RA management efforts and exacerbate symptoms, presumably due to their pro-inflammatory effects (8). In contrast, diets rich in

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Lidia Santarpia, University of Naples Federico II, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

Ulkan Kilic, University of Health Sciences, Turkey Javaid Alam, National University of Malaysia, Malaysia

> \*Correspondence: Jihad Alwarith jalwarith@pcrm.org

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Clinical Nutrition, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 06 November 2018 Accepted: 13 August 2019 Published: 10 September 2019

#### Citation:

Alwarith J, Kahleova H, Rembert E, Yonas W, Dort S, Calcagno M, Burgess N, Crosby L and Barnard ND (2019) Nutrition Interventions in Rheumatoid Arthritis: The Potential Use of Plant-Based Diets. A Review. Front. Nutr. 6:141. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2019.00141

92

vegetables, fruits, and fiber are associated with lower BMI (9– 11), have anti-inflammatory properties and help reduce pain and inflammation in these patients (12). Specifically, a 4-weeks low-fat vegan diet has been shown to significantly improve RA symptoms such as joint pain, stiffness, swelling and limitation in function (13). Likewise, a 1-year intervention tested the effects of a 7–10 day fast, followed by 3.5 months of a gluten-free vegan diet and gradual adoption of a vegetarian diet for the remainder of the study period. Significant improvements in several RA disease activity variables were observed after 1 month, including: number of tender joints, Ritchie's articular index, number of swollen joints, pain score, duration of morning stiffness, grip strength, erythrocyte sedimentation rate, C-reactive protein, white blood cell count, and a health assessment questionnaire score. These improvements were maintained after 1 year (14).

Several studies have reported lower risk of autoimmune diseases with a vegan diet. A 2013 study, using data from the Adventist Health Study-2 (AHS-2) cohort (n = 65,981), described a lower incidence and prevalence of hypothyroidism in people following vegan diets, compared to omnivorous, lacto-ovovegetarian, semi-vegetarian, and pesco-vegetarian diets even after controlling for BMI and demographic variables. The researchers speculated that the inflammatory properties of animal products could explain the lower risk in vegans (15).

Tonstad et al. also examined the correlation between dietary patterns and hyperthyroidism in the AHS-2 study population. Noting that the most common cause of hyperthyroidism is Graves' Disease, an autoimmune disorder, the researchers observed a 52% lower risk of hyperthyroidism with those consuming a vegan diet when compared to omnivores (16). Compared to non-vegetarians and lacto-ovovegetarians, vegans reported the lowest intake of saturated and *trans* fats, the highest intake of fiber, and displayed the lowest mean BMI (16), all of which could be relevant for the risk of hyperthyroidism. Potential down-regulation of insulin-like growth factor (IGF-1) (17) and higher consumption of polyphenols (18) in vegans are other possible protective mechanisms against hyperthyroidism.

Lauer et al. examined risk factors for multiple sclerosis, an autoimmune disease of the central nervous system, in male World War II veterans using the 1993 nationwide case-control study (n = 10,610) (19, 20). In the U.S, meat and dairy sales were significantly correlated with multiple sclerosis risk, while inverse associations were found with fruit and vegetable sales. Affluence was also positively associated with multiple sclerosis risk, corresponding with increased meat and dairy consumption with higher socioeconomic status.

These results suggest that a vegan diet, with a high intake of fruits and vegetables and the elimination of animal products, could protect against the development of autoimmune conditions. In contrast, diets high in animal products and low in fiber might increase the risk of developing these autoimmune conditions.

Intestinal gut health might play a role in the observed antiinflammatory effects of dietary fiber. Studies have shown that dietary fiber can alter the composition of gut bacteria and increase the bacterial diversity, which is oftentimes lacking in RA patients, thus preventing intestinal damage (21). Accumulating scientific evidence supports the health advantages of vegetarian diets (22). Vegetarian diets are characterized by reduced or eliminated consumption of animal products but may include dairy products and/or eggs, while vegan diets contain only plant foods. Both vegetarian and vegan diets typically emphasize vegetables, fruits, grains, legumes, and nuts. This paper summarizes the associations between diet and RA and makes a case for the potential benefits of a vegan diet in RA management.

## PATHOGENESIS OF RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS

Rheumatoid arthritis is an autoimmune disorder characterized by inflammation of the synovial lining. Inflammation results in an increase in the number of synoviocytes and immune cells. As a result, the synovial membrane becomes hyperplastic, resulting in eventual cartilage and bone erosion (23). The pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis is illustrated in **Figure 1**.

Studies have suggested that RA risk is influenced by a genetic predisposition, environmental factors, or a combination of both. It is clear that immune cells, such as lymphocytes, neutrophils, and macrophages, play an important role in the pathophysiology of RA (24). Within the synovium of RA patients are macrophages and T cells that produce cytokines which promote inflammation and cell migration. Cytokines tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ), interleukin-1 (IL-1), and interleukin-6 (IL-6), produced by macrophages, and cytokine interleukin-17 (IL-17), produced by CD4+ T cells, are commonly involved in the inflammatory response and subsequent cartilage destruction.

These cytokines activate synoviocytes and cause them to proliferate, creating proteases in the synovial fluid, which lead to the breakdown of cartilage and hypertrophied synovial tissue, known as pannus (25). Pannus can be further exacerbated by angiogenesis. The additional blood supply to invaded cartilage and bone allows immune cells to infiltrate the joints, worsening the synovial hyperplasia (24). Cytokines also combine with receptor activator of nuclear factor kappa- $\beta$  ligand (RANKL) to stimulate osteoclast activity, which leads to bone erosion. The expression of RANKL is also affected by T cells (26).

Synovial dendritic cells stimulate immune response by attracting T lymphocytes and activating antigen-specific T cells and, in turn, B cells. In this positive feedback loop, activated B cells stimulate CD4+ T cells, producing more cytokines (27, 28). B cell proliferation can also lead to the creation of plasma cells, which produce autoantibodies, including rheumatoid factor (RF) and anti-citrullinated protein antibodies (ACPAs) (29). These autoantibodies infiltrate the joint through newly developed blood vessels and are currently used in the diagnosis and prognosis of RA (30).

## WEIGHT CONTROL AND RA

Studies show that excessive body weight increases the risk for developing RA (31). A 2011 report defined obesity as having higher than normal levels of all triglycerides found in adipose



tissue, which can contribute to negative health outcomes such as increased inflammation, type 2 diabetes, insulin resistance, and cardiovascular disease (32). Excessive adipose tissue secretes proinflammatory cytokines (adipokines) into circulation, which can increase adipose tissue growth, leading to a positive feedback cycle of adipokine secretion and tissue inflammation (33).

Adipose tissue stores energy in the form of fat, which helps regulate several physiological processes such as insulin sensitivity, metabolism, and inflammation. However, having excess fat in adipose tissue and non-adipose tissue cells can hinder these physiological processes. Recent studies have found that increased fat inside cells is related to increased inflammation (32). In addition, the extra stress placed on weight-bearing joints by excess body weight further exacerbates inflammation in these patients; therefore, weight loss could be an effective therapy for individuals diagnosed with RA.

Multiple studies have concluded that RA patients who are overweight have worse outcomes than those with a normal body mass index (BMI $\leq$ 24.9) (34, 35). The Canadian Early Arthritis Cohort (CATCH) study (n = 982) showed that being overweight or obese were independently associated with a decreased chance for achieving sustained RA remission. Overweight patients were 25 and 47% less likely to achieve sustained remission within 3 years, respectively (36). Similarly, the Nurses' Health Study I and II, two prospective cohort studies including a total of 239,131 U.S. female nurses, reported that being overweight at 18 years of age was associated with a 35% increased risk of developing RA and a 50% risk of developing seropositive RA in adulthood (33).

Weight loss could be useful for alleviating the effects of inflammation and obesity in RA patients. A 2018 retrospective analysis (n = 174) evaluated the association between weight loss and RA disease activity, and found that overweight individuals who lost  $\geq 5 \text{ kg}$  had a three-fold increased odds of disease activity improvement compared to those who lost <5 kg. The clinical disease activity scale quantifies RA disease activity from 0 to 76 (higher scores indicating higher disease activity) by measuring the number of tender and swollen joints as well as a physician and patient global assessment on a 0-10 scale. The study concluded that each kilogram of weight lost was associated with a clinical disease activity index improvement of 1.15 (p =0.0026) (37). Sparks et al. investigated the effect of weight loss in RA patients after bariatric surgery (n = 53) and had similar findings. At a 12-month, post-surgery follow-up, 6% of patients had moderate/high disease activity compared to 57% at baseline. At the most recent follow-up (mean 5.8 years after surgery) 74% of patients were in remission compared to 26% at baseline. Furthermore, inflammatory markers were significantly lower at the 6-, 12-month, and most recent follow up visits of  $5.8 \pm 3.2$ years following surgery (p < 0.05, p < 0.001, and p < 0.001, respectively) (38). Weight loss may be a key non-pharmacologic approach in reducing inflammation and RA disease activity.

In addition to the importance of weight management, a 2015 nested case-control study (n = 33,456) found an association between elevated serum cholesterol and the subsequent development of RA. Women diagnosed with RA at follow-up had higher total cholesterol levels at baseline compared with healthy controls (OR 1.42; 95% CI 1.08–1.87). However, this relationship was not observed in men (39). The positive association between total cholesterol levels and RA development in women suggests a possible mechanism related to female sex hormones. A low-fat, vegan diet, which reduces plasma cholesterol and has a hormone-stabilizing effect (40–42), may therefore help protect against the development of RA in women (39).

Vegetarian and vegan diets have been consistently shown to be effective weight loss and cholesterol-lowering strategies compared with other conventional calorie-restricted diets. Two meta-analyses of randomized clinical trials showed a benefit of vegetarian, especially vegan, diets on body weight, compared with other diets (43, 44). The strong evidence is supported by observational studies (9-11). Likewise, the evidence for the effectiveness of vegetarian, particularly vegan, diets in lowering total and LDL-cholesterol in clinical trials is consistent (45, 46) and is further supported by observational studies (47, 48). Elkan et al. (n = 66) observed reductions in BMI, LDL, and total cholesterol after both 3 and 12 months of a glutenfree vegan diet (p < 0.01). These results correspond with the improvements in Disease Activity Score of 28 joints, Health Assessment Questionnaires, and CRP levels ( $p \le 0.008$ ) after 12 months (49). These findings suggest that by improving weight loss and lowering serum cholesterol levels, plant-based diets might improve RA symptoms and decrease the risk of developing the disease.

#### ASSOCIATIONS BETWEEN DIET AND RA

#### **Diet and Inflammation**

A 2015 study (n = 50) observed reductions in inflammatory scores in overweight or obese, otherwise healthy, participants randomized to a 2-month vegan, vegetarian, or pesco-vegetarian dietary intervention (p < 0.05) compared to those placed on a semi-vegetarian or omnivorous diet. Subjects in all five groups were counseled to choose low-fat foods, but only the vegan participants met the mean percentage energy from fat and saturated fat (<30% energy from fat and <7% energy from saturated fat) recommendations. The researchers attributed this observation to the elimination of the leading sources of fat in the western diet (beef, cheese, milk, and poultry; 8). Diets high in fat and processed meat have been positive associated with inflammatory markers C-reactive protein (CRP), interleukin-6 (IL-6), and homocysteine, while diets high in whole grains and fruit have been inversely associated with these biomarkers (50). Likewise, vegetarian diets are negatively associated with CRP levels (p < 0.000) (51). Furthermore, a 3-week vegan lifestyle intervention resulted in a 33% reduction in CRP levels (p < 0.001), which was attributed to the anti-inflammatory components of the vegan diet, such as high fiber intake (>49 g/day) (12).

Research has found that a low-fat vegan diet improves RA symptoms, such as the degree of pain, joint tenderness, and joint swelling (13). A randomized clinical trial found that a gluten-free vegan diet decreases immunoglobulin G (IgG) in RA patients, an oftentimes elevated pro-inflammatory antibody (52). A Cretan Mediterranean Diet, rich in olive oil, cereals, vegetables, fruits, and legumes, also resulted in significant improvements in Disease Activity Score (DAS28), Health Assessment Questionnaire (HAQ), C-Reactive Protein (CRP), and swollen joint counts in patients with RA (53). However, further investigation is needed as previous research has also shown that a high-fat diet may change the composition of the gut bacteria and be linked to inflammation (54–56).

The naturally low-fat, fiber-rich components of a vegan diet might mediate the pathways that alleviate joint inflammation and pain, as observed through reduced CRP levels and improved inflammatory scores. These findings highlight the need for a randomized study that objectively measures biomarkers of inflammation related to plant-based dietary changes.

#### Relationship Between Inflammation and Protein Quantity and Source

Rheumatoid arthritis is a type of inflammatory polyarthritis, characterized by inflammation in more than four joints (57). Higher red meat intake has been positively associated with inflammatory polyarthritis (p = 0.04). Participants consuming the highest levels of red meat (OR 1.9, 95% CI 0.9–4.0), total meat (OR 2.3, 95% CI 1.1–4.9), and total protein (OR 2.9, 95% CI 1.1–7.5), displayed a higher risk for inflammatory polyarthritis when compared to participants with lower meat and protein intakes (58). These findings suggest that meat intake increases the risk of inflammatory arthritis.

Gögebakan et al. (n = 932) examined the effects of weight loss from varying dietary compositions on high sensitivity Creactive protein (hsCRP) using data from the Diet, Obesity, and Genes study (DiOgenes) (59). After an initial weight loss of at least 8%, participants were randomized to 1 of 5 dietary interventions for 26 weeks. These interventions included: (1) low protein, low glycemic index; (2) low protein, high glycemic index; (3) high protein, low glycemic index; (4) high protein, high glycemic index; and (5) control diet based on national dietary guidelines. The initial calorie-restricted period resulted in a significant improvement of hsCRP, which is likely due to calorie restriction-stimulated activation of protective metabolic pathways, thus reducing inflammatory markers. Low-glycemic index diets resulted in a further decrease of hsCRP of -0.46 mg/L greater than in the high-glycemic-index groups. Similarly, hsCRP values decreased -0.25 mg/L more in the low-protein groups than in the high-protein groups. Gögebakan et al. postulate that the lower post-prandial glucose levels on low-glycemic index diets decrease inflammatory gene expression, resulting in reduced hsCRP levels (59).

A high-protein diet (28% protein, 43% carbohydrate, 13g fiber) reduced insulin sensitivity by 12% while a high cereal fiber diet (17% protein, 52% carbohydrate, 43 g fiber) improved insulin sensitivity by 13% in 111 overweight and obese participants (60). Participants assigned to the high fiber diet displayed 25% higher insulin sensitivity than those on the high protein diet after the 6-week intervention (p = 0.008). These results indicate that high dietary protein (>25-30% of energy) induces insulin resistance. Interestingly, insulin sensitivity was not significantly altered after 6 weeks of a mixed diet (23% protein, 44% carbohydrate, 26 g fiber). While dietary proteins are normally degraded by enzymes in the upper gut, these results indicate that cereal fibers may impede protein absorption in the small intestine. Thus, a low-glycemic, high-fiber and low-protein diet could mediate inflammation by decreasing pro-inflammatory gene expression and improving insulin sensitivity, even after significant reductions in inflammatory markers due to weight loss (59, 60). Let et al. (n = 3,690) sought to examine the association between red meat intake and inflammatory biomarkers. Crosssectional data from the Nurses' Health Study was analyzed and the association between total, unprocessed, and processed meat intake with CRP and adiponectin were measured. Greater total, unprocessed, and processed red meat intakes were associated with significantly higher plasma CRP concentrations and lower adiponectin levels for participants in the highest quintiles of these groups. Similarly, lower CRP values were associated with substituting a serving of total red meat with a combination of alternative protein sources (including poultry, fish, legumes, or nuts) ( $\beta = -0.106$ ,  $p \le 0.02$ ). However, these associations were no longer significant after adjustment for BMI, as well as medical and lifestyle variables (61).

BMI accounted for a statistically significant proportion of associations with these biomarkers. The results of this study indicate that while greater red meat intake is associated with higher plasma concentrations of inflammatory biomarkers in diabetes-free women, adiposity accounted for a statistically significant proportion of these associations. Excluding animal products has been shown to reduce adiposity and improve CRP and adiponectin levels (61).

These findings highlight some of the potential mechanisms by which vegan diets could improve inflammation in RA patients. Apart from eliminating leading triggers, reducing animal protein has been linked to lower inflammatory markers and increased insulin sensitivity. Research also suggests that the low-glycemic index and high fiber content of the diet could reduce inflammatory gene expression. Thus, a naturally antiinflammatory vegan diet could improve RA symptoms.

#### Fat Intake and Inflammation

A 3-month Mediterranean dietary intervention which significantly increased the ratio of monounsaturated fats:saturated fats improved rheumatoid arthritis symptoms as measured by pain score and physical function (62). These findings suggest that saturated fat might be linked to poorer rheumatoid arthritis symptoms, while monounsaturated fats are associated with improved outcomes (63).

A 2013 study (n = 15) examined the acute antioxidant and inflammatory response following a high-fat meal in overweight participants over an 8 h period. Pro-inflammatory TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6 concentrations increased significantly in response to the meal. TNF- $\alpha$  levels increased by 12 pg/mL (p < 0.001) in the first hour and remained significantly above fasting values throughout the 8 h. IL-6 levels constantly rose after the meal, doubling its basal value after 2 h (+0.3 pg/mL, p < 0.05) and reached a maximum concentration after 8 h. Likewise, total cholesterol levels increased throughout the post-meal study period and peaked at the 8 h point (+7 mg/dl; p < 0.01) (64).

High-fat meal ingestion also increased endogenous antioxidants, uric acid and thiols, indicating the presence of oxidative stress. The area under the curve of both uric acid and thiols was significantly correlated with the triglycerides area under the curve (Pearson coefficient 0.923). This concomitant antioxidant response to high-fat meal ingestion highlights the pronounced impact of dietary-induced inflammation, due to a single meal (64).

A moderate (3.68–13.67 g) or high (>13.67 g) reduction in saturated fatty acid consumption has been shown to reduce leptin, a pro-inflammatory adipokine, and increase adiponectin, an anti-inflammatory adipokine, in obese adolescents. Likewise a decrease in the pro-inflammatory leptin/adiponectin (L/A) and an increase in the anti-inflammatory adiponectin/leptin (A/L) ratio was observed after the reduction in saturated fatty acid consumption. A negative correlation between the change in SFA and adiponectin as well as A/L ratio (p < 0.05 for both) was observed. Participants with the greatest reduction of SFA increased their adiponectin levels by 50%, followed by 20% and 23% in the moderate and low SFA reduction groups, respectively ( $p \le 0.05$ ) (65). This study demonstrates that a moderate change in SFA intake can yield significant changes in inflammatory measures.

The primary source of saturated fat in the U.S. is dairy products, followed by meat, eggs, and various processed foods (66). A low-fat, vegan diet is naturally free of animal products

and low in SFA, potentially improving RA symptoms by upregulating anti-inflammatory markers and down-regulating proinflammatory adipokines.

# Complex Carbohydrates, Fiber Intake, and Inflammation

A 2009 systematic review (n = 554) sought to determine the influence of dietary fiber on CRP values in clinical trials (67). Increased fiber consumption, with corresponding altered fat intake and weight loss, was associated with lower CRP concentrations of 25–54% (p = 0.05) in six of the seven reviewed studies. The use of psyllium fiber supplementation in the seventh study did not result in lower CRP values, indicating that the effects of psyllium do not replicate those of a high-fiber diet (68). A significant decrease in inflammatory marker levels follows decreased fat intake (69), increased fiber consumption (70–72), and weight loss (69). Thus, a vegan diet, structured around lowglycemic foods and naturally high in fiber, has potential to lower inflammatory markers.

Dietary fiber is fermented by gut microbiota to produce short chain fatty acids (SCFAs), which have a beneficial effect on colonocytes (21, 73). Damage to colonocytes can result in intestinal permeability, endotoxemia, and inflammation. Thus, a diet rich in fiber provides an abundant energy source to colonocyte, reducing the risk of pathogens entering the bloodstream and inducing an inflammatory response.

These findings suggest that dietary fiber can reduce local and systemic inflammation, and that modulating effects on the gut bacteria composition, SCFA production, and intestinal barrier integrity could be involved.

#### **Microbiome and Inflammation**

The gut may play a key role in the pathophysiology of RA. Permeability of the intestinal barrier allows for food components or bacterial endotoxins to enter the bloodstream. Absorption of endotoxins into circulation can trigger a systemic inflammatory response (74). This process may help explain the oftentimes elevated self-reactive antibodies and proinflammatory T lymphocytes in RA patients (13, 21, 75). The maintenance of the intestinal barrier is largely dependent on the composition of the gut microbiome. As discussed in the previous section, particular microbes ferment dietary fiber into the short chain fatty acids (SCFAs) that serve as the primary energy source for colonocytes. Certain SCFAs, particularly butyrate, have also been shown to ameliorate colonocyte DNA damage (21, 73). A microbiome lacking in diversity can result in lower concentrations of these SCFAs, and therefore, impair the intestinal barrier, allowing pathogens to enter the bloodstream, and inducing an inflammatory response (74). Previous research has shown that the microbiomes of RA patients not only lack microbial diversity but are dominated by Prevotella copri (75, 76). This bacterial species appears to lower the abundance of other beneficial species and thrive in untreated RA patients (75). Thus, the gut microbiome and dietary fiber intake might have a significant impact on RA disease activity.

The gut microbiome could mediate the connection between diet, inflammation, and RA, although these relationships

remain speculative (77). Some studies suggest a connection between intestinal inflammation and joint inflammation (78). Kim et al. observed that a vegan diet lowers the relative abundance of *Enterobacteriaceae* in the gut, which in turn reduces fecal lipocalin-2 (Lcn-2), a sensitive biomarker of intestinal inflammation, within 28 days (54). **Table 1** lists the type of correlation between bacterial species, dietary factors, and inflammation.

## **Elimination Diets in the Treatment of RA**

As explored throughout this review, a growing body of research suggests that RA may have a gastrointestinal component and may even originate in the gut, at least for some individuals. In addition to other dietary considerations, antigenic load and sensitivities to specific foods may contribute to both the onset and severity of RA (81).

An early review by van de Laar et al. revealed that arthritic symptoms are associated with multiple gut-related conditions, including celiac disease, intestinal bypass, and inflammatory bowel disease. Moreover, mast cells, which are activated in response to foreign antigens, often in a process mediated by immunoglobulin E (IgE), are present in elevated numbers in the synovial tissues of patients with RA (82, 83). Even more telling, cross-reactive antibodies to various foods are found in the small intestine of those with RA at markedly higher levels than in healthy individuals (84).

Multiple studies have found improvements in RA patients placed on an elemental diet in which all antigenic proteins are eliminated from the patient's diet. The individual is given, as a sole source of nutrition, a complete formula in which all proteins have been broken down into free amino acids. A study conducted by Podas et al. found that placing patients with RA on an elemental diet was as effective as 15 mg/day of oral prednisolone over a 2-week period (81). However, symptoms returned upon cessation of the elemental diet, just as for cessation of prednisolone. Similar benefits were not seen for patients on a peptide diet containing protein fragments 3–6 amino acids in length (85).

Elimination diets, which remove one or more foods likely to trigger symptoms, have also been shown to induce clinical improvement in RA patients in clinical trials (52, 86). These improvements disappear when patients resume their normal diet (86).

However, response to elimination diets is highly individualized. Darlington et al. reported that some RA patients were "good responders." These individuals, who reported feeling "better" or "much better" after an elimination diet (75% of respondents), showed profound improvements in all or nearly all measures of disease activity. Interestingly, after analyzing a number of personal attributes, the only factor significantly associated with a good response to the elimination diet was a family history of atopy (86).

One challenge in studying elimination diets for RA is that, as for food allergies, trigger foods are often unique to each individual (87). Multiple methods have been tried to identify individual food sensitivities, with varying degrees of success. Skin prick testing (SPT) is a tool used to identify IgE antibody response

#### TABLE 1 | Microbiota and inflammatory associations.

Genus	Dietary association	Association with inflammation/RA	References
Ruminococcus	↑Fruit and vegetables	↓Endotoxemia	(79)
	↑Non-digestible carbohydrates	↓Colorectal adenomas	(80)
Roseburia	↓High protein/low carbohydrate diet ↑Mediterranean diet ↓Animal protein	↓Inflammatory Bowel Disease ↓Colorectal adenomas	(80)
Bifidobacterium	<ul> <li>↑Non-digestible carbohydrates</li> <li>↑Plant polyphenols</li> <li>↑Low fat diet</li> <li>↑Unsaturated fat</li> <li>↑Date fruits</li> <li>↑Mediterranean diet</li> <li>↓Western diet</li> <li>↓Beef</li> </ul>	↓hs-CRP ↑Immune-modulation ↑Gut mucosal barrier	(80)
Lactobacillus	↑Non-digestible carbohydrates ↑Plant polyphenols ↑Unsaturated fat ↑Mediterranean diet ↓High fat diet ↓Western diet	↑Anti-inflammatory activities ↓hs-CRP ↓Intestinal dysbiosis ↓Inflammatory Bowel Disease	(80)

†Increase. ↓Decrease.

42.00, 0400,

to a stimulus, but does not consistently correspond with reactions to offensive foods (88).

However, SPT and oral food challenges have both identified foods capable of worsening RA symptoms in some individuals. For example, SPT was used to identify corn, wheat, coffee, soybeans, and other foods as possible triggers in 20 RA patients who demonstrated reactivity in SPT (Note: the researchers did not test dairy products or red meat due to bovine spongiform encephalopathy concerns). Of the 18 patients who subsequently underwent an elimination period wherein they omitted common food allergens, followed by a challenge with foods they reacted to in SPT, 13 (72%) experienced worsening symptoms after reintroduction of SPT-positive foods (89).

Darlington et al. used elimination and oral food challenge to identify foods capable of inducing symptoms in RA patients. Forty-eight patients undertook a 6-week elimination diet; fortyone were found to have foods that triggered symptoms. Foods triggering symptoms for reactive patients are described in **Table 2** (90).

Serum levels of food-specific antibodies and even rectal food protein challenge have also been tried; however, these methods have largely failed to identify a reliable link between specific foods and clinical symptoms (87). Additional foods have been implicated in some individuals using these and other methodologies. For example, the level of antibodies specific to *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* (baker's or brewer's yeast) in the blood of RA patients strongly correlates with C-reactive protein levels and erythrocyte sedimentation rate, both markers of inflammation (91).

Animal foods, including milk, eggs, and dairy, have also been found to be particularly problematic for RA patients, as evidenced by studies showing symptomatic improvement with a vegan diet (13, 52). Certain cereals may also pose problems in addition to animal products. Confirming findings from food **TABLE 2** | Foods inducing symptoms in food-reactive RA patients (n = 41).

Food	Percent of patients affected	Food	Percent of patients affected
Corn	57	Malt	27
Wheat	54	Cheese	24
Bacon/pork	39	Grapefruit	24
Oranges	39	Tomato	22
Milk	37	Peanuts	20
Oats	37	Sugar (cane)	20
Rye	34	Butter	17
Eggs	32	Lamb	17
Beef	32	Lemons	17
Coffee	32	Soy	17

From Darlington and Ramsey (90).

challenge studies, one trial found strikingly higher levels of antibodies to milk, egg, pork, and codfish antigens, along with wheat, oat, and soy antigens, in the jejunal fluid of RA patients when compared to controls. Given evidence suggesting these results were not due to increased intestinal permeability from NSAID exposure, study authors concluded that mucosal immune activation in the intestine could play a role in the pathogenesis of RA (84).

However, a 2009 Cochrane review found "uncertain" effects of elimination and vegan diets as a result of inadequate data reporting (92); little if any research has since been published on the effects of elimination diets on RA. The lack of recent research on this topic is concerning, since emerging research has shown that diets eliminating specific foods can be effective for other inflammatory and autoimmune conditions, such as Crohn's disease (93, 94) and eosinophilic esophagitis (95–98). Eliminating

gluten has also been found to not only ameliorate intestinal signs and symptoms in celiac disease (CD) but also to improve arthritis/arthralgia in some CD patients (99, 100).

The relationship between diet and RA is complex, and foods that trigger reactions in patients are individualized and therefore can be challenging to detect. However, a vegan diet comprised of fruits, grains, legumes, and vegetables can be a beneficial start for RA patients. In addition to being associated with lower BMI and greater fiber intake, this diet may help improve symptoms by eliminating many common trigger foods. Further elimination may be beneficial depending on the individual.

## CONCLUSION

Several studies have shown that joint pain and other RA symptoms may be modified by dietary factors. Excessive body weight and diets that include animal products (e.g., dairy, red meat) exacerbate the RA symptoms likely due to their pro-inflammatory effects. In contrast, diets rich in vegetables, fruits, and fiber are associated with lower BMI, have anti-inflammatory properties and help reduce pain and inflammation in these patients. Studies have shown that dietary fiber found in these plant-based foods can improve the gut bacteria composition

#### REFERENCES

- Gibofsky A. Epidemiology, pathophysiology, and diagnosis of rheumatoid arthritis: a synopsis. Am J Managed Care. (2014) 20(Suppl. 7):S128–35. Available online at: https://www.ajmc.com/about/ajmc/journal
- 2. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *Rheumatoid Arthritis (RA)* | *Arthritis Basics* | *Arthritis Types* | *Arthritis* | *CDC*. (2018). Available online at: https://www.cdc.gov/arthritis/basics/rheumatoid-arthritis.html (accessed March 15, 2018).
- 3. Holoshitz J. The rheumatoid arthritis HLA-DRB1 shared epitope. *Curr Opin Rheumatol.* (2010) 22:293–8. doi: 10.1097/BOR.0b013e328336ba63
- Raghav SK, Gupta B, Agrawal C, Chaturvedi VP, Das HR. Expression of TNF-α and related signaling molecules in the peripheral blood mononuclear cells of rheumatoid arthritis patients. *Mediat Inflamm.* (2006) 2006:12682. doi: 10.1155/MI/2006/12682
- Viatte S, Barton A. Genetics of rheumatoid arthritis susceptibility, severity, and treatment response. Sem Immunopathol. (2017) 39:395–408. doi: 10.1007/s00281-017-0630-4
- Maeda Y, Takeda K. Role of gut microbiota in rheumatoid arthritis. J Clin Med. (2017) 6:60. doi: 10.3390/jcm6060060
- Cutolo M, Kitas GD, van Riel PL. Burden of disease in treated rheumatoid arthritis patients: going beyond the joint. *Sem Arthr Rheumat.* (2014) 43:479– 88. doi: 10.1016/j.semarthrit.2013.08.004
- Turner-McGrievy GM, Wirth MD, Shivappa N, Wingard EE, Fayad R, Wilcox S, et al. Randomization to plant-based dietary approaches leads to larger short-term improvements in dietary inflammatory index scores and macronutrient intake compared with diets that contain meat. *Nutr Res.* (2015) 35:97–106. doi: 10.1016/j.nutres.2014.11.007
- Fraser GE. Associations between diet and cancer, ischemic heart disease, and all-cause mortality in non-hispanic white california seventh-day adventists. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 70 (1999) (Suppl. 3):532S–8. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/70.3.532s
- Appleby PN, Thorogood M, Mann JI, Key TJ. The oxford vegetarian study: an overview. Am J Clin Nutr. (1999) 70(Suppl. 3):525S-31. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/70.3.525s

and increase the bacterial diversity in RA patients, potentially reducing inflammation and joint pain. Moreover, although some of the trigger foods in RA patients are individualized, a vegan diet comprised of fruits, whole grains, legumes, and vegetables, can improve symptoms by eliminating many common trigger foods. Elimination of additional food triggers may be necessary depending on the individual food sensitivities. Further research is needed to test the effectiveness of plant-based diets on joint pain, inflammation, and quality of life in patients with RA.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

JA and HK contributed organization of the manuscript. MC drafted the manuscript and composed the outline. JA, HK, ER, WY, SD, MC, NBu, and LC wrote sections of the manuscript. NBa reviewed and approved the submitted version. All authors had full access to data and revised and approved the manuscript for publication.

#### FUNDING

This work was funded by the Physicians Committee for Responsible Medicine.

- Tonstad S, Butler T, Yan R, Fraser GE. Type of vegetarian diet, body weight, and prevalence of type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care.* (2009) 32:791–6. doi: 10.2337/dc08-1886
- Sutliffe JT, Wilson LD, de Heer HD, Foster RL, Carnot MJ. C-reactive protein response to a vegan lifestyle intervention. *Complement Ther Med.* (2015) 23:32–7. doi: 10.1016/j.ctim.2014.11.001
- McDougall J, Bruce B, Spiller G, Westerdahl J, McDougall M. Effects of a very low-fat, vegan diet in subjects with rheumatoid arthritis. J Alternat Complement Med. (2002) 8:71–5. doi: 10.1089/1075553027535 07195
- Kjeldsen-Kragh J, Haugen M, Borchgrevink CF, Laerum E, Eek M, Mowinkel P, et al. Controlled trial of fasting and one-year vegetarian diet in rheumatoid arthritis. *Lancet.* (1991) 338:899–902. doi: 10.1016/0140-6736(91)91770-U
- Tonstad S, Nathan E, Oda K, Fraser G. Vegan diets and hypothyroidism. Nutrients. (2013) 5:4642–52. doi: 10.3390/nu5114642
- Tonstad S, Nathan E, Oda K, Fraser GE. Prevalence of hyperthyroidism according to type of vegetarian diet. *Public Health Nutr.* (2015) 18:1482–7. doi: 10.1017/S1368980014002183
- McCarty MF. Upregulation of lymphocyte apoptosis as a strategy for preventing and treating autoimmune disorders: a role for whole-food vegan diets, fish oil and dopamine agonists. *Med Hypotheses*. (2001) 57:258–75. doi: 10.1054/mehy.2000.1318
- Duntas LH. Environmental factors and thyroid autoimmunity. Ann Endocrinol. (2011) 72:108–13. doi: 10.1016/j.ando.2011.03.019
- Kurtzke JF, Beebe GW, Norman JE Jr. Epidemiology of multiple sclerosis in U.S. veterans: 1. Race, sex, and geographic distribution. *Neurology*. (1979) 29(9 Pt 1):1228–35. doi: 10.1212/WNL.29.9\_Part\_1.1228
- Lauer K. The risk of multiple sclerosis in the U.S.A. in relation to sociogeographic features: a factor-analytic study. *J Clin Epidemiol.* (1994) 47:43–8. doi: 10.1016/0895-4356(94) 90032-9
- Simpson HL, Campbell BJ. Review article: dietary fibre-microbiota interactions. *Aliment Pharmacol Therapeut*. (2015) 42:158–79. doi: 10.1111/apt.13248

- Melina V, Craig W, Levin S. Position of the academy of nutrition and dietetics: vegetarian diets. J Acad Nutr Dietet. (2016) 116:1970–80. doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2016.09.025
- Huber LC, Distler O, Tarner I, Gay RE, Gay S, Pap T. Synovial fibroblasts: key players in rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatology*. (2006) 45:669–75. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/kel065
- 24. Choy E. Understanding the dynamics: pathways involved in the pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatology.* (2012) 51(Suppl. 5):v3–11. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/kes113
- Byng-Maddick R, Ehrenstein MR. The impact of biological therapy on regulatory T cells in rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatology*. (2015) 54:768–75. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/keu487
- Smolen JS, Aletaha D, Barton A, Burmester GR, Emery P, Firestein GS, et al. Rheumatoid arthritis. *Nat Rev Dis Prim.* (2018) 4:18001. doi: 10.1038/nrdp.2018.1
- Tran CN, Lundy SK, Fox DA. Synovial biology and t cells in rheumatoid arthritis. *Pathophysiology.* (2005) 12:183–9. doi: 10.1016/j.pathophys.2005.07.005
- Bugatti S, Vitolo B, Caporali R, Montecucco C, Manzo A. B cells in rheumatoid arthritis: from pathogenic players to disease biomarkers. *Res Article Bio Med Res Int.* (2014) 2014:681678. doi: 10.1155/2014/681678
- 29. Silverman GJ, Carson DA. Roles of B cells in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthr Res Ther.* (2003) 5(Suppl. 4):S1–6. doi: 10.1186/ar1010
- Boissier MC, Semerano L, Challal S, Saidenberg-Kermanac'h N, Falgarone G. Rheumatoid arthritis: from autoimmunity to synovitis and joint destruction. *J Autoimm.* (2012) 39:222–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2012.05.021
- 31. Qin B, Yang M, Fu H, Ma N, Wei T, Tang Q, et al. Body mass index and the risk of rheumatoid arthritis: a systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis. *Arthr Res Ther.* (2015) 17:86. doi: 10.1186/s13075-015-0601-x
- Procaccini C, Carbone F, Galgani M, La Rocca C, De Rosa V, Cassano S, et al. Obesity and susceptibility to autoimmune diseases. *Exp Rev Clin Immunol Lond*. (2011) 7:287–94. doi: 10.1586/eci.11.18
- 33. Lu B, Hiraki LT, Sparks JA, Malspeis S, Chen CY, Awosogba JA, et al. Being overweight or obese and risk of developing rheumatoid arthritis among women: a prospective cohort study. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2014) 73:1914–22. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2014-205459
- 34. Gremese E, Carletto A, Padovan M, Atzeni F, Raffeiner B, Giardina AR, et al. Obesity and reduction of the response rate to anti-tumor necrosis factor α in rheumatoid arthritis: an approach to a personalized medicine. *Arthr Care Res.* (2013) 65:94–100. doi: 10.1002/acr.21768
- 35. Sandberg ME, Bengtsson C, Källberg H, Wesley A, Klareskog L, Alfredsson L, et al. Overweight decreases the chance of achieving good response and low disease activity in early rheumatoid arthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis Lond.* (2014) 73:2029–33. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2013-205094
- 36. Schulman E, Bartlett SJ, Schieir O, Andersen KM, Boire G, Pope JE, et al. Overweight and obesity reduce the likelihood of achieving sustained remission in early rheumatoid arthritis: results from the canadian early arthritis cohort study. *Arthr Care Res.* (2018) 70:1185–91. doi: 10.1002/acr.23457
- 37. Kreps DJ, Halperin F, Desai SP, Zhang ZZ, Losina E, Olson AT, et al. Association of weight loss with improved disease activity in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: a retrospective analysis using electronic medical record data. *Int J Clin Rheumatol.* (2018) 13:1–10. doi: 10.4172/1758-4272.1000154
- Sparks JA, Halperin F, Karlson JC, Karlson EW, Bermas BL. Impact of bariatric surgery on patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthr Care Res.* (2015) 67:1619–26. doi: 10.1002/acr.22629
- Turesson C, Bergström U, Pikwer M, Nilsson JÅ, Jacobsson LT. High serum cholesterol predicts rheumatoid arthritis in women, but not in men: a prospective study. *Arthr Res Ther.* (2015) 17:284. doi: 10.1186/s13075-015-0804-1
- Cho E, Spiegelman D, Hunter DJ, Chen WY, Stampfer MJ, Colditz GA, et al. Premenopausal fat intake and risk of breast cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst. (2003) 95:1079–85. doi: 10.1093/jnci/95.14.1079
- Farvid MS, Cho E, Chen WY, Eliassen AH, Willett WC. Premenopausal dietary fat in relation to pre- and post-menopausal breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* (2014) 145:255–65. doi: 10.1007/s10549-014-2895-9

- Allen NE, Appleby PN, Davey GK, Key TJ. Hormones and diet: low insulinlike growth factor-i but normal bioavailable androgens in vegan men. *Br J Cancer.* (2000) 83:95–7. doi: 10.1054/bjoc.2000.1152
- Barnard ND, Levin SM, Yokoyama Y. A systematic review and meta-analysis of changes in body weight in clinical trials of vegetarian diets. J Acad Nutr Diet. (2015) 115:954–69. doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2014.11.016
- Huang RY, Huang CC, Hu FB, Chavarro JE. Vegetarian diets and weight reduction: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J Gen Internal Med. (2016) 31:109–16. doi: 10.1007/s11606-015-3390-7
- Wang F, Zheng J, Yang B, Jiang J, Fu Y, Li D. Effects of vegetarian diets on blood lipids: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J Am Heart Assoc. (2015) 4:e002408. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.115.002408
- Yokoyama Y, Levin SM, Barnard ND. Association between plant-based diets and plasma lipids: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Nutr Rev.* (2017) 75:683–98. doi: 10.1093/nutrit/nux030
- Thorogood M, Carter R, Benfield L, McPherson K, Mann JI. Plasma lipids and lipoprotein cholesterol concentrations in people with different diets in britain. *Br Med J.* (1987) 295:351–3. doi: 10.1136/bmj.295.6594.351
- Jian ZH, Chiang YC, Lung CC, Ho CC, Ko PC, Ndi Nfor O, et al. Vegetarian diet and cholesterol and TAG levels by gender. *Public Health Nutr.* (2015) 18:721–6. doi: 10.1017/S1368980014000883
- 49. Elkan AC, Sjöberg B, Kolsrud B, Ringertz B, Hafström I, Frostegård J. Glutenfree vegan diet induces decreased LDL and oxidized LDL levels and raised atheroprotective natural antibodies against phosphorylcholine in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: a randomized study. *Arthr Res Ther.* (2008) 10:R34. doi: 10.1186/ar2388
- Nettleton JA, Steffen LM, Mayer-Davis EJ, Jenny NS, Jiang R, Herrington DM, et al. Dietary patterns are associated with biochemical markers of inflammation and endothelial activation in the multi-ethnic study of atherosclerosis (MESA). Am J Clin Nutr. (2006) 83:1369–79. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/83.6.1369
- Paalani M, Lee JW, Haddad E, Tonstad S. Determinants of inflammatory markers in a bi-ethnic population. *Ethnic Dis.* (2011) 21:142–9. Available online at: https://www.ethndis.org/edonline/index.php/ethndis
- 52. Hafström I, Ringertz B, Spångberg A, von Zweigbergk L, Brannemark S, Nylander I, et al. A Vegan diet free of gluten improves the signs and symptoms of rheumatoid arthritis: the effects on arthritis correlate with a reduction in antibodies to food antigens. *Rheumatology*. (2001) 40:1175–9. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/40.10.1175
- Sköldstam L, Hagfors L, Johansson G. An experimental study of a mediterranean diet intervention for patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2003) 62:208–14. doi: 10.1136/ard.62.3.208
- Kim MS, Hwang SS, Park EJ, Bae JW. Strict vegetarian diet improves the risk factors associated with metabolic diseases by modulating gut microbiota and reducing intestinal inflammation. *Environ Microbiol Rep.* (2013) 5:765–75. doi: 10.1111/1758-2229.12079
- 55. Franco-de-Moraes AC, de Almeida-Pititto B, da Rocha Fernandes G, Gomes EP, da Costa Pereira A, Ferreira SRG. Worse inflammatory profile in omnivores than in vegetarians associates with the gut microbiota composition. *Diabetol Metab Syndr.* (2017) 9:62. doi: 10.1186/s13098-017-0261-x
- Murphy EA, Velazquez KT, Herbert KM. Influence of high-fat-diet on gut microbiota: a driving force for chronic disease risk. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care.* (2015) 18:515–20. doi: 10.1097/MCO.000000000000209
- Klinkhoff A. Rheumatology: 5. Diagnosis and management of inflammatory polyarthritis. CMAJ. (2000) 162:1833–8. Available online at: http://www. cmaj.ca/
- Pattison DJ, Symmons DP, Lunt M, Welch A, Luben R, Bingham SA, et al. Dietary risk factors for the development of inflammatory polyarthritis: evidence for a role of high level of red meat consumption. *Arthr Rheum.* (2004) 50:3804–12. doi: 10.1002/art.20731
- 59. Gögebakan O, Kohl A, Osterhoff MA, van Baak MA, Jebb SA, Papadaki A, et al. Effects of weight loss and long-term weight maintenance with diets varying in protein and glycemic index on cardiovascular risk factors: the diet, obesity, and genes (DiOGenes) study: a randomized, controlled trial. *Circulation*. (2011) 124:2829–38. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.111.033274

- Weickert MO, Roden M, Isken F, Hoffmann D, Nowotny P, Osterhoff M, et al. Effects of supplemented isoenergetic diets differing in cereal fiber and protein content on insulin sensitivity in overweight humans. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2011) 94:459–71. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.110.004374
- Ley SH, Sun Q, Willett WC, Eliassen AH, Wu K, Pan A, et al. Associations between red meat intake and biomarkers of inflammation and glucose metabolism in women. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2014) 99:352–60. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.113.075663
- 62. McKellar G, Morrison E, McEntegart A, Hampson R, Tierney A, Mackle G, et al. A pilot study of a mediterranean-type diet intervention in female patients with rheumatoid arthritis living in areas of social deprivation in glasgow. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2007) 66:1239–43. doi: 10.1136/ard.2006.065151
- 63. Elkan AC, Håkansson N, Frostegård J, Cederholm T, Hafström I. Rheumatoid cachexia is associated with dyslipidemia and low levels of atheroprotective natural antibodies against phosphorylcholine but not with dietary fat in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: a cross-sectional study. *Arthr Res Ther.* (2009) 11:R37. doi: 10.1186/ar2643
- Miglio C, Peluso I, Raguzzini A, Villaño DV, Cesqui E, Catasta G, et al. Antioxidant and inflammatory response following high-fat meal consumption in overweight subjects. *Eur J Nutr.* (2013) 52:1107–14. doi: 10.1007/s00394-012-0420-7
- Vannice G, Rasmussen H. Position of the academy of nutrition and dietetics: dietary fatty acids for healthy adults. *J Acad Nutr Diet.* (2014) 114:136–53. doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2013.11.001
- Masquio DC, de Piano A, Campos RM, Sanches PL, Carnier J, Corgosinho FC, et al. Reduction in saturated fat intake improves cardiovascular risks in obese adolescents during interdisciplinary therapy. *Int J Clin Pract.* (2015) 69:560–70. doi: 10.1111/ijcp.12573
- North CJ, Venter CS, Jerling JC. The effects of dietary fibre on c-reactive protein, an inflammation marker predicting cardiovascular disease. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2009) 63:921–33. doi: 10.1038/ejcn.2009.8
- King DE, Mainous AG, Egan BM, Woolson RF, Geesey ME. Effect of psyllium fiber supplementation on C-reactive protein: the trial to reduce inflammatory markers (TRIM). *Ann Fam Med.* (2008) 6:100–6. doi: 10.1370/afm.819
- 69. Dvoráková-Lorenzová A, Suchánek P, Havel PJ, Stávek P, Karasová L, Valenta Z, et al. The decrease in c-reactive protein concentration after diet and physical activity induced weight reduction is associated with changes in plasma lipids, but not interleukin-6 or adiponectin. *Metabolism.* (2006) 55:359–65. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2005.09.010
- Esposito K, Nappo F, Giugliano F, Di Palo C, Ciotola M, Barbieri M, et al. Meal modulation of circulating interleukin 18 and adiponectin concentrations in healthy subjects and in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2003) 78:1135–40. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/78.6.1135
- Eichelmann F, Schwingshackl L, Fedirko V, Aleksandrova K. Effect of plantbased diets on obesity-related inflammatory profiles: a systematic review and meta-analysis of intervention trials. *Obes Rev.* (2016) 17:1067–79. doi: 10.1111/obr.12439
- Haghighatdoost F, Bellissimo N, Totosy de Zepetnek JO, Rouhani MH. Association of vegetarian diet with inflammatory biomarkers: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *Public Health Nutr.* (2017) 20:2713–21. doi: 10.1017/S1368980017001768
- Toden S, Bird AR, Topping DL, Conlon MA. Dose-dependent reduction of dietary protein-induced colonocyte dna damage by resistant starch in rats correlates more highly with caecal butyrate than with other short chain fatty acids. *Cancer Biol Ther.* (2007) 6:253–8. doi: 10.4161/cbt.6.2.3627
- Pendyala S, Walker JM, Holt PR. A high-fat diet is associated with endotoxemia that originates from the gut. *Gastroenterology*. (2012) 142:1100-1.e2. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2012.01.034
- Chen J, Wright K, Davis JM, Jeraldo P, Marietta EV, Murray J, et al. An expansion of rare lineage intestinal microbes characterizes rheumatoid arthritis. *Genome Med.* (2016) 8:43. doi: 10.1186/s13073-016-0299-7
- Scher JU, Sczesnak A, Longman RS, Segata N, Ubeda C, Bielski C, et al. Expansion of intestinal prevotella copri correlates with enhanced susceptibility to arthritis. *ELife*. (2013) 2:e01202. doi: 10.7554/eLife.01202
- 77. Grygielska J, Raciborski F, Kłak A, Owoc J. The impact of nutrition and generally available products such as nicotine and alcohol on rheumatoid

arthritis – review of the literature. *Reumatologia.* (2018) 56:121–7. doi: 10.5114/reum.2018.75524

- Mielants H, Veys EM, Cuvelier C, De Vos M. Course of gut inflammation in spondylarthropathies and therapeutic consequences. *Baillieres Clin Rheumatol.* (1996) 10:147–64. doi: 10.1016/S0950-3579(96)80010-0
- Menni C, Lin C, Cecelja M, Mangino M, Matey-Hernandez ML, Keehn L, et al. Gut microbial diversity is associated with lower arterial stiffness in women. *Eur Heart J.* (2018) 39:2390–7. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehy226
- Singh RK, Chang H-W, Yan D, et al. Influence of diet on the gut microbiome and implications for human health. *J Transl Med.* (2017) 15:73. doi: 10.1186/s12967-017-1175-y
- Podas T, Nightingale JM, Oldham R, Roy S, Sheehan NJ, Mayberry JF. Is rheumatoid arthritis a disease that starts in the intestine? A pilot study comparing an elemental diet with oral prednisolone. *Postgrad Med J.* (2007) 83:128–31. doi: 10.1136/pgmj.2006.050245
- van de Laar MA, van der Korst JK. Rheumatoid arthritis, food, and allergy. Sem Arthr Rheum. (1991) 21:12–23. doi: 10.1016/0049-0172(91)90052-2
- Malone DG, Wilder RL, Saavedra-Delgado AM, Metcalfe DD. Mast cell numbers in rheumatoid synovial tissues. *Arthr Rheum.* (1987) 30:130–7. doi: 10.1002/art.1780300202
- Hvatum M, Kanerud L, Hällgren R, Brandtzaeg P. The *Gut*-joint axis: cross reactive food antibodies in rheumatoid arthritis. *Gut.* (2006) 55:1240–7. doi: 10.1136/gut.2005.076901
- Holst-Jensen SE, Pfeiffer-Jensen M, Monsrud M, Tarp U, Buus A, Hessov I, et al. Treatment of rheumatoid arthritis with a peptide diet: a randomized, controlled trial. *Scandinav J Rheumatol.* (1998) 27:329–36. doi: 10.1080/03009749850154339
- Darlington LG, Ramsey NW, Mansfield JR. Placebo-controlled, blind study of dietary manipulation therapy in rheumatoid arthritis. *Lancet.* (1986) 1:236–8. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(86)90774-9
- Lidén M, Kristjánsson G, Valtysdottir S, Venge P, Hällgren R. Self-reported food intolerance and mucosal reactivity after rectal food protein challenge in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Scandinav J Rheumatol.* (2010) 39:292–8. doi: 10.3109/03009740903379630
- Gamlin L, Brostoff J. Food sensitivity and rheumatoid arthritis. *Environ Toxicol Pharmacol.* (1997) 4:43–9. doi: 10.1016/S1382-6689(97)10040-0
- Karatay S, Erdem T, Kiziltunc A, Melikoglu MA, Yildirim K, Cakir E, et al. General or personal diet: the individualized model for diet challenges in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatol Int.* (2006) 26:556–60. doi: 10.1007/s00296-005-0018-y
- Darlington LG, Ramsey NW. Review of dietary therapy for rheumatoid arthritis. Br J Rheumatol. (1993) 32:507–14. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/32.6.507
- Dai H, Li Z, Zhang Y, Lv P, Gao XM. Elevated levels of serum IgA against saccharomyces cerevisiae mannan in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2009) 6:361–6. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2009.47
- Hagen KB, Byfuglien MG, Falzon L, Olsen SU, Smedslund G. Dietary interventions for rheumatoid arthritis. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2009) CD006400. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD006400.pub2
- Komperød MJ, Sommer C, Mellin-Olsen T, Iversen PO, Røseth AG, Valeur J. Persistent symptoms in patients with Crohn's disease in remission: an exploratory study on the role of diet. *Scand J Gastroenterol.* (2018) 53:573–8. doi: 10.1080/00365521.2017.1397736
- 94. Levine A, Wine E, Assa A, Sigall Boneh R, Shaoul R, Kori M, et al. Crohn's disease exclusion diet plus partial enteral nutrition induces sustained remission in a randomized controlled trial. *Gastroenterology*. (2019) 157:440-50.e8. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2019.04.021
- Molina-Infante J, Arias A, Barrio J, Rodríguez-Sánchez J, Sanchez-Cazalilla M, Lucendo AJ. Four-food group elimination diet for adult eosinophilic esophagitis: a prospective multicenter study. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2014) 134:1093-9.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2014.07.023
- Molina-Infante J, Arias Á, Alcedo J, Garcia-Romero R, Casabona-Frances S, Prieto-Garcia A, et al. Step-up empiric elimination diet for pediatric and adult eosinophilic esophagitis: the 2-4-6 study. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2018) 141:1365–72. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2017.08.038
- 97. Kagalwalla AF, Wechsler JB, Amsden K, Schwartz S, Makhija M, Olive A, et al. Efficacy of a 4-food elimination diet for children with

eosinophilic esophagitis. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2017) 15:1698-707.e7. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2017.05.048

- Reed CC, Fan C, Koutlas NT, Shaheen NJ, Dellon ES. Food elimination diets are effective for long-term treatment of adults with eosinophilic oesophagitis. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther.* (2017) 46:836–44. doi: 10.1111/apt. 14290
- 99. Garg K, Agarwal P, Gupta RK, Sitaraman S. Joint involvement in children with celiac disease. *Indian Pediatr.* (2017) 54:946–8.
- Jericho H, Sansotta N, Guandalini S. Extraintestinal manifestations of celiac disease: effectiveness of the gluten-free diet. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. (2017) 65:75–9. doi: 10.1097/MPG.00000000001420

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Alwarith, Kahleova, Rembert, Yonas, Dort, Calcagno, Burgess, Crosby and Barnard. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

